# Lecture Notes in Mathematics

**Editors:** 

J.-M. Morel, Cachan F. Takens, Groningen B. Teissier, Paris 1917

Ivan Veselić

Existence and Regularity Properties of the Integrated Density of States of Random Schrödinger Operators



Ivan Veselić Fakultät für Mathematik Technische Universität Chemnitz 09107 Chemnitz, Germany veselic@mathematik.tu-chemnitz.de

ISBN 978-3-540-72689-0

e-ISBN 978-3-540-72691-3

DOI 10.1007/978-3-540-72691-3

Lecture Notes in Mathematics ISSN print edition: 0075-8434 ISSN electronic edition: 1617-9692

Library of Congress Control Number: 2007938041

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 35J10, 37A30, 35B27, 82D30

© 2008 Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: design & production GmbH, Heidelberg

Printed on acid-free paper

987654321

springer.com

# Preface

Random Schrödinger operators are models for the quantum mechanical description of disordered media. The main aim of the analysis of such models is the understanding of the (charge) transport properties of the material. It turns out that many of the properties of interest of random Schrödinger operators are related to a quantity called *integrated density of states*. It measures or 'counts' the number of electron energy levels of the Hamiltonian per unit volume. An alternative name for the integrated density of states is *spectral distribution function* since it is the distribution function of a spectral measure associated to the random family of operators. Many features of this quantity have an intuitive physical interpretation, others play a prominent role in proofs of key theorems. Moreover, the spectral distribution function is an object of study in other fields of mathematics, like differential geometry, group and von Neumann algebras, and homological algebra.

What are the properties of the integrated density of states which have been studied in the literature? It would be hard to give an exhaustive answer, but there are several classes of questions that have drawn the attention of many authors.

The first class is concerned with the definition and construction of the integrated density of states. Can it be expressed as a limit of a sequence of distribution functions associated to the spectra of 'simpler' operators? These operators are usually restrictions of the original Schrödinger operator to some finite volume set. There are various ways how to choose the approximation sequence of operators. Thus another question comes up naturally: Does this choice influence the final outcome, or does one obtain the same distribution function, independently of the approximation procedure? Furthermore, is there a closed formula for the integrated density of states? If there are various such formulas, are some of them better suited for certain applications than others?

Another circle of ideas concerns the continuity properties of the integrated density of states and its set of points of increase: Can one characterise the location and size of the discontinuities? What is the structure of the sets of constancy of the integrated density of states? Since it is a spectral measure

### VI Preface

distribution, these questions are intimately related to the spectrum of the random operator. Can one prove quantitative regularity properties of the integrated density of states: Is it log-Hölder, Hölder, or Lipschitz continuous? Does it exhibit even stronger regularity properties like differentiability or analyticity? Is it possible to give upper and lower bounds on the derivative?

Finally, one is interested in the behaviour of the integrated density of states as the energy variable approaches a spectral boundary. The most studied case is the infimum of the spectrum, although the behaviour at very high energies, or at internal spectral edges is of interest, too. Can one give a characteristic law of the asymptotics of the integrated density of states at the boundaries? Is it polynomial, is it exponential? Can one specify or estimate the characteristic exponents?

Of course, the answers to the above questions often depend on the type of random operator one is considering. Thus one my also ask: How do the parameters entering the model influence the abovementioned features? Is there a universal behaviour or some phase transition phenomenon?

We used above the term random Schrödinger operator although this terminology refers to just one instance among many types of equivariant Hamiltonians in various geometric settings for which the integrated density of states may be defined. A substantial body of papers is devoted to operators acting on combinatorial graphs, the simplest being the integer lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . Others consider operators acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , which includes Schrödinger operators. For models on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , one may require a  $\mathbb{R}^d$  or a  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -equivariance condition. In the latter case, there is still a discrete structure present in the random operator, albeit it acts on continuous space. All settings mentioned so far concern the spaces  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  or  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and thus Euclidean geometry. Going beyond these, there are interesting related models on covering manifolds, finitely generated groups, as well as combinatorial and metric graphs with a quasi-transitive structure.

In the remainder of the preface we describe briefly the potential audience of the book, the recommended prerequisites, the approach taken to present the material, the selection of topics and the structure of the text.

The aim of the text is to give researchers interested in the subject of random Schrödinger operators an overview of known results and methods. Specialists may find it useful as a guide to further reading. The subject matter of the book draws on various mathematical disciplines. For that reason it was not possible to include all the background material, but the reader can find detailed descriptions of the relevant facts using the references to textbooks and monographs. Thus, the text should be accessible to graduate students who have a working knowledge of selfadjoint operators and quadratic forms, possibly from a course on linear operators in Hilbert space or an advanced functional analysis class. For students without this background any one of the following books is recommended as a reading companion: [18, 19] by Akhiezer and Glazman, [47] by Birman and Solomyak, [110] by Davies, [494] or [495] by Weidmann, or [497] by Werner, the last two references being in German. The reader will find the relevant material also in the treatises [140, 141, 142] by Dunford and Schwartz, [239] by Kato, or [407, 408, 409, 410] by Reed and Simon. For the reader who wants to know more about the physical background of the models discussed here we recommend the monographs [53, 145, 340, 312, 143] where properties of disordered systems are discussed from the point of view of theoretical physics.

As already mentioned, the integrated density of states can be defined in various geometric settings and for operators with various equivariance types. If one aims at discussing all such models in a text, one could treat them subsequently one by one, or order the text according to various results and properties and discuss each time all models. One could also first develop a general approach which covers all models, and prove theorems on an abstract level. Although all these seem viable options, here we choose a different and more modest way: We consider just one model in detail and refer in remarks to sources in the literature where the proof for other variants may be found. More precisely, we concentrate here on operators on a continuous configuration space with a discrete group structure. The most important example is the alloy-type model, a  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic operator acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , but operators on Riemannian manifolds with non-abelian group actions are also considered.

While most of the relevant aspects of the spectral theory of random Schrödinger operators figure in the text, the presentation is centred around the integrated density of states. A broader view is taken in the monographs [81] by Carmona and Lacroix and [389] by Pastur and Figotin which describe the state of the art at the beginning of the 1990s. There are several other text of a survey nature on the subject from the second half of the 1980s, including the introductory article [247] by Kirsch, a section on random Jacobi matrices in [102] by Cycon, Froese, Kirsch and Simon, and the Lifshitz memorial issue [335]. In recent years there have been two more monographs treating related topics. The theory of Anderson localisation for random Schrödinger operators is exposed in detail in [458] by Stollmann. Many features of the spectral distribution function in the context of geometry, group theory and K-theory are discussed in Lück's book [346].

Let us mention a few recent overview articles which discuss certain aspects of the theory covered only marginally in the present book. A survey of localisation results for one-dimensional random models is provided in [459] by Stolz. A detailed account of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -ergodic random Schrödinger operators, which model amorphous media, is given by Leschke, Müller and Warzel in [331]. The present text emphasises the construction of the integrated density of states and its continuity properties, while its asymptotic behaviour at the infimum of the spectrum is discussed only in remarks. An overview of the results devoted to the last mentioned topic can be found in the recent [259] by Kirsch and Metzger. There also spectral properties of random surface models are discussed. We mentioned above that it is possible to introduce the integrated density of states in a general, abstract framework applicable to various types of equivariant operators and geometric settings. Such an approach is taken

### VIII Preface

for instance in [328], which covers e.g. Hamiltonians on Euclidean space and lattices, on covering manifolds, Delone sets, and on percolation graphs.

Of course, there are many other excellent sources in the literature not mentioned here in the preface. We hope to have them adequately quoted in the main text.

Here is a sketch of the contents and the structure of the book: The introduction explains how one arrives at random Schrödinger operators starting from the quantum mechanical theory of disordered solids. There we also fix frequently used notation, recall basic facts about selfadjoint operators, and define our models. Finally, the introduction explains the relation between spectral and transport properties of Schrödinger operators as well as the notion of spectral fluctuation boundaries.

The second chapter presents two alternative proofs of the approximation of the integrated density of states by its finite volume analoga. One of the approaches is general enough to be applicable to random Schrödinger and Laplace-Beltrami operators on manifolds.

The third chapter explains the relevance of Wegner estimates and regularity properties of the integrated density of states for other aspects of the theory of random Schrödinger operators. A prominent example would be the use of a Wegner bound in the multiscale proof of localisation.

The last two chapters present each a proof of Wegner's estimate for the alloy type or continuum Anderson model on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . The reason to present two different methods is that each of them has its own advantages when applied to models exhibiting various non-trivial features. We consider alloy type models with long-range or negative correlations, as well as singular and non-monotone dependence on the coupling constants. Several remarks are devoted to similar results for operators on graphs and manifolds mentioned above. Finally, an appendix is devoted to some facts from the theory of the spectral shift function which are used in the main text. More details can be found in the table of contents.

The present text is a revised version of the thesis [486] prepared for the habilitation at the Department of Mathematics of the Technische Universität Chemnitz, which in turn is based on [483]. W. König, P. Stollmann, and S. Teufel have kindly accepted the request of the Department to act as referees of the thesis and I would like to thank them at this occasion. The material presented here draws to a large extent on joint work with colleagues: I have greatly profited from discussions with T. Antunović, D. Borisov, M. Gruber, M. Helm, D. Hundertmark, R. Killip, W. Kirsch, S. Kondej, V. Kostrykin, D. Lenz, P. Müller, S. Nakamura, N. Peyerimhoff, O. Post and P. Stollmann and enjoyed working with them. This work has been made possible through the financial support of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft. I thank the staff of Springer in charge of the LNM series for their flexibility and efficiency in the course of the preparation of the manuscript.

Technical University Chemnitz, Germany

Ivan Veselić September, 2007

# Contents

1	Random Operators			
	1.1	Physical Background	1	
	1.2	Model and Notation	2	
	1.3	Transport Properties and Spectral Types	6	
	1.4	Fluctuation Boundaries of the Spectrum	10	
<b>2</b>	Existence of the Integrated Density of States			
	2.1	Schrödinger Operators on Manifolds: Motivation	15	
	2.2	Random Schrödinger Operators on Manifolds: Definitions	17	
	2.3	Non-Randomness of Spectra and Existence of the IDS	21	
	2.4	Measurability	26	
	2.5	Bounds on the Heat Kernels Uniform in $\omega$	30	
	2.6	Laplace Transform and Ergodic Theorem	37	
	2.7	Approach Using Dirichlet-Neumann Bracketing	39	
	2.8	Independence of the Choice of Boundary Conditions	42	
3	Weg	gner Estimate	45	
	3.1	Continuity of the IDS	46	
	3.2	Application to Anderson Localisation	50	
	3.3	Resonances of Hamiltonians on Disjoint Regions	53	
4	Weg	gner's Original Idea. Rigorous Implementation	57	
	4.1	Spectral Averaging of the Trace of the Spectral Projection	57	
	4.2	Improved Volume Estimates	61	
	4.3	Sparse Potentials	64	
	4.4	Locally Continuous Coupling Constants	66	
	4.5	Potentials with Small Support	69	
	4.6	Hölder Continuous Coupling Constants	72	
	4.7	A Partial Integration Formula for Singular Distributions	73	
	4.8	Coupling Constants with Bernoulli Disorder	74	
	4.9	Single Site Potentials with Changing Sign	74	
	4.10	Uniform Wegner Estimates for Long Range Potentials	75	

<b>5</b>	Lips	schitz Continuity of the IDS	79		
	5.1	Partition of the Trace into Local Contributions	80		
	5.2	Spectral Averaging of Resolvents	83		
	5.3	Stone's Formula and Spectral Averaging of Projections	84		
	5.4	Completion of the Proof of Theorem 5.0.1	86		
	5.5	Single Site Potentials with Changing Sign	87		
	5.6	The Finite Section Method for Multi-Level Laurent Matrices	95		
	5.7	Unbounded Coupling Constants and Magnetic Fields	96		
$\mathbf{A}$	Pro	perties of the Spectral Shift Function	99		
	A.1	The SSF for Trace Class Perturbations	99		
	A.2	The SSF for Schrödinger Operators and the Invariance			
		Principle1	102		
	A.3	Singular Value Estimates 1	103		
	A.4	Bounds on the SSF for Schrödinger Operators	108		
Ref	feren	<b>ces</b> 1	113		
Ind	Index				

# **Random Operators**

# 1.1 Physical Background

Random Schrödinger operators are used as models of disordered solids within the framework of quantum mechanics.

A macroscopic solid consists of an order of magnitude of  $10^{23}$  of nuclei and electrons. The resulting Hamiltonian taking into account all interactions is highly complicated. To arrive at a Schrödinger operator which can be studied in some detail one neglects the electron-electron interaction and treats the nuclei in the infinite mass approximation. Thus one arrives at an one-electron Schrödinger operator with an external potential due to the electric forces between the electron and the nuclei, which are assumed to be fixed in space.

In the case that the nuclei are arranged periodically on a lattice, the potential energy of the electron is a periodic function of the space variable.

On the other hand, the electron could be moving in an amorphous medium, in which case there is no large group of symmetries of the Hamiltonian. However, from the physical point of view it is reasonable to assume that the local structure of the medium will be translation invariant *on average*. This means that we consider the potential which the electron experiences as a particular realisation of a random process and assume stationarity with respect to some group of translations. Moreover, physical intuition suggests to assume that the local properties of the medium in two regions far apart (on the microscopic scale) are approximately independent from each other. Therefore the stochastic process describing the potential should have a correlation function which decays to zero, or — more generally — should be ergodic.

There are interesting models which lie between the two extreme cases of lattice-periodic and amorphous media. They still have an underlying lattice structure which is, however, modified by disorder. Probably the best studied Hamiltonian with this properties is the alloy type model. We leave its precise definition for the next section and introduce here a special case on the intuitive level. Consider first the potential

## 1

2 1 Random Operators

$$V_{\omega}(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u_k(\omega, x)$$

Each k corresponds to a nucleus sitting on a lattice point. The function  $u_k(\omega, \cdot)$  describes the atomic or nuclear potential at the site k and depends on the random parameter  $\omega$  which models the different realisations of the configuration of the nuclei. If there is only one type of atom present, which has a spherically symmetric potential, all the  $u_k(\omega, \cdot)$  are the same, and  $V_{\omega}$  is periodic. Now assume that there are two kinds a and b of atoms present, which have spherically symmetric atomic potentials of the same shape, but which differ in their nuclear charge numbers  $q_a$  and  $q_b$ .

In this case the potential looks like

$$V_{\omega}(x) := \sum_{k \text{ occupied by } a} q_a u(x-k) + \sum_{k \text{ occupied by } b} q_b u(x-k)$$

If the two sorts of atoms are arranged on the lattice in a regular pattern, this again gives rise to a periodic potential.

However, there are physically interesting situations (e.g. binary alloys) where the type of atom sitting on site k is random, for example obeying the law

 $\mathbb{P}\{k \text{ is occupied by atom } a\} = P, \quad \mathbb{P}\{k \text{ is occupied by atom } b\} = 1 - P$ 

with some  $P \in ]0, 1[$ . Here  $\mathbb{P}\{\dots\}$  denotes the probability of an event. If we furthermore assume that the above probabilities are independent at each site and the parameter P is the same for all k, we arrive at the continuum *Bernoulli-Anderson potential* 

$$V_{\omega}(x) = \sum_{k} q_{k}(\omega) u(x-k)$$

Here  $q_k(\omega) \in \{q_a, q_b\}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  denotes a collection of independent, identically distributed Bernoulli random variables and u is some atomic potential.

This model is a prototype which has motivated much research in the physics and mathematics literature, a part of which we will review in the present work.

### 1.2 Model and Notation

We introduce here, respectively recall, basic notions on  $L^p$  spaces, selfadjoint operators in general and Schrödinger operators in particular, and specify the model Hamiltonian which will be studied throughout the text. We suppose that the reader is acquainted with the theory of selfadjoint operators in Hilbert space. In the Preface one can find a list of monographs which provide the necessary background of this theory. Let us start with some mathematical notation. The symbols  $\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{N}, \mathbb{N}_0$ denote the set of reals, the set of integers, the set of natural numbers, and the set of non-negative integers, respectively. For a set  $A \subset B$  we denote by  $A^c := B \setminus A$  its complement. A measurable subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  will be often denoted by  $\Lambda$ , and if there is a sequence of such sets its members will be denoted  $\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_l, \ldots$  The symbol  $|\Lambda|$  is used for the Lebesgue measure of  $\Lambda$ . We write |x| for the norm of  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , while the norm of a vector f in a function space is denoted by ||f||.

The Hilbert space of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions on  $\Lambda$  which are square integrable with respect to Lebesgue measure is denoted by  $L^2(\Lambda)$ . Similarly,  $L^p(\Lambda)$  with p > 0 stands for the Banach space of measurable functions f such that  $|f|^p$  is integrable, while  $L^{\infty}(\Lambda)$  is the set of measurable functions which are essentially bounded with respect to Lebesgue measure. The space of sequences  $\{a_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $|a_n|^p$  is summable is denoted by  $\ell^p(\mathbb{N})$ . Note that the case  $p \in ]0, 1[$  is included in our notation. In our context we will often choose the exponent p dependent on the dimension of the configuration space. In the following we denote by p(d) any number in  $[1, \infty[$  which satisfies

$$p(d) \begin{cases} \geq 2 & \text{if } d \leq 3, \\ > d/2 & \text{if } d \geq 4 \end{cases}$$

$$(1.1)$$

For  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  open, the symbols  $C(\Lambda), C^{\infty}(\Lambda)$  stand for the continuous, respectively smooth, functions on  $\Lambda$ . The subscript  $_c$  in  $C_c(\Lambda), C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda), L_c^p(\Lambda)$  means that we consider only those functions which have compact support in  $\Lambda$ . In the sequel we will often consider potentials from the class of functions which are *uniformly locally* in  $L^p$ . More precisely, f is in the set of uniformly locally  $L^p$ -functions, denoted by  $L_{unif, loc}^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , if and only if there is a constant Csuch that for each  $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ 

$$\int_{|x-y|<1} |f(x)|^p \, dx \le C$$

The infimum over all such constants C equals by definition  $||f||_{p, \text{ unif, loc}}^p$ . Finally, we introduce Sobolev spaces  $W^{k,2}$  of order k. For  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  open, a function  $f \in L^2(\Lambda)$  is in  $W^{k,2}(\Lambda)$  if all its partial derivatives up to order k exist in the sense of distributions and are elements of  $L^2(\Lambda)$ . Obviously,  $C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda)$  is a subset of  $W^{k,2}(\Lambda)$ . Its closure (with respect to the canonical norm of  $W^{k,2}(\Lambda)$ ) is denoted by  $W_0^{k,2}(\Lambda)$ .

Let  $\Delta$  denote the Laplacian on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . If we choose its operator domain  $\mathcal{D}(\Delta)$  to be the Sobolev space  $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , it becomes a selfadjoint operator. The restriction of  $\Delta$  to an open true subset  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  becomes selfadjoint only if we specify appropriate boundary conditions (b.c.). Dirichlet b.c. are defined in Remark 2.2.3. For the definition of Neumann and periodic b.c. see for instance [408].

#### 4 1 Random Operators

Let A, B be two densely defined symmetric operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , whose norm we denote by  $\|\cdot\|$ . The associated scalar product we denoted by  $\langle ., . \rangle$ . We say that B is *(relatively)* A-bounded if the domains obey the inclusion  $\mathcal{D}(A) \subset \mathcal{D}(B)$  and there are finite constants a and  $c_a$  such that for all  $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ 

$$||Bf|| \le a ||Af|| + c_a ||f|| \tag{1.2}$$

The infimum over all a such that the estimate holds with some  $c_a$  is called relative bound (of B with respect to A). If B is A-bounded with relative bound zero, we call it *infinitesimally* A-bounded. Let A be selfadjoint, and Bsymmetric and relatively A-bounded with relative bound smaller than one. Then the operator sum A + B on the domain  $\mathcal{D}(A)$  is selfadjoint by the Kato-Rellich Theorem, see e.g. Sect. X.2 in [407]. We will apply this result to the sum of the negative Laplacian and a potential. A multiplication operator by a function  $V \in L^p_{\text{unif,loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is infinitesimally  $\Delta$ -bounded if p = p(d), cf. Theorem XIII.96 in [408]. Moreover, the constant  $c_a$  in (1.2) depends only on  $||V||_{p,\text{ unif,loc}}$ . Thus the sum  $H := -\Delta + V$  is selfadjoint on  $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In a similar way it is possible to introduce the notion of *relative form-boundedness*. Here we consider A which is selfadjoint and bounded below. Denote by  $\mathcal{D}(Q_A)$ its quadratic form domain. A symmetric operator B is said to be (relatively) A-form bounded if the quadratic form domains obey the inclusion  $\mathcal{D}(Q_A) \subset$  $\mathcal{D}(Q_B)$  and there are finite constants  $a, C_a$  such that

$$|\langle \phi, B\phi \rangle| \le a \langle \phi, A\phi \rangle + C_a \langle \phi, \phi \rangle \tag{1.3}$$

The relative A-form bound of B is the infimum of all a which satisfy (1.3). See Sect. VI.1.7 in [239] for more details.

Before we introduce random operators we want to fix notation concerning some terminology in probability theory. The triple  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}_{\Omega}, \mathbb{P})$  stands for a probability space with associated  $\sigma$ -algebra and probability measure, while  $\mathbb{E} \{ \ldots \}$  denotes the expectation value with respect to  $\mathbb{P}$ . A collection  $T_j: \Omega \to \Omega, j \in \mathcal{J}$  of measure preserving transformations is called *ergodic* if all measurable sets in  $\Omega$  which are invariant under the action of all  $T_j, j \in \mathcal{J}$ have measure zero or one.

**Definition 1.2.1.** Let p = p(d) be as in (1.1),  $u \in L^p_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $q_k \colon \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  a sequence of bounded, independent, identically distributed random variables, called coupling constants. Then the family of multiplication operators given by the stochastic process

$$V_{\omega}(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} q_k(\omega) u(x-k)$$
(1.4)

is called alloy type potential. The function u is called single site potential. Let  $H_0 := -\Delta + V_{per}$  be a periodic Schrödinger operator with  $V_{per} \in L^p_{unif,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . The family of operators

1.2 Model and Notation 5

$$H_{\omega} := H_0 + V_{\omega}, \quad \omega \in \Omega \tag{1.5}$$

is called alloy type model.

The distribution measure of the random variable  $q_0$  will be called single site distribution and denoted by  $\mu$ . If not stated otherwise, in the sequel we assume that  $\mu$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and has a bounded density. The density function is denoted by f.

Due to our assumptions on the boundedness of the coupling constants, for each a > 0 there is a constant  $c_a$  such that for all  $\omega$  and all  $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\Delta)$ 

$$\|V_{\omega}\psi\| \le a\|\Delta\psi\| + c_a\|\psi\|, \quad \|V_{\mathrm{per}}\psi\| \le a\|\Delta\psi\| + c_a\|\psi\|$$

In particular  $H_0$  and all  $H_{\omega}$  are selfadjoint on the operator domain of  $\Delta$ . It will be of importance to us that the constant  $c_a$  may be chosen independently of the random parameter  $\omega$ .

*Remark 1.2.2.* (a) In several sections we study Hamiltonians as in Definition 1.2.1, but where some of the hypotheses on the single site potential or the coupling constants are relaxed. More precisely, we will consider single site potentials with non-compact support and coupling constants which are unbounded, correlated, or do not have a bounded density.

(b) If the coupling constants are not bounded, one has to impose some moment condition to make sure that the alloy type model still makes sense. The main difference (to the bounded case) is that for  $\omega$  in a set  $\Omega' \subset \Omega$  of full measure the operator  $H_{\omega}$  will be (essentially) selfadjoint, however this may fail to hold for  $\omega$  in the complement  $\Omega \setminus \Omega'$ . See for example [255, 256, 258] for more details.

(c) There is a group of measure preserving transformations  $T_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}_{\Omega}, \mathbb{P})$  such that (1.4) obeys

$$V_{\omega}(x-k) = V_{T_k\omega}(x)$$

In other words, the stochastic process  $V: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is stationary with respect to translations by vectors in  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . Moreover, the group  $T_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  acts ergodically on  $\Omega$ , therefore we call V an  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic potential.

To see that the above statements are true we pass over to the canonical probability space  $\Omega = \times_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \mathbb{R}$ , equipped with the product measure  $\mathbb{P} := \bigotimes_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \mu$ . Now the stochastic process  $\{\pi_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d}$ , defined by  $\pi_k(\omega) = \omega_k$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , has the same finite dimensional distributions as  $\{q_k\}_k$ . It is easily seen that the transformations  $(T_k(\omega))_j := \omega_{j-k}$  are measure preserving and that the group  $(T_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d}$  acts ergodically on  $\Omega$ . See Sect. 3 in [247] or Sect. I.1 in [389] for more details.

Using the stochastic process  $\{\pi_k\}_k$  the alloy type potential can be written as

$$V_{\omega}(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \omega_k \, u(x-k) \tag{1.6}$$

We will use notations (1.4) and (1.6) without distinction in the sequel.

### 6 1 Random Operators

Abstracting the properties of stationarity and ergodicity we define general random potentials and operators with a  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic structure.

**Definition 1.2.3.** Let  $V: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  be a stochastic process such that for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$  the realisation of the potential obeys  $V_{\omega} \in L^p_{\text{unif,loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , p = p(d) and additionally  $\mathbb{E} \{ \| V_{\omega} \chi_{\Lambda} \|_p^p \} < \infty$ , where  $\Lambda$  is a unit cube. Let  $T_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  be a group of measure preserving transformations acting ergodically on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}_{\Omega}, \mathbb{P})$  such that

$$V_{\omega}(x-k) = V_{T_k\omega}(x)$$

Then we call  $\{V_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  a  $(\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic) random potential and  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  with  $H_{\omega} = -\Delta + V_{\omega}$  a  $(\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic) random operator.

The restriction of  $H_{\omega}$  to an open subset  $\Lambda$  will be denoted by  $H_{\omega}^{\Lambda}$  if we impose Dirichlet boundary conditions and by  $H_{\omega}^{\Lambda,N}$  in the case of Neumann b.c. While we will be mainly concerned with  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic operators we will give some comments as asides on their counterparts which are ergodic with respect to the group  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . The overview [331] is devoted to such models that model amorphous media. Insight in the research on almost-periodic operators can be obtained for instance in the papers [431, 432, 32, 40], the literature quoted on page 9, the monographs [102, 389], and the references therein.

Remark 1.2.4. All  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic potentials can be represented in a form which resembles alloy type potentials. In fact, for such  $V: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  there exists a sequence  $f_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  of random variables on  $\Omega$  taking values in the separable Banach space  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that V can be written as

$$V_{\omega}(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} f_k(\omega, x - k).$$
(1.7)

This representation is of interest because it ensures that after passing to an equivalent probability space and stochastic process one may assume that the sigma algebra on  $\Omega$  is countably generated. See [245] and Remark 2.8 in [328] for more information.

## 1.3 Transport Properties and Spectral Types

The main interest in the study of random operators is to understand the transport properties of the materials they model. In the particular case of the quantum mechanical Hamiltonian of an electron in a disordered solid the electric conductance properties are the principal object of interest.

The Hamiltonian governs the equation of motion, i.e. the time dependent Schrödinger equation

$$\frac{\partial \psi(t)}{\partial t} = -iH_{\omega}\psi(t) \tag{1.8}$$

The time evolution of the vector  $\psi(t)$  in Hilbert space describes the movement of the electron. Since we chose the space representation in the Schrödinger picture, we can think of  $\psi(t)$  as a wave packet which evolves in time. The square of its absolute value  $|\psi(t, \cdot)|^2 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a probability density. More precisely,  $\int_A |\psi(t, x)|^2 dx$  is the probability to find the electron in the set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ at time t. We will be only concerned with Hamiltonians  $H_{\omega}$  which are time independent. In this case the solution to the equation (1.8) is given by  $\psi(t) = e^{-itH}\psi(0)$  where  $\psi(0)$  denotes the initial condition at time 0.

For a given initial state  $\psi(0)$  supported in a compact set  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  one would like to know whether for large times the function  $\psi(t)$  stays (essentially) supported near A, or moves away to infinity. In the first case one speaks of a *bound state*, since it remains localised near its original support for all times. The other extreme case would be that  $\psi(t)$  leaves any compact region in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (and never comes back) as time goes to infinity. Such a state is called a *scattering* or *extended state*. By the RAGE theorem it is possible to relate the dynamical properties of states just described to the spectral properties of the Hamiltonian. Roughly speaking, bound states correspond to pure point spectrum and scattering states to (absolutely) continuous spectrum.

For a more precise formulation we assume that the Schrödinger operator H satisfies the following local compactness property: If  $\chi_B$  is the characteristic function of an arbitrary ball  $B = B_R(x) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and P(I) the spectral projection of H associated to a bounded interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ , then the operator  $\chi_R P(I)$  is compact. Under this condition a vector  $\psi$  is in the subspace associated to the continuous spectrum of H if and only if for arbitrary  $B_R(x)$ 

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_{-T}^{T} dt \int_{B_R(x)} |\psi(t, x)|^2 dx = 0$$
(1.9)

Here we used the notation  $\psi(t, x) = (e^{-itH}\psi)(x)$ . A vector  $\psi$  satisfying (1.9) is called a scattering state in time mean. Under the same local compactness assumption, a vector  $\psi$  is in the subspace associated to the pure point spectrum of H if and only if for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  these exists a radius  $R = R(\psi, \varepsilon)$  such that

$$\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus B_R(0)} |\psi(t, x)|^2 \le \varepsilon$$
(1.10)

For a broader discussion consult for instance [409, 102, 458, 496].

ŝ

The above relation to the dynamical properties of states motivates the systematic study of spectral features of the Schrödinger operators appearing in the time evolution equation (1.8). If a random Schrödinger operator exhibits almost surely only pure point spectrum in an energy region one speaks of *Anderson* or *spectral localisation*. The name goes back to Anderson's seminal work [20]. This property has been established for a variety of random models. In most of those cases one can additionally prove that the corresponding eigenfunctions decay exponentially in configuration space, a phenomenon

### 8 1 Random Operators

called *exponential (spectral) localisation*. The situation is different for random potentials with long range correlations, where sometimes only power-law decay of the eigenfunctions has been established [263, 170, 500].

If an energy interval contains almost surely only pure point spectrum, we call it *localisation interval*. An eigenfunction of  $H_{\omega}$  which decays exponentially is called an *exponentially localised eigenstate*. The region or point in space where the localised state has its highest amplitude will be called *localisation centre* (we will not need a mathematically precise definition of this notion).

However, it turns out that the spectrum provides only a rough view on the dynamical properties of the quantum mechanical system. A more detailed understanding can be obtained by studying the time evolution of the moments of the position operators. This led to a formulation of several criteria of dynamical localisation. One possible characterisation of this phenomenon, namely strong dynamical localisation in Hilbert-Schmidt topology means that for all q > 0

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\sup_{\|f\|_{\infty}\leq 1}\left\||X|^{q/2}f(H_{\omega})P_{\omega}(I)\chi_{K}\right\|_{HS}^{2}\right\}<\infty$$
(1.11)

Here  $P_{\omega}(I)$  denotes the spectral projection onto the energy interval I associated to the operator  $H_{\omega}$ ,  $\|\cdot\|_{HS}$  denotes the Hilbert-Schmidt norm,  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is any compact set, and |X| denotes the operator of multiplication with the function |x|. For the interpretation of (1.11) as non-spreading of wave-packets one chooses  $f(y) = e^{-ity}$ . Dynamical localisation (1.11) implies in particular that the random Hamiltonian  $H_{\omega}$  exhibits spectral localisation in I. In [414] it was first pointed out that, in general, it is important to distinguish between dynamical and spectral localisation. The derivation of various forms of dynamical localisation using the multiscale analysis can be found in [183, 107, 186, 187, 188, 190], while a proof of the same fact based on the fractional moment method is the content of the papers [6, 60]. Actually, dynamical localisation has first been proven for discrete Schrödinger operators using the latter method in [9, 4, 7, 11]. In [414, 111, 235] examples are discussed where spectral localisation occurs, but certain dynamical criteria for localisation are not satisfied.

For the operators discussed in the present volume these distinctions are not crucial. In the case of the alloy type model, to which we devote most attention, spectral and dynamical localisation coincide, cf. [107, 190]. In the sequel we mean by localisation that the considered operator exhibits in a certain energy interval only pure point spectrum, and that the corresponding eigenfunctions decay sufficiently fast.

Since we are dealing not just with a single Hamiltonian, but with a whole family of them, we have to say something on how the spectral properties depend on the parameter  $\omega$  describing the randomness: many properties of the spectrum of an operator pertaining to the family  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  hold almost surely, i.e. for  $\omega$  in a set such that its complement has measure zero in  $\Omega$ . This is at least true for the properties we discuss in the present work. There are other quantities which are highly dependent on the randomness, like eigenfunctions of  $H_{\omega}$  or the set of its eigenvalues (not its closure!).

We shortly describe what kinds of spectral types one expects from the physical point of view for random Schrödinger operators, say of alloy type. In case there are rigorous results which have confirmed this intuition we quote the reference.

In one space dimension the spectrum is pure point for all energies almost surely. A rigorous proof of this statement was first given in [202] for random potentials generated by Brownian motion on a compact manifold. Later the theorem was extended to Anderson and alloy type models with continuous [306] and Bernoulli randomness [80, 429, 104]. In general one could say that the understanding of the localisation phenomenon is more advanced in the one-dimensional situation than in the higher-dimensional one. This is due to a variety of ideas and methods which are specific — or at least more powerful — for one-dimensional operators, like Kotani theory, subordinacy theory, transfer matrices, Lyapunov exponents, the Prüfer transformation, two parameter spectral averaging, reflection coefficients, inverse spectral theory and scattering theory. These aspects are discussed among others in [303, 252, 304, 444, 306, 305, 198, 197, 365, 73, 271, 296, 111, 445, 459, 74, 105, 106] and surveyed in [460].

In three or more dimensions it is expected that the spectrum is pure point near the boundaries of the spectrum while in the interior it is purely absolutely continuous. In the latter case one speaks also of an energy region with *delocalised* states. However, for alloy type Hamiltonians in Euclidean space the proof of delocalisation is still open. For several different types of random operators results on existence of absolutely continuous spectrum have been obtained: for random operators on trees in [276, 277, 13, 14, 15, 16, 172], for alloy type models with decaying randomness in [315, 253, 219, 316, 250, 317, 171], and for certain one-dimensional quasi-periodic operators in [114, 149, 58, 161, 162, 163, 31]. It is expected that there is a sharp transition between energies with localised and those with delocalised spectrum. The threshold energy is called *mobility edge*. For partial results see [230, 253, 190, 161]. There are also related results in terms of the dynamical properties of the time evolution of states, see [111, 235, 190, 192].

The literature on the existence of pure point spectrum near spectral boundaries is extensive. We discuss it in more detail in Sect. 3.2.

How large the intervals with point or continuous spectrum are, depends on the disorder present in the model. For instance, in (1.5) one could introduce a global coupling constant  $\lambda$  in front of the potential

$$H_{\omega} = H_0 + \lambda V_{\omega}$$

Now large  $\lambda$  means large disorder, small  $\lambda$  small disorder. The larger the disorder, the larger is the portion of the spectrum which contains localised states. For a quantitative formulation of this intuition see for instance [491, 287, 286,

### 10 1 Random Operators

187, 188]. Similarly, as the disorder increases the exponentially localised states decay faster, i.e. the localisation length decreases, cf. e.g. [491, 423, 424]. For other types of random Schrödinger operators there are similar ways to introduce a disorder parameter.

## 1.4 Fluctuation Boundaries of the Spectrum

The phenomenon that localised states emerge at the edges of the spectrum can be understood in terms of the so-called *fluctuation boundaries*. These are the regions of the spectrum which correspond to extremely rare configurations of the potential. Consequently, the *density of states*, which measures the concentration of the spectrum (see the next two chapters for a precise definition) is very thin in this region. Under certain assumptions it can be shown that localisation occurs precisely in those energy regions where the spectrum is sufficiently sparse. See e.g. [190] for a rigorous formulation.

The characteristic behaviour of the integrated density of states near fluctuation boundaries of the spectrum has been first understood on physical grounds by I. M. Lifšic in [336, 337, 338]. For this reason the tails of the integrated density of states at these boundaries bear the name *Lifshitz*asymptotics or *Lifshitz-tails*. To explain this behaviour, let us denote by  $E_0$ the minimum of the spectrum of a lower-bounded random operator, which is by ergodicity independent of the realisation almost surely. Then the integrated density of states N behaves for energies  $E > E_0$  near  $E_0$  like

$$N(E) \sim \exp(-const(E - E_0)^{-d/2}).$$

The most precise bounds for this asymptotics have been obtained for random Schrödinger operators with a potential generated by impurities which are distributed randomly in space according to a Poisson process, see e. g. [128, 387, 379, 465, 467]. Similar results hold for a discrete relative of this operator, namely the Anderson model on  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ , see e.g. [129, 23, 284, 52, 360, 476]. The reason why these models are amenable to a very precise analysis is the applicability of Brownian motion, respectively random walk techniques and Feynman-Kac functionals. For several other types of random operators a weaker form

$$\lim_{E \searrow E_0} \frac{\log|\log(N(E) - N(E_0))|}{|\log(E - E_0)|} = \frac{d}{2}$$
(1.12)

of the exponential law has been established using estimates based on inequalities by Thirring [473] and Temple [472]. In particular, this method can be applied to show that the asymptotics (1.12) holds for the Anderson model on  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  and the alloy type model on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . This strategy of proof was pursued in the 1980s in several papers [257, 361, 440, 262, 362, 363, 441].

Further works devoted the study of the asymptotics near fluctuation boundaries include [385, 386, 302, 178, 180, 179, 466, 364, 283, 456, 288,

11

290, 291, 287, 285, 220, 269, 251, 270, 260, 266, 487, 371, 25, 24]. At the end of Sect. 5.7 one can find references to results on Lifshitz tails for random Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields.

The existence of localised states for random Schrödinger operators is in sharp contrast to the features of periodic operators. Indeed, for operators with periodic potential, satisfying some mild regularity assumptions, it is known that the spectrum is purely absolutely continuous, [474, 49, 450, 427, 428, 318]. This difference might seem somewhat surprising, given the similarity of the structure of an alloy type and a periodic operator.

When looking at the integrated density of states one also sees a quite different behaviour for the above discussed random and periodic models. Namely, for periodic Schrödinger operators and their discrete analogues the low energy asymptotics of the integrated density of states is governed by the so-called *van Hove singularities.* This means that the integrated density of states vanishes polynomially when the energy variable approaches the bottom of the spectrum, in the sense that

$$\lim_{E \searrow E_0} \frac{\log N(E)}{\log(E - E_0)} = \frac{d}{2}.$$
(1.13)

which is in sharp contrast to the Lifshitz tail behaviour outlined above.

Intuitively, the integrated density of states (IDS) measures how many electron energy levels can be found below a given energy per unit volume of a solid. An alternative name for this quantity is spectral distribution function. It can be used to calculate the free energy and hence all basic thermodynamic quantities of the corresponding non-interacting many-particle system.

To define the IDS mathematically one uses an exhaustion procedure. More precisely, one takes an increasing sequence  $\Lambda_l$  of open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that each  $\Lambda_l$  has finite volume and  $\bigcup_l \Lambda_l = \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then the operator  $H^l_{\omega}$ , which is the restriction of  $H_{\omega}$  to  $\Lambda_l$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions, is selfadjoint, bounded below and its spectrum consists of discrete eigenvalues  $\lambda_1(H^l_{\omega}) \leq \lambda_2(H^l_{\omega}) \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_n(H^l_{\omega}) \to \infty$ . Here  $\lambda_n = \lambda_{n+1}$  means that the eigenvalue is degenerate and we take this into account in the enumeration.

The normalised eigenvalue counting function or finite volume integrated density of states  $N_{\omega}^{l}$  is defined as

$$N_{\omega}^{l}(E) := \frac{\#\{n | \lambda_{n}(H_{\omega}^{l}) < E\}}{|\Lambda_{l}|}$$
(2.1)

The numerator can equally well be expressed using the trace of the spectral projection  $P^l_{\omega}(I)$  associated to the operator  $H^l_{\omega}$  and an energy interval I, namely

$$#\{n|\lambda_n(H^l_{\omega}) < E\} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[P^l_{\omega}(]-\infty, E[)\right]$$

Note that  $N_{\omega}^{l} \colon \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty[$  is a distribution function of a point measure for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , i.e.  $N_{\omega}^{l}(E) = \nu_{\omega}^{l}(] - \infty, E[$ ). Here  $\nu_{\omega}^{l}$  is the finite volume density of states measure defined by

$$\nu_{\omega}^{l}(I) := |\Lambda_{l}|^{-1} \#\{n \mid \lambda_{n}(H_{\omega}^{l}) \in I\}$$

By definition, a distribution function is non-negative, left-continuous and non-decreasing. In particular, it has at most countably many points of discontinuity.

# $\mathbf{2}$

Under specific additional conditions on the random operator and the exhaustion sequence  $\Lambda_l, l \in \mathbb{N}$  one can prove that

- (i) For almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$  the sequence  $N_{\omega}^{l}$  converges to a distribution function  $N_{\omega}$  as l goes to infinity. This means that we have  $N_{\omega}^{l}(E) \to N_{\omega}(E)$  for all continuity points E of the limit distribution  $N_{\omega}$ .
- (ii) For almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$  the distribution functions  $N_{\omega}$  coincide, i.e. there is an  $\omega$ -independent distribution function N such that  $N = N_{\omega}$  for almost all  $\omega$ . This function N is called the *integrated density of states*. Note that its independence of  $\omega$  is not due to an explicit integration over the probability space  $\Omega$ , but only to the exhaustion procedure. This is the reason why the IDS is called *self-averaging*.
- (iii) In most cases there is a formula for the IDS as an expectation value of a trace per unit volume of a spectral projection. For  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -ergodic operators it reads

$$N(E) := \mathbb{E}\left\{ \operatorname{Tr}[\chi_{\Lambda} P_{\omega}(] - \infty, E[)] \right\}$$
(2.2)

Here  $\Lambda$  denotes the unit box  $]0,1[^d$ , which is the periodicity cell of the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . Actually, one could choose certain other functions instead of  $\chi_{\Lambda}$ , yielding all the same result, cf. Formula (2.15). The equality (2.2) holds for  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -ergodic operators, too. It is sometimes called *Pastur-Shubin trace formula*.

In the following we prove the properties of the IDS just mentioned by two methods. In Sects. 2.2–2.6 a detailed proof is given using the Laplace transforms of the distribution functions  $N_{\omega}^{l}$ , while Sect. 2.7 is devoted to an alternative method of proof. It uses Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing estimates for Schrödinger operators, which carry over to the corresponding eigenvalue counting functions. These are thus super- or subadditive stochastic processes to which an ergodic theorem can be applied.

Actually the proof using Laplace transforms will apply to more general situations than discussed so far, namely to more general geometries than the Euclidean one. To be precise, we will consider random Schrödinger operators on Riemannian covering manifolds, where both the potential and the metric may depend on the randomness. This includes random Laplace-Beltrami operators.

We follow the presentation and proofs in [392, 327]. The general strategy we use was developed by Pastur and Shubin in [384] and [431] for random and almost-periodic operators in Euclidean space. A particular idea of this approach is to prove the convergence of the Laplace transforms  $\mathcal{L}_{\omega}^{l}$  of the normalised finite volume eigenvalue counting functions  $N_{\omega}^{l}$  instead of proving the convergence of  $N_{\omega}^{l}$  directly. This is actually the main difference to the second approach we outline in Sect. 2.7, which is taken from [254]. The Pastur-Shubin strategy seems to be better suited for geometries with an underlying group structure which is non-abelian.

Indeed, one of the differences between random operators on manifolds and those on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is that the operator is equivariant with respect to a group

15

which does not need to be commutative. This means that one has to use a non-abelian ergodic theorem to derive the convergence of the distribution functions  $N_{\omega}^{l}$  or, alternatively, of their Laplace transforms  $\mathcal{L}_{\omega}^{l}$ . This imposes some restriction on the strategy of the proof since ergodic theorems which apply to non-abelian groups need more restrictive assumptions than their counterparts for commutative groups, cf. also Remark 2.6.2. For processes which are not additive, but only super- or subadditive, there is a non-abelian maximal ergodic theorem at disposal (cf. 6.4.1 Theorem in [313]) but so far no pointwise theorem. This is also the reason why the Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing approach of Sect. 2.7 does not seem applicable to random operators living on a covering manifold with non-abelian deck-transformation group (covering transformation group).

# 2.1 Schrödinger Operators on Manifolds: Motivation

In this chapter we study the IDS of random Schrödinger operators on manifolds. Let us first explain the physical motivation for this task.

Consider a particle or a system of particles which are constrained to a sub-manifold of the ambient (configuration) space. The classical and quantum Hamiltonians for such systems have been studied e.g. in [367, 173] (see also the references therein). To arrive at an effective Hamiltonian describing the constrained motion on the sub-manifold, a limiting procedure is used: a (sequence of) confining high-barrier potential(s) is added to the Hamiltonian defined on the ambient space to restrict the particle (system) to the sub-manifold. In [367, 173] one can find a discussion of the similarities and differences between the obtained effective quantum Hamiltonian and its classical analogue.

A important feature of the effective quantum Hamiltonian is the appearance of a so-called *extra-potential* depending on the extrinsic curvature of the sub-manifold and the curvature of the ambient space. This means that even if we disregard external electric forces the relevant quantum mechanical Hamiltonian of the constrained system is not the pure Laplacian but contains (in general) a potential energy term. This fact explains the existence of curvature-induced bound states in quantum waveguides and layers, see [157, 138, 343, 139] and the references therein.

As is mentioned in [367], the study of effective Hamiltonians of constrained systems is motivated by specific physical applications. They include stiff molecular bonds in (clusters of) rigid molecules and molecular systems evolving along reaction paths. From the point of view of the present work quantum wires, wave guides and layers are particularly interesting physical examples. Indeed, for these models (in contrast to quantum dots) at least one dimension of the constraint sub-manifold is of macroscopic size. Moreover, it is natural to assume that the resulting Hamiltonian exhibits some form of translation invariance in the macroscopic direction. E.g. it may be periodic, quasi-periodic or — in the case of a random model — stationary.

For random quantum waveguides and layers the existence of dense point spectrum is expected, cf. the discussion of localisation in Sect. 1.3. Indeed, for a specific type of random waveguide embedded in the Euclidean plane this has been rigorously proven in [274, 275]. The question of spectral localisation due to random geometries has been raised already in [109]. There the behaviour of Laplace-Beltrami operators under non-smooth perturbations of the metric is studied.

While the motivations presented above stem from solid state physics a further stimulus to study the IDS comes from within mathematics itself: For various geometries with a group action it makes sense to define translation invariant or periodic operators. This applies to covering manifolds, Cayley graphs and more generally quasi-transitive graphs, as well as for CW-complexes. These carry naturally defined Laplace operators on functions and more generally on p-forms. Related objects are magnetic Laplacians and Schrödinger operators, for which it is also makes sense to formulate an equivariance condition.

Here, by the term periodic we mean the property that there is a subgroup of the automorphism group of the geometric space such that the operator is invariant under conjugation with unitary transformations which are associated to elements of the subgroup.

Due to the wealth of possibilities of the geometric structure, here even Laplacians without any random perturbation may exhibit intriguing spectral properties, part of which is captured by the IDS, respectively the spectral distribution functions of Laplacians on forms. Instances of such features are  $L^2$ -Betti numbers, Novikov-Shubin invariants and other geometric  $L^2$ -invariants, the jumps of the IDS, and the gap structure of the spectrum.

Geometric  $L^2$ -invariants describe the behaviour of the spectral distribution function at energies near the spectral bottom. For instance, the  $p^{\text{th}} L^2$ -Betti number is the size of the jump at zero energy of the distribution function of the Laplacian on *p*-forms, see for instance [30, 118, 126]. Novikov-Shubin invariants correspond to characteristic exponents of the asymptotic behaviour of the IDS near zero, cf. e.g. [381, 380, 144, 208, 344, 160, 433, 347, 382, 25, 24].  $L^2$ -torsion is a generalisation of ordinary torsion and has an analytic as well as a combinatorial variant. These invariants have been introduced in [348, 344, 356, 77] and studied in [349, 75, 76, 103, 71, 321, 272, 62].

Another interesting feature of some periodic Laplace-Beltrami operators is the existence of  $L^2$ -eigenfunctions, a phenomenon which cannot happen in Euclidean space. Since the IDS is a spectral measure of the periodic operator, the set of discontinuities of this function is precisely the set of eigenvalues of the operator. These issues have been studied for instance in [126, 461, 292, 462, 325]. For more details see the discussion in Remark 3.1.3.

The analysis of the gap structure of the spectrum of periodic operators of Schrödinger type is a further topic which has attracted attention. More precisely, one is interested whether the spectrum in interrupted by *spectral gaps*, i.e. intervals on the real line which belong to the resolvent set. In case

17

there are gaps: can one establish upper and lower bounds for the width and number of gaps and the spectral bands separating them? For different types of periodic or gauge-invariant elliptic differential operators on manifolds spectral gaps have been analysed in [463, 70, 69, 238, 393, 394]. See Example 2.2.5 for a particular case. Even for periodic Schrödinger operators in Euclidean space it is not trivial to characterise the gap structure. This is illustrated by works devoted to the Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture, e.g. [451, 446, 447, 448, 211]. For almost periodic operators the situation is even more difficult and additional questions arise like the gap labelling problem, see [37, 477, 240, 39, 42, 237, 38] and the references therein. Although the gap structure of the spectrum is a mathematically intriguing question for its own sake, it is also important from the physical point of view. The features of gaps in the energy spectrum are relevant for the conductance properties of the physical system cf. e.g.[339].

The periodic operators on manifolds discussed so far are generalised by their random analogues studied in this chapter.

# 2.2 Random Schrödinger Operators on Manifolds: Definitions

Let us explain the geometric setting in which we are working precisely: let X be a complete d-dimensional Riemannian manifold with metric  $g_0$ . We denote the volume form of  $g_0$  by vol<sub>0</sub>. Let  $\Gamma$  be a discrete, finitely generated subgroup of the isometries of  $(X, g_0)$  which acts freely and properly discontinuously on X such that the quotient  $M := X/\Gamma$  is a compact (d-dimensional) Riemannian manifold. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}_{\Omega}, \mathbb{P})$  be a probability space on which  $\Gamma$  acts by measure preserving transformations. Assume moreover that the action of  $\Gamma$  on  $\Omega$  is ergodic. Now we are in the position to define what we mean by a random metric and consequently a random Laplace-Beltrami operator.

**Definition 2.2.1.** Let  $\{g_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$  be a family of Riemannian metrics on X. Denote the corresponding volume forms by  $\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}$ . We call the family  $\{g_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ a random metric on  $(X, g_0)$  if the following five properties are satisfied:

- (2.3) The map  $\Omega \times TX \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(\omega, v) \mapsto g_{\omega}(v, v)$  is jointly measurable.
- (2.4) There is a  $C_q \in ]0, \infty[$  such that

$$C_g^{-1}g_0(v,v) \le g_\omega(v,v) \le C_g g_0(v,v) \quad for \ all \ v \in TX.$$

(2.5) There is a  $C_{\rho} \in ]0, \infty[$  such that

$$|\nabla_0 \rho_\omega(x)|_0 \leq C_\rho \text{ for all } x \in X,$$

where  $\nabla_0$  denotes the gradient with respect to  $g_0$ ,  $\rho_{\omega}$  is the unique smooth density of  $\operatorname{vol}_0$  with respect to  $\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}$ , and  $|v|_0^2 = g_0(v, v)$ .

(2.6) There is a uniform lower bound  $(d-1)K \in \mathbb{R}$  for the Ricci curvatures of all Riemannian manifolds  $(X, g_{\omega})$ . Explicitly,  $\operatorname{Ric}(g_{\omega}) \ge (d-1)Kg_{\omega}$ for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  and on the whole of X.

(2.7) The metrics are compatible in the sense that the deck transformations

$$\gamma \colon (X, g_{\omega}) \to (X, g_{\gamma \omega}), \quad \gamma \colon x \mapsto \gamma x$$

are isometries.

Property (2.7) implies in particular that the induced maps

$$U_{(\omega,\gamma)} \colon L^2(X, \operatorname{vol}_{\gamma^{-1}\omega}) \to L^2(X, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}), \quad (U_{(\omega,\gamma)}f)(x) = f(\gamma^{-1}x)$$

are unitary operators. The density  $\rho_{\omega}$  appearing in (2.5) satisfies by definition

$$\int_X f(x) \, d\mathrm{vol}_0(x) = \int_X f(x) \rho_\omega(x) \, d\mathrm{vol}_\omega(x).$$

It is a smooth function and can be written as

$$\rho_{\omega}(x) = \left(\det g_0(e_{\omega}^i, e_{\omega}^j)\right)^{1/2} = \left(\det g_{\omega}(e_0^i, e_0^j)\right)^{-1/2}$$

Here  $e_0^1, \ldots, e_0^d$  denotes any basis of  $T_x X$  which is orthonormal with respect to the scalar product  $g_0(x)$ , and  $e_{\omega}^1, \ldots, e_{\omega}^d \in T_x X$  is any basis orthonormal with respect to  $g_{\omega}(x)$ . It follows from (2.4) that

$$C_g^{-d/2} \le \rho_{\omega}(x) \le C_g^{d/2}$$
 for all  $x \in X, \ \omega \in \Omega$  (2.8)

which in turn, together with property (2.5) and the chain rule, implies

$$|\nabla_0 \rho_{\omega}^{\pm 1/2}(x)|_0 \le C_g^{3d/4} |\nabla_0 \rho_{\omega}(x)|_0 \quad \text{ for all } x \in X, \ \omega \in \Omega$$
(2.9)

Moreover, for any measurable  $\Lambda \subset X$  by (2.8) we have the volume estimate

$$C_g^{-d/2}\operatorname{vol}_0(\Lambda) \le \operatorname{vol}_\omega(\Lambda) \le C_g^{d/2}\operatorname{vol}_0(\Lambda)$$
(2.10)

We denote the Laplace-Beltrami operator with respect to the metric  $g_{\omega}$  by  $\Delta_{\omega}$ .

Associated to the random metric just described we define a random family of operators.

**Definition 2.2.2.** Let  $\{g_{\omega}\}$  be a random metric on  $(X, g_0)$ . Let  $V: \Omega \times X \to \mathbb{R}$  be a jointly measurable mapping such that for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  the potential  $V_{\omega} := V(\omega, \cdot) \geq 0$  is in  $L^1_{loc}(X)$ . For each  $\omega \in \Omega$  let  $H_{\omega} = -\Delta_{\omega} + V_{\omega}$  be a Schrödinger operator defined on a dense subspace  $\mathcal{D}_{\omega}$  of the Hilbert space  $L^2(X, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$ . The family  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$  is called a random Schrödinger operator if it satisfies for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$  the following equivariance condition

$$H_{\omega} = U_{(\omega,\gamma)} H_{\gamma^{-1}\omega} U^*_{(\omega,\gamma)} \tag{2.11}$$

Remark 2.2.3 (Restrictions, quadratic forms and selfadjointness). Some remarks are in order why the sum of the Laplace-Beltrami operator and the potential is selfadjoint. We consider the two cases of an operator on the whole manifold X and on a proper open subset of X simultaneously. The set of all smooth functions with compact support in an open set  $\Lambda \subset X$  is denoted by  $C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda)$ . For each  $\omega \in \Omega$  we define the quadratic form

$$\widetilde{Q}(H^{\Lambda}_{\omega}): C^{\infty}_{c}(\Lambda) \times C^{\infty}_{c}(\Lambda) \to \mathbb{R}, \qquad (2.12)$$
$$(f,h) \mapsto \int_{\Lambda} g_{\omega}(x) \Big(\nabla f(x), \nabla h(x)\Big) \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(x) + \int_{\Lambda} f(x) V_{\omega}(x) h(x) \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(x)$$

We infer from Theorem 1.8.1 in [108] that this quadratic from is closable and its closure  $Q(H^{\Lambda}_{\omega})$  gives rise to a densely defined, non-negative selfadjoint operator  $H^{\Lambda}_{\omega}$ . Actually,  $Q(H^{\Lambda}_{\omega})$  is the form sum of the quadratic forms of the negative Laplacian and the potential. By the very definition,  $C^{\infty}_{c}(\Lambda)$  is dense in the domain of  $Q(H^{\Lambda}_{\omega})$  for all  $\omega$ . The result in [108] is stated for the Euclidean case  $X = \mathbb{R}^{d}$  but the proof works equally well for general Riemannian manifolds.

The unique selfadjoint operator associated to the above quadratic form is called *Schrödinger operator with Dirichlet boundary conditions*. It is the Friedrichs extension of the restriction  $H^{\Lambda}_{\omega}|_{C^{\infty}_{c}(\Lambda)}$ . If the potential term is absent we call it negative *Dirichlet Laplacian*.

There are special subsets of the manifold which will play a prominent role later:

**Definition 2.2.4.** For an  $x \in X$  the set  $O(x) := \{y \in X | \exists \gamma \in \Gamma : y = \gamma x\}$ is called the  $\Gamma$ -orbit of x. The relation  $x \sim y \iff O(x) \cap O(y) \neq \emptyset$  partitions X into equivalence classes. A subset  $\mathcal{F} \subset X$  is called  $\Gamma$ -fundamental domain if it contains exactly one element of each equivalence class.

In [2, Sect.3] it is explained how to obtain a connected, polyhedral  $\Gamma$ -fundamental domain  $\mathcal{F} \subset X$  by lifting simplices of a triangularisation of M in a suitable manner.  $\mathcal{F}$  consists of finitely many smooth images of simplices which can overlap only at their boundaries. In particular, it has piecewise smooth boundary.

To illustrate the above definitions we will look at some examples. Firstly, we consider covering manifolds with abelian deck-transformation group.

Example 2.2.5 (Abelian covering manifolds). Consider a covering manifold  $(X, g_0)$  with a finitely generated, abelian subgroup  $\Gamma$  of the isometries of X. If the number of generators of the group  $\Gamma$  equals r, it is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}^{r_0} \times \mathbb{Z}_{p_1}^{r_0} \times \ldots \mathbb{Z}_{p_n}^{r_n}$ . Here  $\sum r_i = r$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  is the cyclic group of order p. Assume as above that the quotient  $X/\Gamma$  is compact. Periodic Laplace-Beltrami and Schrödinger operators on such spaces have been analysed e.g. in [462, 393, 394].

In the following we will discus some examples studied by Post in [393, 394]. The aim of these papers was to construct covering manifolds, such that the corresponding Laplace operator has open spectral gaps. More precisely, for any given natural number N, manifolds are constructed with at least N spectral gaps. For technical reasons the study is restricted to abelian coverings. In this case the Floquet decomposition of the periodic operator can be used effectively. Post studies two classes of examples with spectral gaps. In the first case a conformal perturbation of a given covering manifold is used to open up gaps in the energy spectrum of the Laplacian. The second type of examples in [394] is of more interest to us. There, one starts with infinitely many translated copies of a compact manifold and joins them by cylinders to form a periodic network of 'pipes'. By shrinking the radius of the connecting cylinders, more and more gaps emerge in the spectrum. Such manifolds have a non-trivial fundamental group and are thus topologically not equivalent to  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . On the other hand their deck-transformation group is rather easy to understand, since it is abelian. In particular, it is amenable (cf. Definition 2.3.4), which is a crucial condition in the study conducted later in this chapter. Some of the examples in [393, 394] are manifolds which can be embedded in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  as surfaces. They can be thought of as periodic quantum waveguides and networks. See [393] for some very illustrative figures.

Furthermore, in [394] perturbations techniques for Laplace operators on covering manifolds have been developed, respectively carried over from earlier versions suited for compact manifolds, cf. [85, 22, 177]. They include conformal perturbations and local geometric deformations. Floquet decomposition is used to reduce the problem to an operator on a fundamental domain with quasi-periodic boundary conditions and discrete spectrum. Thereafter the min-max principle is applied to geometric perturbations of the Laplacian.

Related random perturbations of Laplacians are studied in [326, 325] (cf. also Example 2.2.7). In particular a Wegner estimate for such operators is derived.

Now we give an instance of a covering manifold X with non-abelian decktransformation group  $\Gamma$ .

*Example 2.2.6 (Heisenberg group).* The Heisenberg group  $H_3$  is the manifold of  $3 \times 3$ -matrices given by

$$H_3 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x & y \\ 0 & 1 & z \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \mid x, y, z \in \mathbb{R} \right\}$$
(2.13)

equipped with a left-invariant metric. The Lie-group  $H_3$  is diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Its group structure is not abelian, but nilpotent.

The subset  $\Gamma = H_3 \cap M(3, \mathbb{Z})$  forms a discrete subgroup. It acts from the left on  $H_3$  by isometries and the quotient manifold  $H_3/\Gamma$  is compact.

Next we give examples of a random potential and a random metric which give rise to a random Schrödinger operator as in Definition 2.2.2. Both have an underlying structure which resembles alloy-type models (in Euclidean space).

Example 2.2.7. (a) Consider the case where the metric is fixed, i.e.  $g_{\omega} = g_0$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ , and only the potential depends on the randomness in the following way:

$$V_{\omega}(x) := \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} q_{\gamma}(\omega) \, u(\gamma^{-1}x), \qquad (2.14)$$

Here  $u: X \to \mathbb{R}$  is a bounded, compactly supported measurable function and  $q_{\gamma}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  is a sequence of independent, identically distributed random variables. By considerations as in Remark 1.2.2 the random operator  $H_{\omega} :=$  $-\Delta + V_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$  is seen to satisfy the equivariance condition.

(b) Consider the situation where the metric has an alloy like structure. Let  $(g_0, X)$  be a Riemannian covering manifold and let a family of metrics  $\{g_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  be given by

$$g_{\omega}(x) = \left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} r_{\gamma}(\omega) u(\gamma^{-1}x)\right) g_0(x)$$

where  $u \in C_c^{\infty}(X)$  and the  $r_{\gamma} \colon \Omega \to ]0, \infty[, \gamma \in \Gamma$  are a collection of independent, identically distributed random variables. Similarly as in the previous example one sees that the operators  $\Delta_{\omega}$  are equivariant.

Operators of the above type are discussed in [325].

# 2.3 Non-Randomness of Spectra and Existence of the IDS

Here we state the main theorems on the non-randomness of the spectral components and the existence and the non-randomness of the IDS. They refer to random Schrödinger operators as defined in 2.2.2.

**Theorem 2.3.1.** There exists a subset  $\Omega'$  of full measure in  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}_{\Omega}, \mathbb{P})$  and subsets of the real line  $\Sigma$  and  $\Sigma_{\bullet}$ , where  $\bullet \in \{ disc, ess, ac, sc, pp \}$  such that for all  $\omega \in \Omega'$ 

$$\sigma(H_{\omega}) = \Sigma \quad and \quad \sigma_{\bullet}(H_{\omega}) = \Sigma_{\bullet}$$

for any  $\bullet = disc, ess, ac, sc, pp$ . If  $\Gamma$  is infinite,  $\Sigma_{disc} = \emptyset$ .

The theorem is proven in [328], see Theorem 5.1. The arguments go to a large part along the lines of [388, 319, 255]. Compare also the literature on almost-periodic Schrödinger operators, for instance [431, 32].

For the proof of the theorem one has to find random variables which encode the spectrum of  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  and which are invariant under the action of  $\Gamma$ . By ergodicity they will be constant almost surely. The natural random variables

to use are spectral projections, more precisely, their traces. However, since  $\mathbb{R}$  is uncountable and one has to deal also with the different spectral components, some care is needed.

Random operators introduced in Definition 2.2.2 are naturally affiliated to a von Neumann algebra of operators which we specify in

**Definition 2.3.2.** A family  $\{B_{\omega}\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$  of bounded operators  $B_{\omega}: L^2(X, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}) \to L^2(X, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$  is called a bounded random operator if it satisfies:

(i)  $\omega \mapsto \langle g_{\omega}, B_{\omega} f_{\omega} \rangle$  is measurable for arbitrary  $f, g \in L^2(\Omega \times X, \mathbb{P} \circ \text{vol})$ .

(ii) There exists a  $\omega$ -uniform bound on the norms  $||B_{\omega}||$  for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ . (iii) For all  $\omega \in \Omega, \gamma \in \Gamma$  the equivariance condition

$$B_{\omega} = U_{(\omega,\gamma)} B_{\gamma^{-1}\omega} U^*_{(\omega,\gamma)}$$

holds.

By the results of Sect. 2.4,  $\{F(H_{\omega})\}_{\omega}$  is a bounded random operator for any measurable, bounded function F.

It turns out that (equivalence classes of) bounded random operators form a von Neumann algebra. More precisely, consider two bounded random operators  $\{A_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  and  $\{B_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  as *equivalent* if they differ only on a subset of  $\Omega$ of measure zero. Each equivalence class gives rise to a bounded operator on  $L^2(\Omega \times X, \mathbb{P} \circ \text{vol})$  by  $(Bf)(\omega, x) := B_{\omega}f_{\omega}(x)$ , see Appendix A in [328]. This set of operators is a von Neumann algebra  $\mathcal{N}$  by Theorem 3.1 in [328]. On  $\mathcal{N}$ a trace  $\tau$  of type  $\Pi_{\infty}$  is given by

$$\tau(B) := \mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\mathcal{F}} B_{\bullet})\right]$$

Here  $\operatorname{Tr} := \operatorname{Tr}_{\omega}$  denotes the trace on the Hilbert space  $L^{2}(X, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$ . Actually, for any choice of  $u: \Omega \times X \to \mathbb{R}^{+}$  with  $\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} u_{\gamma^{-1}\omega}(\gamma^{-1}x) \equiv 1$  for all  $(\omega, x) \in \Omega \times X$  we have

$$r(B) = \mathbb{E} \left[ \operatorname{Tr}(u_{\bullet} B_{\bullet}) \right]$$
(2.15)

In analogy with the case of operators which are  $\Gamma$ -invariant [30] we call  $\tau$  the  $\Gamma$ -trace. The spectral projections  $\{P_{\omega}(]-\infty,\lambda[)\}_{\omega}$  of  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  onto the interval  $]-\infty,\lambda[$  form a bounded random operator. Thus, it corresponds to an element of  $\mathcal{N}$  which we denote by  $P(]-\infty,\lambda[)$ . Consider the normalised  $\Gamma$ -trace of P

$$N_H(\lambda) := \frac{\tau(P(] - \infty, \lambda[))}{\mathbb{E} \left[ \operatorname{vol}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) \right]}$$
(2.16)

The following is Theorem 3 in [327], see also [328].

**Theorem 2.3.3.**  $P(] - \infty, \lambda[)$  is the spectral projection of the direct integral operator

$$H := \int_{\Omega}^{\oplus} H_{\omega} \, d\mathbb{P}(\omega)$$

and  $N_H$  is the distribution function of its spectral measure. In particular, the almost sure spectrum  $\Sigma$  of  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  coincides with the points of increase

$$\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} | N_H(\lambda + \varepsilon) > N_H(\lambda - \varepsilon) \text{ for all } \varepsilon > 0\}$$

of  $N_H$ .

That the IDS can be expressed in terms of a trace on a von Neumann Algebra was known long ago. In [430] and [431] Shubin establishes this relation for almost-periodic elliptic differential operators in Euclidean space.

We want to describe the self-averaging IDS by an exhaustion of the whole manifold X along a sequence  $\Lambda_l \nearrow X$ ,  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  of subsets of X. To ensure the existence of a sequence of subsets which is appropriate for the exhaustion procedure, we have to impose additional conditions on the group  $\Gamma$ , which will be discussed next.

**Definition 2.3.4.** A group  $\Gamma$  is called amenable if it has a left invariant mean  $m_L$ .

Amenability enters as a key notion in Definition 2.3.6 and Theorem 2.3.8. For readers acquainted only with Euclidean geometry, its role is motivated in Remark 2.3.10.

Under some conditions on the group, amenability can be expressed in other ways. A locally compact group  $\Gamma$  is amenable if for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and compact  $K \subset \Gamma$  there is a compact  $G \subset \Gamma$  such that

$$m_L(G\Delta KG) < \varepsilon m_L(G)$$

where  $m_L$  denotes the left invariant Haar measure, cf. Theorem 4.13 in [390]. This is a geometric description of amenability of  $\Gamma$ . If  $\Gamma$  is a discrete, finitely generated group we chose  $m_L$  to be the counting measure and write instead  $|\cdot|$ . In this case  $\Gamma$  is amenable if and only if a *Følner sequence* exists:

**Definition 2.3.5.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a discrete, finitely generated group.

(i) A sequence {I<sub>l</sub>}<sub>l</sub> of finite, non-empty subsets of Γ is called a Følner sequence if for any finite K ⊂ Γ and ε > 0

$$|I_l \triangle K I_l| \le \varepsilon |I_l|$$

for all l large enough.

(ii) We say that a sequence  $I_l \subset \Gamma, l \in \mathbb{N}$  of finite sets has the Tempelman or doubling property if it obeys

$$\sup_{l\in\mathbb{N}}\frac{|I_lI_l^{-1}|}{|I_l|}<\infty$$

(iii) We say that a sequence  $I_l \subset \Gamma, l \in \mathbb{N}$  of finite sets has the Shulman property if it obeys

$$\sup_{l\in\mathbb{N}}\frac{|I_lI_{l-1}^{-1}|}{|I_l|}<\infty$$

(iv) A Følner sequence  $\{I_l\}_l$  is called a tempered Følner sequence if it has the Shulman property.

In our setting  $\Gamma$  is discrete and finitely generated. (Actually,  $K := \{\gamma \in \Gamma \mid \overline{\gamma \mathcal{F}} \cap \overline{\mathcal{F}} \neq \emptyset\}$  is a finite generator set for  $\Gamma$ . This follows from the fact that the quotient manifold  $X/\Gamma$  is compact, cf. Sect. 3 in [2].) Under this circumstances a Følner sequence exists if and only if there is a sequence of finite, non-empty sets  $J_l \subset \Gamma, l \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{|J_l \bigtriangleup \gamma J_l|}{|J_l|} = 0$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . Moreover, for discrete, finitely generated, amenable groups there exists a Følner sequence which is increasing and exhausts  $\Gamma$ , cf. Theorem 4 in [1].

Both properties (ii) and (iii) control the growth of the group  $\Gamma$ . Lindenstrauss observed in [342] that each Følner sequence has a tempered subsequence. Note that this implies that every amenable group contains a tempered Følner sequence. One of the deep results of Lindenstrauss' paper is, that this condition is actually sufficient for a pointwise ergodic theorem, cf. Theorem 2.6.1. Earlier it was known that such theorems can be established under the more restrictive Tempelman property [470, 313, 471]. Shulman [434] first realised the usefulness of the relaxed condition (iii).

In the class of countably generated, discrete groups there are several properties which ensure amenability. Abelian groups are amenable. More generally, all solvable groups and groups of subexponential growth, in particular nilpotent groups, are amenable. This includes the (discrete) Heisenberg group considered in Example 2.2.6. Subgroups and quotient groups of amenable groups are amenable. On the other hand, the free group with two generators is not amenable.

For the discussion of combinatorial properties of Følner sequences in discrete amenable groups see [1].

Any finite subset  $I \subset \Gamma$  defines a corresponding set

$$\phi(I) := \operatorname{int}\left(\bigcup_{\gamma \in I} \gamma \overline{\mathcal{F}}\right) \subset X$$

where  $int(\cdot)$  stands for the open interior of a set.

In the following we will need some notation for the thickened boundary. Denote by  $d_0$  the distance function on X associated to the Riemannian metric  $g_0$ . For h > 0, let  $\partial_h \Lambda := \{x \in X | d_0(x, \partial \Lambda) \leq h\}$  be the boundary tube of width h and  $\Lambda_h$  be the interior of the set  $\Lambda \setminus \partial_h \Lambda$ .

**Definition 2.3.6.** (a) A sequence  $\{\Lambda_l\}_l$  of subsets of X is called admissible exhaustion if there exists an increasing, tempered Følner sequence  $\{I_l\}_l$  with  $\bigcup_l I_l = \Gamma$  such that  $\Lambda_l = \phi(I_l^{-1}), l \in \mathbb{N}$ .

(b) A sequence  $\Lambda_l, l \in \mathbb{N}$  of subsets of  $(X, g_0)$  is said to satisfy the van Hove property [478] if

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_0(\partial_h \Lambda_l)}{\operatorname{vol}_0(\Lambda_l)} = 0 \text{ for all } h > 0$$
(2.17)

In our setting amenability of  $\Gamma$  ensures that an admissible exhaustion always exists. It is easy to see (cf. e.g. Lemma 2.4 in [392]) that every admissible exhaustion satisfies the van Hove property. Inequality (2.10) implies that for a sequence with the van Hove property

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\partial_h \Lambda_l)}{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda_l)} = 0 \text{ for all } h > 0$$

holds for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ . Let us remark that one could require for the sets  $\Lambda_l$  in the exhaustion sequence to have smooth boundary, cf. Definition 2.1 in [392]. Such sequences exist for any X with amenable deck-transformation group  $\Gamma$ , as well. This may be of interest, if one wants to study Laplacians with Neumann boundary conditions.

For groups of polynomial growth it is possible to construct analoga of admissible exhaustions by taking metric open balls  $B_{r_l}(o)$  around a fixed point  $o \in X$  with increasing radii  $r_1, \ldots, r_n, \cdots \to \infty$ , cf. Theorem 1.5 in [392].

Remark 2.3.7. In our setting it is always possible to chose the sequences  $\{I_l\}_l$ and  $\{\Lambda_l\}_l$  in such a way that they exhaust the group, respectively the manifold. However, this is not necessary for our results.

A simple instance where  $\bigcup_l \Lambda_l \neq X$  can be given in one space dimension. Let  $X = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $I_l = \{1 - l, \dots, 0\}$ ,  $\mathcal{F} = [0, 1[$  and consequently  $\Lambda_l = ]0, l[$ . One can use this sequence of sets to define the IDS of random Schrödinger operators although  $\bigcup_l \Lambda_l = [0, \infty[$ . A non-trivial example where the sets  $\Lambda_l$ do not exhaust X can be found in [464, 466]. There Sznitman considers random Schrödinger operators in hyperbolic spaces. In that setting the approach presented here does not work due to lack of amenability. Sznitman constructs the IDS by choosing a sequence of balls  $\Lambda_l$  which converges to a horoball of the hyperbolic space. The resulting IDS corresponds to the restriction of the random operator to the horoball and not to the one on the whole space.

We denote by  $H^l_{\omega}$  the Dirichlet restriction of  $H_{\omega}$  to  $\Lambda_l$ , cf. Remark 2.2.3, and define the finite volume IDS by the formula

$$N_{\omega}^{l}(\lambda) := \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda_{l})^{-1} \#\{n \mid \lambda_{n}(H_{\omega}^{l}) < \lambda\}$$

Now we are able to state the result of [327] on the existence of a selfaveraging IDS.

**Theorem 2.3.8.** Let  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  be a random Schrödinger operator and  $\Gamma$  an amenable group. For any admissible exhaustion  $\{\Lambda_l\}_l$  there exists a set  $\Omega' \subset \Omega$  of full measure such that

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} N^l_{\omega}(\lambda) = N_H(\lambda), \qquad (2.18)$$

for every  $\omega \in \Omega'$  and every continuity point  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  of  $N_H$ .

**Definition 2.3.9.** The distribution function defined by the limit in (2.18) is called integrated density of states.

Thus all properties (i)–(iii) on page 14 can be established for the model under study. In particular, formula (2.18) is a variant of the Pastur-Shubin trace formula in the context of manifolds. Theorem 2.3.8 is proven in Sects. 2.4–2.6. It recovers in particular the result of Adachi and Sunada [2] on the existence of the IDS of periodic Schrödinger operators on manifolds.

Remark 2.3.10. Let us motivate, for readers acquainted only with Euclidean space, why it is natural that the amenability requirement enters the theorem. In the theory of random operators and in statistical mechanics one often considers a sequence of sets  $\Lambda_l, l \in \mathbb{N}$  which tends to the whole space. Even in Euclidean geometry it is known that the exhaustion sequence  $\Lambda_l, l \in \mathbb{N}$  needs to tend to  $\mathbb{R}^d$  in an appropriate way, e.g. in the sense of van Hove or Fisher [417]. Convergence in the sense of van Hove [478] means that

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{|\partial_{\varepsilon} \Lambda_l|}{|\Lambda_l|} = 0 \tag{2.19}$$

for all positive  $\varepsilon$ .

If one chooses the sequence  $\Lambda_l, l \in \mathbb{N}$  badly, one cannot expect the convergence of the finite volume IDS'  $N_{\omega}^l$  to a limit as  $l \to \infty$ . In a non-amenable geometry, any exhaustion sequence is bad, since (2.19) cannot be satisfied, cf. Proposition 1.1 in [2].

*Remark 2.3.11.* We have assumed the potentials  $V_{\omega}$  to be non-negative and some of our proofs will rely on this fact.

However, the statements of Theorem 2.3.1 on the non-randomness of the spectrum and Theorem 2.3.8 on the existence of the IDS carry over to  $V_{\omega}$  which are uniformly bounded below by a constant C not depending on  $\omega \in \Omega$ . Indeed, in this case our results directly apply to the shifted operator family  $\{H_{\omega} - C\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$ . This implies immediately the same statements for the original operators, since the spectral properties we are considering transform trivially if a constant is added to the operator.

Remark 2.3.12 (Uniform convergence of the IDS). For many types of random Hamiltonians on discrete geometric structures the convergence (2.18) of the IDS is actually uniform in the spectral parameter almost surely, cf. [323, 330, 147, 148, 324, 329]. Note that this statement is non-trivial, since the IDS may have discontinuities, as discussed in Remark 3.1.3.

Uniform convergence of the IDS has also been established for certain types of random Schrödinger operators on metric graphs, cf. [209].

## 2.4 Measurability

Since we want to study the operators  $H^{\Lambda}_{\omega}$  as random variables we need a notion of measurability. To this aim, we extend the definition introduced by
Kirsch and Martinelli [255] for random operators on a fixed Hilbert space to families of operators where the spaces and domains of definition vary with  $\omega \in \Omega$ .

To distinguish between the scalar products of the different  $L^2$ -spaces we denote by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_0$  the scalar product on  $L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_0)$  and by  $\|\cdot\|_0$  the corresponding norm. Similarly,  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\omega}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_{\omega}$  are the scalar product and the norm, respectively, of  $L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$ .

**Definition 2.4.1.** Consider a family of selfadjoint operators  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$ , where the domain of  $H_{\omega}$  is a dense subspace  $\mathcal{D}_{\omega}$  of  $L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$ . The family  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$ is called a measurable family of operators if

$$\omega \mapsto \langle f_{\omega}, F(H_{\omega}) f_{\omega} \rangle_{\omega} \tag{2.20}$$

is measurable for all measurable and bounded  $F \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  and all measurable functions  $f \colon \Omega \times \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $f(\omega, \cdot) = f_{\omega} \in L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$  for every  $\omega \in \Omega$ .

**Theorem 2.4.2.** A random Schrödinger operator  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$  as in Definition 2.2.2 is a measurable family of operators. The same applies to the Dirichlet restrictions  $\{H_{\omega}^{\Lambda}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$  to any open subset  $\Lambda$  of X.

For the proof of this theorem we need some preliminary considerations.

As the next lemma will show, assumption (2.4) in our setting implies that it is sufficient to establish the weak measurability (2.20) for functions f which are constant in  $\omega$ . To formulate the precise statement, we first note that the Hilbert spaces  $L^2(\Lambda, \text{vol}_0)$  and  $L^2(\Lambda, \text{vol}_\omega)$  coincide as sets for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ , though not in their scalar products. Thus it makes sense to speak about a function  $f_{\omega} \equiv f$  as an element of  $L^2(\Lambda, \text{vol}_\omega)$ "=" $L^2(\Lambda, \text{vol}_0)$ .

**Lemma 2.4.3.** A random Schrödinger operator  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  is measurable if and only if

$$\omega \mapsto \langle f, F(H_{\omega})f \rangle_{\omega} \text{ is measurable}$$

$$(2.21)$$

for all measurable and bounded  $F \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  and all  $f \in L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_0)$ .

*Proof.* To see this, note that (2.21) implies the same statement if we replace f(x) by  $h(\omega, x) = g(\omega)f(x)$  where  $g \in L^2(\Omega)$  and  $f \in L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_0)$ . Such functions form a total set in  $L^2(\Omega \times \Lambda, \mathbb{P} \circ \operatorname{vol})$ .

Now, consider a measurable  $h: \Omega \times \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $h(\omega, \cdot) \in L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$  for every  $\omega \in \Omega$ . Then  $h_n(\omega, x) := \chi_{h,n}(\omega) h(\omega, x)$  is in  $L^2(\Omega \times \Lambda, \mathbb{P} \circ \operatorname{vol})$  where  $\chi_{h,n}$  denotes the characteristic function of the set  $\{\omega \in \Omega | \|h(\omega)\|_{L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})} \leq n\}$ . Since  $\chi_{h,n} \to 1$  pointwise on  $\Omega$  for  $n \to \infty$  we obtain

$$\langle h_n(\omega), F(H_\omega)h_n(\omega)\rangle_\omega \to \langle h(\omega), F(H_\omega)h(\omega)\rangle_\omega$$

which shows that  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  is a measurable family of operators.

To prove Theorem 2.4.2 we will pull all operators  $H^{\Lambda}_{\omega}$  onto the same Hilbert space using the unitary transformation  $S_{\omega}$  induced by the density  $\rho_{\omega}$ 

$$S_{\omega} \colon L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_0) \to L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}), \quad (S_{\omega}f)(x) = \rho_{\omega}^{1/2}(x)f(x)$$

The transformed operators are

$$A_{\omega} := -S_{\omega}^{-1} \Delta_{\omega}^{\Lambda} S_{\omega}$$

$$A_{\omega} : S_{\omega}^{-1} \mathcal{D}(\Delta_{\omega}^{\Lambda}) \subset L^{2}(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{0}) \longrightarrow L^{2}(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{0})$$

$$(2.22)$$

The domain of definition  $S_{\omega}^{-1} \mathcal{D}(\Delta_{\omega}^{\Lambda})$  is dense in  $L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_0)$  and contains all smooth functions of compact support in  $\Lambda$ .

The first fact we infer for the operators  $A_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$  is that they are uniformly bounded with respect to each other, at least in the sense of quadratic forms. This is the content of Proposition 3.4 in [327] which we quote without proof.

Denote the quadratic forms associated to the operators  $-\Delta_0^{\Lambda}$ , respectively  $A_{\omega}$ , by  $Q_0$  and  $Q_{\omega}$ , and the corresponding quadratic form domains by  $\mathcal{D}(Q_0)$ and  $\mathcal{D}(Q_{\omega})$ .

**Proposition 2.4.4.** Let  $\mathcal{D} \subset L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_0)$  be the closure of  $C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda)$  with respect to the norm  $(Q_0(f, f) + ||f||_0^2)^{1/2}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}(Q_0) = \mathcal{D}(Q_\omega)$$

and there exists a constant  $C_A$  such that

$$C_A^{-1}\left(Q_0(f,f) + \|f\|_0^2\right) \le Q_\omega(f,f) + \|f\|_0^2 \le C_A\left(Q_0(f,f) + \|f\|_0^2\right) \quad (2.23)$$

for all  $f \in \mathcal{D}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$ .

In the proof of this proposition the bound (2.5) — more precisely (2.9) — on the gradient of the density  $\rho_{\omega}$  is needed. It seems to be a technical assumption and in fact dispensable by using a trick from [109], at least if  $\Lambda$  is precompact or of finite volume.

Since we are now dealing with a family of operators on a fixed Hilbert space, we are in the position to apply the theory developed in |255|. The following result is an extension of Proposition 3 there. It suits our purposes and shows that our notion of measurability is compatible with the one in [255].

Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert space,  $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{H}$  a (fixed) dense subset and  $B_{\omega} \colon \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{H}$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$  non-negative operators. Denote by  $\Sigma = \bigcup_{\alpha} \sigma(B_{\omega})$  the closure of the union of all spectra, and by  $\tilde{\Sigma}^c$  its complement. To establish the measurability of the family  $\{B_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  one can use one of the following classes of test functions:

- $\mathcal{F}_1 = \{\chi_{]-\infty,\lambda[} | \lambda \ge 0\},$   $\mathcal{F}_2 = \{x \mapsto e^{itx} | t \in \mathbb{R}\},$   $\mathcal{F}_3 = \{x \mapsto e^{-tx} | t \ge 0\}$

- $\mathcal{F}_4 = \{ x \mapsto (z x)^{-1} | \, z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \tilde{\Sigma} \},\$
- $\mathcal{F}_5 = \mathcal{F}_4(z_0) = \{ x \mapsto (z_0 x)^{-1} \} \text{ for a fixed } z_0 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \tilde{\Sigma}, \\ \mathcal{F}_6 = C_b = \{ f \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C} | f \text{ bounded, continuous} \},$
- $\mathcal{F}_7 = \{ f \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C} | f \text{ bounded, measurable} \}.$

The following proposition says, that it does not matter which of the above sets of functions one chooses for testing the measurability of  $\{B_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$ .

**Proposition 2.4.5.** For i = 1, ..., 7 the following statements are equivalent:

 $(\mathbf{F}_i)$  $\omega \mapsto \langle f, F(B_{\omega})h \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$  is measurable for all  $f, h \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $F \in \mathcal{F}_i$ 

*Proof.* It is obvious that  $(\mathbf{F}_4) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{F}_5), (\mathbf{F}_7) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{F}_6), \text{ and } (\mathbf{F}_6) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{F}_3)$ . The equivalence of  $(\mathbf{F}_1)$ ,  $(\mathbf{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathbf{F}_4)$  can be found in [255].

To show  $(\mathbf{F}_5) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{F}_4)$ , consider the set

$$Z := \{ z \in \hat{\Sigma}^c | \omega \mapsto (z - H_\omega)^{-1} \text{ is weakly measurable} \}$$

in the topological space  $\tilde{\Sigma}^c$ . It is closed, since  $z_n \to z$  implies the convergence of the resolvents, see e.g. [410, Theorem VI.5]. A similar argument using the resolvent equation and a Neumann series expansion shows that  $z \in Z$  implies  $B_{\delta}(z) \subset Z$  where  $\delta := d(z, \tilde{\Sigma})$ . Since  $\tilde{\Sigma}^c$  is connected,  $Z = \tilde{\Sigma}^c$  follows.

 $(\mathbf{F}_3) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{F}_1)$ : By the Stone-Weierstrass Theorem, see e.g. [410, Thm. IV.9], applied to  $C([0,\infty])$  it follows that  $\mathcal{F}_3$  is dense in the set of functions  $\{f \in C([0,\infty]) \mid f(\infty) = 0\} = C_{\infty}([0,\infty[))$ . We may approximate any  $\chi_{]-\infty,\lambda[}$ pointwise by a monotone increasing sequence  $0 \leq f_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  in  $C_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ . Polarisation, the spectral theorem, and the monotone convergence theorem for integrals imply that  $\chi_{1-\infty,\lambda}(H_{\omega})$  is weakly measurable. An analogous argument shows  $(\mathbf{F}_1) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{F}_7)$ , since any non-negative  $f \in \mathcal{F}_7$  can be approximated monotonously pointwise by non-negative step functions  $f_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$ . П

We use the following proposition taken from [458] (Prop. 1.2.6.) to show that  $\{A_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  is a measurable family of operators.

**Proposition 2.4.6.** Let  $B_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$  and  $B_0$  be non-negative operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let  $Q_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$  and  $Q_0$  be the associated closed quadratic forms with the following properties:

(2.25)  $Q_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$  and  $Q_0$  are defined on the same dense subset  $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{H}$ .

(2.26) There is a constant C > 0 such that

$$C^{-1}\left(Q_0(f,f) + \|f\|_0^2\right) \le Q_\omega(f,f) + \|f\|_0^2 \le C\left(Q_0(f,f) + \|f\|_0^2\right)$$

for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $f \in \mathcal{D}$ .

(2.27) For every  $f \in \mathcal{D}$  the map  $\omega \mapsto Q_{\omega}(f, f)$  is measurable.

Then the family  $\{B_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  of operators satisfies the equivalent properties of Proposition 2.4.5.

By property ( $\mathbf{F}_7$ ) and Lemma 2.4.3,  $\{B_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  as in Proposition 2.4.6 is a measurable family of operators.

We apply the proposition to  $B_{\omega} = A_{\omega}$ , where  $\{A_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  is defined in (2.22). To do so, we check that the properties (2.25)–(2.27) are satisfied: Properties (2.25) and (2.26) follow from Proposition 2.4.4. Property (2.27) is obvious for  $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda)$  and follows by approximation for all  $f \in \mathcal{D}$ , since  $C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda)$  is dense, again by Proposition 2.4.4.

Proof (of Theorem 2.4.2). We already know that the transformed 'kinetic' part  $A_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$  of the Hamiltonian is measurable. To deal with the singular potential we introduce the cut off

$$V_{\omega,n}(x) := \min\{n, V_{\omega}(x)\}$$
 for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$ 

The auxiliary potential  $V_{\omega,n}$  is bounded and in particular its domain of definition is the whole Hilbert space  $L^2(\Lambda, \text{vol}_0)$ . Thus the operator sum

$$A_{\omega,n} := A_\omega + V_{\omega,n}, \quad \omega \in \Omega$$

is well defined and [255, Prop. 4] implies that it forms a measurable family of operators. To recover the unbounded potential  $V_{\omega}$ , we consider the semigroups  $\omega \mapsto \exp(-tA_{\omega,n}), t > 0$  which are weakly measurable.

The quadratic forms of  $A_{\omega,n}$  converge monotonously to the form of  $A_{\omega}^{\infty} := A_{\omega} + V_{\omega}$ . Now Theorems VIII.3.13a and IX.2.16 in [239] imply that the semigroups of  $A_{\omega,n}$  converge weakly towards the one of  $A_{\omega}^{\infty}$  for  $n \to \infty$ . Thus  $\exp(-tA_{\omega}^{\infty})$  is weakly measurable, which implies the measurability of the family  $A_{\omega}^{\infty}$ .

Finally, since  $S_{\omega}$  is multiplication with the measurable function  $(x, \omega) \mapsto \rho_{\omega}(x)$ , this implies the measurability of the family  $H_{\omega} = S_{\omega}A_{\omega}^{\infty}S_{\omega}^{-1}, \ \omega \in \Omega$ .

For later use let us note that the trace of measurable operators is measurable. More precisely we will need the fact that for  $\Lambda$  of finite volume the mappings

$$\omega \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda} e^{-tH_{\omega}}) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}})$$

$$(2.28)$$

are measurable. Note that one can chose an orthonormal basis for  $L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$  which depends in a measurable way on  $\omega$ , cf. for instance Lemma II.2.1 in [117]. Thus (2.28) follows immediately from the Definition 2.4.1 of measurable operators.

## 2.5 Bounds on the Heat Kernels Uniform in $\omega$

This paragraph is devoted to heat kernel estimates of the Schrödinger operators  $H_{\omega}$ . It consists of four parts. Firstly we discuss existence of  $L^2$ -kernels of  $e^{-tH_{\omega}}$ , t > 0 and derive rough upper bounds relying on results in [108]. Secondly, we infer Gaussian off-diagonal decay estimates of the kernels using estimates derived in [332]. We then present an idea of H. Weyl to derive the *principle of not feeling the boundary*, and finally we state a proposition which summarises the information on the heat kernel needed in the next section.

We have to control the dependence on the metric and potential of all these estimates since both the metric and the potential vary with the random parameter  $\omega \in \Omega$ .

As  $H_{\omega}$  is non-negative, the semigroup  $e^{-tH_{\omega}}$ , t > 0 consists of contractions. Moreover, the semigroup satisfies some nice properties formulated in the following definition which enable us to derive estimates on the corresponding heat kernel.

**Definition 2.5.1.** Let  $\Lambda \subset X$  be open and  $\mu$  a  $\sigma$ -finite Borel measure on  $\Lambda$ . Let  $\Lambda$  be a real, non-negative, selfadjoint operator on the Hilbert space  $L^2(\Lambda,\mu)$ . The semigroup  $e^{-tA}, t > 0$  is called positivity preserving if  $e^{-tA}f \geq 0$  for any  $0 \leq f \in L^2(\Lambda,\mu)$  and t > 0. Furthermore,  $e^{-tA}, t > 0$  is called a Markov semigroup, if it is well defined on  $L^{\infty}(\Lambda,\mu)$  and the two following properties hold

$$e^{-tA} \colon L^2(\Lambda,\mu) \longrightarrow L^2(\Lambda,\mu)$$
 is positivity preserving for every  $t > 0$ 
(2.29)

$$e^{-tA}$$
:  $L^{\infty}(\Lambda,\mu) \to L^{\infty}(\Lambda,\mu)$  is a contraction for every  $t > 0$  (2.30)

In this case A is called a Dirichlet form.

A Markov semigroup  $e^{-tA}$  is called ultracontractive if

$$e^{-tA}$$
:  $L^2(\Lambda,\mu) \to L^\infty(\Lambda,\mu)$  is bounded for all  $t > 0$  (2.31)

The above (2.29) and (2.30) are called *Beurling-Deny conditions* [44, 45].

We infer from [108] the following facts: A Markov semigroup is a contraction on  $L^p(\Lambda, \mu)$  for all  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$  (and all t > 0). For all  $\omega \in \Omega$  the Schrödinger operator  $H^{\Lambda}_{\omega}$  on  $L^2(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$  is a Dirichlet form, [108, Thm. 1.3.5]. There the proof is given for  $X = \mathbb{R}^d$ , but it applies to manifolds, too. By Sobolev embedding estimates and the spectral theorem  $e^{t\Delta^{\Lambda}_{\omega}}$  is ultracontractive. Thus by Lemma 2.1.2 in [108] each  $e^{t\Delta^{\Lambda}_{\omega}}$  has a kernel, which we denote by  $k^{\Lambda}_{\omega}(t, \cdot, \cdot)$ , such that for almost all  $x, y \in \Lambda$ 

$$0 \le k_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t, x, y) \le \|\mathbf{e}^{t\Delta_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}\|_{1,\infty} =: C_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t)$$
(2.32)

Here  $||B||_{1,\infty}$  denotes the norm of  $B: L^1 \to L^\infty$ . For  $\Lambda = X$  we use the abbreviation  $k_\omega = k_\omega^X$ .

To derive an analogous estimate to (2.32) for the full Schrödinger operator with potential we make use of the *Feynman-Kac formula*. Using the symbol  $\mathbf{E}_x$  for the expectation with respect to the *Brownian motion*  $b_t$  starting in  $x \in X$  the formula reads

$$(\mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}}f)(x) = \mathbf{E}_x \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\int_0^t V_{\omega}(b_s) \, ds} f(b_t)\right)$$

For a stochastically complete manifold X and bounded, continuous  $V_{\omega}$  the formula is proven, for instance, in Theorem IX.7A in [150]. It extends to general non-negative potentials which are in  $L^1_{loc}$  using semigroup and integral convergence theorems similarly as in the proof of Theorem X.68 in [407]. Since we consider (geodesically) complete manifolds whose Ricci curvature is bounded below, they are all stochastically complete, cf. for instance [206] or Theorem 4.2.4 in [217].

Since the potential is non-negative, the Feynman-Kac formula implies for non-negative  $f \in L^1(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$ 

$$0 \le \left( \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}} f \right)(x) \le \left( \mathrm{e}^{t\Delta_{\omega}^{\Lambda}} f \right)(x) \le C_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t) \, \|f\|_{L^{1}}$$

for almost every  $x \in \Lambda$ . Thus  $e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}$ :  $L^{1}(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}) \to L^{\infty}(\Lambda, \operatorname{vol}_{\omega})$  has the same bound  $C_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t)$  as the semigroup where the potential is absent. This yields the pointwise estimate on the kernel  $k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(t, \cdot, \cdot)$  of  $e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}$ :

$$0 \le k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(t, x, y) \le C_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t) \quad \text{for almost every } x, y \in X.$$
(2.33)

In the following we derive sharper upper bounds on the kernels which imply their decay in the distance between the two space arguments x and y. Such estimates have been proven by Li and Yau [332] for *fundamental solutions* of the heat equation. One would naturally expect that the fundamental solution and the  $L^2$ -heat kernel of the semigroup coincide under some regularity assumptions. This is actually the case as has been proven for instance in [119] for vanishing, and in [327] for smooth, non-negative potentials. The proof in the last cited source uses that  $H_{\omega}$  is a Dirichlet form.

To formulate the results of Li and Yau [332] which we will be using, we denote by  $d_{\omega}: X \times X \to [0, \infty]$  the Riemannian distance function on X with respect to  $g_{\omega}$ . Note that the following proposition concerns the heat kernel of the pure Laplacian.

**Proposition 2.5.2.** For every t > 0 there exist constants C(t) > 0,  $\alpha_t > 0$  such that

$$k_{\omega}(t, x, y) \le C(t) \exp\left(-\alpha_t d_0^2(x, y)\right) \tag{2.34}$$

for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $x, y \in X$ .

*Proof.* For a fixed Schrödinger operator the estimate (with  $d_0$  replaced by  $d_{\omega}$ ) is contained in Corollary 3.1 in [332]. There the upper bound is given explicitly in terms of the geometric bounds on the manifold. This enables one to show that properties (2.4), (2.8) and

$$C_q^{-1}d_0(x,y) \le d_\omega(x,y) \le C_g d_0(x,y)$$

ensure that the constants C(t) and  $\alpha_t$  in (2.34) may be chosen uniformly in  $\omega$ . Moreover, for measuring the distance between the points x and y we may always replace  $d_{\omega}$  by  $d_0$  by increasing  $\alpha_t$ .

Let us collect various consequences of Proposition 2.5.2 which will be useful later on.

- (i) The pointwise kernel bound on the left hand side of (2.33) can be chosen uniformly in  $\omega \in \Omega$ .
- (ii) We stated Proposition 2.5.2 for the pure Laplacian, although Li and Yau treat the case of a Schrödinger operator with potential. The reason for this is that we want to avoid the regularity assumptions on the potential imposed in [332].

To recover from (2.34) the case where a (non-negative) potential is present we use again the Feynman-Kac formula. We need now a local version of the argument leading to (2.33). More precisely, we consider  $e^{-tH_{\omega}}$  as an operator from  $L^1(B_{\varepsilon}(y))$  to  $L^{\infty}(B_{\varepsilon}(x))$  for small  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Thus, we obtain

$$0 \le k_{H_{\omega}}(t, x, y) \le C(t) \exp\left(-\alpha_t d_0^2(x, y)\right)$$

(iii) The estimates derived so far immediately carry over to the case where the entire manifold is replaced by an open subset  $\Lambda \subset X$ .

$$0 \le k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(t, x, y) \le k_{H_{\omega}}(t, x, y)$$

This is due to *domain monotonicity*, see for example [108, Thm. 2.1.6] where this fact is proven using functional analytic tools. Another way to see that this estimate is true, is to use the probabilistic representation of the heat semigroup, cf. [35, 435].

(iv) The Bishop volume comparison theorem controls the growth of the volume of balls with radius r, see for instance [51], [84, Thm. III.6] or [72]. It tells us that the lower bound (2.6) on the Ricci curvature is sufficient to bound the growth of the volume of balls as r increases. The volume of the ball can be estimated by the volume of a ball with the same radius in a space with constant curvature K. The latter volume grows at most exponentially in the radius. For our purposes it is necessary to have an  $\omega$ -uniform version of the volume growth estimate. Using Properties (2.4), (2.6) and (2.8) we obtain the uniform bound

$$\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\{y | d_{\omega}(x, y) < r\}) \le C_1 e^{C_2 r}$$
 for all  $x \in X$ 

where  $C_1, C_2$  do not depend on x and  $\omega$ . This implies that for all exponents p > 0, there exists a  $M_p(t) < \infty$  such that the moment estimate

$$\int_{\Lambda} [k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(t, x, y)]^p \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(y) \le M_p(t)$$

holds uniformly in  $\Lambda \subset X$  open, in  $x \in \Lambda$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$ . We set  $M(t) := M_1(t)$ .

(v) The heat kernel estimates imply a uniform bound on the traces of the semigroup localised in space. Let  $\Lambda \subset X$  be a (fixed) open set of finite volume. There exists a constant  $C_{\rm Tr} = C_{\rm Tr}(\Lambda, t) > 0$  such that for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ 

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda} e^{-tH_{\omega}}) \leq C_{\operatorname{Tr}}$$

Intuitively this is the same as saying that  $\int_{\Lambda} k_{H_{\omega}}(t, x, x) \operatorname{dvol}_{\omega}(x)$  is uniformly bounded. However, since the diagonal  $\{(x, x) | x \in \Lambda\}$  is a set of measure zero, the integral does not make sense as long as we consider  $k_{H_{\omega}}$  as an  $L^2$ -function. We do not want here to address the question of continuity of the kernel. Instead we use the semigroup property  $\mathrm{e}^{-2tH_{\omega}} = \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}} \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}}, t > 0$  and selfadjointness to express the trace as

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda} e^{-tH_{\omega}}) = \int_{\Lambda} \int_{\Lambda} [k_{H_{\omega}}(t/2, x, y)]^2 \, d\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(x) \, d\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(y) \le M_2(t/2) \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda)$$
(2.35)

By (2.10) this is bounded uniformly in  $\omega \in \Omega$ . Applying domain monotonicity once more, we obtain

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}\right) \le M_{2}(t/2)\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda) \le M_{2}(t/2) C_{g}^{d/2}\operatorname{vol}_{0}(\Lambda)$$
(2.36)

The following lemma is a maximum principle for Schrödinger operators with non-negative potentials. Combined with the off-diagonal decay estimates in Proposition 2.5.2 it will give us a proof of the principle of not feeling the boundary.

Lemma 2.5.3 (Maximum principle for heat equation with non-negative potential). Let  $\Lambda \subset X$  be open with compact closure, V be a nonnegative function, and  $u \in C([0, T[\times\overline{\Lambda}) \cap C^2(]0, T[\times\Lambda))$  be a solution of the heat equation  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u + (-\Delta + V)u = 0$  on  $]0, T[\times\Lambda]$  with non-negative supremum  $s = \sup\{u(t, x) \mid (t, x) \in [0, T[\times\overline{\Lambda}]\}$ . Then,

$$s = \max\left\{\max_{x\in\overline{\Lambda}} u(0,x), \sup_{[0,T[\times\partial\Lambda} u(t,x)\right\}$$

Note that regularity of V is not assumed explicitly, but implicitly by the requirements on u. They are e.g. satisfied if V is smooth. Indeed, in that case the heat kernel is smooth, as can be seen following the proof of [108, Thm. 5.2.1].

Now we are in the position to state the second, refined estimate on the heat kernels, the *principle of not feeling the boundary*. It is a formulation of the fact that the heat kernel of the Dirichlet-Laplacian on a (large) open set  $\Lambda$  does not differ much from the heat kernel associated to the Laplacian on the whole manifold, as long as one stays well inside  $\Lambda$ . As before, we derive this estimate first for the pure Laplacian and then show that it carries over to Schrödinger operators with non-negative potential.

**Proposition 2.5.4.** For any fixed  $t, \varepsilon > 0$ , there exists an  $h = h(t, \varepsilon) > 0$ such that for every open set  $\Lambda \subset X$  and all  $\omega \in \Omega$ 

$$0 \le k_{\omega}(t, x, y) - k_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t, x, y) \le \varepsilon$$

for all  $x \in \Lambda, y \in \Lambda_h$ .

*Proof.* The first inequality is a consequence of domain monotonicity. So we just have to prove the second one.

Fix  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $t, \varepsilon > 0$ . Choose h > 0 such that

$$C(t)\exp\left(-\alpha_t (h/2)^2\right) \le \varepsilon$$

Note that the choice is independent of  $\omega$ . For any  $y \in \Lambda_h$  and  $0 < \delta < h/2$ denote by  $B_{\delta}(y)$  the open  $d_0$ -ball around y with radius  $\delta$ . Let  $f_{\delta} \in C_0^{\infty}(B_{\delta}(y))$ be a non-negative approximation of the  $\delta$ -distribution at y.

We consider now the time evolution of the initial value f under the two semigroups generated by  $\Delta_{\omega}$  and  $\Delta_{\omega}^{\Lambda}$ , respectively.

$$u_1(t,x) := \int_X k_\omega(t,x,z) f_\delta(z) d\operatorname{vol}_\omega(z) = \int_\Lambda k_\omega(t,x,z) f_\delta(z) d\operatorname{vol}_\omega(z) d\operatorname{vol}_\omega(z) d\operatorname{vol}_\omega(z) d\operatorname{vol}_\omega(z) d\operatorname{vol}_\omega(z).$$

The difference  $u_1(t,x) - u_2(t,x)$  solves the heat equation  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u = \Delta_{\omega}u$  and satisfies the initial condition  $u_1(0,x) - u_2(0,x) = f_{\delta}(x) - f_{\delta}(x) = 0$  for all  $x \in \Lambda$ . Now, by domain monotonicity we know  $k_{\omega}(t,x,z) - k_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t,x,z) \ge 0$ , thus

$$u_1(t,x) - u_2(t,x) = \int_{\Lambda} \left[ k_{\omega}(t,x,z) - k_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t,x,z) \right] f_{\delta}(z) \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(z) \ge 0$$

for all t > 0 and  $x \in \Lambda$ . The application of the maximum principle yields

$$u_1(t,x) - u_2(t,x) \le \max_{[0,t] \times \partial \Lambda} \left\{ u_1(s,w) - u_2(s,w) \right\}.$$
 (2.37)

The right hand side can be further estimated by:

$$u_1(s,w) - u_2(s,w) \le \int_{\Lambda} k_{\omega}(s,w,z) f_{\delta}(z) \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(z)$$
$$= \int_{\Lambda_{h/2}} k_{\omega}(s,w,z) f_{\delta}(z) \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(z).$$

Since  $w \in \partial \Lambda$  and  $z \in \Lambda_{h/2}$ , we conclude using Proposition 2.5.2:

$$\int_{\Lambda_{h/2}} k_{\omega}(s, w, z) f_{\delta}(z) d\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(z) \le C(t) \exp\left(-\alpha_t (h/2)^2\right) \le \varepsilon$$

Since the bound is independent of  $\delta$  we may take the limit  $\delta \to 0$  which concludes the proof.

One can prove the principle of not feeling the boundary by other means too, see for instance [349, 122, 392]. This alternative approach uses information on the behaviour of solutions of the wave equation. Unlike the solutions of the heat equation, they do not have the unphysical property that their support spreads instantaneously to infinity. Actually, the solutions of the wave equation have finite propagation speed [468]. Fourier transforms and the spectral theorem turn this information into estimates on the difference of the solutions of the free and restricted heat equation. Sobolev estimates lead then to the principle of not feeling the boundary. See also Sect. 7 in [406].

Remark 2.5.5. Similarly as in Lemma 2.5.3, one can prove the proposition, if a potential is present. More precisely, Proposition 2.5.4 is valid for Schrödinger operators with potentials V such that for continuous initial and boundary values the solution of the heat equation  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u = -(-\Delta_{\omega} + V)u$  is in  $C([0,T[\times\overline{\Lambda}) \cap C^2(]0,T[\times\Lambda))$ . However, Proposition 2.5.4 implies an analogous estimate for the case where a non-negative potential is present, similarly as in (ii) on page 33. This will be explained next.

Consider  $e^{-tH_{\omega}} - e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}$  as an operator from  $L^{1}(\Lambda_{h})$  to  $L^{\infty}(\Lambda)$ , and denote by  $\tau_{x}^{\Lambda}$  the *first exit time* from  $\Lambda$  for a Brownian motion starting in x. By the Feynman-Kac formula, we have for  $0 \leq f \in L^{1}(\Lambda_{h})$ 

$$\begin{split} [(\mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}} - \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}})f](x) &= \mathbf{E}_{x} \left( \mathrm{e}^{-\int_{0}^{t} ds V(b_{s})} f(b_{t}) \chi_{\{b \mid \tau_{x}^{\Lambda} \leq t\}} \right) \\ &\leq \mathbf{E}_{x} \left( f(b_{s}) \chi_{\{b \mid \tau_{x}^{\Lambda} \leq t\}} \right) = \int [k_{\omega}(t, x, y) - k_{\omega}^{\Lambda}(t, x, y)] f(y) \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega} \\ &\leq \varepsilon \int f(y) \, d\mathrm{vol}_{\omega} \end{split}$$

if we chose h as in Proposition 2.5.4. Thus for almost all  $x \in \Lambda, y \in \Lambda_h$ 

$$k_{H_{\omega}}(t,x,y) - k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(t,x,y) \le \|\mathbf{e}^{-tH_{\omega}} - \mathbf{e}^{-tH_{\omega}}\|_{L^{1}(\Lambda_{h})\to L^{\infty}(\Lambda)} \le \varepsilon$$
(2.38)

The upper bounds on the heat kernel and the principle of not feeling the boundary enable us to prove a result on the traces of localised heatsemigroups: In the macroscopic limit, as  $\Lambda$  tends (in a nice way) to the whole of X, the two quantities

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda} e^{-tH_{\omega}})$$
 and  $\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}})$ 

are approximately the same. The precise statement is contained in the following

**Proposition 2.5.6.** Let  $\{\Lambda_l\}_{l \in \mathbb{N}}$ , be a sequence of subsets of X which satisfies the van Hove property 2.17 and let  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$  be a random Schrödinger operator. Then

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} \left| \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda_l)} \left| \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda_l} e^{-tH_{\omega}}) - \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_{\omega}^l}) \right| = 0$$

*Proof.* We consider first a fixed  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and abbreviate  $\Lambda = \Lambda_l$ . For the operator  $e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}$  we may write the trace in the same way as in (2.35) to obtain

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}) = \int_{\Lambda} \int_{\Lambda} [k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(t/2, x, y)]^2 d\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(x) d\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(y)$$
(2.39)

We express the difference of (2.35) and (2.39) using

$$(k_{H_{\omega}})^2 - (k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda})^2 = (k_{H_{\omega}} - k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda})(k_{H_{\omega}} + k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda})$$

Next we chose  $h = h(t/2, \varepsilon) > 0$  as in Proposition 2.5.4 and decompose the integration domain according to

$$\Lambda \times \Lambda = (\Lambda \times \Lambda_h) \cup (\Lambda \times \partial_h \Lambda)$$

The difference of the traces can be now estimated as

$$0 \leq \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda} e^{-tH_{\omega}}) - \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}})$$

$$= \int_{\Lambda} \int_{\Lambda_{h}} \left[ k_{H_{\omega}}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) - k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) \right] \left[ k_{H_{\omega}}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) + k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) \right] d\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(x, y)$$

$$+ \int_{\Lambda} \int_{\partial_{h}\Lambda} \left[ k_{H_{\omega}}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) - k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) \right] \left[ k_{H_{\omega}}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) + k_{H_{\omega}}^{\Lambda}(\frac{t}{2}, x, y) \right] d\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(x, y)$$

$$(2.40)$$

The first term is bounded by  $2M(t/2) \varepsilon \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda)$  and the second by

$$2M(t/2) C(t/2) \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\partial_h \Lambda)$$

It follows that

$$\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda)} \left( \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda} e^{-tH_{\omega}}) - \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH_{\omega}^{\Lambda}}) \right) \leq 2M(t/2)\varepsilon + 2M(t/2)C(t/2)\frac{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\partial_{h}\Lambda)}{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda)}$$

Now, we let l go to infinity. Since the sequence  $\Lambda_l$  satisfies the van Hove property (2.17) and since our bounds are uniform in  $\omega$ , the proposition is proven.

## 2.6 Laplace Transform and Ergodic Theorem

This section completes the proof of Theorem 2.3.8. It relies, apart from the results established in Sects. 2.4–2.5, on a general ergodic theorem and a criterion for the convergence of distribution functions.

Lindenstrauss proved in [342, 341] an ergodic theorem which applies to locally compact, second countable amenable groups. It includes as a special case the following statement for discrete groups.

**Theorem 2.6.1.** Let  $\Gamma$  be an amenable discrete group and  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}_{\Omega}, \mathbb{P})$  be a probability space. Assume that  $\Gamma$  acts ergodically on  $\Omega$  by measure preserving transformations. Let  $\{I_l\}_l$  be a tempered Følner sequence in  $\Gamma$ . Then for every  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ 

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{|I_l|} \sum_{\gamma \in I_l} f(\gamma \omega) = \mathbb{E}(f)$$
(2.41)

for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$ .

In the application we have in mind  $f \in L^{\infty}$ , so the convergence holds in the  $L^1$ -topology, too.

*Remark 2.6.2.* Some background on previous results can be found for instance in Sect. 6.6 of Krengel's book [313], in Tempelman's works [469, 470, 471] or some other sources [152, 204, 26, 151, 383]. The book [471] gives in Sect. 5.6 a survey of Shulman's results [434]. Mean ergodic theorems hold in more general circumstances, see for instance [313, Sect. 6.4] or [471, Ch. 6].

We will apply the ergodic theorem above not to the normalised eigenvalue counting functions  $N_{\omega}^{l}$ , but to their Laplace transforms  $\mathcal{L}_{\omega}^{l}$ . The reason is, that the  $\mathcal{L}_{\omega}^{l}$  are bounded, while the original  $N_{\omega}^{l}$  are not. The following criterion of Pastur and Shubin [384, 431] says that it is actually sufficient to test the convergence of the Laplace transforms.

**Lemma 2.6.3 (Pastur-Shubin convergence criterion).** Let  $N_n$  be a sequence of distribution functions such that

- (i) there exists a  $\lambda_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $N_l(\lambda) = 0$  for all  $\lambda \leq \lambda_0$  and  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ ,
- (ii) there exists a function  $C : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\mathcal{L}^l(t) := \int e^{-\lambda t} dN_l(\lambda) \le C(t)$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and t > 0,
- (iii)  $\lim_{l\to\infty} \mathcal{L}^l(t) =: \mathcal{L}(t)$  exists for all t > 0.

Then  $\mathcal{L}$  is the Laplace transform of a distribution function N and for all continuity points  $\lambda$  of N we have

$$N(\lambda) := \lim_{l \to \infty} N_l(\lambda)$$

Finally, we present the proof of Theorem 2.3.8 on the existence of a selfaveraging IDS:

*Proof (of Theorem 2.3.8).* We have to check the conditions in the previous lemma for the normalised eigenvalue counting functions  $N_{\omega}^{l}$ . The first one is clearly satisfied for  $\lambda_0 = 0$ , since all operators we are dealing with are non-negative. To see (ii), express the Laplace transform by the trace of the heat semigroup

$$\mathcal{L}^{l}_{\omega}(t) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda)} \sum_{n, \lambda_{n} \in \sigma} e^{-t\lambda_{n}} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda)} \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-tH^{l}_{\omega}})$$

The sum extends over all eigenvalues  $\lambda_n$  of  $H^l_{\omega}$ , counting multiplicities. Now, (2.36) implies condition (ii) of the Pastur-Shubin criterion.

To prove (iii) we will show for all t > 0 the convergence

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{L}^l_{\omega}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{e}^{-t\lambda} dN_H(\lambda)$$

in  $(L^1 \text{ and})$  P-almost sure-sense. For technical reasons we will deal separately with the convergence of the enumerator and denominator in

$$\mathcal{L}^{l}_{\omega}(t) = \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda_{l})^{-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-tH^{l}_{\omega}})$$

However, we need *some* normalisation, to avoid divergences. Consider first the enumerator with an auxiliary normalisation

$$|I_l|^{-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}^l}) \tag{2.42}$$

Introduce for two sequences of random variables  $a_l(\omega), b_l(\omega), l \in \mathbb{N}$  the equivalence relation  $a_l \stackrel{j \to \infty}{\sim} b_l$  if they satisfy  $a_l - b_l \to 0$  almost surely for  $l \to \infty$ . By Proposition 2.5.6, the equivariance, and Lindenstrauss' ergodic theorem 2.6.1

$$|I_l|^{-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}^l}) \stackrel{j \to \infty}{\sim} |I_l|^{-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\Lambda_l} \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}}) = |I_l|^{-1} \sum_{\gamma \in I_l^{-1}} \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\gamma \mathcal{F}} \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\omega}})$$
$$= |I_l|^{-1} \sum_{\gamma \in I_l} \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\mathcal{F}} \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\gamma \omega}}) \stackrel{j \to \infty}{\sim} \mathbb{E}\left\{ \operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\mathcal{F}} \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\bullet}}) \right\}$$

Similarly we infer for the normalised denominator

$$|I_l|^{-1} \mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda_l) = |I_l|^{-1} \sum_{\gamma \in I_l^{-1}} \mathrm{vol}_{\omega}(\gamma \mathcal{F}) = |I_l|^{-1} \sum_{\gamma \in I_l} \mathrm{vol}_{\gamma \omega}(\mathcal{F}) \stackrel{j \to \infty}{\sim} \mathbb{E} \{ \mathrm{vol}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) \}$$

Note that by (2.10) all terms in the above line are bounded from above and below uniformly in  $\omega$ . By taking quotients we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}^{l}_{\omega}(t) = \frac{|I_{l}|^{-1} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-tH^{l}_{\omega}})}{|I_{l}|^{-1} \operatorname{vol}_{\omega}(\Lambda_{l})} \overset{j \to \infty}{\sim} \frac{\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(\chi_{\mathcal{F}} \mathrm{e}^{-tH_{\bullet}})\right\}}{\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{vol}_{\bullet}(\mathcal{F})\right\}}$$

Uniform boundedness implies that the convergence holds also in  $L^1$ -sense. The right hand side is the Laplace transform of  $N_H$ , see the proof of Theorem 6.1 of [328] for a detailed calculation.

## 2.7 Approach Using Dirichlet-Neumann Bracketing

We outline an alternative proof of the existence of the IDS due to Kirsch and Martinelli [254]. It applies to random Schrödinger operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . It relies on an ergodic theorem for superadditive processes by Akcoglu and

Krengel [17] and estimates on the number of bound states essentially implied by the Weyl asymptotics.

Let us explain the notion of a superadditive process in our context. Denote by Z the set of all multi-dimensional intervals or boxes  $\Lambda$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $\Lambda = \{x | a_j < x_j < b_j$ , for  $j = 1, \ldots, d\}$  for some  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  with  $a_j < b_j$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, d$ . The restriction of  $H_{\omega}$  to a  $\Lambda \in Z$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions is denoted by  $H_{\omega}^{\Lambda}$  and with Neumann boundary conditions by  $H_{\omega}^{\Lambda,N}$ . Consider a group  $\{T_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d}$  (or semigroup  $\{T_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d}$ ) of measure preserving transformations on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}_{\Omega}, \mathbb{P})$ .

**Definition 2.7.1.** A set function  $F: Z \to L^1(\Omega)$  is called a (discrete) superadditive process (with respect to  $\{T_k\}_k$ ) if the following conditions are satisfied

$$F_{\Lambda} \circ T_k = F_{\Lambda+k} \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \text{ (or } \mathbb{N}_0^d), \Lambda \in Z$$

$$(2.43)$$

if 
$$\Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_n \in \mathbb{Z}$$
 such that  $\Lambda := \operatorname{int}\left(\bigcup_{k=1}^n \overline{\Lambda}_k\right) \in \mathbb{Z}$  then,  $F_{\Lambda} \ge \sum_{k=1}^n F_{\Lambda_k}$ 

$$(2.44)$$

$$\gamma := \gamma(F) := \sup_{\Lambda \in \mathbb{Z}} |\Lambda|^{-1} \mathbb{E} \{F_{\Lambda}\} < \infty$$
(2.45)

F is called subadditive if -F is superadditive.

Similarly one can define superadditive processes with respect to an action of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  on  $\Omega$ .

We formulate the main result of [17] in the way it suits our needs (see Theorem 2.4 and the Remark on page 59 in [17] and Sect. 6.2 in [313]).

**Theorem 2.7.2.** Let F be a discrete superadditive process. For  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  set  $\Lambda_l := ] - l/2, l/2[^d]$ . Then the limit

$$\lim_{l\to\infty} l^{-d} F_{\Lambda_l} \quad \text{ exists for almost all } \omega \in \Omega$$

If  $\{T_k\}_k$  acts ergodically on  $(\Omega, \mathbb{P})$  we have  $\lim_{l\to\infty} l^{-d} F_{\Lambda_l}(\omega) = \gamma(F)$  almost surely.

More generally, one can replace the cubes  $\Lambda_l, l \in \mathbb{N}$  by a so-called *regular* sequence, cf. [470, 17, 254] or Sect. 6.2 in [313].

To apply the superadditive ergodic theorem we consider for arbitrary, fixed  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  the processes given by the eigenvalue counting functions of the Dirichlet and Neumann Laplacian

$$\begin{split} F_{\Lambda}^{D} &:= F_{\Lambda}^{D}(\lambda,\omega) := \#\{n|\lambda_{n}(H_{\omega}^{\Lambda}) < \lambda\}, \quad \Lambda \in Z\\ F_{\Lambda}^{N} &:= F_{\Lambda}^{N}(\lambda,\omega) := \#\{n|\lambda_{n}(H_{\omega}^{\Lambda,N}) < \lambda\}, \quad \Lambda \in Z \end{split}$$

where  $H_{\omega}$  is a random operator as in Definition 1.2.3. Obviously for  $\Lambda = \Lambda_l = ]-l/2, l/2[^d$  we have  $F_{\Lambda}^D(\lambda) = l^d N_{\omega}^l(\lambda)$ . We will show that  $F_{\Lambda}^D, \Lambda \in Z$  is a superadditive process, which is also true for  $-F_{\Lambda}^N, \Lambda \in Z$ . Property (2.43) follows from the equivariance of  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$ , while (2.44) and (2.45) are implied by the following

**Lemma 2.7.3.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be a random operator as in Definition 1.2.3 and  $\lambda$  a fixed energy value.

- (i) For two cubes  $\Lambda_{(1)} \subset \Lambda_{(2)}$  we have  $F^D_{\Lambda_{(2)}} \ge F^D_{\Lambda_{(1)}}$  and  $F^N_{\Lambda_{(1)}} \ge F^D_{\Lambda_{(1)}}$ . (ii) If  $\Lambda_{(1)}, \Lambda_{(2)} \in Z$  are disjoint such that  $\Lambda = \Lambda_{(1)} \cup \Lambda_{(2)} \cup M \in Z$  where  $M \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a set of measure zero, then

$$F_{\Lambda}^{D} \ge F_{\Lambda_{(1)}}^{D} + F_{\Lambda_{(2)}}^{D}$$
$$F_{\Lambda}^{N} \le F_{\Lambda_{(1)}}^{N} + F_{\Lambda_{(2)}}^{N}$$

(iii) There exists a  $C_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that for all  $\Lambda \in Z$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$  we have  $F^D_{\Lambda}(\omega) \leq C_{\lambda} |\Lambda|.$ 

*Proof.* The first two statements are known as Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing and are stated e.g. in Proposition XIII.15.4 in [408]. See also Sect. I.5 in [84] for analogous results on manifolds. Lemma A.3.1 in the Appendix and its proof imply property (iii) with  $C_{\lambda} = \left(\frac{\mathrm{e}}{2\pi d}\lambda\right)^{d/2}$ . 

More background on bracketing techniques can be found in Sects. XIII.3, 15 and 16 in [408]. The Weyl type bounds are related to the Lieb-Thirring and Cwikel-Lieb-Rozenblum estimates for bound states [416, 334, 333, 101].

Now we can state the main result of [254].

**Theorem 2.7.4.** There exists a set  $\Omega' \subset \Omega$  of full measure such that

$$N(\lambda) := \lim_{l \to \infty} N^l_{\omega}(\lambda) \tag{2.46}$$

exists for every  $\omega \in \Omega'$  and every continuity point  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  of N.

*Proof.* For a fixed  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  one applies Theorem 2.7.2 to  $F_{\Lambda}^{D}(\lambda, \omega), \Lambda \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and denotes the corresponding  $\gamma(F)$  by  $\gamma(\lambda)$ . By definition  $F_{\Lambda}^{D}(\lambda,\omega) \leq F_{\Lambda}^{D}(\tilde{\lambda},\omega)$ for all  $\lambda \leq \tilde{\lambda}$  and all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $\Lambda \in Z$ . Thus  $\lambda \mapsto \gamma(\lambda)$  is a non-decreasing function. It has at most a countable set of discontinuity points. We denote its complement by  $\mathcal{C}$  and choose a dense countable set  $S \subset \mathcal{C}$ . Hence  $\gamma$  is continuous at each  $\lambda \in S$ .

Since our transformation group is ergodic, for each  $\lambda$  there is a set  $\Omega_{\lambda}$  of measure one on which the convergence  $\lim_{l\to\infty} l^{-d} F^D_{\Lambda_l}(\omega) = \gamma(\lambda)$  holds. Since S is countable,  $\Omega' = \bigcap_{\lambda \in S} \Omega_{\lambda}$  has full measure, and the convergence statement of Theorem 2.7.2 holds for all  $\lambda \in S$  and  $\omega \in \Omega'$ . Define the distribution function  $N(\lambda) := \lim_{S \ni \tilde{\lambda} \nearrow \lambda} \gamma(\tilde{\lambda})$ . Thus,  $\gamma$  and N coincide on  $\mathcal{C}$ .

The monotonicity of  $\lambda \mapsto F^D_{\Lambda_l}(\lambda, \omega)$  and the continuity of N on C imply the statement of the theorem. To see this, choose a sequence  $\lambda_n \in S, \lambda_n \geq$  $\lambda \in \mathcal{C}$ ,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n = \lambda$ . Then we have

$$l^{-d}F^{D}_{\Lambda_{l}}(\lambda,\omega) - N(\lambda) \leq l^{-d}F^{D}_{\Lambda_{l}}(\lambda_{n},\omega) - N(\lambda_{n}) + N(\lambda_{n}) - N(\lambda)$$

For  $\omega \in \Omega'$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  we choose first *n* sufficiently large s.t.  $N(\lambda_n) - N(\lambda) \le \varepsilon/2$  and then *l* sufficiently large s.t.  $l^{-d}F^D_{\Lambda_l}(\lambda_n, \omega) - N(\lambda_n) \le \varepsilon/2$ . Thus one sees that

$$\limsup_{l \to \infty} l^{-d} F^D_{\Lambda_l}(\lambda, \omega) \le N(\lambda).$$

Similarly one can choose a sequence  $\lambda_n \in S$ ,  $\lambda_n \leq \lambda \in C$ ,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n = \lambda$  and then show that  $\liminf_{l \to \infty} l^{-d} F^D_{\Lambda_l}(\lambda, \omega) \geq N(\lambda)$ .

For models which satisfy both the conditions of the previous theorem and of 2.3.8 the two definitions of the IDS coincide.

Under certain regularity assumptions the theorem remains true if Neumann boundary conditions are used to define the IDS, cf. Theorem 3.3.(b) of [254]. In this case one works with the subadditive process  $F_{\Lambda}^{N}(\lambda, \omega)$ ,  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{Z}$ . There are versions of the above theorem for  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$ -ergodic potentials, cf. for instance [254, 224].

## 2.8 Independence of the Choice of Boundary Conditions

Consider again the more general setting of Schrödinger operators on a Riemannian covering manifold X. If the open subset  $\Lambda \subset X$  of finite volume is sufficiently regular, the Neumann Laplacian  $H^{\Lambda,N}_{\omega}$  on  $\Lambda$  has discrete spectrum. One condition which ensures this is the *extension property* of the domain  $\Lambda$ , see e.g. [108], which is in turn satisfied if the boundary  $\partial\Lambda$  is piecewise smooth. Minimal conditions which ensure the extension property are discussed in Sect. VI.3 of [454]. Thus it is possible to define the normalised eigenvalue counting function

$$N_{\omega}^{\Lambda,N}(\lambda) := \frac{1}{|\Lambda|} \#\{n \in \mathbb{N} | \lambda_n(H_{\omega}^{\Lambda,N}) < \lambda\}$$

Let  $\Lambda_l$  be an admissible exhaustion  $\Lambda_l \subset X, l \in \mathbb{N}$  of sets which all have the extension property. Consider the sequence of distribution functions  $N_{\omega}^{l,N} := N_{\omega}^{\Lambda_l,N}$ . It is natural to ask whether it converges almost surely, and, moreover, whether its limit coincides with N as defined in Theorem 2.3.8. If this is true, the IDS is independent of the choice of Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions used for its construction. This indicates that boundary effects are negligible in the macroscopic limit.

However, this turns out not to be true for all geometric situations. Sznitman studied in [464, 466] the IDS of a random Schrödinger operator on a horoball in hyperbolic space with potential generated by a Poissonian field. He showed that the IDS does depend on the choice of boundary condition used for its construction. Actually, he computes the Lifshitz asymptotics of the IDS at energies near the bottom of the spectrum and shows that it is different for Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions.

43

In contrast, in the case of Euclidean geometry  $X = \mathbb{R}^d$ , the question of boundary condition independence has been answered positively already some decades ago [43, 254, 432, 137] for a large class of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  or  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -ergodic random potentials. More recently, there has been interest in the same question if a magnetic field is included in the Hamiltonian, see also Sect. 5.7. In this case the coincidence of the IDS defined by the use of Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions was established for bounded (electric) potentials in [375], for non-negative potentials in [125], and for certain potentials assuming both arbitrarily large positive and negative values in [224] and [222]. The last mentioned approach seems to be extensible to non-Euclidean geometries.

# Wegner Estimate

In 1981 Wegner [493] proved on a physical level of rigour a lower and upper bound on the *density of states* (DOS) of the (discrete) Anderson model and similar lattice Hamiltonians. The density of states — if it exists — is the density function of the IDS.

Wegner's argument did in particular not rely on any information about the type of the spectrum in the considered energy interval. This was important, since before Wegner's result there where various conjectures in the physics community how the DOS should behave at the *mobility edge*, if it exists. This is the name for the critical energy which is supposed to form the boundary between an interval with pure point spectrum and another one with continuous spectrum. Note however that there is so far no rigorous proof of the existence of continuous spectrum for ergodic random Schrödinger operators. There were arguments suggesting that the DOS should diverge to infinity at the mobility edge, others that it should vanish. Wegner's estimates discarded this misconceptions by establishing upper and lower bounds on the DOS. In a sense it is a negative result: one cannot recognise the borderline of different spectral types by looking at the IDS.

In the sequel we concentrate on alloy type models as defined in 1.2.1 (and Remark 1.2.2). We will be concerned here with upper bounds on the DOS only. It is derived by considering its analoga on finite boxes. So what we are speaking about in this chapter is an estimate on

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right\} = |\Lambda_{l}| \mathbb{E}\left\{N_{\omega}^{l}(E_{2}) - N_{\omega}^{l}(E_{1})\right\}$$

where for the moment for notational convenience we only consider half open energy intervals  $I = [E_1, E_2]$ . By the Čebyšev-inequality one sees

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\sigma(H^{l}_{\omega}) \cap I \neq \emptyset\right\} = \mathbb{P}\left\{\operatorname{Tr} P^{l}_{\omega}(I) \neq 0\right\} \leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr} P^{l}_{\omega}(I)\right\}$$
(3.1)

This means that a bound on the averaged trace of the projection gives immediately a bound on the probability to find an eigenvalue in the considered energy interval. Actually, in the literature on Anderson localisation often the

## 3

46 3 Wegner Estimate

(weaker) bound on  $\mathbb{P}\left\{\operatorname{Tr} P^{l}_{\omega}(I) \neq 0\right\}$  is called Wegner estimate, since it is sufficient for the purposes of multiscale analysis, see Sect. 3.2.

In the following we will adopt the following notation:  $\Lambda_l := ]-l/2, l/2[^d \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ denotes the cube of side length l centred at zero. Occasionally we suppress the dependence on the size and just write  $\Lambda$ . A cube centred at  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  is denoted by  $\Lambda_l + x = \{y + x | y \in \Lambda_l\}$  or  $\Lambda_l(x)$ . The characteristic function of the unit cube  $\Lambda_1 + j$  is abbreviated by  $\chi_j$ . The symbol  $\tilde{\Lambda}_l = \Lambda_l \cap \mathbb{Z}^d$  denotes the lattice points contained in  $\Lambda_l$ . For  $l \in 2\mathbb{N} + 1$  we have

$$\operatorname{int}\left(\bigcup_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}_l}\overline{\Lambda_1(j)}\right) = \Lambda_l$$

## 3.1 Continuity of the IDS

The estimates on the expected number of energy levels in I, which most authors derive or use (for localisation proofs) are 'polynomial', more precisely

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P^{l}_{\omega}(I)\right\} \leq C_{W}\left|I\right|^{a}\left|\Lambda_{l}\right|^{b}$$

$$(3.2)$$

Here |I| and  $|\Lambda_l|$  denote the (1-dimensional, respectively *d*-dimensional) Lebesgue measure of the energy interval I, and the set  $\Lambda_l$ , respectively. The Wegner constant  $C_W$  depends on the various parameters of the model and for continuum Hamiltonians on the supremum of I. Actually,  $C_W$  can be assumed to be a monotone non-decreasing function of  $\sup I$ . However, once  $\sup I$  is fixed,  $C_W$  is independent both of the energy interval length and the volume. It is obvious that the energy and volume exponents must satisfy  $a \in ]0, 1], b \in [1, \infty[$ . As far as the exponents are concerned, the Wegner estimate is optimal if the dependence on the volume and energy length is linear, i.e. a = b = 1.

For, if b = 1, the bound (3.2) carries over to the infinite volume IDS:

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left\{N_{\omega}^{l}(E_{2}) - N_{\omega}^{l}(E_{2})\right\} = \lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}P_{\omega}^{l}([E_{1}, E_{2}[))\right\}}{|\Lambda_{l}|} \leq C_{W} |E_{2} - E_{1}|^{a}$$
(3.3)

Since we know from Theorem 2.3.8 and dominated convergence that for  $E_1, E_2$  in a dense set of energies

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \mathbb{E} \left\{ N_{\omega}^{l}(E_{2}) - N_{\omega}^{l}(E_{1}) \right\} = N(E_{2}) - N(E_{1})$$

it follows

$$N(E_2) - N(E_1) \le C_W |E_2 - E_1|^a$$

where  $C_W = C_W(E_2)$ . Now the monotonicity of the IDS implies its Hölder continuity. Moreover, if the estimate (3.2) is linear in the energy, i.e. a = 1, the IDS is even Lipschitz continuous. Thus its derivative, the DOS

3.1 Continuity of the IDS 47

$$n(E) := \frac{dN(E)}{dE} \tag{3.4}$$

exists for almost every energy  $E \in \mathbb{R}$  and is locally bounded

$$n(E) \le C_W(E_2)$$
 for all  $E \le E_2$ 

So the Wegner constant turns out to be a locally uniform bound on the DOS.

As mentioned above Wegner's paper gives also a lower bounds on the DOS. These have been rigorously established in [234, 215]. In the second reference the extension of this result to the alloy-type model on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  discussed.

Remark 3.1.1. For certain models the bounds derived on  $\mathbb{P}\left\{\sigma(H_{\omega}^{l}) \cap I \neq \emptyset\right\}$ are not polynomial in the volume. This is the case for one-dimensional Anderson or alloy type models where the coupling constants  $\omega_{j}, j \in \mathbb{Z}$  are distributed according to the Bernoulli distribution: for some  $p \in ]0, 1[$  the random variable  $\omega_{0}$  takes on the value 1 with probability equal to p and the value 0 with probability 1 - p. Since this disorder regime is highly singular, the 'usual' proofs of the Wegner estimate, see Chapters 4 and 5, fail. The ones that do work, yield somewhat weaker results. Indeed, it is proven in [80] (cf. also [429]) for the discrete Anderson model and in [104] for the continuum alloy type model, that for a fixed compact energy interval I and all  $\beta \in ]0, 1[, \gamma > 0$  there exist  $l_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\mathbb{P}\{d(\sigma(H^l_{\omega}), E) \le e^{-\gamma l^{\beta}}\} \le e^{-\alpha l^{\beta}}$$
(3.5)

for all  $E \in I$  and all  $l \ge l_0$ . Here in the case of the continuum model it has to be assumed that I is disjoint from a discrete set of exceptional energies.

This estimate obviously does not imply continuity of the IDS. Interestingly, for these models, the Hölder continuity of the IDS is established using other techniques which are specifically tailored for the one dimensional case, see [320], [80, App. to Sect. 5] and [104, Thm. 4.1]. Subsequently, this regularity result is used to derive the finite volume estimate (3.5). In higher dimensions, as we have discussed above, one proceeds in the other direction, carrying over finite volume estimates to the macroscopic limit.

The bound (3.5) is still sufficient as an input for the multiscale analysis which proves localisation, cf. e.g. [136] or our discussion in Sect. 3.2. In the discussion of Spencer's example in Sect. 3.2 we will obtain an insight why subexponentially small eigenvalue splittings are effective enough to prevent resonances.

Remark 3.1.2 (Continuity of the IDS on the lattice and in one dimension). In [116] Delyon and Souillard showed by a very simple argument that the IDS of the Anderson model on the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  is continuous, regardless of the continuity of the distribution of the potential values. The potential may even be correlated over long distances, as long as it is an ergodic stochastic field. Delyon and Souillard use the unique continuation property of the discrete

#### 48 3 Wegner Estimate

Schrödinger equation, to prove that no eigenvalue can be sufficiently degenerated to produce a jump of the IDS. At the end of Remark 3.1.3 we contrast their theorem with the situation in graphs other than the lattice. In [99] a quantitative version of the continuity is proven: for random, ergodic lattice Hamiltonians the IDS is actually log-Hölder continuous. See also [345] and [159, 123, 87, 357, 124] for related results for Hamiltonians on combinatorial graphs.

Similarly, the IDS is continuous for one dimensional Hamiltonians, both on  $\mathbb{Z}$  and on  $\mathbb{R}$ , [388, 236, 32]. Again, this result can be strengthened to log-Hölder continuity, cf. [100].

Remark 3.1.3 (Continuity of the IDS and geometry). So far we have only mentioned proven or expected assertions on the continuity of the IDS. One might ask whether there are interesting models which exhibit a discontinuous IDS. It turns out that this phenomenon may occur, if the configuration space has a more complicated geometry than  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  or  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Another example would be the IDS of the Landau Hamiltonian, cf. e.g. the references in Sect. 5.7, in particular [375].

Maybe the simplest example to illustrate the difference between Euclidean and more general geometry is provided by periodic Schrödinger operators. Under mild assumptions on the  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ -periodic potential  $V_{\text{per}}$  the IDS of the Schrödinger operator  $H_0 = -\Delta + V_{per}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is absolutely continuous, see the references at the end of Sect. 1.4. In particular the IDS cannot have jumps. However, precisely this can occur for Laplace-Beltrami operators (even without potential) on a Riemannian covering manifold X, see [461, App. 2] and [326, 325]. This phenomenon can be deduced from the fact that Laplacians on covering manifolds may have eigenvalues, as has been shown in [292]. Furthermore, the size of the jumps of the IDS is related to certain geometric invariants. Examples of such invariants are the order of the torsion subgroup of the deck transformation group  $\Gamma$  of X and the  $L^2$ -Betti numbers of X, which can be expressed in terms of the  $\Gamma$ -trace on a certain von Neumann algebra, establishing the connection to the representation of the IDS discussed before Theorem 2.3.3, see [118, 126, 122, 123, 421, 124]. Related material can be found in [30, 462, 345, 433, 420, 205, 422, 357, 121, 346, 351, 350, 120, 329].

Some of the Wegner estimates we present in Chapters 4 and 5 extend to alloy type models on manifolds. A particularly interesting phenomenon occurs if one considers a periodic Laplace-Beltrami operator with discontinuous IDS, and perturbs it randomly such that the IDS of the perturbed operator is continuous. This happens if either an appropriate alloy type potential is added to the Hamiltonian or if the metric is multiplied by an appropriate alloy type perturbation, see [325, 326].

A discontinuous IDS may also occur for models with a random geometry. This is the case for the tight-binding Hamiltonian defined on Delone sets studied in [330, 273]. Ideas related to [273] have been used in [419] and in Sect. 2 of [357]. The paper [419] is devoted to the proof of the existence of spectral gaps for certain graph Hamiltonians.

We will discuss a different example, the quantum percolation model, in some more detail, since it fits readily in the class of models which we have described so far. This model has been studied amongst others in [112, 113, 244, 426, 86, 52, 484, 485, 260, 328, 371, 25, 24, 370, 329]. We sketch the site percolation problem on  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  with probability parameter p: let  $v_k \colon \Omega \to$  $\{0, \infty\}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  be a sequence of independent, identically distributed random variables which take on the value 0 with probability p and the value  $\infty$  with probability 1 - p. Define  $X_\omega$  to be the infinite component of the set of active sites  $\{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d | v_k(\omega) = 0\}$ . The graph  $X_\omega$  is called the (active) infinite cluster. For p above a certain critical value  $p_c$  it is known that almost surely an infinite cluster exists [242, 207] and is unique [8, 181], while for  $p < p_c$  there is no infinite cluster almost surely.

One defines the Laplacian  $h_{\omega}$  on  $X_{\omega}$  as the restriction of the finite difference operator onto  $\ell^2(X_{\omega})$ . For a cube  $\Lambda_l$  one defines  $X_{\omega}^l$  to be those active sites in  $\Lambda_l \cap \mathbb{Z}^d$  which are connected to the boundary  $\partial \Lambda_l$  by a chain of active sites. The finite volume Laplacian  $h_{\omega}^l$  is the usual finite difference operator restricted to  $\ell^2(X_{\omega}^l)$ .

Although the finite active clusters, which would obviously give rise to bound states, are not taken into consideration, it turns out that  $h_{\omega}$  has bound states. This was as first observed in [244]. Eigenstates with finite support in the infinite cluster are called *molecular states*. The existence of such states affects the properties of the IDS of  $h_{\omega}$ , which is defined in the following way. For each  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  the normalised eigenvalue counting function of the Hamiltonian  $h_{\omega}^{l}$  is defined as

$$N_{\omega}^{l}(E) := \frac{1}{\#(\Lambda_{l} \cap \mathbb{Z}^{d})} \#\{n \mid \lambda_{n}(h_{\omega}^{l}) < E\}$$

which converges for  $l \to \infty$  to a non-random limit almost surely [86, 484, 485]. A construction resembling the Schwarz mirror charge principle in electrostatics shows that there are compactly supported eigenfunctions, cf. [86]. Due to their finite support they depend only on the pattern of  $X_{\omega}$  in a bounded region. Consequently the patterns and the associated localised eigenfunctions occur with a non-zero density along the infinite cluster and thus produce jumps of the IDS at the corresponding energy. In [86] it is shown by physical arguments that the discontinuities of N constitute a dense set of energies.

Actually, uniqueness of the infinite cluster is not used in the arguments of [86] and a similar argument for constructing finitely supported eigenfunctions does work on the Bethe lattice as well, although there the infinite cluster is not unique. For the quantum percolation model on the Bethe lattice compactly supported eigenfunctions have been constructed in [80, Sect. 7].

A mathematically rigorous study of the quantum percolation model on amenable graphs is undertaken in [484, 485]. There the discontinuities of the

#### 50 3 Wegner Estimate

IDS are explained in terms of the breakdown of the unique continuation property of eigenfunctions of the adjacency operator, see also Remark 3.1.2. Moreover, the set of these energies is characterised in the case  $X = \mathbb{Z}^d$ . From a wider perspective, the properties of this set are related to the Atiyah conjecture, cf. [121]. The low energy asymptotics of percolation Hamiltonians has been studied in [260, 371, 25, 24, 370].

*Remark 3.1.4.* While the continuity of the IDS has clearly to do with the distribution of eigenvalues of the random Hamiltonian, it only captures a part of the properties of this distribution. The theory of *level statistics* is concerned with the finer structure of the fluctuations of eigenvalues. It can be studied by an appropriate scaling procedure. This has been carried out for certain one-dimensional and discrete models in [369, 368, 413, 412, 366, 195]. More recently the joint distribution of eigenvalues and eigenfunctions in energy and space has been studied in [378, 243].

Another spectral property related to the continuity of the IDS is the multiplicity of the spectrum. The question is whether the spectrum is simple, whether it has finite multiplicity or is infinitely degenerate. For discrete Anderson type models (with absolutely continuous distribution of coupling constants) it has been proven that exponentially localised spectrum, and indeed singular spectrum in general, is simple almost surely, see [442, 230, 233, 279].

## 3.2 Application to Anderson Localisation

In the last section the implications of Wegner estimates for the IDS were presented. Now we focus on the second main application of those bounds, namely *Anderson localisation*.

As we discussed earlier in Sect. 1.3, this phenomenon tells us that a random family of Schrödinger operators exhibits in a certain energy interval dense pure point spectrum, almost surely. Moreover, the eigenfunctions of the eigenvalues lying in this interval decay exponentially. Even a stronger property, namely *dynamical localisation*, holds. See Sect. 1.3 for more details and references.

For multi-dimensional configuration space there are two techniques at disposal to prove localisation: the *fractional moment method* and the *multiscale analysis* (MSA). The first one is also called *Aizenman-Molchanov* technique and was introduced in [9, 5, 4, 203, 7]. It was so far applicable only to lattice Hamiltonians, up to the recent extension to continuum configuration space [6, 60]. For discrete models it has in fact been proven [10, 11] that in the energy regime where the MSA applies, the Aizenman-Molchanov method works, too.

However, we will discuss in a little more detail only the MSA, since it has found applications to a variety of models and since the Wegner estimate is a key ingredient in the MSA. We first sketch the basic ideas of the MSA, and then discuss shortly its history. To carry through the MSA one needs two a priori estimates: the *initial scale* estimate and the Wegner estimate. These two conditions essentially determine for which single site potentials u, single site distribution measures  $\mu$  and which energy intervals localisation can be derived. Note that u and  $\mu$  are parameters which determine our alloy type potential, see Definition 1.2.1.

In the literature one can find multiscale analyses which are adapted to operators describing the propagation of classical waves or to abstract families of differential operators, see among others [165, 166, 98, 107, 458, 186, 278]. In this context one has also to make sure that certain other conditions are satisfied, like the geometric resolvent inequality, the generalised eigenfunction expansion, a rough upper estimate on the trace of spectral projections of finite box operators (obtained e.g. by the Weyl asymptotics), etc. However, since we discuss here only (random) Schrödinger operators, these conditions are automatically satisfied, cf. [458, Sect. 3.2] or [190, App. A].

The multiscale analysis is an induction argument over a sequence of increasing length scales  $l_k, k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Each scale  $l_{k+1}$  is a power  $l_k^{\alpha}$  of the preceding one, where  $\alpha \in ]1, 2[$ . Actually, for technical reasons one truncates the scales so that all  $l_k$  lie in 6N.

One considers the restriction of the alloy type model  $H_{\omega}$  to the open cube  $\Lambda^{(k)} := \Lambda_{l_k}(0)$  of side length  $l_k$ . The corresponding restricted operator is denoted by  $H_{\omega}^{(k)}$ , where Dirichlet, Neumann or periodic boundary conditions ensure its selfadjointness. One wants to study decay properties of the Green's function of  $H_{\omega}^{(k)}$ , i.e. the integral kernel of the resolvent operator  $R_{\omega}^{(k)}(z) = (H_{\omega}^{(k)} - z)^{-1}$ , where z is taken from the resolvent set  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(H_{\omega}^{(k)})$ . Since we are not interested in pointwise properties of the kernel of  $R_{\omega}^{(k)}(z)$ , and since they tend to be unpleasant near the diagonal, we may consider instead the sandwiched resolvent

$$\chi^{out}(H^l_\omega - E)^{-1}\chi^{in}$$

Here  $\chi^{out}$  denotes the characteristic function of the boundary belt  $\Lambda_{l-1} \setminus \Lambda_{l-3}$ , and  $\chi^{in}$  the characteristic function of the interior box  $\Lambda_{l/3}$ .

The initial scale estimate is stated in terms of the notion of regular cubes. A box  $\Lambda_l = \Lambda_l(0)$  is called  $(E, \gamma)$ -regular if  $l \in 6\mathbb{N}$ ,  $E \notin \sigma(H^l_{\omega})$ , and

$$\|\chi^{out}(H^l_{\omega} - E)^{-1}\chi^{in}\| \le e^{-\gamma l}$$
(3.6)

The exponent has to satisfy  $\gamma \geq l^{\beta}$  for some  $\beta > -1$ . So regularity describes quantitatively how fast the Green's function on a finite box decays. The exponent  $\beta$  must be greater than -1 otherwise the right hand side of (3.6) would be of order one. Estimate (3.6) can be deduced from so-called *Combes-Thomas estimates* [88, 34, 265] if one knows that  $d(\sigma(H_{\omega}^{l}), E) > \gamma$ .

The *initial scale estimate* is satisfied if there exist a scale  $l_1 < \infty$  such that for some  $\xi > 0$ 

$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega | \forall E \in I : \Lambda_l \text{ is } (E, \gamma) \text{-regular for } \omega\} \ge 1 - l^{-\xi}$$
(3.7)

for any  $l \geq l_1$ .

#### 52 3 Wegner Estimate

The weak form of the Wegner estimate as it is needed for the MSA is:

$$\mathbb{P}\{d(\sigma(H^l_{\omega}), E) \le e^{-l^{\sigma}}\} \le l^{-q} \text{ for all } l \in 6\mathbb{N}$$
(3.8)

where  $\theta < 1/2$  and q > d. Note that this type of estimate is implied by the bound (3.5) discussed in Remark 3.1.1.

The initials scale estimate (3.7) serves as the induction anchor of the MSA. The induction step uses the Wegner estimate and proves that the exponential decay property holds on the subsequent scale  $l_2$  with even higher probability, and that the decay exponent  $\gamma$  essentially does not change. As one repeats the procedure on the scales  $l_1, l_2, \ldots$  one proves that the decay of the Green's functions  $\chi^{out}(H^{(k)}_{\omega}-E)^{-1}\chi^{in}$  holds with probability which tends to one, with error bounded polynomially in  $l_{\nu}^{-1}$ .

Thus one establishes the exponential decay of the sandwiched resolvent on arbitrary large cubes, where the decay exponent  $\gamma$  is bounded away from zero uniformly in the scales. Now one uses polynomial bounds on the growth of eigenfunctions and subsolution estimates to prove spectral localisation, cf. for instance [458, Sect. 3.3]. To prove dynamical localisation one has to do more work, see e.g. [458, Sect. 3.4] or [183, 107, 186].

The assumptions for the MSA depend on several parameters, and so do the various versions of localisation which may be obtained by it. Germinet and Klein showed in [186] using a bootstrap MSA how to optimise the dependence of the MSA on the various parameters, i.e. how to obtain with the weakest assumptions in the input the strongest conclusions.

The MSA was introduced by Fröhlich and Spencer in [176]. The method applied to the Anderson model on the lattice and experienced various improvements and applications [354, 355, 175, 444, 115].

Based on results from [135] and [453] von Dreifus and Klein presented in [136] a streamlined version of the MSA. Although results on localisation for continuum Hamiltonians existed earlier [353, 306], it was this simplification of the MSA, which made alloy type Schrödinger operators more accessible to systematic research.

There was a series of articles which proved various variants of the MSA for continuum models [280, 89, 282, 265, 183, 170, 107, 458, 186]. Other works concentrated onto identifying energy/disorder regimes where one can prove the assumptions needed to apply the MSA [280, 281, 282, 34, 265, 264, 186, 457, 480, 481, 213, 500, 287, 188, 187]. Using Combes-Thomas estimates, the initial scale estimate (3.7) can be verified in energy intervals where the IDS is very sparse. This is for instance the case in neighbourhoods of spectral fluctuation boundaries, which we discussed in Sect. 1.4.

Remark 3.2.1. One dimensional models play a special role in the game of localisation. Namely, for d = 1 there are some specific techniques available which do not exist in higher dimensions, or are not as effective. See the discussion on page 9.

53

Consequently, in one space dimension localisation has been proven for some models even before the MSA technique was available. See [202, 369, 201, 78, 415, 306] for various models on  $\mathbb{Z}$  or  $\mathbb{R}$ . Furthermore there are certain types of random Schrödinger operators which even now can be treated only in one dimension, like the random displacement model [74, 445] or discrete models with Bernoulli disorder [80, 429]. This restriction to d = 1 is partially due to the fact, that there is no Wegner estimate at disposal in these cases. However, for the continuum analog of the Bernoulli-Anderson model, localisation has been proven in arbitrary dimension at low energies in [59], see Sect. 4.8. Based on this work, localisation has been established for Schrödinger operators with Poissonian random potential at low energies in [184, 185].

Let us also mention that one dimensional techniques usually establish localisation on the whole energy axis. For higher dimensional continuum models localisation results are restricted to energies near spectral boundaries.

The following section gives an idea where the Wegner estimate is used in the MSA.

## 3.3 Resonances of Hamiltonians on Disjoint Regions

Rather than describing precisely how the Wegner estimate enters in the induction step of the MSA we will confine ourselves to present an illuminative example due to Spencer [452]. It was originally formulated for lattice Hamiltonians, but can also be considered in the continuum case, as we have learned from P. Müller.

As we mentioned earlier, (3.2) implies for  $0 \le \delta < 1$ 

$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega | d(\sigma(H^l_{\omega}), E) \le \delta\} \le C_W(E) \,\delta^a \,|\Lambda_l|^b \tag{3.9}$$

This inequality implies that with respect to the parameter  $\omega$  the eigenvalues of  $H^l_{\omega}$  do not cluster on the energy axis. To give a more precise meaning to this statement, consider two Hamiltonians  $H^1 = H^{\Lambda_l(x)}_{\omega}$  and  $H^2 = H^{\Lambda_l(y)}_{\omega}$  which are restrictions of  $H_{\omega}$  to the cubes  $\Lambda_l(x)$  and  $\Lambda_l(y)$  respectively. Assume that the boxes  $\Lambda_l(x)$  and  $\Lambda_l(x)$  are sufficiently far apart such that  $H^1$  and  $H^2$  are independent. Let I be a bounded interval and consider the event

$$\Omega(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) := \{ \omega | B_{\delta}(\sigma_1) \cap B_{\delta}(\sigma_2) \neq \emptyset \}$$

where  $\sigma_i$  stands for  $\sigma(H^i) \cap I$ . Let  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_N$  be the eigenvalues of  $H^1$  in I. By Weyl's law we know that  $N \leq C_I |\Lambda_l|$ , where  $C_I$  is independent of  $\omega$ . Since

$$\Omega(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^N \Omega(n, \sigma_2) \quad \text{where } \Omega(n, \sigma_2) := \{ \omega | B_{2\delta}(\lambda_n(\omega)) \cap \sigma_2 \neq \emptyset \}$$

we may use (3.9) to conclude

$$\mathbb{P}\{\Omega(\sigma_1, \sigma_1)\} \le C\delta^a \, |\Lambda_l|^{b+1} \tag{3.10}$$

#### 54 3 Wegner Estimate

This means that resonances of  $H^1$  and  $H^2$ , i.e. the occurrence of approximately the same eigenvalues for both operators, are very unlikely.

The feature which is common to Spencer's example and the MSA is the effect of resonances between Hamiltonians which are localised to disjoint cubes. As we mentioned earlier, in the induction step of the MSA one puts together boxes  $\Lambda_l$  of side length l to form a larger cube  $\Lambda_L$  of side length L. Assume that one knows already that the Green's functions of the operators  $H^l_{\omega}$  living on any one of the small cubes  $\Lambda_l$  decays exponentially.

The Schrödinger operator  $H_{\omega}^{L}$  on  $\Lambda_{L}$  is obtained when we remove the boundary conditions which separate the smaller boxes  $\Lambda_{l}$ . The question is whether the Green's function on  $\Lambda_{L}$  will still decay (with approximately the same rate). To answer this question affirmatively it is not enough to know the exponential decay of the individual Green's functions on the small boxes  $\Lambda_{l}$ , but it has to be ensured that they are not in resonance with each other.

Resonance means in this context that the spectra of two restriction  $H^1, H^2$ of  $H_{\omega}$  to disjoint cubes are very close to each other. An appropriate quantitative formulation can be given in terms of

$$d(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) := \inf\{d(\lambda_1, \lambda_2) | \lambda_1 \in \sigma_1, \lambda_2 \in \sigma_2\}$$
(3.11)

as we will see below.

The model situation we are about to consider is easier than the one occurring in the MSA because we do not introduce boundary conditions but confine ourselves to the analysis of the discrete spectrum below zero.

Example 3.3.1 (Spencer's example [452, p. 903–904]). Consider two smooth potentials  $V_1, V_2 \leq 0$  with compact support and set

$$\mathcal{V}_i := \operatorname{supp} V_i \subset B_r(a_i), r > 0, a_i \in \mathbb{R}^d, i = 1, 2$$
(3.12)

It follows  $d(\mathcal{V}_1, \mathcal{V}_2) \geq |a_1 - a_2| - 2r =: \varrho$ . Consider furthermore the operators

$$H := H_0 + V_1 + V_2, \qquad H_0 := -\Delta \tag{3.13}$$

$$H_i := -\Delta + V_i, \quad i = 1, 2$$
 (3.14)

Denote by  $\sigma_i := \sigma(H_i) \cap ] - \infty, 0[$ , i = 1, 2 the negative spectra, which are purely discrete. We are interested in the localisation and decay properties of the corresponding eigenfunctions.

We look at two cases, where the first has a special symmetry and the second corresponds to the situation expected to occur in a random medium.

#### Case (A):

Consider first the *exceptional* case in which  $V_2$  is obtained from  $V_1$  by a reflection along an axis of symmetry. Without loss of generality

$$V_2(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) = V_1(-x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d)$$
(3.15)

Thus H commutes with the reflection operator

$$\Pi: L^2(\mathbb{R}^2) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^2), \quad (\Pi f)(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) = f(-x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d) \quad (3.16)$$

In particular, for every eigenfunction  $\psi$ 

$$H\psi = \lambda\psi, \quad \lambda < 0$$

the reflected function  $\Pi \psi$  is an eigenvector of H as well. If  $\psi$  is localised around  $a_1 \Pi \psi$  will be localised around  $a_2$ . Thus a typical vector from span $\{\psi, \Pi \psi\}$  will have non negligible amplitudes both at  $a_1$  and  $a_2$ , even for large distances  $\varrho$ . For short, eigenfunctions of H do not need to have just one centre of localisation.

We are dealing with a resonance between the two disjoint regions  $\mathcal{V}_1, \mathcal{V}_2$ , or more precisely between the spectra of  $H_1$  and  $H_2$ . Actually, we encountered the extreme case where the the spectra  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  are not only close to each other but identical.

The example we just considered exhibited a special symmetry, namely  $[H, \Pi] = 0$ . For random potentials we expect generically that such symmetries are absent and that the spectra  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  have positive distance. This situation is considered in

#### Case (B):

We give a condition on  $d(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)$  which ensures that the eigenfunctions of H (defined in (3.13)) are localised at *only one* of the potential wells  $V_1, V_2$ . Namely, assume that

$$d(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \ge e^{-\sqrt{\varrho}} =: \varepsilon \tag{3.17}$$

For an eigenvalue  $\lambda \leq -\frac{2}{\varrho}$ , with corresponding equation  $H\psi = \lambda\psi$ , we have either

$$|\lambda_1^j - \lambda| \ge \varepsilon/2, \quad \forall \lambda_1^j \in \sigma_1 \qquad \text{or} \qquad |\lambda_2^j - \lambda| \ge \varepsilon/2, \quad \forall \lambda_2^j \in \sigma_2 \quad (3.18)$$

Assume without loss of generality the first case. The eigenfunction equation implies

$$-\psi = (H_1 - \lambda)^{-1} V_2 \psi$$

Applying twice the resolvent equation we obtain

$$-\psi = [R_0 - R_0 V_1 R_0 + R_0 V_1 R_1 V_1 R_0] V_2 \psi, \qquad (3.19)$$

where  $R_i := (H_i - \lambda)^{-1}$ , i = 0, 1 denotes the resolvents. We show that the amplitude of  $\psi$  on  $\mathcal{V}_1$  is exponentially small in the parameter  $\varrho$ . Denote with  $\chi^i$  the characteristic function of  $\mathcal{V}_i$  for i = 1, 2 and multiply (3.19) with  $\chi^1$ 

$$-\chi^{1}\psi = \chi^{1}R_{0}\chi^{2}V_{2}\psi - \chi^{1}R_{0}V_{1}\chi^{1}R_{0}\chi^{2}V_{2}\psi + \chi^{1}R_{0}V_{1}R_{1}V_{1}\chi^{1}R_{0}\chi^{2}V_{2}\psi$$
(3.20)

55

## 56 3 Wegner Estimate

The free resolvent decays exponentially, see e.g. [3] or [407, IX.30],

$$R^{1,2} := \|\chi^1 R_0 \chi^2\| \lesssim e^{-\varrho \sqrt{-\lambda}},$$

the terms  $\|V_2\psi\|, \|\chi^1 R_0 V_1\|$  are bounded uniformly in  $\varrho$ , and (3.18) implies

$$||R_1|| \le \frac{2}{\varepsilon} = 2\mathrm{e}^{\sqrt{\varrho}}$$

Consequently

$$\begin{aligned} \|\chi^{1}\psi\| &\leq R^{1,2} \|V_{2}\psi\| + \|\chi^{1}R_{0}V_{1}\| R^{1,2} \|V_{2}\psi\| \\ &+ \|\chi^{1}R_{0}V_{1}\| \|R_{1}V_{1}\| R^{1,2} \|V_{2}\psi\| \end{aligned}$$

is bounded by a constant times  $\exp(-\sqrt{\varrho}) \|\psi\|$ , since  $\varrho^{-1} \leq -\lambda$ .

Let us finish this section by discussing some aspects and contrasts of the two cases considered in the example.

- (i) In general, the spectrum alone describes only general properties of the solution of the eigenvalue equation. In our example it is the additional information contained in (3.15) and (3.17), respectively, which allows us to analyse the eigenfunctions more precisely.
- (ii) Obviously, in Case (A), the Green's function decays in space, too. However, this decay is not yet felt at the scale  $\rho$ , since  $|\psi(a_1)\psi(a_2)|$  converges to a positive constant for  $\rho \to \infty$ . On the contrary, in Case (B), the amplitude is small either at  $a_1$  or  $a_2$ , more precisely

$$|\psi(a_1)\psi(a_2)| \lesssim \mathrm{e}^{-\sqrt{\varrho}}$$

(iii) A semiclassical analysis of double well potentials is carried out, for instance, in [216].

# Wegner's Original Idea. Rigorous Implementation

In this section we present a proof of Wegner's estimate following his original ideas in [493]. His proof was originally formulated for the discrete Anderson model. In the meantime, it has been cast into mathematically rigorous form and adapted for continuum Hamiltonians. We follow mostly the arguments of Kirsch [249]. There are proofs of Wegner's estimate by other authors, which make use of the ideas in [493]. Let us mention [353, 352, 280, 281, 169, 94, 93].

The theorem to be proven is

**Theorem 4.0.1.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be as in Definition 1.2.1 and assume additionally that there exists a  $\kappa > 0$  such that

$$u \ge \kappa \chi_{[-1/2, 1/2]^d}$$
 (4.1)

Then for all  $E_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant  $C_W = C_W(E_0)$  such that for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}, E \leq E_0 \text{ and all } \varepsilon \in [0,1]$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}([E-\varepsilon, E+\varepsilon])\right]\right\} \leq C_{W} \varepsilon \ l^{2d} \tag{4.2}$$

As before  $P^l_{\omega}$  denotes the spectral projection associated to the operator  $H^l_{\omega}$ . The theorem is proven in the next section. Its bound with respect to the volume term  $l^d$  is quadratic and does not yield a continuity statement for the IDS. Subsequently we show how this estimate was improved in [97]. Denote by  $\omega_+$  and  $\omega_-$  the largest, respectively the smallest value a coupling constant may take.

# 4.1 Spectral Averaging of the Trace of the Spectral Projection

We show that the expectation over the randomness smears out the eigenvalues of  $H^l_{\omega}$  and thus regularises the trace of  $P^l_{\omega}(I)$ . By definition, the spectral projection  $P^l_{\omega}(I) = \chi_I(H^l_{\omega})$  is the characteristic

function of  $H^l_{\omega}$ . For certain purposes it will be necessary to differentiate this

## $\mathbf{4}$

58 4 Wegner's Original Idea. Rigorous Implementation

function with respect to the energy parameter, which motivates the introduction of the following smooth 'switch function'.

Let  $\rho$  be a smooth, non-decreasing function such that on  $]-\infty, -\varepsilon]$  it is identically equal to -1, on  $[\varepsilon, \infty[$  it is identically equal to zero and  $\|\rho'\|_{\infty} \leq 1/\varepsilon$ . Then

$$\chi_{]E-\varepsilon,E+\varepsilon[}(x) \le \rho(x-E+2\varepsilon) - \rho(x-E-2\varepsilon) = \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \, \rho'(x-E+t)$$

Thus by the spectral theorem

$$P_{\omega}^{l}(]E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon[) \leq \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \, \rho'(H_{\omega}^{l} - E + t)$$

in the sense of quadratic forms. Since  $B_{\varepsilon}(E) = [E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]$  is bounded and  $\sigma(H_{\omega}^{l})$  discrete, the above operators are trace class and we may estimate:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}(B_{\varepsilon}(E))\right] \leq \operatorname{Tr}\left[\int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \,\rho'(H_{\omega}^{l}-E+t)\right] = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \,\rho'(\lambda_{n}^{l}(\omega)-E+t)$$

where  $\lambda_n^l(\omega)$  denotes the eigenvalues of  $H_{\omega}^l$  enumerated in non-decreasing order and counting multiplicities. Only a finite number of terms in the sum are non-zero. More generally the above arguments prove the following.

**Lemma 4.1.1.** Let H be an operator with purely discrete spectrum. Denote by  $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots$  the eigenvalues of H. Then for  $E \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\operatorname{Tr}\Big[\chi_{B_{\varepsilon}(E)}(H)\Big] \leq \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \, \rho'(\lambda_n - E + t)$$

In the following we analyse the behaviour of the spectrum of the Schrödinger operator under the perturbation  $\omega_j u(\cdot - j)$ . Fix a box-size  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , a lattice site  $j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$  and a configuration of coupling constants  $\omega \in \Omega$  and consider the one-parameter family of operators

$$t \mapsto H_t := H + tU$$
, where  $H = H^l_{\omega}$  and  $U = u(\cdot - j)$ 

By the arguments in Sect. 1.2 the single site potential is infinitesimally bounded with respect to H, thus  $H_t$  forms a holomorphic family of type (A) in the sense of Kato [239] for t in a neighbourhood of the real line, cf. e.g. XII. Sect. 2 in [408]. Moreover,  $H_t$  has compact resolvent by XII. Sect. 14 in [408]. Hence one may apply a theorem of Rellich [411], see also Theorem VII. Sect. 3.9 in [239]. It says that the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of  $H_t$  can be chosen to be real analytic on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Actually, each eigenvalue is holomorphic on a neighbourhood of  $\mathbb{R}$  in the complex plane, but their intersection may contain only  $\mathbb{R}$ . If  $\lambda_n(t)$  is a non-degenerate eigenvalue of  $H_t$ , first order perturbation theory tells us that there exists a normalised eigenfunction  $\psi_n(t)$  such that

$$\frac{d\lambda_n}{dt}(t_0) = \langle \psi_n(t_0), U\psi_n(t_0) \rangle$$
(4.3)

Remark 4.1.2. This is sometimes called Hellmann-Feynman formula, and it holds true also if the eigenvalue  $\lambda_n$  happens to be degenerate at  $t = t_0$ , cf. for instance [228]. One has however to chose the enumeration of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_n$ and eigenvectors  $\psi_n$  in such a way that the pair  $\lambda_n(t), \psi_n(t), t < t_0$  continues holomorphically into  $\lambda_n(t), \psi_n(t), t > t_0$ . Note that this is actually not the case with the enumeration we chose earlier, where  $\lambda_n(t)$  denotes the  $n^{\text{th}}$  eigenvalue of  $H_t$ . There are two possibilities to solve the problem: either one chooses a somewhat un-intuitive enumeration of eigenvalues which makes them together with the eigenvectors — holomorphic functions of t. Or one sums over the eigenvalues. Indeed, formula (4.3) remains true if we sum over all eigenvalues which correspond to a degeneracy. More precisely, for a degenerate eigenvalue  $\lambda_n(t_0)$  denote by  $l, k \in \mathbb{N}$  the largest numbers such that  $\lambda_{n-l}(t_0) =$  $\dots = \lambda_n(t_0) = \dots = \lambda_{n+k}(t_0)$  and set  $S(t) = \sum_{m=n-l}^{n+k} \lambda_m(t)$ . Then we have

$$\frac{dS}{dt}(t_0) = \sum_{m=n-l}^{n+k} \langle \psi_m(t_0), U\psi_m(t_0) \rangle$$

In the application of (4.3) in the next proposition we will be considering all eigenvalues below a certain energy. Thus, if we consider one eigenvalue participating in a degeneracy we will actually take into account all participating eigenvalues.

The results for one parameter families of operators carry over to the multiparameter family  $\omega \mapsto H^l_{\omega}$ . Thus we have

$$\sum_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}} \frac{\partial \lambda_n^l(\omega)}{\partial \omega_j} = \sum_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}} \langle \psi_n, u(\cdot - j)\psi_n \rangle$$

where  $\psi_n$  are normalised eigenvectors corresponding to  $\lambda_n^l(\omega)$  and  $\tilde{\Lambda} = \tilde{\Lambda}_l$ . By assumption (4.1) we have

$$\sum_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}} \langle \psi_n, u(\cdot - j)\psi_n \rangle \ge \kappa > 0 \tag{4.4}$$

Now the chain rule

$$\sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}} \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_j} = \rho'(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t) \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}} \frac{\partial \lambda_n^l(\omega)}{\partial \omega_j}$$

59

60 4 Wegner's Original Idea. Rigorous Implementation

implies

$$\rho'(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t) \le \kappa^{-1} \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}} \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_j}$$
(4.5)

Due to monotonicity, when integrating over one coupling constant, we obtain

$$\int d\omega_j f(\omega_j) \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_j} \le \|f\|_{\infty} \int d\omega_j \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_j}$$
$$= \|f\|_{\infty} \Big[ \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \max) - E + t) - \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \min) - E + t) \Big]$$

where  $\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \max)$  denotes the  $n^{\text{th}}$  eigenvalue of the operator

$$H^l_{\omega}(j = \max) := H^l_{\omega} + (\omega_+ - \omega_j) u(x - j)$$

corresponding to the configuration of the potential where  $\omega_j$  takes its maximal value. Analogously, we use the notation  $\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \min)$ . This proves

## Proposition 4.1.3.

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}([E-\varepsilon,E+\varepsilon])\right]\right\} \leq \frac{\|f\|_{\infty}}{\kappa} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}} \mathbb{E}\left\{\rho[\lambda_{n}^{l}(\omega,j=\max)-E+t] - \rho[\lambda_{n}^{l}(\omega,j=\min)-E+t]\right\}$$

The upper bound can be also written as

$$\frac{\|f\|_{\infty}}{\kappa} \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}} \mathbb{E}\left\{ \operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho[H^{l}_{\omega}(j=\max)-E+t]-\rho[H^{l}_{\omega}(j=\min)-E+t]\right] \right\}$$

Since  $\rho \leq 0$ 

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \rho[\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \max) - E + t] - \rho[\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \min) - E + t]$$
  
$$\leq -\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \rho[\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \min) - E + t] \leq C_{E+3\varepsilon} \ l^d \leq C_{E_0+3} \ l^d \qquad (4.6)$$

by bound (iii) in Lemma 2.7.3. This proves Theorem 4.0.1.

Remark 4.1.4. The suboptimality of the volume bound in Theorem 4.0.1 is due to the rough estimate (4.6). The left hand side of the inequality is the net increase of the number of eigenvalues in the energy interval  $]E - t - \varepsilon$ ,  $E - t + \varepsilon$  [due to the increase of the  $j^{\text{th}}$  coupling constant from its minimal to its maximal value. The average of this quantity is independent of  $\Lambda$ , cf. [92]. However, in (4.6) we estimated it by the total number of eigenvalues below the energy  $E + 3\varepsilon$ , which is by Weyl's law proportional to the volume of  $\Lambda$ . Thus we get an extra volume factor in the upper bound of the Wegner estimate.

## 4.2 Improved Volume Estimates

As we mentioned earlier, Theorem 4.0.1 is unsatisfactory with respect to the volume dependence of the upper bound. Since it is quadratic, it does not imply any regularity property of the IDS. There is a number of papers [34, 97, 298, 93, 95, 218] which prove an upper bound which is linear in the volume. Mostly the trade-off is that either the bound is worse with respect to the length of the energy interval  $[E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]$ , or that it holds only under certain additional hypotheses on the model or energy regime. Only the very recent preprint [91] gives a Wegner estimate with an upper bound which is linear both in the volume and the length of  $[E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]$ , without adding extra assumptions on the model or energy regime (except the periodicity of the deterministic part of the operator). A different method of proof which yields Wegner estimates with linear volume and energy dependence is discussed in Chapter 5.

We describe results from two of the abovementioned papers in some detail. Let us start with the work [93] of Combes, Hislop and Klopp where they study alloy type models with single site potentials of small support, and establish the Hölder continuity of the IDS at all energies.

They consider the case where the single site potential  $u \in L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is nonnegative and not identically equal to zero, and treat three different situations. In all of them the unperturbed background operator  $H_0 = (-i\nabla - A)^2 + V_0$ may include a magnetic vector potential A and a (scalar) electric potential  $V_0$ . The potentials have to satisfy some regularity conditions such that  $H_0$  is selfadjoint and has  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  as an operator core. The coupling constants are independent identically distributed with distribution  $\mu$ , which has a density in  $L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ .

Here are several hypotheses each of which is sufficient for a continuity result on the IDS.

(i) The background operator  $H_0$  has an IDS  $N_0$ , which is Hölder continuous

$$|N_0(E_2) - N_0(E_1)| \le C_0 |E_2 - E_1|^{\tilde{\alpha}}$$

with Hölder exponent  $\tilde{\alpha} \in [0, 1]$ . The constant  $C_0 = C_0(I)$  can be chosen uniformly for  $E_2, E_1$  in a given compact interval I.

- (ii) The background operator  $H_0$  is periodic with respect to the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ and has the unique continuation property, cf. Definition 4.2.2 below. The set  $\{x | u(x) > 0\}$  contains an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .
- (iii) The space dimension is d = 2. The operator  $H_0 = (-i\nabla A)^2 + V_{\text{per}}$ consists of a Landau Hamiltonian with vector potential  $A(x_1, x_2) = \frac{B}{2}(-x_2, x_1)$  and a periodic scalar potential  $V_{\text{per}}$ . Here B > 0 is the (constant) magnetic field strength. The magnetic flux trough a unit cell satisfies the rationality condition

$$B \in 2\pi \mathbb{Q} \tag{4.7}$$

The scalar potential  $V_{\text{per}}$  is a  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -periodic function in  $L^2_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ .

62 4 Wegner's Original Idea. Rigorous Implementation

In case (i) set  $\alpha_c = \frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{\tilde{\alpha}+2}$ , otherwise set  $\alpha_c = 1$ .

**Theorem 4.2.1.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be an alloy type model satisfying either one of the above conditions (i)–(iii). Then, for each  $a \in ]0, \alpha_c[$ , and any compact interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant  $C_{a,I}$  such that the IDS of  $H_{\omega}$  satisfies

 $|N(E_2) - N(E_1)| \le C_{a,I} |E_2 - E_1|^a$  for all  $E_1, E_2 \in I$ 

In a follow up work [95] on the Landau Hamiltonian in collaboration with Raikov condition (4.7) in hypothesis (iii) has been removed.

Note that this result is formulated not in terms of the average of the eigenvalue counting function on a finite cube, but rather in terms of IDS itself. The following property appeared in the hypotheses of the theorem.

**Definition 4.2.2.** A Schrödinger operator H on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  has the unique continuation property if the following condition holds: Let  $E \in \mathbb{R}$  be arbitrary and  $\phi$  a function in the domain of the operator H satisfying  $(H - E)\phi = 0$ . If  $\phi$  vanishes on some open set, then it vanishes identically on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

For a discussion of this property, see for instance [498].

The next two results are taken from [218]. Let  $\mu$  as before denote the distribution of any of the bounded random coupling constants  $\omega_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ .

**Theorem 4.2.3.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be an alloy type model as in Definition 1.2.1. Assume that  $V_{\text{per}}$  has the unique continuation property and is bounded below,  $\mu$ has a density in  $L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  and  $0 \leq u \in L^{\infty}$  is strictly positive on an open set. Then, for each  $E_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant  $C_W$  such that

$$N(E+\varepsilon) - N(E-\varepsilon) \le C_W \varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^d \tag{4.8}$$

for all  $E \leq E_0$  and  $\varepsilon \leq 1/2$ .

The next result is formulated in terms of a Wegner estimate, i.e. a bound on the average of a finite volume IDS measure of a small energy interval.

For  $\varepsilon > 0$  we define the (global) modulus of continuity of  $\mu$  by

$$s(\mu,\varepsilon) = \sup\left\{\mu\left(\left[E - \frac{\varepsilon}{2}, E + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right]\right) \middle| E \in \mathbb{R}\right\}$$
(4.9)

This allows us to formulate the next theorem.

**Theorem 4.2.4.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be an alloy type model as in Definition 1.2.1 and  $u \geq \kappa \chi_{[-1/2,1/2]^d}$  for some positive  $\kappa$ . Then, for each  $E_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant  $C_W$  such that, for all  $E \leq E_0$  and  $\varepsilon \leq 1/2$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}[\chi_{[E-\varepsilon,E+\varepsilon]}(H^{l}_{\omega})]\right\} \le C_{W} \ s(\mu,\varepsilon) \left|\log \varepsilon\right|^{d} \left|\Lambda_{l}\right|$$
(4.10)

Actually, both of these results may be formulated for background operators  $H_0$  which incorporate quite general magnetic vector potentials, see Sect. A.3 and [218]. We will prove Theorem 4.2.4. The proof of Theorem 4.2.3 relies on a combination of results of [93] and [218]. In particular, the unique continuation properties of periodic operators developed in [93] play a crucial role.
Remark 4.2.5 (Analogous results on combinatorial and metric graphs). In [218] one can find also an analogous Wegner estimate for the Anderson model  $h_{\omega}$  on  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ . Since the model is discrete, single site potentials correspond to finite rank operators. For this reason one has uniform estimates on the spectral shift function at disposal. Consequently, the Anderson model satisfies the following Wegner bound

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}[\chi_{[E-\varepsilon,E+\varepsilon]}(h_{\omega}^{l})]\right\} \le C_{W} s(\mu,\varepsilon) |\Lambda_{l}|$$
(4.11)

(See also [314] for similar results.) An adoption of the bound (4.11) to random Schrödinger operators on metric graphs has been derived in [210].

A partial integration estimate concerning probability distributions which do not have densities, which is used in the proof of Theorem 4.2.4, is deferred to Sect. 4.7. A further important tool in the proof are estimates on the spectral shift function (SSF) which are developed in Appendix A, see in particular Corollary A.4.3.

Proof (of Theorem 4.2.4). Let  $x \mapsto \rho_{E,\varepsilon}(x) = \rho_{0,\varepsilon}(x-E)$  be a switch function adapted to the interval  $[E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]$ , see the beginning of Sect. 4.1 or the discussion preceding (A.24). Then

$$\chi_{[E-\varepsilon,E+\varepsilon]}(x) \le \rho(x+2\varepsilon) - \rho(x-2\varepsilon)$$

We may assume without loss of generality  $\kappa = 1$ , see Remark 5.0.2, and thus  $\sum_k u(\cdot - k) \ge 1$ . By the mini-max principle for eigenvalues, we conclude

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}+\varepsilon)] \leq \operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}+\varepsilon\sum_{k}u(\cdot-k))\right]$$
(4.12)

Assume without loss of generality that  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\Lambda_l$  is decomposed in  $L := l^d$ unit cubes. We enumerate the lattice sites in  $\Lambda_l$  by  $k : \{1, \ldots, L\} \to \tilde{\Lambda} = \Lambda \cap \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $n \mapsto k(n)$  and set

$$W_0 \equiv 0, \quad W_n = \sum_{m=1}^n u(\cdot - k(m)), \qquad n = 1, 2, \dots, L$$

Thus

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}[\chi_{[E-\varepsilon,E+\varepsilon]}(H_{\omega}^{l})]\right\} \leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}+2\varepsilon)-\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}-2\varepsilon)]\right\} \\
\leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}-2\varepsilon+4\varepsilon W_{L})-\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}-2\varepsilon)]\right\} \\
\leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\sum_{n=1}^{L}\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}-2\varepsilon+4\varepsilon W_{n})-\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}-2\varepsilon+4\varepsilon W_{n-1})]\right\} \quad (4.13)$$

We fix  $n \in \{1, \ldots, L\}$ , denote

$$\omega^{\perp} := \{\omega_k^{\perp}\}_{k \in \tilde{\Lambda}}, \qquad \omega_k^{\perp} := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } k = k(n), \\ \omega_k & \text{if } k \neq k(n), \end{cases}$$

and set

$$\phi_n(t) := \operatorname{Tr} \left[ \rho \left( H^l_{\omega^{\perp}} - 2\varepsilon + 4\varepsilon W_{n-1} + t \cdot u(\cdot - k(n)) \right) \right], \quad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The function  $\phi_n$  is continuously differentiable, monotone increasing and bounded. By definition of  $\phi_n$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}-2\varepsilon+4\varepsilon W_{n})-\rho(H_{\omega}^{l}-2\varepsilon+4\varepsilon W_{n-1})]\right\}$$
$$\leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\int [\phi_{n}(\omega_{k(n)}+4\varepsilon)-\phi_{n}(\omega_{k(n)})]\,d\mu(\omega_{k(n)})\right\}$$

Let  $a = (\inf \operatorname{supp} \mu) - 1$  and  $b = (\operatorname{sup supp} \mu) + 1$ . Using Lemma 4.7.1 together with Corollary A.4.3, we have

$$\int \left[\phi_n(\omega_{k(n)} + 4\varepsilon) - \phi_n(\omega_{k(n)})\right] d\mu(\omega_{k(n)}) \leq s(\mu, 4\varepsilon) \left[\phi_n(b + 4\varepsilon) - \phi_n(a)\right]$$
$$\leq C_E s(\mu, 4\varepsilon) \left(\log(1/\varepsilon)\right)^d$$

which implies that (4.13) is bounded by

$$C_E \sum_{n=1}^{L} s(\mu, 4\varepsilon) \left( \log(1/\varepsilon) \right)^d \le C_E s(\mu, 4\varepsilon) \left( \log(1/\varepsilon) \right)^d l^d$$

Note that we apply Corollary A.4.3 successively L times. For this reason it is important to realise that, the constant  $C_E$  depends only on the diameter of u and a local norm of the negative part of the background potential. For this local norm exist a uniform estimate independent of  $\Lambda_l$  and the configuration of the coupling constants  $\omega_k, k \neq k_{(n)}$ .

The recent preprint [91] contains several Wegner estimates for variants of the alloy type model  $H_{\omega}$ . Let us formulate one of them, which concerns the models studied in the present section. Under the assumption that the periodic part of the operator  $H_0 = -\Delta + V_{\text{per}}$  has the unique continuation property, that the single site potential  $L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \ni u \ge 0$  is positive on an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , that the random coupling constants  $\omega_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  are independent identically distributed with distribution  $\mu$ , and that  $\mu$  is compactly supported and Hölder continuous, the results of [91] imply that the IDS of  $H_{\omega}$  is Hölder continuous with the same Hölder exponent as  $\mu$ .

#### 4.3 Sparse Potentials

From the physical point of view there are some interesting models which have a potential

$$V_{\omega}(x) = \sum_{k \in \Gamma} \omega_k u(x-k) \tag{4.14}$$

resembling the alloy type model. However, the set  $\Gamma$  may be much more general than the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . A class of particular interest are surface models

where  $\Gamma = \{0\} \times \mathbb{Z}^{\nu}$  and  $\nu < d$  is the dimension of a hyperplane in whose neighbourhood the potential is concentrated. The literature on such models includes [82, 297, 298, 61]. Even earlier [153, 154] so-called interface models, which are closely related to surface potentials, have been studied.

The results in this section are essentially taken from [268]. We consider arbitrary sets  $\Gamma$ , which are *uniformly discrete* in the following sense

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \#\{\Gamma \cap B_1(x)\} < \infty$$

For uniformly discrete  $\Gamma$  the number of points of  $\Gamma$  contained in the cube  $\Lambda_l(x)$  can be bounded linearly in the volume of the cube and independently of its centre x.

Consider a background Schrödinger operator  $H_0 = -\Delta + V_{\text{per}}$  with a periodic potential  $V_{\text{per}} \in L^p_{\text{unif,loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  where p = p(d) is as in (1.1). By adding a constant we may assume that  $\inf \sigma(H_0) = 0$ . Let  $H_{\omega} = H_0 + V_{\omega}$  be a random operator with a generalised alloy type potential  $V_{\omega}$  as in (4.14).

As before  $H^l_{\omega}$  stands for the restriction of  $H_{\omega}$  to the cube  $\Lambda_l$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions (we may as well use Neumann or periodic ones), and  $P^l_{\omega}$ denotes the corresponding spectral projection.

**Theorem 4.3.1.** Assume that the single site potential  $u \in L_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is nonpositive, and that the single site distribution  $\mu$  has a support in  $[0, \omega_+]$ .

Then, for any -E' < 0 there exists a finite C such that for any  $E \in \mathbb{R}$ and  $\frac{1}{2} \ge \varepsilon \ge 0$  satisfying  $E + 3\varepsilon \le -E'$ :

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{Tr} P^{l}_{\omega}(B_{\varepsilon}(E))\right] \leq C \, s\left(\mu,\varepsilon\right) \, |\log \varepsilon|^{d} \, |\Lambda_{l}|$$

The proof of the theorem follows from the arguments of Sect. 4.2, once a replacement for the estimate (4.12) has been established. This is provided by the following lemma. Denote by  $\Lambda^+ := \Lambda_l^+ := \{k \in \Gamma | \text{supp } u(\cdot - x) \cap \Lambda_l \neq \emptyset\}$  the set of indices whose coupling constants influence the value of the potential in the cube  $\Lambda_l$ . Recall that the supremum of the support of f is denoted by  $\omega_+$ .

**Lemma 4.3.2.** Assume that the  $n^{th}$  eigenvalue of the operator  $H^l_{\omega}$  satisfies  $\lambda^l_n(\omega) \leq -E' < 0$ . Then

$$\rho'(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t) \le \frac{\omega_+}{E'} \left[ -\sum_{k \in \Lambda^+} \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_k} \right]$$

For  $\varepsilon > 0$  and an isotone function  $\rho$  such that  $\rho(x) = 0$  for all  $x \ge -E'$  we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho(H^l_{\omega} - \frac{E'}{\omega_+}\varepsilon)\right] \geq \operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho(H^l_{\omega} + \varepsilon\sum_{k\in\Lambda^+} u(\cdot - k)\right]$$

*Proof.* Let  $\psi_n$  be the normalised eigenfunction corresponding to  $\lambda_n^l(\omega)$ . Then  $\psi_n$  satisfies by definition  $\langle \psi_n, (H_0^l - \lambda_n^l(\omega))\psi_n \rangle = -\langle \psi_n, V_\omega \psi_n \rangle$ . We have

$$\sum_{k \in \Lambda^+} \omega_k \langle \psi_n, -u(\cdot - k)\psi_n \rangle = -\langle \psi_n, V_\omega \psi_n \rangle = \langle \psi_n, (H_0^l - \lambda_n^l(\omega))\psi_n \rangle \ge E$$

The Hellmann-Feynman theorem implies

$$\begin{split} -\sum_{k\in\Lambda^+} \frac{\partial \lambda_n^l(\omega)}{\partial \omega_k} &= \sum_{k\in\Lambda^+} \langle \psi_n, -u(\cdot - k)\psi_n \rangle \\ &\geq \omega_+^{-1} \sum_{k\in\Lambda^+} \omega_k \left\langle \psi_n, -u(\cdot - k)\psi_n \right\rangle \geq \frac{E'}{\omega_+} \end{split}$$

We conclude the first claim of the Lemma in the following way:

$$\rho'(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t) = -\left[-\sum_{k \in \Lambda^+} \frac{\partial \lambda_n^l(\omega)}{\partial \omega_k}\right]^{-1} \sum_{k \in \Lambda^+} \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_k}$$
$$\leq \frac{\omega_+}{E'} \left[-\sum_{k \in \Lambda^+} \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_k}\right] \tag{4.15}$$

Now consider the operator  $H^l_{\omega}(t) := H^l_{\omega} + t \cdot \chi_{\Lambda_l} \sum_{k \in \Lambda^+} u(\cdot - k)$  and its eigenvalues  $\lambda^l_n(\omega, t)$ . We have for all  $\lambda^l_n(\omega) \leq -E'$ 

$$\lambda_n^l(\omega,\varepsilon) - \lambda_n^l(\omega,0) = \int_0^\varepsilon \frac{\partial \lambda_n^l(\omega,t)}{\partial t} dt = \int_0^\varepsilon \sum_{k \in \Lambda^+} \frac{\partial \lambda_n^l(\omega)}{\partial \omega_k} dt \le -\frac{E'}{\omega_+} \varepsilon$$

Since  $\rho$  is isotone,  $\rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega, \varepsilon)) \leq \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega, 0) - \frac{E'}{\omega_+}\varepsilon)$  and the Lemma is proven.

Note that since  $\rho$  is monotone increasing and u is non-positive, (4.15) is a non-negative real.

Related models and results as presented in this section are discussed in Sect. 3.1 of [94]. In [268] two more classes of generalised alloy type models are analysed. Firstly, the case where the number of points in  $\Gamma \cap B_1(x)$  is not uniformly bounded, but grows at a controlled rate as x goes to infinity. Secondly, the case where  $\Gamma$  is itself a random point process, for example of Poissonian type, cf. also [89].

## 4.4 Locally Continuous Coupling Constants

In this section we present a Wegner estimate which requires the coupling constants  $\omega_k$  to have a continuous distribution merely in a neighbourhood of their extremal value  $\omega_+ = \sup \sup f$ . Both the result and its proof are taken from [268], with some improvements from [218].

67

Consider a background Schrödinger operator  $H_0 = -\Delta + V_{\text{per}}$  with a periodic potential  $V_{\text{per}} \in L^p_{\text{unif,loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Let  $H_\omega = H_0 + V_\omega$  be a random operator with an alloy type potential  $V_\omega$ . Assume that the coupling constants  $\omega_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  take values in the bounded interval  $[\omega_-, \omega_+]$ . By modifying the periodic background potential we may consider only the case that the coupling constants are non-negative. For a value  $\omega_c \in [0, \omega_+]$  introduce the auxiliary periodic potential  $V_c = \omega_c \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(x-k)$  and the threshold energy  $E_c = \inf \sigma(H_0 + V_c)$ .

**Theorem 4.4.1.** Assume that the single site potential  $u \in L^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  is nonpositive, and that the restriction of the single site distribution  $\mu_{c} := \mu|_{]\omega_{c},\omega_{+}]}$ has a density  $f \in L^{\infty}$ .

Then, for any  $E' < E_c$  there exists a finite C such that for any  $E \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\varepsilon \geq 0$  satisfying  $E + 3\varepsilon \leq E'$ :

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{Tr} P^{l}_{\omega}(B_{\varepsilon}(E))\right] \leq C \varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^{d} l^{d}$$

*Proof.* The value  $\omega_c$  is a critical one for the random variable  $\omega_k$  in the sense that for  $\omega_k > \omega_c$  we know that it is continuously distributed, while for smaller values we do not know anything. We introduce a corresponding decomposition of the 'probability' space  $\Omega_l := \times_{k \in \Lambda^+} \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{R}^L$ . This is the part of the randomness on which the restricted Hamiltonian  $H^l_{\omega}$  depends. For a given configuration of coupling constants  $\{\omega_k\}_{k \in \Lambda^+}$  set

$$\Lambda^{ac}(\omega) = \{k \in \Lambda^+ | \, \omega_k > \omega_c\}$$

This defines an equivalence relation on  $\Omega_l$  by setting for any  $A \subset \Lambda^+$ 

$$\Omega(A) := \{ \omega | \Lambda^{ac}(\omega) = A \}$$

Consequently

$$\sum_{A \subset \Lambda^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^L} \prod_{k \in \Lambda^+} d\mu(\omega_k) \, \chi_{\Omega(A)}(\omega) = 1.$$
(4.16)

Split the potential now into two parts, a singular and an absolutely continuous one. The singular one

$$V_{\omega}^{s}(x) := \sum_{k \in \Lambda^{+}, \omega_{k} \leq \omega_{c}} \omega_{k} u(x-k) + \sum_{k \in \Lambda^{+}, \omega_{k} > \omega_{c}} \omega_{c} u(x-k) \geq V_{c}(x)$$

will be considered as part of the background operator, while the absolutely continuous one

$$V_{\omega}^{ac}(x) := \sum_{k \in \Lambda^+, \omega_k > \omega_c} r_k u(x-k) = \sum_{k \in \Lambda^{ac}} r_k u(x-k), \quad \text{with } r_k = \omega_k - \omega_c > 0$$

will be used for spectral averaging.

Consider an eigenvalue  $\lambda_n^l \leq E' < E_c$  and an eigenfunction  $H_{\omega}^l \psi_n = \lambda_n^l \psi_n$ and set  $\delta = E_c - E'$ . We have

$$-\langle \psi_n, V^{ac}_{\omega}\psi_n \rangle = \langle \psi_n, (H^l_0 + V^s_{\omega} - \lambda^l_n)\psi_n \rangle \ge \langle \psi_n, (H^l_0 + V_c - \lambda^l_n)\psi_n \rangle \ge \delta$$

which implies similarly as in Lemma 4.3.2

$$-\sum_{j\in\Lambda^{ac}}\frac{\partial\lambda_n(\omega)}{\partial\omega_j} \ge \frac{1}{\omega_+ - \omega_c}\sum_{j\in\Lambda^{ac}}r_j \langle\psi_n, -u_j(\cdot - j)\psi_n\rangle$$
$$= -\frac{\langle\psi_n, V_\omega^{ac}\psi_n\rangle}{\omega_+ - \omega_c} \ge \frac{\delta}{\omega_+ - \omega_c}$$

Consider first the case  $\emptyset \neq A \subset \Lambda^+$  and estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{L}} \prod_{k \in \Lambda^{+}} d\mu(\omega_{k}) \chi_{\Omega(A)}(\omega) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \, \rho'(\lambda_{n}(\omega) - E + t)$$

$$\leq \frac{\omega_{+} - \omega_{c}}{\delta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{L}} \prod_{k \in \Lambda^{+}} d\mu(\omega_{k}) \chi_{\Omega(A)} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{-2\varepsilon}^{2\varepsilon} dt \left[ -\sum_{j \in \Lambda^{ac}} \frac{\partial \rho(\lambda_{n}(\omega) - E + t)}{\partial \omega_{j}} \right]$$

As we know that all sites  $j \in \Lambda^{ac}$  correspond to coupling constants  $\omega_j$  with values in the absolutely continuous region of the conditional density f we may estimate as in Sect. 4.1:

$$-\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{\mathbb{R}}d\mu(\omega_j)\,\chi_{\Omega(A)}(\omega)\,\frac{\partial\rho(\lambda_n(\omega)-E+t)}{\partial\omega_j}$$
$$=-\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\int_{\omega_c}^{\omega_+}f(\omega_j)d\omega_j\,\frac{\partial\rho(\lambda_n(\omega)-E+t)}{\partial\omega_j}$$
$$\leq \|f\|_{\infty}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\left[\rho(\lambda_n(\omega,\omega_j=\omega_c)-E+t)-\rho((\lambda_n(\omega,\omega_j=\omega_+)-E+t))\right]$$

which can be estimated as in Sect. 4.2. We have to say something how we deal with the special case  $A = \emptyset$ . In this situation  $V_{\omega}^{ac} \equiv 0$  and  $H_{\omega} = H_0 + V_{\omega}^s \ge H_0 + V_c \ge E_c$ . Thus there are no eigenvalues in the considered energy interval for this potential configuration.

Finally we use the decomposition (4.16) and Corollary A.4.3 to finish the proof:

$$\mathbb{E} \left( \operatorname{Tr} P_{\omega}^{l}([E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]) \right) \\ \leq \sum_{A \subset \Lambda^{+}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{L}} \prod_{k \in \Lambda^{+}} d\mu(\omega_{k}) \chi_{\Omega(A)}(\omega) \sum_{j \in A} \frac{(\omega_{+} - \omega_{c})}{\delta} 4\varepsilon \|f\|_{\infty} C_{E+2\varepsilon} |\log \varepsilon|^{d} \\ \leq 4C_{E+2\varepsilon} \frac{(\omega_{+} - \omega_{c})}{\delta} \|f\|_{\infty} \varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^{d} |\Lambda^{+}|$$

### 4.5 Potentials with Small Support

In Sect. 4.1 we used in a crucial step in the derivation of the Wegner estimate that the single site potentials were lower bounded by a partition of unity

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(x-k) \ge \kappa \quad \text{ on } \mathbb{R}^d$$

It is of natural interest, whether a Wegner estimate holds if this condition is relaxed. In this section we consider the case that u is of fixed sign, but has small support. More precisely, we assume throughout this section merely that there is an open set  $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and a positive  $\kappa$  such that

$$u(x) \ge \kappa \chi_{\mathcal{O}} \tag{4.17}$$

The first Wegner estimates under this relaxed condition on the single site potential were derived for spectral boundaries, i.e. for energies either near the bottom of the spectrum, or near an internal spectral boundary. The case of the infimum of the spectrum was treated e.g. in [282, 249], and internal spectral boundaries in [265]. These works derived a Wegner estimate where the volume dependence of the bound was growing faster than linearly. Thus they were not sufficient to derive a result on the regularity of the IDS, cf. our discussion in Sect. 3.1. A linear bound for the same energy regimes was found in [97].

By now there are Wegner estimates which under the relaxed condition (4.17) derive Wegner estimates valid for any bounded interval on the energy axis. We consider here the one-dimensional case where the result is particularly clear and the proof simple. We follow [267] in the presentation, see [194, 93] for other proofs. The higher-dimensional case is discussed without proofs in Sect. 4.2.

Assume that the single site potential u and the periodic potential  $V_{per}$  are bounded.

**Theorem 4.5.1.** Let d = 1. Assume that u is compactly supported and obeys (4.17). For any  $E_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  there exist a constant C such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left|\operatorname{Tr}P_{\omega}^{l}(B_{\varepsilon}(E))\right| \leq C \varepsilon l, \quad \forall \varepsilon \in [0,1], E \leq E_{0}, l \in \mathbb{N}$$

$$(4.18)$$

Thus the IDS is Lipschitz-continuous. A similar result can be derived for Schrödinger operators on metric graphs, see [212].

*Proof.* First we show how to replace (4.4) in the case of small support. By shifting the origin of  $\mathbb{R}$  we may assume without loss of generality that there is a s > 0 such that  $\Lambda_s(0) \subset \mathcal{O}$ . Likewise, we may assume  $\kappa = 1$  by rescaling the single site potential and the coupling constants.

We set  $S = \bigcup_{k \in \tilde{\Lambda}} \Lambda_s(k)$ . The Hellmann-Feynman theorem gives us

$$\sum_{k\in\tilde{\Lambda}} \frac{\partial \lambda_n^l(\omega)}{\partial \omega_k} = \sum_{k\in\tilde{\Lambda}} \langle \psi_n, u(\cdot - k)\psi_n \rangle \ge \int_S |\psi_n|^2.$$

where  $\psi_n$  is a normalised eigenfunction corresponding to  $\lambda_n^l(\omega)$ .

If the integral on the right hand side would extend over the whole of  $\Lambda_l$  it would be equal to 1 due to the normalisation of  $\psi_n$ . A priori the integral over S could be arbitrary close to zero, but the following Lemma shows that this is not the case.

**Lemma 4.5.2.** Let I be a bounded interval and s > 0. There exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\int_{\Lambda_s(k)} |\psi|^2 \ge c \int_{\Lambda_1(k)} |\psi|^2$$

for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , all  $k \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$  and for any eigenfunction  $\psi$  corresponding to an eigenvalue  $E \in I$  of  $H^l_{\omega}$ .

Proof (of the Lemma). For

$$\phi(y) := \int_{\Lambda_s(k+y)} dx \, |\psi(x)|^2 = \int_{\Lambda_s(k)} dx \, |\psi(x-y)|^2$$

one has

$$\begin{split} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \phi(y) \right| &= \left| \int\limits_{\Lambda_s(k)} dx \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \psi(x-y) \right] \overline{\psi(x-y)} + \int\limits_{\Lambda_s(k)} dx \, \psi(x-y) \, \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \overline{\psi(x-y)} \right. \\ &\leq 2 \left\| \psi \right\|_{L^2(\Lambda_s(k+y))} \left\| \psi' \right\|_{L^2(\Lambda_s(k+y))} . \end{split}$$

Sobolev norm estimates (e.g. Theorems 7.25 and 7.27 in [196]) imply

$$\|\psi'\|_{L^2(\Lambda_s(k+y))} \le C_5 \|\psi\|_{L^2(\Lambda_s(k+y))} + \|\psi''\|_{L^2(\Lambda_s(k+y))}$$

By the eigenvalue equation we have

$$\left|\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\phi(y)\right| \le C_6 \, \|\psi\|_{L^2(\Lambda_s(k+y))}^2 = C_6 \, \phi(y), \qquad C_6 = C_6(\|V_{\rm per} + V_\omega - E\|_\infty)$$
(4.19)

Gronwall's Lemma implies  $\phi(y) \leq \exp(C_6|y|) \phi(0)$  and thus

$$\int_{\Lambda_1(k)} |\psi|^2 \le e^{C_6} s^{-1} \int_{\Lambda_s(k)} |\psi|^2$$

Thus  $\int_{S} |\psi|^2 \ge c \int_{\Lambda_I} |\psi|^2$  with the same constant as in Lemma 4.5.2.

It remains to estimate the spectral shift

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left[ \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \max) - E + t) - \rho(\lambda_n^l(\omega, j = \min) - E + t) \right]$$
(4.20)

We may assume without loss of generality that the single site potential u is supported in the interval [-R, R]. Introduce now the operator  $H^{l,D}_{\omega}(j = \max)$  which coincides with  $H^{l}_{\omega}(j = \max)$  up to additional Dirichlet boundary conditions at the points j - R and j + R. Likewise,  $H^{l,N}_{\omega}(j = \min)$  coincides with  $H^{l}_{\omega}(j = \min)$  up to additional Neumann boundary conditions at the same points. Their eigenvalues are  $\lambda^{l,D}_{n}(\omega, j = \max)$  and  $\lambda^{l,N}_{n}(\omega, j = \min)$ , respectively. By Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing, the square brackets in (4.20) are bounded by

$$\rho(\lambda_n^{l,D}(\omega, j = \max) - E + t) - \rho(\lambda_n^{l,N}(\omega, j = \min) - E + t)$$
(4.21)

Since for both \* = D, N the Hamiltonian  $H^{l,*}_{\omega}$  is a direct sum of an operator  $H^{j,*}_{\omega}$  acting on  $L^2(j-R, j+R)$  and another one  $H^{c,*}_{\omega}$  acting on  $L^2(\Lambda_l \setminus [j-R, j+R])$  the sum over the terms in (4.21) can be separated:

$$\sum_{n} \rho(\lambda_n^{c,D}(\omega) - E + t) - \rho(\lambda_n^{c,N}(\omega) - E + t)$$
(4.22)

+ 
$$\sum_{n} \rho(\lambda_n^{j,D}(\omega, j = \max) - E + t) - \rho(\lambda_n^{j,N}(\omega, j = \min) - E + t)$$
 (4.23)

Here  $\lambda_n^{c,*}(\omega)$  denotes the eigenvalues of  $H_{\omega}^{c,*}$ ,  $\lambda_n^{j,D}(\omega, j = \max)$  the eigenvalues of  $H_{\omega}^{j,D}$  with  $\omega_j$  maximal, and  $\lambda_n^{j,N}(\omega, j = \min)$  the eigenvalues of  $H_{\omega}^{j,N}$  with  $\omega_j$  minimal. Note that the eigenvalues in (4.22) are independent of  $\omega_j u(\cdot - j)$ . Since the difference in the boundary conditions is a rank two perturbation in resolvent sense (see e.g. [443]), the interlacing theorem says that

$$\rho(\lambda_n^{c,D}(\omega, j = \max) - E + t) \le \rho(E_{n+2}^{c,N}(\omega, j = \max) - E + t)$$

A telescoping argument bounds the whole sum in (4.22) by twice the total variation of  $\rho$ , which is equal to one. The sum in (4.23) we estimate by

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\chi_{[E-3\varepsilon,\infty[}(H^{j,D}_{\omega}(j=\max))-\chi_{]E+3\varepsilon,\infty[}(H^{j,N}_{\omega}(j=\min))\right] \le 2+\operatorname{Tr}\left[\chi_{[E-3\varepsilon,\infty[}(H^{j,D}_{\omega}(j=\min)+\|u_j\|_{\infty})-\chi_{]E+3\varepsilon,\infty[}(H^{j,D}_{\omega}(j=\min))\right]$$

which is bounded by a constant, that is independent of  $\Lambda_l$ ,  $j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  and the configuration  $\omega$ . (Note that the parameter  $\varepsilon$  determines the support and the derivative of the switch function  $\rho$ .)

In the remainder of this chapter we give an overview of various Wegner estimates which are based or related to techniques presented at the beginning of Chapter 4. However, we refrain from giving the proofs of this results but refer to the original articles.

71

## 4.6 Hölder Continuous Coupling Constants

There is special interest to extend Wegner's estimate to coupling constants with singular distribution. The reason is the intuitive interpretation of the coupling consonants as nuclear charge numbers modulating the strength of atomic potentials. In this case their distribution would correspond to a pure point measure.

In Remarks 3.1.1 and 3.2.1 we mentioned already results for one-dimensional models with singular randomness. The first result in this direction for multidimensional alloy type models was obtained by Stollmann in [457]. Stollmann's version of Wegner's estimate applies to single site measures  $\mu$  which have compact support. It is formulated in terms of the modulus of continuity of the single site distribution  $\mu$ . Stollmann applied this estimate to prove localisation for certain alloy type potentials with Hölder continuous  $\mu$ . A distribution is called (uniformly) Hölder continuous with exponent  $\alpha > 0$  if there is a constant  $C_{\mu}$  such that the modulus of continuity of  $\mu$  satisfies

$$s(\mu,\varepsilon) := \sup\{\mu([a,b]) | b - a \le \varepsilon\} \le C_{\mu} \varepsilon^{\alpha} \quad \text{for } \varepsilon \ge 0$$

$$(4.24)$$

For the following discussion a wider class of distributions will be of interest, which we describe next. We call a measure  $\mu$  (uniformly) log-Hölder continuous with parameter  $\alpha > 0$  if there is a constant  $C_{\mu}$  such that for all  $\frac{1}{2} > \varepsilon > 0$  we have

$$s(\mu,\varepsilon) \le C_{\mu} |\log \varepsilon|^{-}$$

We state the main result of [457] without proof:

**Theorem 4.6.1.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be an alloy type model as in Definition 1.2.1, but require for the single site measure merely that is has compact support. Assume additionally that the single site potential obeys  $u \ge \chi_{[0,1]^d}$ . Then for any  $E \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists a constant C such that for any open interval  $I \subset ] -\infty, E[$  and any  $l \in 2\mathbb{N}$ 

$$\mathbb{P}\{\omega | \sigma(H^l_{\omega}) \cap I \neq \emptyset\} \le C \, s(\mu, |I|) \cdot l^{2d} \tag{4.25}$$

holds.

By now it has become quite standard to formulate Wegner estimates in terms of the modulus of continuity of the distribution  $\mu$ . This is for instance the case for the results presented in Sect. 4.2, see also the papers [218, 91].

Since these estimates apply to arbitrary distributions of compact support, one can use them for rather singular  $\mu$ . This is of interest for applications. As discussed before, Wegner estimates are used to establish regularity properties of the IDS and as an input for the multiscale analysis, cf. Sect. 3.2.

Let us illustrate the usefulness of Wegner estimates expressed in terms of the modulus of continuity by the following lemma. It turns such a bound, under the condition that  $\mu$  is log-Hölder continuous, into the sort of estimate as it is used for the induction step of the multiscale analysis. **Lemma 4.6.2.** Let  $H_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$  be a random Schrödinger operator and  $E_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . Assume that there exist constants  $C_W, l_0$  such that for all  $\varepsilon \in [0, 1/2]$ , all  $E \leq E_0$  and all  $\mathbb{N} \ni l \geq l_0$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}[\chi_{[E-\varepsilon,E+\varepsilon]}(H^l_{\omega})]\right\} \le C_W \ s(\mu,\varepsilon) \ l^d \tag{4.26}$$

For some  $\theta, q > 0$  assume that the measure  $\mu$  is log-Hölder continuous with parameter  $\alpha > (q + d)/\theta > 0$ . Set  $\delta := \alpha \theta - q - d > 0$  and  $l_1 := \max \left( l_0, (C_W C_\mu)^{1/\delta} \right)$ . Then for all energies  $E \leq E_0$  we have

$$\mathbb{P}\{d(\sigma(H^l_{\omega}), E) \le e^{-l^{\theta}}\} \le l^{-q} \quad \text{for all } l \in \mathbb{N}, l \le l_1$$

$$(4.27)$$

 $\begin{aligned} &Proof. \ \mathbb{P}\left\{\omega \mid \operatorname{dist}\left(\sigma(H_{\omega}^{l}), E\right) \leq e^{-l^{\theta}}\right\} \leq \mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}\left[\chi_{]E-e^{-l^{\theta}}, E+e^{-l^{\theta}}[}(H_{\omega}^{l})\right]\right\} \\ &\leq C_{W} \, l^{d} \, s(\mu, e^{-l^{\theta}}) \leq C_{W} \, l^{d} \, C_{\mu} |\log e^{-l^{\theta}}|^{-\alpha} \leq l^{-q} \text{ for all } l \geq (C_{W} C_{\mu})^{1/\delta}. \end{aligned}$ 

Remark 4.6.3. Assumption (4.26) can be verified for various models. For discrete Anderson models on  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  it is established in [218], for continuum alloy type models on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  it is given in [91], and for alloy type models on metric graphs one can infer it from [210].

If instead of (4.26), a bound as in (4.8) or (4.25) is given, an obvious modification of Lemma 4.6.2 holds.

## 4.7 A Partial Integration Formula for Singular Distributions

A different way to deal with random coupling constants whose distribution is not absolutely continuous is the following integration by parts formula. It is used in the proof of Theorem 4.2.4. For a similar idea see Lemma 6.1 in [301].

**Lemma 4.7.1.** Let  $\mu$  be a probability measure with support in  $]a, b[, \phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$  be a non-decreasing, bounded function, and  $s(\mu, \varepsilon)$  as defined in (4.9). Then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} [\phi(\lambda + \varepsilon) - \phi(\lambda)] \, d\mu(\lambda) \le s(\mu, \varepsilon) \cdot [\phi(b + \varepsilon) - \phi(a)]$$

If  $\operatorname{supp} \mu \subset ]a, \infty[$  is unbounded from above the Lemma still holds if one replaces  $\phi(b + \varepsilon)$  by the (well-defined) limit  $\lim_{x\to\infty} \phi(x)$ .

*Proof.* We write  $d\mu = dM$ , where M is the distribution function of  $\mu$ . In the following, all integrals are defined as Stieltjes integrals. Shifting variables and using that M is constant outside of [a, b] gives

$$\int \left[\phi(\lambda+\varepsilon) - \phi(\lambda)\right] d\mu(\lambda) = \int_{a}^{b+\varepsilon} \phi(\lambda) d[M(\lambda-\varepsilon) - M(\lambda)]$$

Integrating by parts gives

$$\int [\phi(\lambda + \varepsilon) - \phi(\lambda)] d\mu(\lambda) = \left[\phi(\lambda)[M(\lambda - \varepsilon) - M(\lambda)]\right]_a^{b+\varepsilon} - \int_a^{b+\varepsilon} \phi'(\lambda)[M(\lambda - \varepsilon) - M(\lambda)] d\lambda$$

The first term is zero, since M is constant outside of [a, b] (in case  $b = \infty$ , one uses boundedness of  $\phi$  and  $\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} [M(\lambda - \varepsilon) - M(\lambda)] = 0$ ). The second term is bounded by

$$\int_{a}^{b+\varepsilon} \phi'(\lambda) [M(\lambda) - M(\lambda - \varepsilon)] \, d\lambda \leq \sup_{\lambda} \left[ M(\lambda) - M(\lambda - \varepsilon) \right] \cdot \int_{a}^{b+\varepsilon} \phi'(\lambda) \, d\lambda$$
$$\leq s(\mu, \varepsilon) \cdot (\phi(b+\varepsilon) - \phi(a))$$

since  $\phi' \ge 0$ .

## 

## 4.8 Coupling Constants with Bernoulli Disorder

In the recent paper [59] Bourgain and Kenig study alloy type models as in Definition 1.2.1 with Bernoulli disorder. More specifically, they consider the case where the periodic potential  $V_{\text{per}}$  is absent, the single site potential  $u \neq 0$  is smooth, non-negative and has support in the ball of radius 1/10 around zero, and the coupling constants are independent obeying  $\mathbb{P}\{\omega_k = 0\} = 1 - \mathbb{P}\{\omega_k = 1\} = P \in [0, 1]$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ .

They use a quite heavy machinery to prove a form of Wegner estimate similar to the one in (3.8). This bound is much weaker than those discussed in the present work, but still sufficient to prove localisation, see the discussion in Sect. 3.2. To deal with the singular nature of the Bernoulli distribution of coupling constants, the proof in [59] makes use of a strong quantitative version of the unique continuation property, of Sperner's Lemma, and a special multiscale analysis to obtain inductively a Wegner estimate on increasing scales. Recall from the discussion in Sect. 3.2 that usually one uses the multiscale analysis to prove exponential decay of Green's functions, whereas the Wegner estimate is an input for this procedure which is proven beforehand for all length scales simultaneously.

## 4.9 Single Site Potentials with Changing Sign

First Wegner estimates for indefinite alloy type potentials were derived in [282]. In [213] Hislop and Klopp combine the techniques from [282] and [97] to prove a Wegner estimate valid for general indefinite single site potentials and for energy intervals at edges of  $\sigma(H_{\omega})$ . They assume the single site potential

 $u \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfies  $u(0) \neq 0$ . The density  $f \in L_c^{\infty}$  of the random variable  $\omega_0$ (which may be in fact the conditional density with respect to  $\omega^{\perp 0} := (\omega_k)_{k \neq 0}$ ) is assumed to be piecewise absolutely continuous. For any  $\alpha < 1$  and any compact energy interval I strictly below the spectrum of the unperturbed operator  $H_0$  they prove

$$\mathbb{P}\{\sigma(H^l_{\omega}) \cap I \neq \emptyset\} \le C \, |I|^{\alpha} \, l^d$$

where the constant C depends only on  $\alpha$ , d and the distance between the interval I and  $\sigma(H_0)$ . With a sufficiently small global coupling constant  $\lambda$  the same result holds for the operator  $H_0 + \lambda V_{\omega}$  for I in an internal spectral gap of  $H_0$ . The results of [213] extend to more general models including certain operators with random magnetic field.

In Sect. 5.5 we discuss in more detail an alternative technique to obtain a Wegner estimate valid for single site potentials which change sign. It applies to a more restricted class of potentials but yields stronger results. In particular, it proves the Lipschitz continuity of the IDS at all energies.

## 4.10 Uniform Wegner Estimates for Long Range Potentials

Kirsch, Stollmann and Stolz proved in [264] a Wegner estimate for single site potentials which do not need to have compact support, but merely need to decay sufficiently fast. They consider u of polynomial decay

$$|u(x)| \le C(1+|x|^2)^{-m/2} \tag{4.28}$$

where m > 0 is required to be larger than 3*d*. For certain applications they can also deal with the case where *m* is only larger than 2*d*, cf. [263, 500].

For such single site potentials the restrictions of the alloy type potential to two finite cubes may be correlated, even if the cubes are far apart. This makes it necessary to use an enhanced version of the multiscale analysis for the proof of localisation. Among others, this requires a *uniform Wegner estimate*. By this we mean a Wegner estimate for the Hamiltonian  $H^l_{\omega}$  restricted to the cube  $\Lambda_l$  which is uniform in the coupling constants  $\omega_k$  with index  $||k||_{\infty} > r$ where r is a function of l.

To formulate the Wegner estimate from [264] let us first introduce some notation. For any cube  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\tilde{\Lambda} = \Lambda \cap \mathbb{Z}^d$  we denote by  $\Pi_{\Lambda}$  the projection

$$\Pi_{\Lambda} \colon \Omega \mapsto \underset{\tilde{\Lambda}}{\times} \operatorname{supp} \mu \qquad \Pi_{\Lambda}(\omega) := \{\omega_k\}_{k \in \tilde{\Lambda}}$$

For a measurable set  $A \subset \Omega$  we denote by  $A^*_{\Lambda}$  the cylinder set

$$A^*_{\Lambda} := \Pi^{-1}_{\Lambda}(\Pi_{\Lambda}A) = \{ \omega \in \Omega | \exists \omega' \in A \text{ such that } \Pi_{\Lambda}(\omega') = \Pi_{\Lambda}(\omega) \}$$

The following observation plays a crucial role in the enhanced multiscale analysis.

**Lemma 4.10.1.** For two disjoint cubes  $\Lambda, \Lambda'$  and two events  $A, B \in \Omega$ , the induced events  $A^*_{\Lambda}$  and  $B^*_{\Lambda'}$  are independent.

The following lemma allows one to turn a 'usual' Wegner estimate, as we have it discussed before, into a uniform Wegner estimate. It relies on the polynomial decay of the single site potential (4.28). Let I be a compact interval,  $E \in I$  and  $\varepsilon \in ]0,1]$ . We denote by  $A(E,\varepsilon,l)$  the event  $\{\omega | d(E,\sigma(H_{\omega}^{l})) < \varepsilon\}$  and use the abbreviations  $\Pi_{l} := \Pi_{\Lambda_{l}}, A_{l}^{*} := A_{\Lambda_{l}}^{*}$ .

**Lemma 4.10.2.** Under the above assumptions there exists a finite constant c, independent of  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $l, r \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\varepsilon \leq 1$  such that

$$\mathbb{P}\{A(E,\varepsilon,l)_{l+r}^*\} \le \mathbb{P}\{A(E,\varepsilon+cr^{-(m-d)},l)\}$$

*Proof.* By definition, for an  $\omega \in A_{l+r}^*$  there exists an  $\omega' \in A$  such that

$$\Pi_{l+r}\omega' = \Pi_{l+r}\omega$$

Thus, the coordinates of  $\omega$  and  $\omega'$  with index k within the cube of size l + r coincide and we have for  $x \in \Lambda_l$ 

$$|V_{\omega}(x) - V_{\omega'}(x)| \leq \sum_{\substack{|k|_{\infty} > l+r}} |\omega_k - \omega'_k| u(x-k)$$
$$\leq c' \sum_{\substack{|k|_{\infty} > l+r}} |x-k|^{-m} \leq cr^{-(m-d)}$$

Therefore  $d(E, \sigma(H^l_{\omega'})) < \varepsilon$  implies  $d(E, \sigma(H^l_{\omega})) < \varepsilon + cr^{-(m-d)}$ , which proves the lemma.

Let us have a look on the implications of the preceding lemma for a concrete example. Assume that the single site potential is bounded below on the unit cube around zero by  $\kappa > 0$ . Then we have by Theorem 5.0.1

$$\mathbb{P}\left\{\omega|\sigma(H^{l}_{\omega})\cap [E-\varepsilon, E+\varepsilon]\neq\emptyset\right\}\leq C_{W}(I)\ \varepsilon\ l^{d}$$

for all  $E, \varepsilon$  such that  $[E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]$  is contained in the open interval I. This Wegner estimate implies its uniform analog

$$\mathbb{P}\Big(\big\{\omega|\sigma(H^l_{\omega})\cap [E-\varepsilon,E]\neq\emptyset\big\}_{l+r}^*\Big)\leq C_W(I)\ (\varepsilon+cr^{-(m-d)})\ l^d \qquad (4.29)$$

for sufficiently large r > 0. In the application in the multiscale analysis, both  $\varepsilon$ and r are chosen as functions of l. From the estimate in (4.29) it might seem to be sufficient to choose m > d. This is also the minimal requirement to make the alloy type model with long range single site potentials well defined as a densely defined operator. However, for technical reasons, for the multiscale analysis to work one has to assume at least m > 2d. Under this assumption one can prove that the spectrum of  $H_{\omega}$  is almost surely pure point near its bottom, and that the corresponding eigenfunctions decay faster than any inverse polynomial, cf. [263, 500]. To obtain exponential decay of the eigenfunctions, one has to require m > 3d, see [264].

In the paper [500] by Zenk the above results have been extended to a model which incorporates random displacements of the single site potentials.

In [306] Kotani and Simon extended to continuum alloy type models certain arguments previously used for the derivation of Wegner's estimate for the discrete Anderson model. They treated only the case where the single site potential is the characteristic function of the unit cube, but Combes and Hislop showed in [89] that the same argument extends to non-negative single site potentials with uniform lower bound on the unit cube. There also some steps of the proof have been streamlined.

One of the ideas in [306] is that in the same way as rank one perturbations are used for discrete Laplacians, positive perturbations may be used in the continuum case. This is related to the Aronszajn-Donoghue Theory [27, 28, 29, 127]. See [79, 304, 444, 443] for more background and references. This was essential, since a finite rank potential in the continuum may be a Dirac distribution, but not a function.

**Theorem 5.0.1.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  as in Definition 1.2.1 and assume additionally that there exists a  $\kappa > 0$  such that

$$u \ge \kappa \chi_{[-1/2,1/2]^d}$$

Then for all  $E \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant  $C_W = C_W(E)$  such that for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and all intervals  $I \subset ]-\infty, E]$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right]\right\} \leq C_{W} |I| l^{d}$$

$$(5.1)$$

Remark 5.0.2. (a) It is sufficient to prove the theorem for the case  $\kappa = 1$ . Since  $\omega_0 u = \kappa \omega_0 \kappa^{-1} u$ , the general case follows by rescaling the coupling constants and single site potentials.

(b) The statement of the theorem remains true if one uses Neumann or periodic boundary conditions for  $H^l_{\omega}$ .

(c) An explicit formula for the Wegner constant  $C_W$  is given in (5.17). Since (5.1) is linear in the volume it follows  $|N(E_2) - N(E_1)| \leq C_W |E_2 - E_1|$ . Thus, as we discussed already in Sect. 3.1, the density of states n(E) := dN(E)/dEexists almost everywhere and is bounded by  $n(E) \leq C_W(E_2)$  for all  $E \leq E_2$ .

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

The next four sections are devoted to the proof of Theorem 5.0.1. Up to some modifications we follow the line of argument in Sect. 4 of [89].

## 5.1 Partition of the Trace into Local Contributions

In the present section we derive preparatory estimates on

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P^{l}_{\omega}(I)\right\}$$
(5.2)

where we do not yet use the specific alloy-type structure of the potential. They have two aims. Firstly, to decompose the trace to contributions of unit cubes in  $\Lambda_l$ . This will later facilitate the averaging procedure with respect to random parameters, whose effect on the potential is felt only locally. Secondly, it allows us to reduce the averaging of the trace of the spectral projection to the averaging of the quadratic form of the resolvent. The latter is technically easier to perform.

Denote by  $\Delta^l$  and  $\Delta^l_N$  the Laplace operator on  $\Lambda_l$  with Dirichlet, respectively Neumann boundary conditions. In Sect. 1.2 we saw that the potential  $V = V_{\text{per}} + V_{\omega}$  is infinitesimally bounded with respect to  $-\Delta$  and that the constants in the bound can be chosen uniformly in  $\omega \in \Omega$ . This implies that V is infinitesimally form bounded with respect to any of the operators  $-\Delta, -\Delta^l$  and  $-\Delta^l_N$  with bounds uniform in  $\omega \in \Omega, l \in \mathbb{N}$  and the choice of Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions. Consequently, there is a  $C_0 < \infty$  such that for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$|\langle \phi, V\phi \rangle| \le \frac{1}{2} \langle \phi, -\Delta_N^l \phi \rangle + C_0 \|\phi\|^2$$

which implies

$$\langle \phi, H^l_{\omega} \phi \rangle \ge \langle \phi, -\frac{1}{2} \Delta^l_N \phi \rangle - C_0 \|\phi\|^2 \ge -C_0 \|\phi\|^2 \tag{5.3}$$

Thus  $H^l_{\omega} + C_0$  is a non-negative operator.

**Definition 5.1.1.** A monotone decreasing, convex function  $r: [0, \infty[\rightarrow]0, \infty[$  such that

$$C_{\rm Tr} := C_{\rm Tr}(r) := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^d, n_j \ge 0} r\left(\frac{\pi^2}{2} \sum_{j=1}^d n_j^2\right) < \infty$$
(5.4)

will be called trace regularising.

Throughout the rest of this chapter we denote by  $\Lambda$  the unit cube centred at zero, and by  $\chi_j$  the characteristic function of its translate  $\Lambda + j$ , where  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ .

Remark 5.1.2. The bound (5.4) means that the operator  $r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_N^{\Lambda})=r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_N^{\Lambda})$  has finite trace. Namely, the eigenvalues of the Neumann Laplacian on the unit cube are given by

$$\pi^2 \sum_{j=1}^{a} n_j^2$$
 for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  such that  $n_j \ge 0, j = 1, \dots, d$ 

cf. for instance [408], page 266. By the spectral mapping theorem the eigenvalues of  $r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_N^{\Lambda})$  are just  $r(\frac{1}{2}\pi^2\sum_{j=1}^d n_j^2)$ . Examples of functions r which are trace-regularising are the exponential

Examples of functions r which are trace-regularising are the exponential functions  $r: x \mapsto e^{-tx}$  for t > 0. They have been used in [89] to implement the procedure outlined in this chapter. Another choice for r is a sufficiently high power of the resolvent  $x \mapsto (x + 1)^{-k}$  for k > d/2, which was used in [306]. That the operator  $(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_N^{\Lambda}+1)^{-k}$  is actually trace class can be inferred from [439].

The possibility to choose r from a large class of functions is of interest, if one wants to give explicit upper bounds on the density of states. For instance, Sect. 3.2 of [223] is devoted to deriving such explicit upper estimates. However, there, following [89], the function  $r(x) = e^{-tx}$  is used. Due to this choice, the upper bound on the density of states is exponentially growing in the energy. This can be improved to a merely polynomial growing bound. Furthermore, if one studies coupling constants which may take on arbitrarily negative values, the choice of r will determine which moment conditions one has to impose on the negative part of  $\omega_0$ , see also Sect. 5.7. The role played here by r resembles the one of the function g in Sect. 4.2 and Appendix A.

**Proposition 5.1.3.** Let  $I = [E_1, E_2]$  be an interval. With  $C_0$  as in (5.3) we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right\} \leq r(E_{2}+C_{0})^{-1}C_{\mathrm{Tr}}(r)\sum_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}_{l}}\left\|\mathbb{E}\left\{\chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}\right\}\right\|$$

*Proof.* Since  $\frac{1}{r}$  is well-defined and bounded on the compact interval I, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right] = \operatorname{Tr}\left[r(H_{\omega}^{l} + C_{0})^{-1} P_{\omega}^{l}(I) r(H_{\omega}^{l} + C_{0})\right]$$

Furthermore, by spectral calculus and since for positive operators A, B we have  $\operatorname{Tr}(AB) \leq ||A|| \operatorname{Tr}(B)$ , the above line is bounded by

$$r(E_2 + C_0)^{-1} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ P_{\omega}^l(I) r(H_{\omega}^l + C_0) \right]$$

According to the direct sum decomposition

$$L^{2}(\Lambda_{l}) = \bigoplus_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{l}} L^{2}(\Lambda + j)$$

we consider the Laplace operators  $-\Delta_{N,j}$  on  $L^2(\Lambda+j)$  with Neumann boundary conditions. Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing implies

$$H^{l}_{\omega} + C_{0} \ge -\frac{1}{2}\Delta^{l}_{N} \ge -\frac{1}{2} \bigoplus_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{l}} \Delta_{N,j} =: \oplus H$$

$$(5.5)$$

For a normalised eigenfunction  $\phi$  of  $H^l_{\omega}$  corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda$  we have by the spectral mapping theorem

$$\langle \phi, r(H^l_{\omega} + C_0)\phi \rangle = r(\lambda + C_0) = r(\langle \phi, (H^l_{\omega} + C_0)\phi \rangle) \le r(\langle \phi, \oplus H\phi \rangle) \quad (5.6)$$

Applying Jensen's inequality to the spectral measure of  $\oplus H$  we estimate (5.6) from above by  $\langle \phi, r(\oplus H)\phi \rangle$ . Let  $\phi_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  be an orthonormal basis of eigenvectors of  $H^l_{\omega}$  with corresponding eigenvalues  $\lambda_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We apply the above estimates to the trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}(I)r(H_{\omega}^{l}+C_{0})\right] \leq \sum_{n\in\mathbb{N},\lambda_{n}\in I} \langle\phi_{n}, r(H_{\omega}^{l}+C_{0})\phi_{n}\rangle$$
$$\leq \sum_{n\in\mathbb{N},\lambda_{n}\in I} \langle\phi_{n}, r(\oplus H)\phi_{n}\rangle \leq \operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}(I)r(\oplus H)\right]$$

For the next step we write down the trace with respect to different basis. For each  $j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$  let  $\{\psi_n^j | n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  be an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\Lambda + j)$ , then  $\{\psi_n^j | n \in \mathbb{N}, j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l\}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\Lambda_l)$ . Since  $r(\oplus H)\psi_n^j = r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,j})\psi_n^j$  it follows for the trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{\omega}^{l}(I)r(\oplus H)\right] = \sum_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}_{l}}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\left\langle\psi_{j,n}, P_{\omega}^{l}(I)r(\oplus H)\psi_{j,n}\right\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}_{l}}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\left\langle\psi_{j,n}, \chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,j})\chi_{j}\psi_{j,n}\right\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{j\in\tilde{\Lambda}_{l}}\operatorname{Tr}\left[\chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,j})\chi_{j}\right]$$

Thus we have decomposed the trace to contributions from each unit cube. We summarise the estimates so far:

$$\operatorname{Tr} P_{\omega}^{l}(I) \leq r(E_{2} + C_{0})^{-1} \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{l}} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ \chi_{j} P_{\omega}^{l}(I) \chi_{j} r(-\frac{1}{2} \Delta_{N,j}) \chi_{j} \right]$$

Since I is a bounded interval and  $V_{\text{per}} + V_{\omega}$  is an infinitesimally small perturbation of  $-\Delta^l$  independently of  $\omega$ , it follows that the dimension of  $P^l_{\omega}(I)L^2(\Lambda_l)$ is bounded by a constant C uniformly in  $\omega$ . Thus for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ 

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\chi_j P_{\omega}^l(I)\chi_j r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,j})\chi_j\right] \le C r(0)$$

is an upper bound by an integrable majorant and we are able to interchange the trace and the expectation by Lebesgue's theorem on dominated convergence:

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}\left[\chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,j})\chi_{j}\right]\right\} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathbb{E}\left\{\chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,j})\chi_{j}\right\}\right]$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathbb{E}\left\{\chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}\right\}\chi_{j}r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,j})\chi_{j}\right]$$
$$\leq \left\|\mathbb{E}\left\{\chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}\right\}\right\|\operatorname{Tr}\left[r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,0})\right]$$

By assumption, r is trace regularising, so the trace in the last line is finite.  $\Box$ 

### 5.2 Spectral Averaging of Resolvents

Now we consider how resolvents are averaged when integrated over a random parameter. Together with the partition result in Sect. 5.1 this will enable us to complete in Sect. 5.4 the proof of Theorem 5.0.1.

Apart from this, the spectral averaging result bears in itself a meaning. Consider a non-negative operator H with discrete spectrum. Its resolvent  $R(E) = (H - E)^{-1}$  has singularities at the eigenvalues of H, which are of the form  $(\lambda_n - E)^{-1}, \lambda_n \in \sigma(H)$ . Thus for a general vector  $\psi$  the function  $E \mapsto \langle \psi, R(E)\psi \rangle$  will not be bounded nor even integrable over the energy axis  $\mathbb{R}$ . Now, if  $H = H(\zeta)$  depends on a random parameter  $\zeta$ , we might hope that the averaged resolvent  $\int d\mathbb{P}(\zeta) \langle \psi, R(\zeta, E)\psi \rangle$  will be integrable or even bounded as a function of the variable E. This would mean that the singularities of the resolvent have been smeared out sufficiently by the integral over  $\zeta$ . The lemma in this section shows that this is actually the case for operators which depend in a specific way on the random parameter.

Consider the following operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let H be a selfadjoint operator, W symmetric and infinitesimally bounded with respect to H, and J bounded and non-negative with  $J^2 \leq W$ . Choose two parameters

$$z \in \mathbb{C}_{-} := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} | \operatorname{Im} z < 0 \}$$
$$\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}_{+}} := \{ \zeta \in \mathbb{C} | \operatorname{Im} \zeta \ge 0 \}$$

and set

$$H(\zeta) := H + \zeta W, \ K(\zeta, z) := J(H(\zeta) - z)^{-1}J$$
(5.7)

The following lemma is a slight generalisation of Lemma 4.1 in [89].

**Lemma 5.2.1.** For all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_{-}$ , all t > 0 and any normalised  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$  we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle \phi, K(\zeta, z) \phi \rangle \, \frac{d\zeta}{1 + t\zeta^2} \right| \le \pi \tag{5.8}$$

83

*Proof.* By Pythagoras we have  $|\langle \phi, (A+iB)\phi \rangle|^2 = |\langle \phi, A\phi \rangle|^2 + |\langle \phi, B\phi \rangle|^2$  for any two selfadjoint operators A, B. Thus the norm of  $K(\zeta, z)$  is bounded by  $|\operatorname{Im} z|^{-1} ||J||^2$ . On the other hand, the equation

$$-\operatorname{Im} K(\zeta, z) = J[(H(\bar{\zeta}) - \bar{z})^{-1}[(\operatorname{Im} \zeta)W - \operatorname{Im} z](H(\zeta) - z)^{-1}]J$$

implies

$$||K(\zeta, z)|| \le |\operatorname{Im} \zeta|^{-1}$$
 (5.9)

Here we used that  $W(H(\zeta) - z)^{-1}$  is a bounded operator. Now observe that for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_-$  the function  $\zeta \mapsto K(\zeta, z)$  is holomorphic and bounded on  $\overline{\mathbb{C}_+}$ . The residue theorem, integration over a closed curve in  $\mathbb{C}$  and the bounds on K imply

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle \phi, K(\zeta, z) \phi \rangle \, \frac{d\zeta}{1 + t\zeta^2} \right| = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{t}} \left| \langle \phi, K(i/\sqrt{t}, z) \rangle \right| \tag{5.10}$$

Together with (5.9), this completes the proof.

Remark 5.2.2. The lemma shows that for the particular family of operators  $H(\zeta)$  in (5.7), for  $\zeta$  a random variable with measure  $\mathbb{P}(d\zeta) := \frac{d\zeta}{1+t\zeta^2}$ , and for vectors  $\psi$  in the range of J, the  $\zeta$ -averaged resolvents  $\int d\mathbb{P}(\zeta) \langle \psi, R(\zeta, E) \psi \rangle$  are indeed bounded with respect to the energy variable. Thus the singularities of the resolvent have been smeared out.

# 5.3 Stone's Formula and Spectral Averaging of Projections

Stone's formula allows one to express the spectral projection in terms of the resolvent. This is handy because the resolvent has some nice analytic properties. In our case we use Stone's formula to derive the analog of (5.8) for spectral projections.

A sequence of bounded operators  $A_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  on the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  converges *strongly* (or in *strong topology*) to A if for every  $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$ 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|A\phi - A_n\phi\| = 0$$

**Lemma 5.3.1 (Stone's formula).** Let H be a selfadjoint operator,  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  an interval, and P(I) the corresponding spectral projection. Then the following limit holds in the strong topology

$$\lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{E_1}^{E_2} \left[ (H - E - i\delta)^{-1} - (H - E + i\delta)^{-1} \right] dE$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left[ P([E_1, E_2]) + P(]E_1, E_2[) \right]$$

Proof. The function

$$f_{\delta}(x) := \frac{1}{\pi} \left( \arctan \frac{x - E_1}{\delta} - \arctan \frac{x - E_2}{\delta} \right)$$
(5.11)  
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{E_1}^{E_2} \left[ (x - E - i\delta)^{-1} - (x - E + i\delta)^{-1} \right] dE$$
  
$$= -\frac{1}{\pi} \operatorname{Im} \int_{E_1}^{E_2} (x - E + i\delta)^{-1} dE$$

converges for  $\delta \searrow 0$  to

$$\frac{1}{2} \left( \chi_{[E_1, E_2]} + \chi_{]E_1, E_2[} \right)$$

Now one applies the spectral theorem to  $f_{\delta}(H)$ .

More details on Stone's formula can be found in [410], or Sect. 7.3 of [494] where the spectral calculus is actually introduced in this way.

Now let  $H(\zeta)$  be as in the last section and  $P(\zeta, I)$  the corresponding spectral projection onto an interval I. For a normalised vector  $\psi$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  denote  $\mathcal{P}(\zeta) := \langle \psi, JP(\zeta, I)J\psi \rangle$ . The next lemma contains a spectral averaging estimate for  $\mathcal{P}$ .

**Lemma 5.3.2.** Let  $\varrho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{1}(\mathbb{R})$ . Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho(\zeta) \,\mathcal{P}\left(\zeta\right) d\zeta \le \|\varrho\|_{\infty} |I| \tag{5.12}$$

While Combes and Hislop [89] considered compactly supported  $\rho$ , it was first observed in [168] that densities with non-compact support can be treated. There this extension was necessary to derive estimates for Gaussian random potentials.

*Proof.* We first consider the special density  $\frac{1}{1+t\zeta^2}$ , for t > 0 and an open interval *I*. By Stone's formula

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\zeta}{1+t\zeta^2} \,\mathcal{P}\left(\zeta\right) \le -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\zeta}{1+t\zeta^2} \,\lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \frac{1}{\pi} \,\mathrm{Im} \int_{I} dE \langle \psi, K(\zeta, E-\mathrm{i}\delta)\psi \rangle \quad (5.13)$$

Note that  $\frac{d\zeta}{1+t\zeta^2}$  is a finite, outer regular Borel measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  and that (5.11) implies that  $|f_{\delta}(\cdot)|$ , and hence  $||f_{\delta}(H(\zeta))||$ , is bounded by one. Thus we may apply the dominated convergence theorem to interchange the limit and the integration, and bound (5.13) by

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \left| \int_{I} dE \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\zeta}{1 + t\zeta^{2}} \left\langle \psi, K(\zeta, E - i\delta)\psi \right\rangle \right| \le |I|$$
(5.14)

The last inequality follows from Lemma 5.2.1. This implies for all  $\varrho \in L^{\infty}$  with compact support:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \varrho(\zeta) \mathcal{P}(\zeta) d\zeta \leq \sup_{\operatorname{supp} \varrho} \left[ \varrho(\zeta)(1+t\zeta^2) \right] \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\mathcal{P}(\zeta)}{1+t\zeta^2} d\zeta$$
$$\leq \sup_{\operatorname{supp} \varrho} \left[ \varrho(\zeta)(1+t\zeta^2) \right] |I|$$
$$\to \|\varrho\|_{\infty} |I| \text{ for } t \to 0$$

Finally, assume only that  $\rho \in L^{\infty} \cap L^1$ . Set  $\rho^y := \rho \cdot \chi_{\{x \mid |x| < y\}}$  and decompose  $\rho = \rho^y + \rho_y$ . For  $y \to \infty$ ,  $\rho_y$  tends to zero pointwise. Since  $\mathcal{P}$  is bounded by one,  $\rho \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, d\zeta)$  is a *y*-uniform majorant for  $\rho_y \mathcal{P}$  and we may apply the dominated convergence theorem to conclude

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \varrho(\zeta) \mathcal{P}(\zeta) d\zeta = \lim_{y \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varrho^{y}(\zeta) \mathcal{P}(\zeta) d\zeta \le \|\varrho\|_{\infty} |I|$$
(5.15)

If I is not open, we write it as an intersection of open, decreasing sets and use monotone convergence to conclude (5.12).

## 5.4 Completion of the Proof of Theorem 5.0.1

The results on the localisation of the trace to unit cubes and spectral averaging of projections allow us to assemble the proof of Theorem 5.0.1.

To estimate the operator norm appearing in Proposition 5.1.3 we may as well bound the corresponding quadratic form since

$$\left\| \mathbb{E} \left\{ \chi_j P_{\omega}^l(I) \chi_j \right\} \right\| = \sup_{\|\phi\|=1} \left\langle \phi, \mathbb{E} \left\{ \chi_j P_{\omega}^l(I) \chi_j \right\} \phi \right\rangle$$
(5.16)

Now we apply Fubini's Theorem and Lemma 5.3.2 with the choice  $\rho = f$ ,  $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\Lambda_l), J = \chi_j, H = H_0 + \sum_{k \in \tilde{\Lambda} \setminus j} \omega_k u(\cdot - k), \zeta = \omega_j, W = u(x - j),$ and obtain:

$$\langle \phi, \mathbb{E} \left\{ \chi_j P^l_{\omega}(I) \chi_j \right\} \phi \rangle \le \|f\|_{\infty} |I|$$

This bound is j-independent and thus yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right\} \leq r(E_{2}+C_{0})^{-1}C_{\mathrm{Tr}}(r)\|f\|_{\infty}|I||\tilde{\Lambda}_{l}|$$
(5.17)

Remark 5.4.1. Now it becomes clear why we introduced the operator  $r(H^l_{\omega} + C_0)^{-1}r(H^l_{\omega} + C_0) = \text{Id}$  in Proposition 5.1.3: Due to this regularisation we needed merely to derive bounds on the operator norm of  $\chi_j P^l_{\omega}(I)\chi_j$ , rather than on its trace. The trace was applied to the single, deterministic operator  $r(-\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{N,0})$ , where all dependencies on  $\Lambda_l$ ,  $\omega$ , and I drop out. Without the use of a trace regularising function it is still possible to estimate

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}\chi_{j}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}\right\} \leq const. \left|I\right| \left|\tilde{\Lambda}_{l}\right|$$

However, this leads to a Wegner estimate with quadratic volume bound.

87

## 5.5 Single Site Potentials with Changing Sign

In Sect. 4.9 we saw an extension of the Wegner-Kirsch approach to single site potentials of changing sign. The Kotani-Simon-Combes-Hislop proof of Wegner's estimate also allows such a generalisation which we present in this section. Its main shortcoming in comparison to the results in Sect. 4.9 is that it is restricted to single site potentials which have a (generalised) step function form. On the other hand, it is valid not only at spectral boundaries, but on the whole energy axis. Furthermore, it yields the Lipschitz continuity of the integrated density of states and thus locally uniform upper bounds on the density of states. The results of this section are taken from [481, 301], see also [479, 300, 482].

First we describe the class of alloy type potentials which can be treated by the methods of this section.

**Definition 5.5.1.** Let  $L_c^p(\mathbb{R}^d) \ni w \ge \kappa \chi_{\Lambda_1}$  with  $\kappa > 0$  and p = p(d) as in (1.1). Let  $\Gamma$  be a finite subset of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . A function of the form

$$u(x) = \sum_{k \in \Gamma} \alpha_k w(x-k) \tag{5.18}$$

will be called a generalised step-function and the vector  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{\Gamma}$  a convolution vector. We set  $\alpha_k = 0$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \Gamma$ . Thus, we consider  $\alpha$  as an element of  $c_0(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ , the space of all sequences with elements indexed by  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  which have finite support. The set  $\Gamma$  will be called the support of  $\alpha$ , supp  $\alpha = \Gamma$ .

A linear operator  $A = \{A_{j,k}\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}$  with matrix coefficients  $A_{j,k} := \langle \delta_j, A \, \delta_k \rangle$  for  $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  is called (multi-level) Laurent matrix if it satisfies

$$A_{j+i,k+i} = A_{j,k}$$
 for all  $j, k, i \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ 

Here  $\delta_k(i) = 1$ , if  $k = i \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , and zero otherwise. So, a Laurent matrix is a doubly-infinite Toeplitz matrix. For a subset  $\Theta \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  denote by  $A_\Theta$  the truncated matrix with the coefficients  $A_{\Theta k,j} := \langle \delta_k, A_\Theta \delta_j \rangle$  for  $k, j \in \Theta$ . The matrix A may be considered as a bounded linear operator  $A: \ell^p(\mathbb{Z}^d) \to \ell^p(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ ,  $p \in [1, \infty[$  acting as

$$(A\phi)(j) = \sum_{j \in \Gamma} A_{j,k}\phi(k) = \sum_{j \in \Gamma} \alpha_{j-k}\phi(k)$$

Similarly,  $A_{\Theta} : \ell^{p}(\Theta) \to \ell^{p}(\Theta)$  is a bounded operator, which can be related to A by the formula  $A_{\Theta} = \chi_{\Theta} A \chi_{\Theta}^{*}$ . Here

$$\chi_{\Theta} \colon \ell^p(\mathbb{Z}^d) \to \ell^p(\Theta), \qquad (\chi_{\Theta}\phi)(j) = \begin{cases} \phi(j), & \text{if } j \in \Theta, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

is the projection onto the set  $\Theta$ . If A, respectively  $A_{\Theta}$ , are invertible operators, the inverse to A will be denoted by B and the inverse to  $A_{\Theta}$  by  $B_{\Theta}$ . Each convolution vector  $\alpha$  generates a Laurent matrix by the rule  $A = \{\alpha_{j-k}\}_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}$ .

Remark 5.5.2 (Notational conventions). Let as before  $H_{\omega} = H_0 + V_{\omega}$  be an alloy type Schrödinger operator as in Definition 1.2.1. Thus, the single site potential u and the distribution  $\mu$  are building blocks of the random potential  $V_{\omega}$ . We assume throughout this section that  $0 \neq u \in L_c^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , p = p(d) is a generalised step-function as in (5.18). Given such a function  $u, \alpha$  will always denote the convolution vector by means of which u is defined, A the Laurent matrix associated to  $\alpha$ , and  $s_{\alpha}$  its symbol, cf. Definition 5.5.7. Furthermore we assume that  $\mu$  has a density  $f \in BV_c(\mathbb{R})$  with compact support and finite total variation. We will denote the total variation norm of f by  $||f||_{\text{Var}}$ . Recall that  $\Lambda_l^+ = \{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d | \text{supp } u(\cdot - k) \cap \Lambda_l \neq \emptyset\}$  denotes the set of indices whose coupling constants influence the value of the potential in the cube  $\Lambda_l$ .

The following standard approximation result, see e.g. [501], will be useful in the proof of the subsequent theorem.

**Lemma 5.5.3.** Let  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^+$  be a function of finite total variation with  $||f||_1 = 1$ . Then there exists a sequence  $f_k \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $||f_k||_1 = 1$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|f_k\|_{\text{Var}} = \|f\|_{\text{Var}}, \quad and \quad \lim_{k \to \infty} \|f_k - f\|_1 = 0.$$

**Theorem 5.5.4.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be as in Remark 5.5.2. For a cube  $\Lambda_l$  assume that there exists  $\Theta \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  such that

(i)  $\Lambda_l^+ \subset \Theta$ ,

(ii)  $A_{\Theta}$  is invertible and  $B_{\Theta} \colon \ell^1(\Theta) \to \ell^1(\Theta)$  is bounded with norm  $||B_{\Theta}||_1$ .

Then for all  $E \in \mathbb{R}$  and for all intervals  $I \subset ] - \infty, E]$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right\} \leq r(E+C_{0})^{-1} C_{\mathrm{Tr}}(r) \|f\|_{\mathrm{Var}} \frac{\|B_{\Theta}\|_{1}}{\kappa} |I| l^{d}$$
(5.19)

where we used the same notation as in Proposition 5.1.3.

*Proof.* We first prove the theorem for densities  $f \in W_c^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$ . From Proposition 5.1.3 we infer

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr} P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right\} \leq r(E+C_{0})^{-1} C_{\operatorname{Tr}}(r) \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{l}} \left\| \mathbb{E}\left\{\chi_{j} P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\chi_{j}\right\} \right\|$$

Thus it is sufficient to estimate  $\mathbb{E} \{ \langle \phi, \chi_j P_{\omega}^l(I) \chi_j \phi \rangle \}$  for any normalised  $\phi \in L^2(\Lambda_l)$  by a uniform constant. To do this we introduce a transformation of coordinates on the probability space  $\Omega$ . Since  $\Lambda_l^+ \subset \Theta$ , the operator  $H_{\omega}^l$  depends only on the truncated random vector  $(\omega_k)_{k\in\Theta} \in \mathbb{R}^{\Theta}$ . On such vectors acts the truncated Laurent matrix  $A_{\Theta}$ , whose inverse  $B_{\Theta} = \{b_{k,j}\}_{k,j\in\Theta}$  is bounded in the column-sum norm  $||B_{\Theta}||_1$  by assumption. Set  $L := \#\Theta$ .

We drop now the subscript  $\Theta$  and denote with  $\eta := A\omega$  the vector of the transformed random coordinates. They have the common density

5.5 Single Site Potentials with Changing Sign 89

$$k(\eta) = |\det B| F(B\eta) \tag{5.20}$$

where  $F(\omega) = \prod_{k \in \Theta} f(\omega_k)$  is the original density of the  $\omega_k$ . We abbreviate  $w_j(x) := w(x-j)$  and calculate the potential  $V_{\omega}$  written as a function of  $\eta$  (and  $x \in \Lambda_l$ ):

$$V_{\omega}(x) = V_{B\eta}(x) = \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l} \eta_j w_j(x)$$

In the new representation of the potential the single site potentials are non-negative, so we can make use of the spectral averaging formula in Lemma 5.3.2

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} d\eta_j \, k(\eta) \, \mathcal{S}(\eta) \le \frac{|I|}{\kappa} \, \sup_{\eta_j} |k(\eta)|, \quad \text{where } \mathcal{S}(\eta) := \langle \phi, w_j P_{B\eta}^l(I) w_j \phi \rangle$$
(5.21)

Fubini's theorem, (5.21), and the fundamental theorem of calculus give

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^L} d\eta \, k(\eta) \, \mathcal{S}(\eta) \le \frac{|I|}{\kappa} \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^{L-1}} d\eta^{\perp j} \, \sup_{\eta_j} |k(\eta)| \le \frac{|I|}{\kappa} \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^L} d\eta \, |(\partial_j k)(\eta)| \quad (5.22)$$

Here  $\eta^{\perp j}$  is an abbreviation for  $\{\eta_k | k \in \Theta \setminus j\}$ . The last integral equals

$$|\det A| \int_{\mathbb{R}^L} d\omega |(\partial_j k)(A\omega)|$$

which is bounded by  $||f'||_{L^1} \sum_{k \in \Theta} |b_{k,j}|$ . Thus, for  $f \in W_c^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$ , we have obtained the desired bound

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\langle\phi, w_j P_{\omega}^l(I) w_j \phi\rangle\right\} \le \kappa^{-1} |I| \|f'\|_{L^1} \|B\|_1$$
(5.23)

Now let f be a function of finite total variation. Let  $\{f_k\}_k$  be an approximation sequence of  $C_0^{\infty}$ -functions as in Lemma 5.5.3. We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{L}} d\omega \ F(\omega) \ \langle \phi, w_{j} P_{\omega}^{l}(I) w_{j} \phi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{L}} d\omega \ \prod_{k \in \Theta} f_{k}(\omega_{k}) \ \langle \phi, w_{j} P_{\omega}^{l}(I) w_{j} \phi \rangle$$
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{L}} d\omega \left[ \prod_{k \in \Theta} f(\omega_{k}) - \prod_{k \in \Theta} f_{k}(\omega_{k}) \right] \ \langle \phi, w_{j} P_{\omega}^{l}(I) w_{j} \phi \rangle$$

By our previous considerations, the first integral on the right is bounded by

 $|I| \|f_k\|_{\text{Var}} \|B\|_1$ 

which tends to  $|I| ||f||_{\text{Var}} ||B||_1$  for  $k \to \infty$ . A telescoping argument shows that the norm of the second integral is bounded by

$$L \|w\|_{\infty}^2 \|f - f_k\|_1$$

which by Lemma 5.5.3 tends to zero as  $k \to \infty$ .

If we are able to find for arbitrarily large cubes  $\Lambda_l \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  subsets  $\Theta$  of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  such that  $\Theta \supset \Lambda_l^+$  with bounded  $B_\Theta$ , Theorem 5.5.4 may be used to obtain a Wegner estimate. A particularly important case is when the  $B_\Theta$  are uniformly bounded independently of  $\Theta$ .

**Theorem 5.5.5.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be as in Remark 5.5.2. Assume furthermore that there exist a constant  $C_B \in \mathbb{R}$  and an exhaustion  $\Theta_1 \subset \Theta_2 \subset \ldots$  of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  such that  $\|B_{\Theta_n}\|_1 \leq C_B$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then we have for any  $E \in \mathbb{R}$ , any interval  $I \subset ] -\infty, E]$ , and all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P^{l}_{\omega}(I)\right\} \leq C_{W} |I| l^{d}$$
(5.24)

where  $C_W = r(E + C_0)^{-1} C_{\text{Tr}}(r) ||f||_{\text{Var}} C_B$ .

The theorem implies that the density of states, the derivative of the IDS, exists for a.e. E and is locally uniformly bounded:

$$n(E_1) := \frac{dN(E_1)}{dE_1} \le r(E + C_0)^{-1} C_{\mathrm{Tr}}(r) \|f\|_{\mathrm{Var}} C_B \quad \text{for all } E_1 \le E$$

*Proof.* For any  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  we can find an  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\Lambda_l^+ \subset \Theta_n$ . Thus by Theorem 5.5.4 and our assumption we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}P_{\omega}^{l}(I)\right\} \leq r(E+C_{0})^{-1} C_{\mathrm{Tr}}(r) \|f\|_{\mathrm{Var}} \|B_{\Theta_{n}}\|_{1} |I| l^{d}$$
$$\leq r(E+C_{0})^{-1} C_{\mathrm{Tr}}(r) \|f\|_{\mathrm{Var}} C_{B} |I| l^{d}$$

Now let us turn to the question under which conditions the assumption of Theorem 5.5.5 is satisfied. A simple criterion is the following

**Lemma 5.5.6.** Assume that the convolution vector of the single site potential satisfies

$$\alpha^* := \sum_{k \neq 0} |\alpha_k| < |\alpha_0|$$

Then we have for any  $\Theta \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ 

$$\|B_{\Theta}\|_1 \leq \frac{\alpha_0}{1-\alpha^*}$$

*Proof.* Since A is the Laurent matrix generated by the vector  $\alpha$ , we can write it as

$$A =: \alpha_0 \operatorname{Id} + S, \quad \|S\|_1 = \sum_{k \neq 0} |\alpha_k| = \alpha^* < |\alpha_0|$$
(5.25)

by the assumption on  $\alpha^*$ . The decomposition and the bound in (5.25) remain true for any truncation  $A_{\Theta}$ . By the Neumann series expansion the inverse  $B_{\Theta}$ of  $A_{\Theta}$  exists and obeys the bound  $||B_{\Theta}||_1 \leq \frac{\alpha_0}{1-\alpha^*}$  for any  $\Theta \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ .  $\Box$  The assumptions on the convolution vector can be further relaxed. To formulate these weaker hypotheses we need the notion of the symbol of a Laurent matrix.

**Definition 5.5.7.** The symbol of a convolution vector  $\alpha$ , respectively the associated Laurent matrix A, is defined as the function

$$s_{\alpha} \colon [-\pi, \pi[^d \to \mathbb{C}, \qquad s_{\alpha}(\theta) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \alpha_k e^{i\langle k, \theta \rangle}, \qquad \theta = (\theta_1, \dots, \theta_d)$$

The symbol  $s_{\alpha}$  is called sectorial if there is a  $\phi \in [-\pi, \pi]$  such that

Re 
$$(e^{i\phi}s_{\alpha}(\theta)) \geq 0$$
 for all  $\theta \in [-\pi, \pi]^d$ 

Since we assume that only finitely many components of  $\alpha$  are different from zero,  $s_{\alpha}$  is actually a trigonometric polynomial. Thus it is a uniformly continuous and bounded function with a finite number of zeros, unless it vanishes identically.

If the symbol function  $s_{\alpha}$  has no zeros, we define for every  $i = 1, \ldots, d$  the  $i^{th}$  winding number

$$\operatorname{wn}_i(s_\alpha) = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathrm{i}} \int_{[-\pi,\pi[} \frac{d}{dt} \log s_\alpha(\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_i=t,\ldots,\theta_d) dt$$

This number is an integer independent of  $\theta$ . The vector of winding numbers

$$\operatorname{wn}(s_{\alpha}) := (\operatorname{wn}_1(s_{\alpha}), \dots, \operatorname{wn}_d(s_{\alpha})) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$$

is called also the topological index of the symbol  $s_{\alpha}$ .

Remark 5.5.8. Let  $H_{\omega}$  be as in Remark 5.5.2. If the symbol function  $s_{\alpha}$  associated to u does not vanish on  $[-\pi, \pi]^d$  we can assume without loss of generality that wn $(s_{\alpha}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* First observe that a translation of the convolution vector  $\alpha$  by an arbitrary  $j_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  leaves the operator  $H_\omega$  unchanged up to unitary equivalence. To see this, let us set  $\tilde{\alpha}_k := \alpha_{k-j_0}$  and denote by  $\tilde{u}(x) = \sum_{k \in \Gamma + j_0} \tilde{\alpha}_k w(x-k)$  the associated single site potential of generalised step-function form. It gives rise to an alloy type potential

$$\tilde{V}_{\omega}(x) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \omega_j \sum_{k \in \Gamma + j_0} \tilde{\alpha}_k w(x - k - j)$$

which equals

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}^d}\omega_j\sum_{k\in\Gamma+j_0}\alpha_{k-j_0}w(x-k-j) = \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}^d}\omega_j\sum_{l\in\Gamma}\alpha_lw(x-l-j_0-j)$$
$$=\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}^d}\omega_j\sum_{k\in\Gamma}\alpha_kw((x-j_0)-k-j) = V_{\omega}(x-j_0) = (U_{j_0}V_{\omega}U_{j_0}^*)(x)$$

where  $U_{j_0}$  denotes the unitary translation operator by  $j_0$ . Note that the periodic part  $H_0$  commutes with  $U_{j_0}$ .

On the other hand, supp  $\tilde{\alpha} = \text{supp } \alpha + j_0$  and the symbol of  $\tilde{a}$  is given by

$$s_{\tilde{\alpha}}(\theta) = \mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}\langle j_0, \theta \rangle} s_{\alpha}(\theta)$$

By the product rule for winding numbers we obtain

$$\operatorname{wn}(s_{\tilde{\alpha}}) = \operatorname{wn}(s_{\alpha}) - j_0. \tag{5.26}$$

Now choose  $j_0 = \operatorname{wn}(s_\alpha)$ . Then the winding number of  $s_{\tilde{\alpha}}$  vanishes and the corresponding alloy type model  $H_0 + \tilde{V}_{\omega}$  is unitarily equivalent to the original alloy type model  $H_{\omega}$ .

Recall that in our situation the total potential energy  $V_{\text{per}} + V_{\omega}$  is relatively bounded with respect to the Laplace operator. This is expressed in a quantitative way in (5.3) using the constant  $C_0$ . Now we are ready to state the main result of [301].

**Theorem 5.5.9.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be as in Remark 5.5.2. If  $d \leq 2$  and  $s_{\alpha}(\theta) \neq 0$  for all  $\theta \in [-\pi, \pi[^d, \text{ then there is a constant } C \text{ independent of } E, l, and f \text{ such that for all } \varepsilon \geq 0$  we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr} P^{l}_{\omega}([E-\varepsilon, E])\right\} \leq C \operatorname{e}^{E+C_{0}} \|f\|_{\operatorname{Var}} \varepsilon \ l^{d} \tag{5.27}$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 5.5.5 it is sufficient to show that there exists an exhaustion  $\Theta_1 \subset \Theta_2 \subset \ldots$  of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  such that  $\|B_{\Theta_n}\|_1 \leq C_B$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . In Sect. 5.6 it is shown that such an exhaustion always exist, if  $d \in \{1,2\}$  and the symbol  $s_{\alpha}$  has no zeros on  $[-\pi, \pi[^d]$  and has vanishing winding number. Without loss of generality we can drop the last condition by Remark 5.5.8.

Remark 5.5.10. It seems that Theorem 5.5.9 holds for arbitrary dimension. This result requires a modification of the proof: instead of finite truncations  $A_{\Theta}$  of A one uses (multi-dimensional) circulant matrices. They have better invertibility properties than approximands obtained by the finite section method.

Now we relax the hypotheses on the convolution vector  $\alpha$ , respectively its symbol  $s_{\alpha}$ , further. There is a set of conditions under which the methods of [301] are not strong enough to establish the Lipschitz continuity of the integrated density of states, but only a weaker form of Wegner estimate. Still, this may be useful to prove localisation for certain alloy-type random potentials with single site functions u of changing sign, cf. the discussion in Sect. 3.2 and Theorem 4 in [301].

This regime concerns convolution vectors whose symbol  $s_{\alpha}$  does vanish, but is sectorial and has the property that its real part has only a finite number of nodal points. We infer from [301] without proof the following result. Let us just mention that the arguments of the proof heavily rely on Sect. 8 in [54].

93

**Theorem 5.5.11.** Let  $H_{\omega}$  be as in Remark 5.5.2. Assume that the symbol  $s_{\alpha}$  associated to u is sectorial and Re  $s_{\alpha}$  has at most finitely many zeros. Then there exist  $C, b \in \mathbb{R}$  such that for all  $E \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\varepsilon \geq 0$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\operatorname{Tr} P_{\omega}^{l}([E-\varepsilon, E])\right\} \leq C \operatorname{e}^{E+C_{0}} \|f\|_{\operatorname{Var}} \varepsilon \ l^{bd}$$
(5.28)

holds, where C is a constant independent of f.

Remark 5.5.12 (Anderson model). For the discrete Anderson model  $h_{\omega} = h_0 + V_{\omega}$  there is a result analogous to Theorem 5.5.5. Here  $h_0$  is the finite difference Laplacian on  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  and  $(V_{\omega}\psi)(n) = V_{\omega}(n)\psi(n), \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , a multiplication operator as in the continuum case. This is not surprising, since the arguments in Sects. 5.2 and 5.3 rely only on abstract functional analysis. If fact, as we mentioned earlier, Kotani and Simon were motivated in their treatment [306] of the alloy type model by its discrete counterpart. Moreover, since on  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  the trace can be expressed using the canonical basis as

$$\operatorname{Tr}[P_{\omega}^{l}(I)] = \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{l}} \langle \delta_{j}, P_{\omega}^{l}(I) \delta_{j} \rangle$$

the use of a trace regularising function is not necessary. Here  $P_{\omega}^{l}$  denotes the spectral projection of the truncation  $h_{\omega}^{l}$  of the Anderson model  $h_{\omega}$ . More precisely,  $h_{\omega}^{l}$  is the finite matrix  $\{\langle \delta_{j}, h_{\omega} \delta_{k} \rangle\}_{i, k \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{i}}$ .

precisely,  $h_{\omega}^{i}$  is the finite matrix  $\{\langle \delta_{j}, h_{\omega}\delta_{k} \rangle\}_{j,k \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{l}}$ . Note that in the discrete case  $\chi_{j}$  is just  $\delta_{j}$ . Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.5.5 on the coupling constants  $\{\omega_{j}\}_{j}$  and the single site potential u we have the following Wegner estimate for the Anderson model:

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}[P_{\omega}^{l}(I)]\right\} \leq C_{B} \|f\|_{\mathrm{Var}} |I| |\tilde{\Lambda}_{l}|$$
(5.29)

*Remark 5.5.13.* Theorems 5.5.4 and 5.5.5 can also be understood as a Wegner estimate for the alloy type potential

$$V_{\eta}(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \eta_k \, \chi_k$$

where the coupling constants  $\{\eta_j\}_j$  are not any more independent, but correlated, satisfying certain conditions. See Sect. 4.2 in [482] for a precise formulation. Wegner estimates for correlated coupling constants can also be found in [96] (cf. [223], too).

The use of the common density F, respectively k, in the proof of Theorem 5.5.4 is conceptually new. One could try to use conditional densities instead by considering the indefinite potential  $V_{\omega}$  in its representation  $V_{B\eta}$  as an alloy type potential with dependent coupling constants. However, this would require to have uniform upper bounds on the conditional densities, cf. [96, 223]. They do not seem to be easy to establish for the model considered in this section, and in fact sometimes fail to hold as can be seen in the following example.

Example 5.5.14. It is sufficient to consider only one space dimension d = 1. Let the density function be  $f = \chi_{[0,1]}$  and the single site potential  $u = \chi_{[0,1]} - \alpha \chi_{[1,2]}$  with  $-\alpha \in ]-1, 0[$ . To this model the results of Theorem 5.5.5 and Lemma 5.5.6 apply.

We analyse the restriction of  $H_{\omega}$  to an interval of length l. Instead of  $\Lambda_l = ]-1/2, l-1/2[$  we consider the translation thereof  $\Lambda_l + \frac{l}{2} = ]0, l[$ . The restricted Schrödinger operator  $H_{\omega}^{]0,l[}$  depends only on the coupling constants  $\omega_j$  with indices  $j \in \{-1, \ldots, l-1\} =: \Lambda_l^+$ . They are transformed by the Toeplitz matrix A into new random variables  $\eta_j, j \in \{-1, \ldots, l-1\}$ , as in the proof of Theorem 5.5.4. Here the convolution vector is given by  $\alpha_0 = 1, \alpha_1 = -\alpha$ .

The conditional density  $\rho_j(\eta) = \rho_j^l(\eta)$  of the variable  $\eta_j$  with respect to the remaining coupling constants  $\eta^{\perp j} = (\eta_k)_{k \in \Lambda_l^+ \setminus j}$  in  $\Lambda_l^+$  is given by  $\rho_j(\eta) = \frac{k(\eta)}{g_j(\eta)}$ . Here  $g_j(\eta) = \int k(\eta) d\eta_j$  denotes the marginal density. The question is whether  $\sup_j \rho(\eta)$  is finite.

One calculates the common density to be

$$k(\eta) = \prod_{k=-1}^{l-1} \chi_{[0,1]} (\sum_{\nu=-1}^{k} \alpha^{k-\nu} \eta_{\nu})$$

For  $\eta_{j+1} \in [0,1], \eta_k = 0, \forall k \neq j+1$  we have

$$k(\eta) = \prod_{k=-1}^{l-1} \chi_{[0,1]}(\alpha^{k-j-1}\eta_{j+1}) = 1$$

The marginal density

$$g_{j}(\eta) = \prod_{k=-1}^{j-1} \chi_{[0,1]} \left( \sum_{\nu=-1}^{k} \alpha^{k-\nu} \eta_{\nu} \right) \int \prod_{k=j}^{l-1} \chi_{[0,1]} \left( \sum_{\nu=-1}^{k} \alpha^{k-\nu} \eta_{\nu} \right) d\eta_{j}$$
  
$$\leq \int d\eta_{j} \prod_{k=j}^{j+1} \chi_{[0,1]} \left( \sum_{\nu=-1}^{k} \alpha^{k-\nu} \eta_{\nu} \right)$$

has for  $\eta_{j+1} \in [0,1], \eta_k = 0, \forall k \notin \{j, j+1\}$  the upper bound

$$\int_0^1 \chi_{[0,1]}(\alpha \eta_j + \eta_{j+1}) d\eta_j \le \alpha^{-1}(1 - \eta_{j+1})$$

In particular,  $g_j(\eta) \searrow 0$  for  $\eta_{j+1} \nearrow 1$  and thus

$$\sup_{\eta} \rho_j(\eta) = \infty$$

Therefore, proofs of a Wegner estimate which require the conditional density to be bounded cannot be applied to this alloy type potential. See also Sect. 4.3 of [482] for another example.

# 5.6 The Finite Section Method for Multi-Level Laurent Matrices

In this section we collect certain results which are used in Sect. 5.5. They concern the theory of finite sections for multi-level Laurent matrices. In fact, the finite section operators of a Laurent matrix are the same as the ones of the Toeplitz matrix generated by the same convolution vector. We are concerned with criteria for (uniform) bounded invertibility of the finite section operators. These questions have a long history of research in the one dimensional case. For an accessible introduction to this subject see for instance [199], [56], and for a detailed account [55]. In the higher-dimensional case, i.e. for *multi-level* Laurent or Toeplitz matrices much less is known. Results of the type which are relevant for us can be found in [309, 308, 307, 310, 311, 54], see also [134].

Throughout this section we use the notation of Definition 5.5.1. We need some further notions to formulate the results.

**Definition 5.6.1.** A subset  $M \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  is called a canonical discrete half-space if M and  $\mathbb{Z}^d \setminus M$  are sub-semigroups of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . A set M is called discrete half-space if there exists  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  such that M + j is a canonical discrete half-space.

Let  $F \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  be finite and  $\tilde{F}$  its convex hull in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Then the set  $\tilde{F} \cap \mathbb{Z}^d$  is called a convex lattice polygon.

Denote by  $B_r(x) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  an open ball of radius r centred at the point x. Let  $\mathfrak{M}(r, R)$  be the set of all convex lattice polygons  $\Theta$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  satisfying the following conditions

(i) for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  there is a discrete half-space M such that

$$\Theta \cap B_r(x) = M \cap B_r(x)$$

(ii)  $\Theta \supset B_R(0) \cap \mathbb{Z}^d$ .

Here is a special case of the main result of the paper [311].

**Theorem 5.6.2.** Let A be a multi-level Laurent matrix on  $\ell^p(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ ,  $p \in [1, \infty[$ with non-vanishing symbol  $s(\theta)$ . If  $s(\theta)$  is a trigonometric polynomial and its topological index is zero, then there exist positive numbers r, R, and  $C_{r,R}$ such that for any  $\Theta \in \mathfrak{M}(r, R)$  the associated truncated Toeplitz matrix  $A_{\Theta}$  is invertible and its inverse satisfies  $||A_{\Theta}^{-1}|| \leq C_{r,R}$ .

If we apply the theorem to two different values of allowed radii  $R = R_1$ and  $R = R_2$ , such that  $R_1 \leq R_2$ , we may chose the constants appearing in Theorem 5.6.2 to obey  $C_{r,R_2} \leq C_{r,R_1}$ , since

$$\mathfrak{M}(r,R_1) \supset \mathfrak{M}(r,R_2) \tag{5.30}$$

To be able to use Theorem 5.6.2 in the context of Sect. 5.5, one has to settle the question whether for a pair r, R > 0 as in Theorem 5.6.2 the set  $\mathfrak{M}(r, R)$  contains an exhaustion of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . By (5.30), such an exhaustion exists

if for arbitrary r, R > 0 the set  $\mathfrak{M}(r, R)$  is non-empty. For  $d \geq 3$  this seems to be an open question. In one space dimension,  $\mathfrak{M}(r, R)$  contains all discrete intervals  $\Theta \supset B_R(0)$  of diameter greater or equal to 2r. By a discrete interval we mean the intersection of an ordinary interval with  $\mathbb{Z}$ . For the case d = 2the following fact has been stated in [311] and proven in [301].

**Proposition 5.6.3.** If d = 2, then for any r > 0 and R > 0 the set  $\mathfrak{M}(r, R)$  is non-empty.

Thus in dimensions one or two an exhaustion sequence  $\Theta_1 \subset \Theta_2 \subset \ldots$  of discrete lattice polygons in  $\mathfrak{M}(r, 1), r > 0$  exists and the corresponding truncated Toeplitz matrices  $A_{\Theta_n}$  have inverses  $B_{\Theta_n}$  which are uniformly bounded in  $\ell^p(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ . Thus we have proven the assumptions required for Theorem 5.5.5.

Let us give one historical comment. For one space dimension a criterion on uniformly bounded invertibility of finite section Toeplitz operators in  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z})$ was proven in [36], see also Theorem III.2.1 in [199]: For a convolution vector  $\alpha \in c_0(\mathbb{Z})$  whose symbol  $s_\alpha$  does not vanish anywhere on  $[-\pi, \pi]$  and has zero winding number there exist a constant  $C_B \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$||B|| \le C_B, \qquad \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} ||B_{\Theta_n}|| \le C_B \tag{5.31}$$

where  $\Theta_n = \{-n, -n+1, \dots, n\}$ . This result may be seen as a special case of the above Theorem 5.6.2.

## 5.7 Unbounded Coupling Constants and Magnetic Fields

Motivated by certain physical applications, e.g. the study of the quantum hall effect (see for instance [41, 377, 174, 425, 241, 146]), it is desirable to extend the results on the (Lipschitz) continuity of the IDS to include Hamiltonians with magnetic fields. This is, for instance, done in the papers [97, 213, 223, 91].

We discuss here the results on alloy type potentials obtained in [223] by Hupfer, Leschke, Müller, and Warzel, since they are build on the method presented in Sects. 5.1–5.4. Moreover, their result allows the coupling constants to be unbounded, as long as very negative fluctuations are exponentially rare. Actually, the primary interest of their research are Hamiltonians with Gaussian random potentials, so they need to cope with unbounded fluctuations of the potential. The proof is based on earlier techniques from [168] — which in turn use [89] — and Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing for magnetic Schrödinger operators, as discussed in Appendix A of [223]. The results concerning alloy type potentials are summarised in Sect. 4.1 of their paper, which we review shortly.

Let  $A: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  be a measurable vector potential with the property  $|A|^2 \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Denote by  $H_A$  the selfadjoint closure of  $\sum_{i=j}^d (i\partial_j + A_j)^2$  defined on smooth functions with compact support. The alloy type Schrödinger operator

97

 $H_{\omega} = H_A + V_{\omega}$  now incorporates a magnetic field. In [223] it is proven that Theorem 5.0.1 essentially remains true if the magnetic field is included. (Their conditions on the single site potential are slightly different.)

Moreover, two cases are discussed, where the coupling constants are unbounded random variables, and the theorem still remains true. In the first one, it is assumed that  $\omega_0$  is non-negative and a certain moment condition is satisfied, roughly  $\mathbb{E} \{\omega_0^{2d+2}\} < \infty$ . The second one concerns the case where  $\omega_0$  is distributed according to the Laplace distribution:  $\mathbb{P} \{\omega_0 \in I\} = \frac{1}{a} \int_I dx \, e^{|x|/a}$ . Note that the probability

The second one concerns the case where  $\omega_0$  is distributed according to the Laplace distribution:  $\mathbb{P}\{\omega_0 \in I\} = \frac{1}{a} \int_I dx \, e^{|x|/a}$ . Note that the probability that  $\omega_0$  assumes very negative values is exponentially small. In fact, in [223] it is noted, that this is a necessary requirement for their techniques to work. The reason for this is that they use  $r(x) = e^{-tx}$  as the trace regularising function, cf. Definition 5.1.1. A different choice of r would allow for more general distributions with support unbounded from below.

For the study of spectral properties of random Schrödinger operators with or without magnetic fields the spectral shift function (SSF) is a convenient tool. In Appendix A.3 and A.4 we derive bounds on the SSF for Schrödinger operators which may include rather general magnetic vector potentials. See also the survey article [403].

We conclude this section by listing further literature on random Hamiltonians with magnetic fields. Works treating the regularity of the IDS of random Schrödinger operators with magnetic field include [488, 33, 490, 227, 213, 218, 91], while the question of the (in)dependence of the IDS on boundary conditions for these models has been treated in [375, 125, 223, 222]. A related problem is the analysis of the semigroup kernels of magnetic operators [65, 66]. In [261, 404, 67, 63] the behaviour of the IDS in a strong magnetic field is identified.

The asymptotic behaviour of the IDS near the boundaries of the spectrum in the presence of random magnetic fields was the object of study of the articles [373, 374, 376] which prove high energy and Lifshitz asymptotics for certain models. The high energy asymptotics has been analysed already in [358, 475].

For Schrödinger operators with constant magnetic field and random potential generated by a Poissonian process the different possible behaviours of the IDS at the bottom of the spectrum are analysed in [64, 155, 225, 226, 156, 492, 220]. An analogous study for Landau Hamiltonians plus alloy type random potentials is carried out in [289].

The analysis of Landau Hamiltonians in the single band approximation is done in [130, 131, 395, 396, 227]. Examples of localisation proofs which allow for magnetic fields can be found in [130, 90, 131, 132, 489, 33, 183, 133, 170, 396, 187, 6]. For a result on delocalisation in this context, see [192].
In this appendix certain properties of the spectral shift function which are relevant for the study of the integrated density of states are collected. Let us note that this function is sometimes called Lifshitz-Krein SSF since Lifshitz and Krein were the first to devote attention to it, see e.g. the discussion in the introduction of [50].

For an exposition of the theory of the spectral shift function (SSF) see [50, 293].

An survey of the role played by the SSF in scattering theory can be found in the last chapter of [499]. The SSF has proven useful in the study of random operators, particularly in problems related to surface models, e.g. the definition of the density of surface states [82, 83, 297, 298]. In [443] it is used in the analysis of rank one perturbations of operators, in particular in the random context. More recently, it has found applications in the study of quantum graphs, cf. [299, 209, 295, 210].

Various of the properties of the SSF are discussed in the literature: monotonicity and concavity [182, 193, 294], the asymptotic behaviour in the large coupling constant limit [400, 418, 401] and semiclassical limit [372], and some other bounds [397, 398, 399]. For magnetic Schrödinger operators the SSF is analysed in [68, 164, 67, 402, 403].

### A.1 The SSF for Trace Class Perturbations

For two selfadjoint operators A, B such that the difference A - B is trace class the SSF  $\xi(\cdot, A, B)$  may be defined (up to an additive constant) by the formula

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\rho(A) - \rho(B)) = \int \rho'(\lambda) \,\xi(\lambda, A, B) \,d\lambda \tag{A.1}$$

for all functions  $\rho \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\rho'$  is the Fourier transform of a complex measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  with finite total variation, cf. Theorem 3.2 in [50] or Theorem

Α

8.3.3 in [499]. Actually, the assumption that  $\rho$  is in the Besov space  $B^1_{\infty,1}(\mathbb{R})$  is sufficient to guarantee that  $\rho(A) - \rho(B)$  is trace class and that the relation (A.1) holds, see [391] for details. Equality (A.1) is called *Krein trace formula*. If the operators A, B are semi-bounded, the mentioned additive constant can be normalised to be equal to zero, and thus the SSF becomes unique.

The SSF is related to the perturbation determinant from scattering theory by the formula

$$\xi(\lambda, A, B) = \frac{1}{\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \arg \det[1 + (A - B)(B - \lambda - i\varepsilon)^{-1})]$$
(A.2)

for almost all values of  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . For the right side to be well defined it is actually sufficient to assume only that  $(A - B)(B + i)^{-1}$  is trace class. So one can interpret (A.2) as an extension of the definition of the SSF to the class of relative trace class perturbations.

The SSF can be bounded in terms of Schatten-von Neumann ideal properties of A - B, namely

$$\|\xi(\cdot, A, B)\|_1 \le \|A - B\|_{J_1} \tag{A.3}$$

Here  $J_1$  denotes the ideal of trace class operators and  $\|\cdot\|_{J_1}$  the *trace norm*. In particular, for trace class perturbations A - B, the SSF  $\xi$  is in  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$ . On the other hand, if A - B is finite rank

$$\|\xi(\cdot, A, B)\|_{\infty} \le \operatorname{rank}(A - B) \tag{A.4}$$

Since we have an estimate on  $\xi$  in the  $L^1$  and  $L^{\infty}$ -norms, it is natural to ask whether an estimate for the  $L^p$ -norm,  $p \in ]1, \infty[$ , may be derived. This indeed turns out to be true and can be understood as an interpolation result, cf. the proof of Theorem 2.1 in [97].

To formulate this bound we have to introduce ideals of 'better than trace class' operators, defined in terms of summability properties of singular values. Recall that the singular values of a compact operator C are the square-roots of the eigenvalues of  $C^*C$ . We enumerate them in non-increasing order  $\mu_1(C) \ge$  $\mu_2(C) \ge \cdots \ge \mu_n(C) \cdots \ge 0, n \in \mathbb{N}$  counting multiplicities. If C is trace class, the sum of the singular values is finite and equals  $||C||_{J_1}$ . We denote by  $J_\beta$ the class of compact operators such that

$$||C||_{J_{\beta}} := \left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mu_n(C)^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta} < \infty$$
(A.5)

The theory of such operators is classical for  $\beta \geq 1$ , see for instance [437]. However, since we want to interpolate between (A.3) and (A.4), we need to consider operators whose singular values converge not slower, but *faster* than an  $\ell^1$ -sequence to zero. This leads us to consider operators such that  $||C||_{J_{\beta}}$  is finite, for  $\beta$  smaller than one. In particular, all such operators are trace class, which explains why they are sometimes called super-trace class operators. It follows that the SSF may be defined for perturbations of this type. The classes  $J_{\beta}, \beta < 1$  have been studied in [200, 46, 48], while their relevance in the context of random operators was recognised in [97].

From these sources we infer the following properties of  $J_{\beta}$ . For any compact operator A and bounded B the singular values of the products obey the relation

$$\mu_n(AB) \le \|B\|\,\mu_n(A) \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_n(BA) \le \|B\|\,\mu_n(A) \tag{A.6}$$

If we assume that B is also compact, the Ky-Fan inequalities [158, 437] establish for the singular values of the sum A + B the bounds

$$\mu_{n+m+1}(A+B) \le \mu_{n+1}(A) + \mu_{m+1}(B)$$
 for all  $n, m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$  (A.7)

In particular the set  $J_{\beta}$  is a two-sided ideal in the algebra of bounded operators for all  $\beta > 0$ . For  $\beta \ge 1$  the functional  $A \mapsto ||A||_{J_{\beta}}$  is a norm, which is not true for  $\beta < 1$ . More precisely, in the latter case we have only

$$\|A+B\|_{J_{\beta}}^{\beta} \leq \|A\|_{J_{\beta}}^{\beta} + \|B\|_{J_{\beta}}^{\beta}$$

This property implies that  $\|\cdot\|_{J_{\beta}}$  is a *quasi-norm* and that

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\beta}(A,B) = \|A - B\|_{J_{a}}^{\beta}$$

is a well defined metric on  $J_{\beta}$ . The pair  $(J_{\beta}, \operatorname{dist}_{\beta})$  forms a complete, separable, linear metric space, in which the finite rank operators form a dense subset.

In [97] the following  $L^p$ -bound on the SSF was proven.

1

**Theorem A.1.1.** Let  $p \ge 1$  and A, B be selfadjoint operators whose difference is in  $J_{\beta}$ , where  $\beta = 1/p$ . Then the spectral shift function  $\xi(\cdot, A, B)$  is in  $L^p(\mathbb{R})$ and

$$\|\xi(\cdot, A, B)\|_{L^p} \le \|A - B\|_{J_\beta}^{\beta} \tag{A.8}$$

A sharp bound on the SSF was proven by Hundertmark and Simon in [221], which in fact includes Theorem A.1.1 as a special case.

**Theorem A.1.2.** Let  $F: [0, \infty[ \rightarrow [0, \infty[$  be a convex function such that F(0) = 0. Let A, B be bounded and C a non-negative compact operator such that for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\sum_{n=N}^{\infty} \mu_n(|A-B|) \le \sum_{n=N}^{\infty} \mu_n(C)$$
(A.9)

Then

$$\int F(|\xi(\lambda, A, B)|)d\lambda \leq \int F(|\xi(\lambda, C, 0)|)d\lambda = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} [F(n) - F(n-1)] \mu_n(C)$$

Condition (A.9) is in particular satisfied if  $|A - B| \leq C$ . Of course, to be able to apply Theorem A.1.2 one needs to have appropriate estimates on the singular values of the operator C. In the context of Schrödinger operators such estimates are derived in Sect. A.2.

In certain situations one can show that an operator C belongs to a Schatten-von Neumann class  $J_{\beta}$  by writing it as a product of operators  $C_1, \ldots, C_N$  for which one already knows that they belong to a larger class  $J_{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha > \beta$ . Then the product  $C = C_1 \cdots C_N$  will enjoy much better summability properties than the individual factors.

For this purpose it is useful to note that the Hölder inequality extends also to the case of exponents smaller than one: let  $a_i \colon \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{C}, i = 1, \ldots, N$ be such that  $|a_i(n)|^{p_i}$  is summable, where  $p_i > 0$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, N$ , and set  $\frac{1}{r} := \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{1}{p_i}$ . Then the pointwise product  $\prod_{i=1}^{N} a_i$  is in  $\ell^r(\mathbb{N})$  and

$$\left\|\prod_{i=1}^{N} a_i\right\|_r \le \prod_{i=1}^{N} \|a_i\|_{p_i}$$

By applying this to the sequence of singular values of compact operators, we obtain the following

**Lemma A.1.3.** Let  $C_i \in J_{p_i}$  for i = 1, ..., N, then  $\prod_{i=1}^N C_i$  is in  $J_r$  where  $\frac{1}{r} := \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{1}{p_i}$  and

$$\left\|\prod_{i=1}^{N} C_{i}\right\|_{J_{r}} \leq \prod_{i=1}^{N} \|C_{i}\|_{J_{p_{i}}}$$
(A.10)

See also [48], Corollary 11.11.

# A.2 The SSF for Schrödinger Operators and the Invariance Principle

We want to apply the formalism of the SSF to Schrödinger operators. In this setting we cannot use the results of the previous section on trace class perturbations, since any potential given by a proper function is not in this class of operators.

It turns out that the SSF can be defined easily for a pair of selfadjoint, lower bounded operator with purely discrete spectrum. This would cover Schrödinger operators restricted to finite cubes  $\Lambda$ . In the application in Sect. 4.2 we use only the SSF for this type of operators. However, since we are not only interested in the *existence* of the SSF as a function, but also on *upper bounds*, we have to resort to more powerful techniques, which then allow us along the way to define the SSF for a pair of Schrödinger operators on the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , under the assumption that they differ by a compactly supported potential. For a selfadjoint, lower bounded operator H with purely discrete spectrum the eigenvalue counting function  $\mathcal{N}(H, E) := \#\{n \mid \lambda_n(H) \leq \lambda\}$  is well defined. Here  $\lambda_n(H), n \in \mathbb{N}$  enumerates the spectrum of H, counting multiplicities, in increasing order. Thus for two such operators  $H_1, H_2$  the SSF can be defined as the difference of the eigenvalue counting functions,

$$\xi(\lambda, H_2, H_1) := \mathcal{N}(H_2, E) - \mathcal{N}(H_1, E)$$

If the difference  $H_2 - H_1$  happens to be trace class, this definition produces (almost everywhere) the same function  $\xi$  as (A.1). To see this, one chooses in (A.1) a sequence  $\rho_{\varepsilon}$  of switch functions which converges to the step function  $\chi_{]-\infty,E]}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

Now we consider the case that the operators  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  are selfadjoint and lower bounded, but we neither assume that the difference  $H_2 - H_1$  is trace class nor that the operators  $H_1$  and  $H_1$  have purely discrete spectrum. Let  $g: \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty[$  be a  $C^2$ -function such that g' is everywhere negative. In particular, the function g is bounded on the spectra of  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  and thus  $g(H_2) - g(H_1)$  is a bounded operator. Assume that  $g(H_2) - g(H_1)$  is trace class. Then the SSF for the operator pair  $g(H_1), g(H_2)$  is well defined by (A.1) and we may set

$$\xi(\lambda, H_2, H_1) := -\xi(g(\lambda), g(H_2), g(H_1))$$
(A.11)

This definition is independent of the choice of g, as long as it has the abovementioned properties, see e.g. [50, Sect. 1.4]. Formula (A.11) is called the *in*variance principle in analogy to the relation in scattering theory. This last definition will be sufficiently general to cover the type of Schrödinger operators we are considering. Natural candidates for the function g are the following families of functions

$$g(x) = (x+C)^{-k}, \ \mathbb{N} \ni k > \frac{d}{2} + 2, \ C > -\inf \sigma(H)$$

corresponding to powers of resolvents, respectively

$$g(x) = \exp(-tx), \ t > 0$$
 (A.12)

corresponding to semigroups of Schrödinger operators. Of course we will still have to impose certain regularity assumptions on the Schrödinger operators  $H_1, H_2$  such that  $g(H_2) - g(H_1)$  really turns out to be trace class. In the remainder of the appendix we choose the function g as in (A.12).

### A.3 Singular Value Estimates

There is a short and transparent way to prove the super-trace class estimates needed for the bound of the SSF. It uses the decay of singular values of certain auxiliary operators. The basic observation is that the singular values of the difference of two Schrödinger semigroups decay almost exponentially and the semigroup difference is therefore in any super-trace class ideal. There are

essentially two ingredients in the proof of this statement: a Weyl-type bound on eigenvalues and exit time estimates for Brownian motion. We follow here the presentation from the paper [218] by Hundertmark, Killip, Nakamura, Stollmann and the author.

Weyl's law gives the asymptotic behaviour of the  $n^{\text{th}}$  eigenvalue of the Laplacian on an open ball B for large n. For our purposes it is necessary to have a lower bound of this type valid for *all* eigenvalues. It is provided in the following lemma which applies for rather general Schrödinger operators with electromagnetic field.

We consider magnetic Schrödinger operators

$$H = H_A + V, \quad H_A = (-i\nabla - A)^2$$
 (A.13)

acting on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with magnetic potential A and electric potential  $V = V_+ - V_-$ , where  $V_+ := \max(0, V)$  and  $V_- := \max(0, -V)$ .

**Lemma A.3.1.** Let H be as in (A.13). Assume that each component of A is in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , that  $V_+ \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and that  $V_-$  is  $-\Delta$  bounded with relative bound  $\delta < 1$ . Furthermore, let  $H^{\mathcal{U}}$  be the Dirichlet restriction of H to an arbitrary open set  $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  with finite volume  $|\mathcal{U}|$ . Then there exists a constant C, such that the  $n^{th}$  eigenvalue of  $H^{\mathcal{U}}$  satisfies

$$\lambda_n \ge \frac{2\pi(1-\delta)d}{e} \left(\frac{n}{|\mathcal{U}|}\right)^{2/d} - C \qquad \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{N}$$
(A.14)

Under these assumptions on the vector and scalar potential, H can be defined by the use of quadratic forms, see for instance Sect. 2 of [222]. The Dirichlet restriction  $H^{\mathcal{U}}$  to the set  $\mathcal{U}$  is defined in the same way. If A and  $V_{-}$  vanish, we have already used this way to define Schrödinger operators in Remark 2.2.3.

Proof. Since the Sobolev space with Dirichlet b.c.  $W_0^{1,2}(\mathcal{U})$  is a natural subset of  $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $V_-$  is also relatively form bounded w.r.t.  $-\Delta^{\mathcal{U}}$ , the Dirichlet Laplacian on  $\mathcal{U}$ , with relative bound  $\delta$ . The diamagnetic inequality, cf. [436], then implies that  $V_-$  is also relatively form bounded with respect to the Dirichlet restriction  $H_A^{\mathcal{U}}$  of  $H_A$  to  $\mathcal{U}$ . In other words, there exists a constant  $C \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$V_{-} \leq \delta H_{A}^{\mathcal{U}} + C$$

in the sense of quadratic forms. In particular, since  $V_+$  is non-negative,

$$H^{\mathcal{U}} \ge H^{\mathcal{U}}_A - V_- \ge (1 - \delta)H^{\mathcal{U}}_A - C$$

which implies the bound

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-2tH^{\mathcal{U}}}) \leq \mathrm{e}^{2tC} \operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-2t(1-\delta)H_A}) = \mathrm{e}^{2tC} \|\mathrm{e}^{-t(1-\delta)H_A}\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^2$$
$$= \mathrm{e}^{2tC} \iint_{\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{U}} |\mathrm{e}^{-t(1-\delta)H_A}(x,y)|^2 dx \, dy$$

where  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{HS}}$  denotes as before the Hilbert-Schmidt norm. Using once more the diamagnetic inequality for Schrödinger semigroups, e.g., [436, 222], one obtains the pointwise bound  $|\mathrm{e}^{-t(1-\delta)H_A}(x,y)| \leq \mathrm{e}^{t(1-\delta)\Delta^{\mathcal{U}}}(x,y)$ . In particular,

$$\|e^{-t(1-\delta)H_A}\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^2 \le \|e^{t(1-\delta)\Delta^{\mathcal{U}}}\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^2 = \mathrm{Tr}(e^{2t(1-\delta)\Delta^{\mathcal{U}}}) \le |\mathcal{U}| \left(8\pi t(1-\delta)\right)^{-d/2}$$

In the last line we used that by domain monotonicity the kernel of the Dirichlet semigroup  $e^{\beta\Delta^{\mathcal{U}}}$  on the diagonal is bounded by the heat kernel on the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , i.e.,

$$e^{\beta\Delta^{\mathcal{U}}}(x,x) \le e^{\beta\Delta}(x,x) = (4\pi\beta)^{-d/2}$$
 for all  $\beta > 0$  and  $x \in \mathcal{U}$ 

Thus

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\mathrm{e}^{-2tH^{\mathcal{U}}}) \le |\mathcal{U}| \left(8\pi t(1-\delta)\right)^{-d/2} \tag{A.15}$$

Let  $\mathcal{N}^{\mathcal{U}}(\lambda) := \#\{n \mid \lambda_n(H^{\mathcal{U}}) \leq \lambda\}$  be the number of eigenvalues of  $H^{\mathcal{U}}$  smaller or equal to  $\lambda$ . By Čebyšev's inequality and (A.15),

$$\mathcal{N}^{\mathcal{U}}(\lambda) \leq e^{2t\lambda} \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda} e^{2ts} d\mathcal{N}^{\mathcal{U}}(s) \leq e^{2t\lambda} \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-2tH^{\mathcal{U}}})$$
$$\leq |\mathcal{U}| \left(8\pi (1-\delta)\right)^{-d/2} t^{-d/2} e^{2t(\lambda+C)}$$

for arbitrary t > 0. The last expression is for  $t := \frac{d}{4(\lambda + C)}$  equal to

$$|\mathcal{U}| \left(\frac{e(\lambda+C)}{2\pi(1-\delta)d}\right)^{d/2}$$

This estimate implies together with  $n \leq \mathcal{N}^{\mathcal{U}}(\lambda_n)$  the lower bound

$$\lambda_n \ge \frac{2\pi(1-\delta)d}{e} \left(\frac{n}{|\mathcal{U}|}\right)^{2/d} - C$$

on the eigenvalues.

In the next theorem we consider a pair Schrödinger operators which obey slightly stronger assumptions regarding the negative part  $V_{-}$  of their scalar potential. More precisely, we assume that  $V_{-}$  is in the Kato class. A general discussion of the Kato-class can be found in [102]. For its relevance to the Feynman-Kac formula see, e.g., [12, 65, 438]. In particular,  $V_{-}$  is in the Katoclass, if it is in  $L^{p}_{\text{loc,unif}}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  for p = 1, if d = 1 and p > d/2, if  $d \geq 2$ , cf. Sect. 1.2. Under these hypotheses, one may define H via the corresponding quadratic form with core  $C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , similarly as in Remark 2.2.3. By the same method, one can define the Dirichlet restriction  $H^{l}$  of H to the cube  $\Lambda_{l} =$  $] - l/2, l/2[^{d}, l \geq 1.$ 

Let  $H_1$  be a Schrödinger operator of the form just described and let  $H_2 = H_1 + u$ . Assume that  $u = u_+ - u_-$  has compact support, that  $u_+ \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ 

and that  $u_{-}$  is in the Kato class. Our aim is to obtain an estimate on the singular values of  $V_{\text{eff}} := e^{-H_1} - e^{-H_2}$  and on the corresponding object in the finite volume case, namely  $V_{\text{eff}}^l := e^{-H_1^l} - e^{-H_2^l}$ .

**Theorem A.3.2.** There exists a constant c depending only on the dimension d, and a constant C depending on the Kato-class norms of  $u_-, V_-$  and on the diameter of the support of  $u_+$  such that the singular values of the operators  $V_{\text{eff}}$  and  $V_{\text{eff}}^l$  obey for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $l \geq 1$  the relations

$$\mu_n(V_{\text{eff}}) \le C \,\mathrm{e}^{-cn^{1/d}} \quad and \quad \mu_n(V_{\text{eff}}^l) \le C \,\mathrm{e}^{-cn^{1/d}}$$
(A.16)

- Remark A.3.3. (i) Note that the estimate (A.16) depends on the positive part of u only through supp u. Thus, for  $u = \kappa \tilde{u}$  where  $\tilde{u} \ge 0$  and  $\kappa$  is a non-negative coupling constant, the estimate is independent of the choice of  $\kappa$ .
- (ii) Actually, u may be taken to  $+\infty$  on its support. In this case  $H_2$  equals the restriction of  $H_1$  to  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \text{supp } u$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions, provided the boundary of supp u obeys some mild regularity conditions, see for instance [455].
- (iii) Similarly,  $H_1, H_2$  may be defined on a set strictly smaller than  $\mathbb{R}^d$ : Let  $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be open,  $H_A^{\mathcal{U}}$  the Dirichlet restriction of  $H_A$  on  $\mathcal{U}$ , and  $H_1 = H_A^{\mathcal{U}} + V$ ,  $H_2 = H_A^{\mathcal{U}} + V + u$  where V and u satisfy the same conditions as before. In this case  $H_j^l$  is the Dirichlet restriction of  $H_j, j = 1, 2$  to the set  $\Lambda_l \cap \mathcal{U}$ .

Remark A.3.4. The decay estimate in (A.16) is almost optimal with respect to the exponent. In [405] Raikov and Warzel analyse the perturbation of the free Schrödinger operator with a constant magnetic field in two dimensions, i.e. the Landau Hamiltonian, by a compactly supported potential. The results in [405] (and similarly those in [359]) show that for general magnetic Schrödinger operators one cannot obtain a faster decay than

$$\mu_n(V_{\text{eff}}) \le C \,\mathrm{e}^{-cn^{2/a}}$$

This is explained in some detail in the first Section of [218]. See also Remark A.4.2.

*Proof (of Theorem A.3.2).* We give the proof for  $V_{\text{eff}}$ , the adaption to  $V_{\text{eff}}^l$  requires only minor changes. We will use the symbols c and C for constants that vary from line to line; however, their dependence on  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  will always be as stated in the Theorem.

Without loss of generality, we can assume that the origin is contained in the support of u. We will estimate the  $n^{\text{th}}$  singular value by Dirichlet decoupling at an n-dependent radius R. To this end, let R be sufficiently large so that supp u is contained strictly inside the ball of radius R centred at the origin, which we will denote by  $B_R$ .

A.3 Singular Value Estimates 107

Let  $H_j^R$  (j = 1 or 2) be the Dirichlet restriction of  $H_j$  to the ball  $B_R$ , and let

$$A_R := e^{-H_2^R} - e^{-H_1^R}$$
 and  $D_R := V_{\text{eff}} - A_R.$  (A.17)

As any Kato-class potential is relatively form bounded with respect to the Laplacian with relative bound zero, we may apply Lemma A.3.1 to deduce that  $\mu_n(e^{-H_j^n}) \leq C \exp(-cn^{2/d}R^{-2})$  for both j = 1 and j = 2. Since  $A_R$  is the difference of two *non-negative* operators by the min-max theorem its singular values obey the same type of bound:

$$\mu_n(A_R) \le C \exp(-cn^{2/d}R^{-2})$$
 (A.18)

If  $D_n$  is bounded, then  $\mu_n(V_{\text{eff}}) \leq \mu_n(A_R) + ||D_n||$ . We now proceed to estimate the norm of  $D_n$  by using the Feynman-Kac-Itô formula for magnetic Schrödinger semigroups with Dirichlet boundary conditions, see [65, 436].

Let  $\mathbf{E}_x$  and  $\mathbf{P}_x$  denote the expectation and probability for a Brownian motion,  $b_t$  starting at x. Let  $\tau_R = \inf\{t > 0 | b_t \notin B_R\}$  denote the exit time from the ball  $B_R$  and set  $\tau_n := \tau_{R_n}$ . Then

$$(D_n f)(x) = \mathbf{E}_x \left[ e^{-iS_A(b)} \left( e^{-\int_0^1 (V+u)(b_s) ds} - e^{-\int_0^1 V(b_s) ds} \right) \chi_{\{\tau_n \le 1\}}(b) f(b_1) \right]$$

where  $S_A^t$  is real valued stochastic process corresponding to the purely magnetic part of the Schrödinger operator. Actually, for this representation one first chooses a suitable gauge, for instance divA = 0, and then uses gauge invariance for the general case, see [322].

By taking the modulus and using the triangle inequality, one sees that the magnetic vector potential can be eliminated:

$$|D_n f|(x) \le \mathbf{E}_x \left[ e^{-\int_0^1 V(b_s) ds} \left| e^{-\int_0^1 u(b_s) ds} - 1 \left| \chi_{\{\tau_n \le 1\}}(b) |f(b_1)| \right] \right]$$

Moreover, only Brownian paths which both visit supp u and leave  $B_{R_n}$  within one unit of time contribute to the expectation. Thus if  $\tau_u$  is the hitting time for supp u and  $\mathcal{B} = \{\tau_n \leq 1, \tau_u \leq 1\}$ , then

$$|D_n f|(x) \le \mathbf{E}_x \left[ e^{-\int_0^1 V(b_s) ds} \left| e^{-\int_0^1 u(b_s) ds} - 1 \left| \chi_{\mathcal{B}}(b) | f(b_1) \right| \right]$$

so, applying Hölder's inequality,

$$|D_n f|(x) \le \left(\mathbf{E}_x \left[e^{-8\int_0^1 V(b_s)ds}\right]\right)^{1/8} \left(\mathbf{E}_x \left[\left|e^{-\int_0^1 u(b_s)ds} - 1\right|^8\right)^{1/8} \cdot \left(\mathbf{E}_x \left[\chi_{\mathcal{B}}(b)\right]\right)^{1/4} \left(\mathbf{E}_x \left[|f(b_1)|^2\right]\right)^{1/2}\right)^{1/2}$$

Since  $V_{-}$  and  $u_{-}$  are in the Kato class, Kashminskii's lemma implies that the first two terms are bounded uniformly in x, see for instance [12, 438].

Levy's inequality combined with elementary estimates imply  $\mathbf{P}_{x=0}\{\tau_R \leq 1\} \leq 2\mathbf{P}_{x=0}\{|b_1| \geq R\} \leq Ce^{-R^2/4}$ . As any path in  $\mathcal{B}$  must cover the distance

r between supp u and the complement of the ball  $B_R$ , we can deduce that  $\mathbf{P}_x(\mathcal{B}) \leq C \mathrm{e}^{-r^2/4} \leq C \mathrm{e}^{-R^2/8}$  where we chose without loss of generality  $r \geq R/\sqrt{2}$ . Thus

$$|D_n f|(x) \le C e^{-R^2/32} \{ \mathbf{E}_x | f(b_1) |^2 \}^{1/2} = C e^{-R^2/32} \{ (e^{\Delta} | f |^2)(x) \}^{1/2}$$

in particular, using the fact that  $\mathbf{e}^\Delta$  is an  $L^1$  contraction,

$$\|D_n f\|_2 \le C e^{-R^2/32} \|(e^{\Delta} |f|^2)\|_1^{1/2} \le C e^{-R^2/32} \|f^2\|_1^{1/2} = C e^{-R^2/32} \|f\|_2$$

To balance the two bounds obtained for  $\mu_n(A_R)$  and  $||D_n||$  one chooses  $R_n := n^{1/2d}$ , which leads to (A.16).

## A.4 Bounds on the SSF for Schrödinger Operators

Let  $H_1, H_2$  be as in the last Section. Theorem A.3.2 implies in particular that  $V_{\text{eff}}$  and  $V_{\text{eff}}^l$  are trace class. Thus the SSF for the operator pair  $H_1, H_2$  is well defined by formula (A.11) with the choice  $g(x) = e^{-x}$ .

The explicit estimates obtained in Theorem A.3.2 for the singular values of Schrödinger semigroups differences together with the abstract results from Sect. A.1 allow us to infer the desired bounds on the SSF for a pair of Schrödinger operators. The results and the presentation in this section are taken from the paper [218] by Hundertmark, Killip, Nakamura, Stollmann and the author.

**Theorem A.4.1.** Let  $\xi$  be the spectral shift function for the pair  $H_1, H_2$  or  $H_1^l, H_2^l$ . There exists constants  $K_1, K_2$  depending only on d, diam supp  $u_+$  and the Kato class norms of  $V_-, u_-$ , such that for any bounded compactly supported function f,

$$\int f(\lambda) \,\xi(\lambda) \,d\lambda \le K_1 \mathrm{e}^b + K_2 \,\{\log(1 + \|f\|_\infty)\}^d \|f\|_1 \tag{A.19}$$

with  $b = \sup \operatorname{supp} f$ .

Remark A.4.2. (i) Theorem A.4.1 implies that the spectral shift function can have at most logarithmic local singularities. One might think that, at least for smooth compactly supported perturbations, the SSF should always be locally bounded. However, this is not the case. In the paper [405] already mentioned in Remark A.3.4, Raikov and Warzel consider the free Schrödinger operator with a constant magnetic field in dimension two. For a perturbation of this operator by a compactly supported potential they showed that the SSF diverges at each Landau level  $\lambda_q$  like

$$|\xi(\lambda_q + \lambda)| \sim \left(\frac{|\ln(\lambda)|}{\ln|\ln\lambda|}\right)^{d/2}$$
 as  $\lambda \downarrow 0$  (A.20)

See [359] for the generalisation to even dimensions.

(ii) An example without magnetic fields, where the SSF shows unexpected divergencies, was given by Kirsch in [246, 248]. Denote by  $\Delta^l$  the Laplace operator on the cube  $\Lambda_l$  with Dirichlet b.c. For  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $u: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ a non-negative, bounded function with compact support, which is not identically equal to zero, and a function  $a: [0, \infty[\rightarrow]0, \infty[$ , set  $\xi_l(\cdot) :=$  $\xi(\cdot, -\Delta^l, (-\Delta + a(l)u)^l)$ . Then  $\limsup_{l\to\infty} \xi_l(\lambda) = \infty$ , for any  $\lambda, a$  and uas above. This result relies on the high degeneracy of eigenvalues of the pure Dirichlet Laplacian on a cube. In this respect it is related to the example in Remark (i) with the Landau Hamiltonian which has infinitely degenerate eigenvalues. Kirsch shows that there is, however, a set of full measure  $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathbb{R}$  with dense complement such that

$$\lim_{N \ni l \to \infty} \xi_l(\lambda) = 0, \text{ for all } \lambda \in \mathcal{E}, \text{ if } a(l) \le l^{-k}, k > 3$$

- (iii) In contrast to the above unboundedness results, Sobolev, [449] showed that for the pair  $H_1 = -\Delta$  and  $H_2 = -\Delta + u$  with  $|u(x)| \leq const.$   $(1 + |x|)^{-\alpha}$  and  $\alpha > d$ , the spectral shift function  $\xi$  is, indeed, locally bounded. However, this type of result seems to require very strong hypotheses on  $H_1$ , for example, a trace-class limiting absorption principle and in particular, that  $H_1$  has absolutely continuous spectrum on the positive real axis.
- (iv) For certain alloy type Schrödinger operators Combes, Hislop and Klopp obtain in Theorem 2.1 of [92] a local boundedness result for an associated *averaged* SSF.

*Proof (of Theorem A.4.1).* Let the two Schrödinger operators  $H_2 = H_1 + u$  be as in the statement of the Theorem.

For t > 0 define  $F_t : [0, \infty] \to [0, \infty]$  by

$$F_t(x) = \int_0^x (\exp(ty^{1/d}) - 1) \, dy \tag{A.21}$$

As the integrand is increasing,  $F_t$  is a convex function. We show first that there exists a constant  $K_1$ , depending on t, such that for small enough t > 0,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{T} F_t(|\xi(\lambda)|) \, d\lambda \le K_1 \mathrm{e}^T < \infty \tag{A.22}$$

for all  $T < \infty$ . To see this, we use the invariance principle and a change of variables, to obtain

$$\int_{-\infty}^{T} F(|\xi(\lambda, H_2, H_1)|) d\lambda = \int_{-\infty}^{T} F(|\xi(e^{-\lambda}, e^{-H_2}, e^{-H_1})|) d\lambda$$
$$\leq e^T \int_{e^{-T}}^{\infty} F(|\xi(s, e^{-H_2}, e^{-H_1})|) ds$$

By Theorem A.1.2 the integral on the right hand side is bounded by

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(|\xi(s, e^{-H_2}, e^{-H_1})|) \, ds \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_n(V_{\text{eff}})(F(n) - F(n-1))$$
$$\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_n(V_{\text{eff}}) \int_{n-1}^n (e^{ts^{1/d}} - 1) \, ds \leq C \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{(t-c)n^{1/d}}$$

which is finite, if we chose t smaller than the constant c from Theorem A.3.2. Thus we have proven (A.22).

Now we deduce the bound (A.19) from (A.22) with the help of Young's inequality for an appropriate pair of functions. Note that  $F_t$  is non-negative, convex with  $F'_t(0) = 0$  and hence its Legendre transform G is well defined and satisfies

$$G(y) := \sup_{x \ge 0} \{xy - F(x)\} \le y \left(\frac{\log(1+y)}{t}\right)^d \text{ for all } y \ge 0$$

Thus, by the very definition of G, Young's inequality holds:  $yx \leq F(x) + G(y)$ . So, with  $b = \sup \operatorname{supp} f$ ,

$$\int f(\lambda)\xi(\lambda) \, d\lambda \le \int_{-\infty}^{b} F(|\xi(\lambda)|) \, d\lambda + \int G(|f(\lambda)|) \, d\lambda \tag{A.23}$$

Using the estimate (A.22), the first integral is bounded by  $K_1e^b$ . For the second integral in (A.23), we estimate

$$\int G(|f(\lambda)|) \, d\lambda \le \int |f(\lambda)| \Big(\frac{\log(1+|f(\lambda)|)}{t}\Big)^d \, d\lambda \le t^{-d} |\log(1+\|f\|_{\infty})|^d \, \|f\|_1$$

This finishes the proof of Theorem A.4.1.

To apply Theorem A.4.1 in the situation of Sect. 4.2, we take 
$$f$$
 to be the the derivative of a smooth, monotone switch function  $\rho_{E,\varepsilon} \colon \mathbb{R} \to [-1,0]$ . By a switch function we mean that for a positive  $\varepsilon \leq 1/2$  it has the following properties:  $\rho_{E,\varepsilon} \equiv -1$  on  $] -\infty, E - \varepsilon], \rho_{E,\varepsilon} \equiv 0$  on  $[E + \varepsilon, \infty[$  and  $\|\rho'_{E,\varepsilon}\|_{\infty} \leq 1/\varepsilon$ , similarly as in Sect. 4.1. Theorem A.4.1 and the Krein trace formula (A.1) imply

**Corollary A.4.3.** Let  $H_1, H_2$  and  $\rho_{E,\varepsilon}$  be as above. There is a constant  $C_E$  depending only on E, d, diam supp  $u_+$  and the Kato class norms of  $V_-, u_-$ , such that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho_{E,\varepsilon}(H_2) - \rho_{E,\varepsilon}(H_1)\right] \le C_E \left|\log\varepsilon\right|^d \tag{A.24}$$

The function  $E \mapsto C_E$  is monotone and continuous.

The estimate (A.24) improves upon a bound derived by Combes, Hislop and Nakamura in [97]. They prove that for any exponent  $\alpha < 1$ , there is a constant  $\tilde{C}_E(\alpha)$  depending only on d,  $C_0$ , diam supp u,  $E + \varepsilon$  and  $\alpha$  such that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho_{E,\varepsilon}(H_2) - \rho_{E,\varepsilon}(H_1)\right] \le \tilde{C}_E(\alpha) \ \varepsilon^{-\alpha} \tag{A.25}$$

Remark A.4.4. In the context of random Schrödinger operators  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  appear as particular members of a random family  $\{H_{\omega}\}_{\omega}$ . If two configurations  $\omega, \omega' \in \Omega$  differ only in one coordinate  $\omega_j \neq \omega'_j$  and coincide in all the others, i.e.  $\omega_k = \omega'_k$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \{j\}$ , then the pair  $H_1 = H_{\omega}$ ,  $H_2 = H_{\omega'}$  differs only by a single site potential. If this is compactly supported, the pair  $H_1, H_2$  fits in the framework considered in this and the preceding sections.

Specialising further, one is often interested in the case that on the lattice site  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  one of the operators, say  $H_1$ , has a coupling constant taking the lowest possible value, i.e.

$$\omega_j = \omega_- = \inf \operatorname{supp} \mu$$

where  $\mu$  denotes as before the distribution of  $\omega_j$ , and the other operator  $H_2$  has at this site a coupling constant with the largest possible value, i.e.

$$\omega_j' = \omega_+ = \operatorname{sup}\operatorname{supp}\mu$$

Let  $\Lambda_l \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a cube such that  $j \in \Lambda_l^+$ . Then we can write the two operators  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  as

$$H_{1} = H_{\omega}^{l}(\omega_{j} = \min) := H_{\omega}^{l} + (\omega_{-} - \omega_{j}) u(\cdot - j)$$

$$H_{2} = H_{\omega}^{l}(\omega_{j} = \max) := H_{\omega}^{l} + (\omega_{+} - \omega_{j}) u(\cdot - j)$$
(A.26)

and consequently the difference  $H_2 - H_1 = (\omega_+ - \omega_-) u(\cdot - j)$  is a compactly supported potential. Note that in the formulae (A.26) it is possible to express the two operators  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  using only one of the two configurations  $\omega$ and  $\omega'$ .

The upshot of this considerations is that the trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho[H^{l}_{\omega}(\omega, j = \max) - E] - \rho[H^{l}_{\omega}(\omega, j = \min) - E]\right]$$
(A.27)

can be estimated by Corollary A.4.3. It is precisely for such a pair of operators that this corollary is used in the proof of Theorem 4.2.4.

- T. Adachi. A note on the Følner condition for amenability. Nagoya Math. J., 131:67–74, 1993.
- T. Adachi and T. Sunada. Density of states in spectral geometry. Comment. Math. Helv., 68(3):480-493, 1993.
- S. Agmon. Lectures on exponential decay of solutions of second-order elliptic equations: bounds on eigenfunctions of N-body Schrödinger operators. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1982.
- M. Aizenman. Localization at weak disorder: some elementary bounds. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 6(5A):1163–1182, 1994.
- M. Aizenman. Localization at weak disorder: some elementary bounds. In *The state of matter (Copenhagen, 1992)*, volume 20 of *Adv. Ser. Math. Phys.*, pages 367–395. World Sci. Publishing, River Edge, NJ, 1994.
- M. Aizenman, A. Elgart, S. Naboko, J. H. Schenker, and G. Stolz. Moment analysis for localization in random Schrödinger operators. *Invent. Math.*, 163(2):343–413, 2006. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/03-377.
- M. Aizenman and G. M. Graf. Localization bounds for an electron gas. J. Phys. A, 31(32):6783–6806, 1998. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/97-540.
- M. Aizenman, H. Kesten, and C. M. Newman. Uniqueness of the infinite cluster and continuity of connectivity functions for short and long range percolation. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 111(4):505–531, 1987.
- M. Aizenman and S. Molchanov. Localization at large disorder and at extreme energies: an elementary derivation. Comm. Math. Phys., 157(2):245–278, 1993.
- M. Aizenman, J. H. Schenker, R. M. Friedrich, and D. Hundertmark. Constructive fractional-moment criteria for localization in random operators. *Phys. A*, 279(1-4):369–377, 2000.
- M. Aizenman, J. H. Schenker, R. M. Friedrich, and D. Hundertmark. Finitevolume fractional-moment criteria for Anderson localization. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 224(1):219–253, 2001.
- M. Aizenman and B. Simon. Brownian motion and Harnack inequality for Schrödinger operators. *Commun. Pure Appl. Math.*, 35:209–273, 1982.
- M. Aizenman, R. Sims, and S. Warzel. Absolutely continuous spectra of quantum tree graphs with weak disorder. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 264:371, 2006. doi:10.1007/s00220-005-1468-5.

- M. Aizenman, R. Sims, and S. Warzel. Fluctuation-based proof of the stability of ac spectra of random operators on tree graphs. In *Quantum graphs and their applications*, volume 415 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 1–14. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2006.
- M. Aizenman, R. Sims, and S. Warzel. Fluctuation based proof of the stability of ac spectra of random operators on tree graphs. In *Recent advances in differential equations and mathematical physics*, volume 412 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 1–14. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2006.
- M. Aizenman and S. Sims, R.and Warzel. Stability of the absolutely continuous spectrum of random Schrödinger operators on tree graphs. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 136(3):363–394, 2006.
- M. A. Akcoglu and U. Krengel. Ergodic theorems for superadditive processes. J. Reine Angew. Math., 323:53–67, 1981.
- N. I. Akhiezer and I. M. Glazman. Theory of linear operators in Hilbert space. Vol. I, volume 9 of Monographs and Studies in Mathematics. Pitman, Boston, Mass., 1981.
- N. I. Akhiezer and I. M. Glazman. Theory of linear operators in Hilbert space. Vol. II, volume 10 of Monographs and Studies in Mathematics. Pitman, Boston, Mass., 1981.
- P. Anderson. Absence of diffusion in certain random lattices. *Phys. Rev.*, 109:1492, 1958.
- K. Ando, A. Iwatsuka, M. Kaminaga, and F. Nakano. The spectrum of Schrödinger operators with Poisson type random potential. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 7(1):145–160, 2006.
- C. Anné. Spectre du laplacien et écrasement d'anses. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 20(2):271–280, 1987.
- P. Antal. Enlargement of obstacles for the simple random walk. Ann. Probab., 23(3):1061–1101, 1995.
- T. Antunović and I. Veselić. Equality of Lifshitz and van Hove exponents on amenable Cayley graphs. http://www.arxiv.org/abs/0706.2844.
- 25. T. Antunović and I. Veselić. Spectral asymptotics of percolation Hamiltonians on amenable Cayley graphs. Accepted for publication in the proceedings of OTAMP 2006 in the series *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications*.
- F. Aribaud. Un théorème ergodique pour les espaces L<sup>1</sup>. J. Functional Analysis, 5:395–411, 1970.
- 27. N. Aronszajn. On a problem of Weyl in the theory of singular Sturm-Liouville equations. Amer. J. Math., 79:597–610, 1957.
- N. Aronszajn and W. F. Donoghue. On exponential representations of analytic functions in the upper half-plane with positive imaginary part. J. Analyse Math., 5:321–388, 1957.
- N. Aronszajn and W. F. Donoghue. A supplement to the paper on exponential representations of analytic functions in the upper half-plane with positive imaginary part. J. Analyse Math., 12:113–127, 1964.
- M. F. Atiyah. Elliptic operators, discrete groups and von Neumann algebras. In *Colloque "Analyse et Topologie" en l'Honneur de Henri Cartan (Orsay, 1974)*, pages 43–72. Astérisque, No. 32–33. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1976.
- A. Avila and R. Krikorian. Reducibility or nonuniform hyperbolicity for quasiperiodic Schrödinger cocycles. Ann. of Math. (2), 164(3):911–940, 2006.
- J. Avron and B. Simon. Almost periodic Schrödinger operators. II. The integrated density of states. Duke Math. J., 50(1):369–391, 1983.

- J.-M. Barbaroux, J.-M. Combes, and P. D. Hislop. Landau Hamiltonians with unbounded random potentials. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 40(4):355–369, 1997.
- J.-M. Barbaroux, J.-M. Combes, and P. D. Hislop. Localization near band edges for random Schrödinger operators. *Helv. Phys. Acta*, 70(1-2):16–43, 1997.
- 35. R. F. Bass. Probabalistic Techniques in Analysis. Springer, New York, 1995.
- G. Baxter. A norm inequality for a "finite-section" Wiener-Hopf equation. Illinois J. Math., 7:97–103, 1963.
- 37. J. Bellissard. Gap labelling theorems for Schrödinger operators. In M. Waldschmidt, P. Moussa, J. M. Luck, and C. Itzykson., editors, *From number theory to physics (Les Houches, 1989)*, pages 538–630, Berlin, 1992. Springer. Number Theory and Physics, meeting at Les Houches (France), March 7-16, 1989.
- J. Bellissard, R. Benedetti, and J.-M. Gambaudo. Spaces of tilings, finite telescopic approximations and gap-labeling. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 261(1):1–41, 2006.
- J. Bellissard, J. Kellendonk, and A. Legrand. Gap-labelling for threedimensional aperiodic solids. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 332(6): 521–525, 2001.
- J. Bellissard, R. Lima, and D. Testard. Almost periodic Schrödinger operators. In *Mathematics + physics. Vol. 1*, pages 1–64. World Sci. Publishing, Singapore, 1985.
- J. Bellissard, A. van Elst, and H. Schulz-Baldes. The noncommutative geometry of the quantum Hall effect. J. Math. Phys., 35(10):5373–5451, 1994.
- M.-T. Benameur and H. Oyono-Oyono. Gap-labelling for quasi-crystals (proving a conjecture by J. Bellissard). In Operator algebras and mathematical physics (Constanța, 2001), pages 11–22. Theta, Bucharest, 2003.
- 43. M. Benderskii and L. Pastur. On the spectrum of the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation with a random potential. *Math. USSR Sb.*, 11:245, 1970.
- 44. A. Beurling and J. Deny. Espaces de Dirichlet. I. Le cas élémentaire. Acta Math., 99:203–224, 1958.
- 45. A. Beurling and J. Deny. Dirichlet spaces. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 45:208–215, 1959.
- M. Š. Birman and M. Z. Solomjak. Estimates for the singular numbers of integral operators. Uspehi Mat. Nauk, 32(1(193)):17-84, 271, 1977. [English transl.: Russ. Math. Surv. 32(1): 15-89, 1977].
- 47. M. S. Birman and M. Z. Solomjak. Spectral theory of selfadjoint operators in Hilbert space. Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series). D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht, 1987.
- M. Š. Birman and M. Solomyak. Spectral theory of self-adjoint operators in Hilbert space. Mathematics and Its Applications. Soviet Series. 5. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1987. [Russian original: Leningrad. Univ., Leningrad, 1980].
- M. Š. Birman and T. A. Suslina. A periodic magnetic Hamiltonian with a variable metric. The problem of absolute continuity. *Algebra i Analiz*, 11(2):1– 40, 1999.
- M. Š. Birman and D. Yafaev. The spectral shift function. The work of M.G. Krein and its further development. St. Petersburg Math. J., 4:833–870, 1993.
- R. L. Bishop and R. J. Crittenden. *Geometry of manifolds*. AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2001.

- M. Biskup and W. König. Long-time tails in the parabolic Anderson model with bounded potential. Ann. Probab., 29(2):636–682, 2001.
- V. Bonch-Bruevich, R. Enderlein, B. Esser, R. Keiper, A. Mirnov, and I. Zyvagin. *Elektronentheorie ungeordneter Halbleiter*. VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, 1984. [Russian original: Izdat. "Nauka", Moscow, 1981].
- A. Böttcher and S. M. Grudsky. Estimates for the condition numbers of large semi-definite Toeplitz matrices. Preprint No. 97-13, TU Chemnitz, 1997, http://www.mathematik.tu-chemnitz.de/preprint/1997/.
- 55. A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann. Analysis of Toeplitz Operators. Springer, 1990.
- 56. A. Böttcher and B. Silbermann. Introduction to large truncated Toeplitz matrices. Springer, 1999.
- J.-M. Bouclet, F. Germinet, A. Klein, and J. H. Schenker. Linear response theory for magnetic Schrödinger operators in disordered media. J. Funct. Anal., 226(2):301–372, 2005. http://www.arxiv.org/math-ph/0408028.
- J. Bourgain and S. Jitomirskaya. Absolutely continuous spectrum for 1D quasiperiodic operators. *Invent. Math.*, 148(3):453–463, 2002.
- J. Bourgain and C. E. Kenig. On localization in the continuous Anderson-Bernoulli model in higher dimension. *Invent. Math.*, 161(2):389–426, 2005.
- A. Boutet de Monvel, S. Naboko, P. Stollmann, and G. Stolz. Localization near fluctuation boundaries via fractional moments and applications. J. Anal. Math., 100:83–116, 2006.
- A. Boutet de Monvel and P. Stollmann. Dynamical localization for continuum random surface models. Arch. Math. (Basel), 80(1):87–97, 2003.
- M. Braverman, A. Carey, M. Farber, and V. Mathai. L<sup>2</sup> torsion without the determinant class condition and extended L<sup>2</sup> cohomology. Commun. Contemp. Math., 7(4):421–462, 2005.
- P. Briet and G. Raikov. The integrated density of states in strong magnetic fields. J. Funct. Anal., 237(2):540–564, 2006.
- K. Broderix, D. Hundertmark, W. Kirsch, and H. Leschke. The fate of Lifshits tails in magnetic fields. J. Statist. Phys., 80(1-2):1–22, 1995.
- K. Broderix, D. Hundertmark, and H. Leschke. Continuity properties of Schrödinger semigroups with magnetic fields. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 12(2):181– 225, 2000.
- K. Broderix, H. Leschke, and P. Müller. Continuous integral kernels for unbounded Schrödinger semigroups and their spectral projections. J. Funct. Anal., 212(2):287–323, 2004. http://www.arXiv.org/math-ph/0209020.
- V. Bruneau, A. Pushnitski, and G. Raikov. Spectral shift function in strong magnetic fields. *Algebra i Analiz*, 16(1):207–238, 2004.
- V. Bruneau and G. D. Raikov. High energy asymptotics of the magnetic spectral shift function. J. Math. Phys., 45(9):3453–3461, 2004.
- J. Brüning and T. Sunada. On the spectrum of gauge-periodic elliptic operators. Astérisque, (210):6, 65–74, 1992. Méthodes semi-classiques, Vol. 2 (Nantes, 1991).
- J. Brüning and T. Sunada. On the spectrum of periodic elliptic operators. Nagoya Math. J., 126:159–171, 1992.
- D. Burghelea, L. Friedlander, and T. Kappeler. Relative torsion. Commun. Contemp. Math., 3(1):15–85, 2001.
- F. E. Burstall. Basic Riemannian geometry. In Spectral theory and geometry (Edinburgh, 1998), volume 273 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 1–29. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1999.

- D. Buschmann. A proof of the Ishii-Pastur theorem by the method of subordinacy. Univ. Iagel. Acta Math., (34):29–34, 1997.
- 74. D. Buschmann and G. Stolz. Two-parameter spectral averaging and localization for non-monotonic random Schrödinger operators. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 353(2):635–653 (electronic), 2001. Preprint No.: 98-617 http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/.
- A. Carey, M. Farber, and V. Mathai. Determinant lines, von Neumann algebras and L<sup>2</sup> torsion. J. Reine Angew. Math., 484:153–181, 1997.
- 76. A. Carey, M. Farber, and V. Mathai. Correspondences, von Neumann algebras and holomorphic  $L^2$  torsion. *Canad. J. Math.*, 52(4):695–736, 2000.
- 77. A. L. Carey and V. Mathai. L<sup>2</sup>-torsion invariants. J. Funct. Anal., 110(2):377–409, 1992.
- R. Carmona. Exponential localization in one dimensional disordered systems. Duke Math. J., 49:191–213, 1982.
- R. Carmona. One-dimensional Schrödinger operators with random or deterministic potentials: New spectral types. J. Functional Anal., 51:229–258, 1983.
- R. Carmona, A. Klein, and F. Martinelli. Anderson localization for Bernoulli and other singular potentials. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 108:41–66, 1987.
- R. Carmona and J. Lacroix. Spectral Theory of Random Schrödinger Operators. Birkhäuser, Boston, 1990.
- A. Chahrour. Densité intégrée d'états surfaciques et fonction généralisée de déplacement spectral pour un opérateur de Schrödinger surfacique ergodique. *Helv. Phys. Acta*, 72(2):93–122, 1999.
- A. Chahrour. On the spectrum of the Schrödinger operator with periodic surface potential. Lett. Math. Phys., 52(3):197–209, 2000.
- 84. I. Chavel. Eigenvalues in Riemannian Geometry. Academic, New York, 1984.
- I. Chavel and E. A. Feldman. Spectra of manifolds with small handles. Comment. Math. Helv., 56(1):83–102, 1981.
- J. T. Chayes, L. Chayes, J. R. Franz, J. P. Sethna, and S. A. Trugman. On the density of states for the quantum percolation problem. *J. Phys. A*, 19(18):L1173–L1177, 1986.
- B. Clair. Residual amenability and the approximation of L<sup>2</sup>-invariants. Michigan Math. J., 46(2):331–346, 1999.
- J. Combes and L. Thomas. Asymptotic behaviour of eigenfunctions for multiparticle Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys., 34:251–270, 1973.
- J.-M. Combes and P. Hislop. Localization for some continuous, random Hamiltionians in d-dimensions. J. Funct. Anal., 124:149–180, 1994.
- 90. J.-M. Combes and P. D. Hislop. Localization for 2-dimensional random Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields. In *Partial differential operators* and mathematical physics (Holzhau, 1994), volume 78 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pages 61–76. Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995.
- J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, and F. Klopp. An optimal Wegner estimate and its application to the global continuity of the integrated density of states for random Schrödinger operators. http://arxiv.org/abs/math-ph/0605029.
- J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, and F. Klopp. Some new estimates on the spectral shift function associated with random Schrödinger operators. http://arxiv.org/abs/math-ph/0605030.
- J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, and F. Klopp. Hölder continuity of the integrated density of states for some random operators at all energies. *Int. Math. Res. Not.*, (4):179–209, 2003.

- 94. J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, F. Klopp, and S. Nakamura. The Wegner estimate and the integrated density of states for some random operators. *Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci.*, 112(1):31–53, 2002. www.ias.ac.in/mathsci/.
- 95. J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, F. Klopp, and G. Raikov. Global continuity of the integrated density of states for random Landau Hamiltonians. *Commun. Part. Diff Eqns.*, 29:1187–1214, 2004. preprint 03-272 on www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/, 2003.
- 96. J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, and E. Mourre. Correlated Wegner inequalities for random Schrödinger operators. In Advances in differential equations and mathematical physics (Atlanta, 1997), pages 191–203. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1998.
- 97. J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, and S. Nakamura. The L<sup>p</sup>-theory of the spectral shift function, the Wegner estimate, and the integrated density of states for some random Schrödinger operators. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 70(218):113–130, 2001.
- J.-M. Combes, P. D. Hislop, and A. Tip. Band edge localization and the density of states for acoustic and electromagnetic waves in random media. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor., 70(4):381–428, 1999.
- W. Craig and B. Simon. Log Hölder continuity of the integrated density of states for stochastic Jacobi matrices. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 90:207–218, 1983.
- 100. W. Craig and B. Simon. Subharmonicity of the Lyaponov index. Duke Math. J., 50:551–560, 1983.
- 101. M. Cwikel. Weak type estimates for singular values and the number of bound states of Schrödinger operators. Ann. Math. (2), 106(1):93–100, 1977.
- 102. H. L. Cycon, R. G. Froese, W. Kirsch, and B. Simon. Schrödinger Operators with Application to Quantum Mechanics and Global Geometry. Text and Monographs in Physics. Springer, Berlin, 1987.
- 103. X. Dai and H. Fang. Analytic torsion and R-torsion for manifolds with boundary. Asian J. Math., 4(3):695–714, 2000.
- 104. D. Damanik, R. Sims, and G. Stolz. Localization for one-dimensional, continuum, Bernoulli-Anderson models. *Duke Math. J.*, 114(1):59–100, 2002. preprint No.: 00-404 , www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/.
- 105. D. Damanik, R. Sims, and G. Stolz. Lyapunov exponents in continuum Bernoulli-Anderson models. In Operator methods in ordinary and partial differential equations (Stockholm, 2000), volume 132 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pages 121–130. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2002.
- D. Damanik, R. Sims, and G. Stolz. Localization for discrete one-dimensional random word models. J. Funct. Anal., 208(2):423–445, 2004.
- 107. D. Damanik and P. Stollmann. Multi-scale analysis implies strong dynamical localization. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 11(1):11–29, 2001. http://www.ma. utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/99/99-461.ps.gz.
- E. B. Davies. *Heat kernels and spectral theory*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1989.
- E. B. Davies. Spectral properties of compact manifolds and changes of metric. Amer. J. Math., 112(1):15–39, 1990.
- 110. E. B. Davies. The functional calculus. J. London Math. Soc., 52:166–176, 1995.
- S. De Bièvre and F. Germinet. Dynamical localization for the random dimer Schrödinger operator. J. Statist. Phys., 98(5-6):1135–1148, 2000.
- P.-G. de Gennes, P. Lafore, and J. Millot. Amas accidentels dans les solutions solides désordonnées. J. of Phys. and Chem. of Solids, 11(1-2):105-110, 1959.

- 113. P.-G. de Gennes, P. Lafore, and J. Millot. Sur un phénomène de propagation dans un milieu désordonné. J. Phys. Rad., 20:624, 1959.
- 114. P. Deift and B. Simon. Almost periodic Schrödinger operators. III. The absolutely continuous spectrum in one dimension. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 90(3):389–411, 1983.
- 115. F. Delyon, Y. Lévy, and B. Souillard. Anderson localization for multidimensional systems at large disorder or large energy. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 100(4):463–470, 1985.
- F. Delyon and B. Souillard. Remark on the continuity of the density of states of ergodic finite-difference operators. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 94:289–291, 1984.
- 117. J. Dixmier. Les algèbres d'opérateurs dans l'espace hilbertien (algèbres de von Neumann). Gauthier-Villars Éditeur, Paris, 1969. Cahiers Scientifiques, Fasc. XXV.
- J. Dodziuk. de Rham-Hodge theory for L<sup>2</sup>-cohomology of infinite coverings. Topology, 16(2):157–165, 1977.
- J. Dodziuk. Maximum principle for parabolic inequalities and the heat flow on open manifolds. *Indiana University Mathematics Journal*, 32(5):704–716, 1983.
- 120. J. Dodziuk, N. Lenz, D. Peyerimhoff, T. Schick, and I. Veselić, editors. L<sup>2</sup>-Spectral Invariants and the Integrated Density of States, volume 3 of Oberwolfach Rep., 2006. http://www.mfo.de/programme/schedule/ 2006/08b/OWR\_2006\_09.pdf.
- J. Dodziuk, P. Linnell, V. Mathai, T. Schick, and S. Yates. Approximating L<sup>2</sup>invariants, and the Atiyah conjecture. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 56(7):839– 873, 2003.
- 122. J. Dodziuk and V. Mathai. Approximating L<sup>2</sup> invariants of amenable covering spaces: A heat kernel approach, volume 211 of Contemp. Math., pages 151–167. AMS, 1997.
- 123. J. Dodziuk and V. Mathai. Approximating L<sup>2</sup> invariants of amenable covering spaces: a combinatorial approach. J. Funct. Anal., 154(2):359–378, 1998.
- 124. J. Dodziuk, V. Mathai, and S. Yates. Approximating  $L^2$  torsion on amenable covering spaces. math.DG/0008211 on arxiv.org, see also [121].
- 125. S.-I. Doi, A. Iwatsuka, and T. Mine. The uniqueness of the integrated density of states for the Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields. *Math. Z.*, 237(2):335– 371, 2001.
- 126. H. Donnelly. On L<sup>2</sup>-Betti numbers for abelian groups. Canad. Math. Bull., 24(1):91–95, 1981.
- 127. W. F. Donoghue, Jr. On the perturbation of spectra. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 18:559–579, 1965.
- 128. M. D. Donsker and S. R. S. Varadhan. Asymptotics for the Wiener sausage. Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 28:525–565, 1975.
- 129. M. D. Donsker and S. R. S. Varadhan. On the number of distinct sites visited by a random walk. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 32(6):721–747, 1979.
- T. C. Dorlas, N. Macris, and J. V. Pulé. Localisation in a single-band approximation to random Schrödinger operators in a magnetic field. *Helv. Phys. Acta*, 68(4):329–364, 1995.
- 131. T. C. Dorlas, N. Macris, and J. V. Pulé. Localization in single Landau bands. J. Math. Phys., 37(4):1574–1595, 1996.

- 132. T. C. Dorlas, N. Macris, and J. V. Pulé. The nature of the spectrum for a Landau Hamiltonian with delta impurities. J. Statist. Phys., 87(3-4):847–875, 1997.
- 133. T. C. Dorlas, N. Macris, and J. V. Pulé. Characterization of the spectrum of the Landau Hamiltonian with delta impurities. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 204(2):367– 396, 1999.
- 134. R. G. Douglas and R. Howe. On the C\*-algebra of Toeplitz operators on the quarter-plane. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 158:203–217, 1971.
- 135. H. v. Dreifus. On the effect of randomness in ferromagnetic models and Schrödinger operators. PhD thesis, New York University, 1987.
- 136. H. v. Dreifus and A. Klein. A new proof of localization in the Anderson tight binding model. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 124(2):285–299, 1989.
- 137. J. Droese and W. Kirsch. The effect of boundary conditions on the density of states for random Schrödinger operators. *Stochastic Process. Appl.*, 23(1):169– 175, 1986.
- 138. P. Duclos and P. Exner. Curvature-induced bound states in quantum waveguides in two and three dimensions. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 7(1):73–102, 1995.
- P. Duclos, P. Exner, and D. Krejčiřík. Bound states in curved quantum layers. Comm. Math. Phys., 223(1):13–28, 2001.
- 140. N. Dunford and J. Schwartz. Linear Operators I. Interscience, New York, 1958.
- N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz. *Linear Operators Part II: Spectral Theory*. Wiley Interscience, New York, 1963.
- 142. N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz. *Linear operators. Part III: Spectral operators*. Interscience Publishers, New York-London-Sydney, 1971.
- K. Efetov. Supersymmetry in disorder and chaos. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- 144. D. V. Efremov and M. A. Shubin. Spectrum distribution function and variational principle for automorphic operators on hyperbolic space. In *Séminaire* sur les Équations aux Dérivées Partielles, 1988–1989, pages Exp. No. VIII, 19. École Polytech., Palaiseau, 1989.
- 145. A. L. Efros and B. I. Shklovski. *Electronic Properties of Doped Semi*conductors. Springer, Berlin, 1984.
- 146. P. Elbau and G. M. Graf. Equality of bulk and edge Hall conductance revisited. Comm. Math. Phys., 229(3):415–432, 2002.
- 147. G. Elek. Aperiodic order, integrated density of states and the continuous algebras of John von Neumann. http://www.arXiv.org/abs/math-ph/0606061.
- 148. G. Elek.  $L^2\mbox{-spectral invariants}$  and quasi-crystal graphs. http://www.arXiv. org/abs/math/0607198.
- L. H. Eliasson. Floquet solutions for the 1-dimensional quasi-periodic Schrödinger equation. Comm. Math. Phys., 146(3):447–482, 1992.
- K. D. Elworthy. Stochastic differential equations on manifolds, volume 70 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1982.
- W. Emerson and F. P. Greenleaf. Group structure and the pointwise ergodic theorem for connected amenable groups. *Advances in Mathematics*, 14:153– 172, 1974.
- 152. W. R. Emerson and F. P. Greenleaf. Covering properties and Følner conditions for locally compact groups. *Math. Z.*, 102:370–384, 1967.
- 153. H. Englisch, W. Kirsch, M. Schröder, and B. Simon. The density of surface states. *Phys. Rev. Letters*, 61:1261–1262, 1988.

- 154. H. Englisch, W. Kirsch, M. Schröder, and B. Simon. Random Hamiltonians ergodic in all but one direction. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 128:613–625, 1990.
- 155. L. Erdős. Lifschitz tail in a magnetic field: the nonclassical regime. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 112(3):321–371, 1998.
- 156. L. Erdős. Lifschitz tail in a magnetic field: coexistence of classical and quantum behavior in the borderline case. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 121(2):219–236, 2001.
- 157. P. Exner and P. Šeba. Bound states in curved quantum waveguides. J. Math. Phys., 30(11):2574–2580, 1989.
- 158. K. Fan. Maximum properties and inequalities for the eigenvalues of completely continuous operators. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.*, U. S. A., 37:760–766, 1951.
- M. Farber. Geometry of growth: approximation theorems for L<sup>2</sup> invariants. Math. Ann., 311(2):335–375, 1998.
- M. S. Farber. Homological algebra of Novikov-Shubin invariants and Morse inequalities. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 6(4):628–665, 1996.
- A. Fedotov and F. Klopp. Anderson transitions for a family of almost periodic Schrödinger equations in the adiabatic case. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 227(1):1–92, 2002.
- 162. A. Fedotov and F. Klopp. The spectral theory of adiabatic quasi-periodic operators on the real line. *Markov Process. Related Fields*, 9(4):579–614, 2003.
- 163. A. Fedotov and F. Klopp. On the absolutely continuous spectrum of onedimensional quasi-periodic Schrödinger operators in the adiabatic limit. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 357(11):4481–4516 (electronic), 2005. http://www.ma.utexas. edu/mp\_arc/c/01/01-224.ps.gz.
- 164. C. Fernández and G. Raikov. On the singularities of the magnetic spectral shift function at the Landau levels. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 5(2):381–403, 2004.
- 165. A. Figotin and A. Klein. Localization of classical waves. I. Acoustic waves. Comm. Math. Phys., 180(2):439–482, 1996.
- 166. A. Figotin and A. Klein. Localization of classical waves. II. Electromagnetic waves. Comm. Math. Phys., 184(2):411–441, 1997.
- 167. W. Fischer. Zur elektronischen Lokalisierung durch gaußsche zufällige Potentiale. PhD thesis, Naturwissenschaftliche Fakultäten der Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, 1996.
- 168. W. Fischer, T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, and P. Müller. Existence of the density of states for multi-dimensional continuum Schrödinger operators with Gaussian random potentials. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 190(1):133–141, 1997.
- 169. W. Fischer, H. Leschke, and P. Müller. Towards localisation by Gaussian random potentials in multi-dimensional continuous space. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 38(4):343–348, 1996.
- 170. W. Fischer, H. Leschke, and P. Müller. Spectral localization by Gaussian random potentials in multi-dimensional continuous space. J. Statist. Phys., 101(5-6):935–985, 2000.
- 171. R. L. Frank and O. Safronov. Absolutely continuous spectrum of a class of random nonergodic Schrödinger operators. Int. Math. Res. Not., (42):2559– 2577, 2005.
- 172. R. Froese, D. Hasler, and W. Spitzer. Absolutely continuous spectrum for the anderson model on a tree: a geometric proof of klein's theorem. http://arXiv.org/abs/math-ph/0511050.
- 173. R. Froese and I. Herbst. Realizing holonomic constraints in classical and quantum mechanics. Comm. Math. Phys., 220(3):489–535, 2001.

- 122 References
- 174. J. Fröhlich, G. M. Graf, and J. Walcher. On the extended nature of edge states of quantum Hall Hamiltonians. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 1(3):405–442, 2000.
- 175. J. Fröhlich, F. Martinelli, E. Scoppola, and T. Spencer. Constructive proof of localization in the Anderson tight binding model. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 101(1):21–46, 1985.
- 176. J. Fröhlich and T. Spencer. Absence of diffusion in the Anderson tight binding model for large disorder or low energy. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 88:151–184, 1983.
- 177. K. Fukaya. Collapsing of Riemannian manifolds and eigenvalues of Laplace operator. *Invent. Math.*, 87(3):517–547, 1987.
- 178. M. Fukushima. On the spectral distribution of a disordered system and the range of a random walk. Osaka Jour. Math., 11:73–85, 1974.
- 179. M. Fukushima. On asymptotics of spectra of Schrödinger operators. In Statistical and physical aspects of Gaussian processes (Saint-Flour, 1980), pages 335–347. CNRS, Paris, 1981.
- M. Fukushima, M. Nagai, and S. Nakao. On the asymptotic properties of spectra of a random difference operator. *Proc. Japan Acad.*, 51:100–102, 1975.
- 181. A. Gandolfi, G. Grimmett, and L. Russo. On the uniqueness of the infinite cluster in the percolation model. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 114(4):549–552, 1988.
- 182. R. Geisler, V. Kostrykin, and R. Schrader. Concavity properties of Kreĭn's spectral shift function. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 7(2):161–181, 1995.
- 183. F. Germinet and S. De Bièvre. Dynamical localization for discrete and continuous random Schrödinger operators. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 194(2):323–341, 1998.
- 184. F. Germinet, P. Hislop, and A. Klein. On localization for the Schrödinger operator with a Poisson random potential. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 341(8): 525–528, 2005.
- 185. F. Germinet, P. Hislop, and A. Klein. Localization for Schrödinger operators with Poisson random potential. J. Europ. Math. Soc., 9(3):577–607, 2007.
- 186. F. Germinet and A. Klein. Bootstrap multiscale analysis and localization in random media. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 222(2):415–448, 2001. http://www. ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/01/01-228.ps.gz.
- 187. F. Germinet and A. Klein. Explicit finite volume criteria for localization in continuous random media and applications. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 13(6):1201– 1238, 2003. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/02/02-375.ps.gz.
- 188. F. Germinet and A. Klein. High disorder localization for random Schrödinger operators through explicit finite volume criteria. *Markov Process. Related Fields*, 9(4):633–650, 2003. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/02/02-425.ps.gz.
- 189. F. Germinet and A. Klein. Operator kernel estimates for functions of generalized Schrödinger operators. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 131(3):911–920 (electronic), 2003. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/01/01-289.ps.gz.
- 190. F. Germinet and A. Klein. A characterization of the Anderson metal-insulator transport transition. *Duke Math. J.*, 124(2):309–350, 2004. http://www.ma. utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/01/01-486.pdf.
- 191. F. Germinet and A. Klein. New characterizations of the region of complete localization for random Schrödinger operators. J. Stat. Phys., 122(1):73–94, 2006.

- 192. F. Germinet, A. Klein, and J. H. Schenker. Dynamical delocalization in random landau hamiltonians. Ann. of Math., 166:215–244, 2007. http://arxiv.org/abs/ math-ph/0412070.
- 193. F. Gesztesy, K. A. Makarov, and A. K. Motovilov. Monotonicity and concavity properties of the spectral shift function. In *Stochastic processes, physics and* geometry: new interplays, II (Leipzig, 1999), volume 29 of CMS Conf. Proc., pages 207–222. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000.
- 194. E. Giere. Wegner estimate in one dimension for nonoverlapping single site potentials. www.math.tu-clausthal.de/~maeg/arbeiten/publications.html, 2002.
- 195. E. Giere. Spektrale Mittelung und lokale, spektrale Eigenschaften eindimensionaler, zufälliger Schrödinger Operatoren. PhD thesis, Fakultät für Mathematik, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, December 1998.
- D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger. *Elliptic partial differential equations of second order*. Springer, Berlin, 1983.
- 197. D. Gilbert. On subordinacy and analysis of Schrödinger operators with singular endpoints. Proc. Royal Soc. Edinburgh, 112A:213–229, 1989.
- 198. D. Gilbert and D. Pearson. On subordinacy and analysis of the spectrum of one-dimensional Schrödinger operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 128:30–56, 1987.
- 199. I. Gohberg and I. Feldman. Convolution Operators and Projection Methods for Their Solution. Amr. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1974. [Russian original: Izdat. "Nauka", Moscow, 1971].
- 200. I. Gohberg and M. Krein. Introduction to the Theory of Linear Nonselfadjoint Operators. American Math. Soc., Providence, Rhode Island, 1969. [Russian original: Izdat. "Nauka", Moskow, 1965].
- I. Y. Goldsheid. The structure of the spectrum of the Schrödinger random difference operator. Sov. Math. Dokl., 22:670–674, 1981.
- 202. I. Y. Goldsheid, S. A. Molčanov, and L. Pastur. A pure point spectrum of the stochastic one-dimensional Schrödinger operator. *Functional Anal. Appl.*, 11:1–10, 1977.
- 203. G.-M. Graf. Anderson localization and the space-time characteristic of continuum states. J. Stat. Phys., 75(1-2):337–346, 1994.
- 204. F. P. Greenleaf. Invariant means on topological groups and their applications. Van Nostrand Mathematical Studies, No. 16. Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., New York, 1969.
- 205. R. I. Grigorchuk, P. Linnell, T. Schick, and A. Żuk. On a question of Atiyah. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 331(9):663–668, 2000.
- 206. A. Grigor'yan. Stochastically complete manifolds. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 290(3):534–537, 1986. [English translation: Soviet Math. Dokl., 34 (1987) no. 2, 310–313].
- 207. G. Grimmett. Percolation, volume 321 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer, Berlin, 1999.
- 208. M. Gromov and M. A. Shubin. von Neumann spectra near zero. Geom. Funct. Anal., 1(4):375–404, 1991.
- 209. M. Gruber, D. Lenz, and I. Veselić. Uniform existence of the integrated density of states for random Schrödinger operators on metric graphs over Z<sup>d</sup>. http://arxiv.org/abs/math/0612743, to appear in J. Func. Anal.
- 210. M. Gruber and I. Veselić. The modulus of continuity of the ids for random Schrödinger operators on metric graphs. To appear in *Random Oper. Stochastic Equations*.

- B. Helffer and A. Mohamed. Asymptotic of the density of states for the Schrödinger operator with periodic electric potential. *Duke Math. J.*, 92(1):1– 60, 1998.
- 212. M. Helm and I. Veselić. A linear Wegner estimate for alloy type Schrödinger operators on metric graphs. http://www.arXiv.org/abs/math/0611609. To appear in J. Math. Phys.
- 213. P. D. Hislop and F. Klopp. The integrated density of states for some random operators with nonsign definite potentials. J. Funct. Anal., 195(1):12–47, 2002. www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc, preprint no. 01-139 (2001).
- 214. P. D. Hislop, F. Klopp, and J. H. Schenker. Continuity with respect to disorder of the integrated density of states. *Illinois J. Math.*, 49(3):893–904 (electronic), 2005.
- P. D. Hislop and P. Müller. A lower bound for the density of states of the lattice anderson model. http://www.arxiv.org/abs/0705.1707.
- P. D. Hislop and I. M. Sigal. Introduction to spectral theory. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996.
- 217. E. P. Hsu. Stochastic analysis on manifolds, volume 38 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002.
- 218. D. Hundertmark, R. Killip, S. Nakamura, P. Stollmann, and I. Veselić. Bounds on the spectral shift function and the density of states. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 262(2):489–503, 2006. http://arxiv.org/math-ph/0412078.
- 219. D. Hundertmark and W. Kirsch. Spectral theory of sparse potentials. In Stochastic processes, physics and geometry: new interplays, I (Leipzig, 1999), pages 213–238. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000.
- 220. D. Hundertmark, W. Kirsch, and S. Warzel. Classical magnetic Lifshits tails in three space dimensions: impurity potentials with slow anisotropic decay. Markov Process. Related Fields, 9(4):651–660, 2003. http://www.arxiv.org/ abs/math-ph/0212078, proceedings of the conference Aspects Mathématiques des Systèmes Aléatoires et de la Mécanique Statistique, May 2002, Marseille.
- 221. D. Hundertmark and B. Simon. An optimal L<sup>p</sup>-bound on the Krein spectral shift function. J. Anal. Math., 87:199–208, 2002. http://www.ma.utexas. edu/mp\_arc/c/00/00-370.ps.gz.
- 222. D. Hundertmark and B. Simon. A diamagnetic inequality for semigroup differences. J. Reine Angew. Math., 571:107–130, 2004.
- 223. T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, P. Müller, and S. Warzel. The absolute continuity of the integrated density of states for magnetic Schrödinger operators with certain unbounded random potentials. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 221(2):229–254, 2001.
- 224. T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, P. Müller, and S. Warzel. Existence and uniqueness of the integrated density of states for Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields and unbounded random potentials. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 13(12):1547–1581, 2001.
- 225. T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, and S. Warzel. Poissonian obstacles with Gaussian walls discriminate between classical and quantum Lifshits tailing in magnetic fields. J. Statist. Phys., 97(3-4):725–750, 1999.
- 226. T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, and S. Warzel. The multiformity of Lifshits tails caused by random Landau Hamiltonians with repulsive impurity potentials of different decay at infinity. In *Differential equations and mathematical physics* (*Birmingham, 1999*), volume 16 of *AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math.*, pages 233–247. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000.

- 227. T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, and S. Warzel. Upper bounds on the density of states of single Landau levels broadened by Gaussian random potentials. J. Math. Phys., 42(12):5626-5641, 2001.
- 228. M. Ismail and R. Zhang. On the Hellmann-Feynman theorem and the variation of zeros of certain special functions. *Adv. Appl. Math.*, 9:439–446, 1988.
- 229. V. Jakšić and Y. Last. Corrugated surfaces and a.c. spectrum. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 12(11):1465–1503, 2000.
- 230. V. Jakšić and Y. Last. Spectral structure of Anderson type Hamiltonians. Invent. Math., 141(3):561–577, 2000.
- 231. V. Jakšić and Y. Last. Surface states and spectra. Comm. Math. Phys., 218(3): 459–477, 2001.
- 232. V. Jakšić and Y. Last. Scattering from subspace potentials for Schrödinger operators on graphs. *Markov Process. Related Fields*, 9(4):661–674, 2003.
- V. Jakšić and Y. Last. Simplicity of singular spectrum in Anderson-type Hamiltonians. Duke Math. J., 133(1):185–204, 2006.
- 234. F. Jeske. Über lokale Positivität der Zustandsdichte zufälliger Schrödinger-Operatoren. Doctoral thesis, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, 44801 Bochum, 1992.
- S. Jitomirskaya, H. Schulz-Baldes, and G. Stolz. Delocalization in random polymer models. Comm. Math. Phys., 233(1):27–48, 2003.
- 236. R. Johnson and J. Moser. The rotation number for almost periodic potentials. Comm. Math. Phys., 84(3):403–438, 1982.
- 237. J. Kaminker and I. Putnam. A proof of the gap labeling conjecture. Michigan Math. J., 51(3):537–546, 2003.
- L. Karp and N. Peyerimhoff. Spectral gaps of Schrödinger operators on hyperbolic space. Math. Nachr., 217:105–124, 2000.
- 239. T. Kato. Perturbation theory for linear operators. Springer, Berlin, 1980.
- 240. J. Kellendonk. Noncommutative geometry of tilings and gap labelling. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 7(7):1133–1180, 1995.
- 241. J. Kellendonk, T. Richter, and H. Schulz-Baldes. Edge current channels and Chern numbers in the integer quantum Hall effect. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 14(1):87– 119, 2002.
- 242. H. Kesten. Percolation theory for mathematicians, volume 2 of Progress in Probability and Statistics. Birkhäuser, Boston, 1982.
- 243. R. Killip and F. Nakano. Eigenfunction statistics in the localized Anderson model. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 8(1):27–36, 2007. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/ mp\_arc/c/06/06-150.ps.gz.
- 244. S. Kirkpatrick and T. P. Eggarter. Localized states of a binary alloy. *Phys. Rev. B*, 6:3598, 1972.
- 245. W. Kirsch. Über Spektren stochastischer Schrödingeroperatoren. Doctoral thesis, Ruhr-Universität-Bochum, 1981.
- 246. W. Kirsch. Small perturbations and the eigenvalues of the Laplacian on large bounded domains. Proc. Am. Math. Soc., 101:509–512, 1987.
- 247. W. Kirsch. Random Schrödinger operators. In H. Holden and A. Jensen, editors, *Schrödinger Operators*, Lecture Notes in Physics, **345**, Berlin, 1989. Springer.
- 248. W. Kirsch. The stability of the density of states of Schrödinger operator under very small perturbations. *Integral Equations Operator Theory*, 12(3):383–391, 1989.
- W. Kirsch. Wegner estimates and Anderson localization for alloy-type potentials. Math. Z., 221:507–512, 1996.

- W. Kirsch. Scattering theory for sparse random potentials. Random Oper. Stochastic Equations, 10(4):329–334, 2002.
- 251. W. Kirsch and F. Klopp. The band-edge behavior of the density of surfacic states. Math. Phys. Anal. Geom., 8(4):315–360 (2006), 2005.
- 252. W. Kirsch, S.-I. Kotani, and B. Simon. Absence of absolutely continuous spectrum for some one-dimensional random but deterministic Schrödinger operators. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, 42:383–406, 1985.
- 253. W. Kirsch, M. Krishna, and J. Obermeit. Anderson model with decaying randomness: mobility edge. *Math. Z.*, 235(3):421–433, 2000.
- 254. W. Kirsch and F. Martinelli. On the density of states of Schrödinger operators with a random potential. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 15:2139–2156, 1982.
- 255. W. Kirsch and F. Martinelli. On the ergodic properties of the spectrum of general random operators. J. Reine Angew. Math., 334:141–156, 1982.
- 256. W. Kirsch and F. Martinelli. On the spectrum of Schrödinger operators with a random potential. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 85:329–350, 1982.
- 257. W. Kirsch and F. Martinelli. Large deviations and Lifshitz singularity of the integrated density of states of random Hamitonians. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 89:27–40, 1983.
- 258. W. Kirsch and F. Martinelli. On the essential selfadjointness of stochastic Schrödinger operators. Duke Math. J., 50:1255–1260, 1983.
- 259. W. Kirsch and B. Metzger. The integrated density of states for random Schrödinger operators. In Spectral Theory and Mathematical Physics, volume 76 of Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, pages 649–698. AMS, 2007.
- W. Kirsch and P. Müller. Spectral properties of the Laplacian on bondpercolation graphs. *Math. Zeit.*, 252(4):899–916, 2006. http://www.arXiv.org/ abs/math-ph/0407047.
- 261. W. Kirsch and G. D. Raikov. Strong magnetic field asymptotics of the integrated density of states for a random 3D Schrödinger operator. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 1(5):801–821, 2000.
- W. Kirsch and B. Simon. Lifshitz tails for periodic plus random potentials. J. Stat. Phys., 42:799–808, 1986.
- 263. W. Kirsch, P. Stollmann, and G. Stolz. Anderson localization for random Schrödinger operators with long range interactions. http://www.ma.utexas. edu/mp\_arc/e/97-72.latex, 1997.
- 264. W. Kirsch, P. Stollmann, and G. Stolz. Anderson localization for random Schrödinger operators with long range interactions. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 195(3):495–507, 1998.
- 265. W. Kirsch, P. Stollmann, and G. Stolz. Localization for random perturbations of periodic Schrödinger operators. *Random Oper. Stochastic Equations*, 6(3):241–268, 1998. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/96/96-648.ps.gz.
- W. Kirsch and I. Veselić. Lifschitz tails and localisation for Schrödinger operators with random breather-type potential. http://arxiv.org/math-ph/0609014.
- 267. W. Kirsch and I. Veselić. Existence of the density of states for one-dimensional alloy-type potentials with small support. In *Mathematical Results in Quan*tum Mechanics (Taxco, Mexico, 2001), volume 307 of Contemp. Math., pages 171–176. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2002. http://arxiv.org/abs/mathph/0204030.

- 268. W. Kirsch and I. Veselić. Wegner estimate for sparse and other generalized alloy type potentials. *Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci.*, 112(1):131–146, 2002. www.ias.ac.in/mathsci/, mp\_arc-bin/02-143.
- W. Kirsch and S. Warzel. Anderson localization and lifshits tails for random surface potentials. J. Funct. Anal., 230(1):222–250, 2006. http://arxiv.org/ abs/math-ph/0412079.
- 270. W. Kirsch and S. Warzel. Lifshits tails caused by anisotropic decay: the emergence of a quantum-classical regime. J. Funct. Anal., 230(1):222–250, 2006. http://www.arxiv.org/math-ph/0310033.
- 271. A. Kiselev, Y. Last, and B. Simon. Modified Prüfer and EFGP transforms and the spectral analysis of one-dimensional Schrödinger operators. 1998.
- 272. T. Kitano, T. Morifuji, and M. Takasawa. L<sup>2</sup>-torsion invariants of a surface bundle over S<sup>1</sup>. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 56(2):503–518, 2004.
- 273. S. Klassert, D. Lenz, and P. Stollmann. Discontinuities of the integrated density of states for random operators on Delone sets. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 241(2-3): 235–243, 2003. http://arXiv.org/math-ph/0208027.
- 274. F. Kleespies. *Geometrische Aspekte* der Spektraltheorie von Schrödingeroperatoren. PhD thesis, Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität, Frankfurt, 1999.
- 275. F. Kleespies and P. Stollmann. Lifshitz asymptotics and localization for random quantum waveguides. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 12(10):1345–1365, 2000.
- 276. A. Klein. Spreading of wave packets in the Anderson model on the Bethe lattice. Comm. Math. Phys., 177(3):755–773, 1996.
- 277. A. Klein. Extended states in the Anderson model on the Bethe lattice. Adv. Math., 133(1):163–184, 1998.
- 278. A. Klein and A. Koines. A general framework for localization of classical waves. II. Random media. *Math. Phys. Anal. Geom.*, 7(2):151–185, 2004. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/02/02-470.pdf.
- 279. A. Klein and S. Molchanov. Simplicity of eigenvalues in the Anderson model. J. Stat. Phys., 122(1):95–99, 2006.
- 280. F. Klopp. Localization for semiclassical continuous random Schrödinger operators II: The random displacement model. *Helv. Phys. Acta*, 66:810–841, 1993.
- 281. F. Klopp. Localisation pour des opérateurs de Schrödinger aléatoires dans  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ : un modéle semi-classique. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 45(1):265–316, 1995.
- F. Klopp. Localization for some continuous random Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys., 167:553–569, 1995.
- 283. F. Klopp. Internal Lifshits tails for random perturbations of periodic Schrödinger operators. Duke Math. J., 98(2):335–396, 1999.
- 284. F. Klopp. Precise high energy asymptotics for the integrated density of states of an unbounded random Jacobi matrix. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 12(4):575–620, 2000.
- 285. F. Klopp. Une remarque à propos des asymptotiques de Lifshitz internes. C.R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 335(1):87–92, 2002.
- 286. F. Klopp. Weak disorder localization and Lifshitz tails. Comm. Math. Phys., 232(1):125–155, 2002.
- F. Klopp. Weak disorder localization and Lifshitz tails: continuous Hamiltonians. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 3(4):711–737, 2002.
- F. Klopp and L. Pastur. Lifshitz tails for random Schrödinger operators with negative singular Poisson potential. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 206(1):57–103, 1999.

- 289. F. Klopp and G. Raikov. Lifshitz tails in constant magnetic fields. Comm. Math. Phys., 267(3):669–701, 2006.
- 290. F. Klopp and T. Wolff. Internal Lifshitz tails for random Schrödinger operators. In XIIIth International Congress on Mathematical Physics (London, 2000), pages 425–433. Int. Press, Boston, MA, 2001. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/ mp\_arc/c/00/00-390.ps.gz.
- 291. F. Klopp and T. Wolff. Lifshitz tails for 2-dimensional random Schrödinger operators. J. Anal. Math., 88:63–147, 2002. Dedicated to the memory of Tom Wolff.
- 292. T. Kobayashi, K. Ono, and T. Sunada. Periodic Schrödinger operators on a manifold. *Forum Math.*, 1(1):69–79, 1989.
- 293. V. Kostrykin. The spectral shift function and its applications to random schrödinger operators, 1999. Habilitation thesis, RWTH Aachen, 1999.
- 294. V. Kostrykin. Concavity of eigenvalue sums and the spectral shift function. J. Funct. Anal., 176(1):100–114, 2000.
- 295. V. Kostrykin, J. Potthoff, and R. Schrader. Heat kernels on metric graphs and a trace formula. http://arxiv.org/abs/math-ph/0701009.
- 296. V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader. Scattering theory approach to random Schrödinger operators in one dimension. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 11(2):187–242, 1999.
- 297. V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader. The density of states and the spectral shift density of random Schrödinger operators. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 12(6):807–847, 2000.
- 298. V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader. Regularity of the surface density of states. J. Funct. Anal., 187(1):227–246, 2001.
- 299. V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader. A random necklace model. Waves in Random Media, 14:S75 – S90, 2004. http://arxiv.org/math-ph/0309032.
- 300. V. Kostrykin and I. Veselić. Wegner estimate for indefinite Anderson potentials: some recent results and applications. In K. R. Ito, editor, *Renormalization Group Methods in Mathematical Sciences (Kyoto, 2001)*, volume 1275 of *Lecture Notes of Res. Inst. of Math. Sciences*, pages 65–84, 2002.
- 301. V. Kostrykin and I. Veselić. On the Lipschitz continuity of the integrated density of states for sign-indefinite potentials. *Math. Z.*, 252(2):367–392, 2006. http://arXiv.org/math-ph/0408013.
- 302. S. Kotani. On asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of a one-dimensional hamiltonian with a certain coefficient. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci Kyoto. Univ., 12:447–492, 1976.
- 303. S. Kotani. Ljapunov indices determine absolutely continuous spectra of stationary random one-dimensional Schrödinger operators. In *Stochastic analysis* (*Katata/Kyoto, 1982*), pages 225–247. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1984.
- 304. S. Kotani. Lyapunov exponents and spectra for one-dimensional random Schrödinger operators. In *Random matrices and their applications (Brunswick*, 1984), pages 277–286. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1986.
- 305. S. Kotani. Generalized Floquet theory for stationary Schrödinger operators in one dimension. *Chaos Solitons Fractals*, 8(11):1817–1854, 1997.
- 306. S. Kotani and B. Simon. Localization in general one-dimensional random systems. II. Continuum Schrödinger operators. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 112(1):103– 119, 1987.
- 307. A. V. Kozak. A certain projection method of solving operator equations in a Banach space. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 211:1042–1045, 1973.

- 308. A. V. Kozak. A local principle in the theory of projection methods. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 212:1287–1289, 1973.
- A. V. Kozak. On the reduction method for multidimensional discrete convolutions. Mat. Issled., 8(3(29)):157–160, 184, 1973.
- 310. A. V. Kozak and I. B. Simonenko. Projection methods for the solution of two-dimensional singular equations on a torus. *Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen.*, 12(1):74–75, 1978.
- 311. A. V. Kozak and I. B. Simonenko. Projection methods for solving multidimensional discrete convolution equations. *Sibirsk. Mat. Zh.*, 21(2):119–127, 237, 1980.
- B. Kramer and A. MacKinnon. Localization: theory and experiment. *Reports on Progress in Physics*, 56(12):1469–1564, 1993.
- 313. U. Krengel. *Ergodic Theorems*. Studies in Mathematics. Walter de Gruyter, 1985.
- M. Krishna. Continuity of integrated density of states independent randomness. math-ph/0609040.
- 315. M. Krishna. Anderson Model with decaying randomness extended states. Proc. Indian. Acad. Sci. (MathSci.), 100(4):285–294, 1990.
- 316. M. Krishna and K. B. Sinha. Spectra of Anderson type models with decaying randomness. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci., 111(2):179–201, 2001.
- 317. D. Krutikov. Schrödinger operators with random sparse potentials. Existence of wave operators. Lett. Math. Phys., 67(2):133–139, 2004.
- P. Kuchment and S. Levendorskiî. On the structure of spectra of periodic elliptic operators. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 354(2):537–569 (electronic), 2002.
- H. Kunz and B. Souillard. Sur le spectre des opérateur aux différence finies aléatoires. Commun. Math. Phys., 78:201–246, 1980.
- 320. É. le Page. Répartition d'état d'un opérateur de Schrödinger aléatoire. Distribution empirique des valeurs propres d'une matrice de Jacobi. In Probability measures on groups, VII (Oberwolfach, 1983), volume 1064 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 309–367. Springer, Berlin, 1984.
- 321. Y. Lee. Burghelea-Friedlander-Kappeler's gluing formula for the zetadeterminant and its applications to the adiabatic decompositions of the zetadeterminant and the analytic torsion. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 355(10): 4093–4110 (electronic), 2003.
- 322. H. Leinfelder. Gauge invariance of Schrödinger operators and related spectral properties. J. Operator Theory, 9(1):163–179, 1983.
- 323. D. Lenz. Uniform ergodic theorems on subshifts over a finite alphabet. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 22(1):245–255, 2002.
- 324. D. Lenz, P. Müller, and I. Veselić. Uniform existence of the integrated density of states for models on Z<sup>d</sup>. http://arxiv.org/abs/math-ph/0607063.
- D. Lenz, N. Peyerimhoff, O. Post, and I. Veselić. Continuity properties of the integrated density of states on manifolds. http://www.arxiv.org/abs/0705.1079.
- 326. D. Lenz, N. Peyerimhoff, and I. Veselić. Random Schrödinger operators on manifolds. Markov Process. Related Fields, 9(4):717–728, 2003. http://www.arxiv. org/math-ph/0212057.
- 327. D. Lenz, N. Peyerimhoff, and I. Veselić. Integrated density of states for random metrics on manifolds. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 88(3):733-752, 2004.
- 328. D. Lenz, N. Peyerimhoff, and I. Veselić. Von Neumann algebras, groupoids and the integrated density of states. *Math. Phys. Anal. Geom.*, 10(1):1–41, 2007. arXiv.org/abs/math-ph/0203026.

- 130 References
- 329. D. Lenz and I. Veselić. Hamiltonians on discrete structures: jumps of the integrated density of states and uniform convergence. Preprint.
- 330. D. H. Lenz and P. Stollmann. An ergodic theorem for Delone dynamical systems and existence of the density of states. J. Anal. Math., 97:1–23, 2006. http://www.arxiv.org/math-ph/0310017.
- 331. H. Leschke, P. Müller, and S. Warzel. A survey of rigorous results on random Schrödinger operators for amorphous solids. *Markov Process. Related Fields*, 9(4):729–760, 2003. http://www.arXiv.org/cond-mat/0210708).
- 332. P. Li and S. Yau. On the parabolic kernel of the Schrödinger operator. Acta Mathematica, 156:153–201, 1986.
- 333. E. Lieb. Bounds on the eigenvalues of the Laplace and Schrödinger operators. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 82(5):751–753, 1976.
- 334. E. Lieb and W. Thirring. Inequalities for the moments of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger Hamiltonian and their relation to Sobolev inequalities. In *Studies in Math. Phys., Essays in honor of Valentine Bargmann*, pages 269–303. Princeton Series in Physics, 1976.
- 335. Lifschitz Memorial Issue. J. Statist. Phys., 38(1-2), 1985.
- 336. I. M. Lifshitz. Structure of the energy spectrum of the impurity bands in disordered solid solutions. Sov. Phys. JETP, 17:1159–1170, 1963. [Russian original: Zh. Eksp. Ter. Fiz. 44: 1723–1741].
- 337. I. M. Lifshitz. The energy spectrum of disordered systems. Adv. Phys., 13:483– 536, 1964.
- 338. I. M. Lifshitz. Energy spectrum and the quantum states of disordered condensed systems. Sov. Phys. Usp., 7:549–573, 1965. [Russian original: Uspehi Fiz. Nauk 83: 617–663 (1964)].
- 339. I. M. Lifshitz, S. A. Gredeskul, and L. A. Pastur. Introduction to the Theory of Disordered Systems (in Russian). Nauka, Moscow, 1982.
- 340. I. M. Lifshitz, S. A. Gredeskul, and L. A. Pastur. Introduction to the Theory of Disordered Systems. Wiley, New York, 1988. [Russian original: Izdat. "Nauka", Moscow, 1982].
- 341. E. Lindenstrauss. Pointwies theorems for amenable groups. Electr. research announcem. of the Amer. Math. Soc., 5:82–90, 1999.
- 342. E. Lindenstrauss. Pointwise theorems for amenable groups. Invent. Math., 146(2):259–295, 2001.
- 343. J. Londergan, C. J.P., and D. Murdock. *Binding and scattering in two*dimensional systems, volume 60 of *Lecture Notes in Physics*. Springer, 1999.
- J. Lott. Heat kernels on covering spaces and topological invariants. J. Differential Geom., 35(2):471–510, 1992.
- 345. W. Lück. Approximating  $L^2$ -invariants by their finite-dimensional analogues. Geom. Funct. Anal., 4(4):455–481, 1994.
- 346. W. Lück. L<sup>2</sup>-invariants: theory and applications to geometry and K-theory, volume 44 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3rd Series. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- 347. W. Lück, H. Reich, and T. Schick. Novikov-Shubin invariants for arbitrary group actions and their positivity. In *Tel Aviv Topology Conference: Rothenberg Festschrift (1998)*, volume 231 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 159–176. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- 348. W. Lück and M. Rothenberg. Reidemeister torsion and the K-theory of von Neumann algebras. K-Theory, 5(3):213–264, 1991.

- W. Lück and T. Schick. L<sup>2</sup>-torsion of hyperbolic manifolds of finite volume. Geom. Funct. Anal., 9(3):518–567, 1999.
- 350. W. Lück and T. Schick. Various L<sup>2</sup>-signatures and a topological L<sup>2</sup>-signature theorem. In *High-dimensional manifold topology*, pages 362–399. World Sci. Publishing, River Edge, NJ, 2003. http://www.arXiv.org/math.GT/0209161.
- 351. W. Lück and T. Schick. Approximating L<sup>2</sup>-signatures by their compact analogues. Forum Math., 17(1):31–65, 2005. http://www.arXiv.org/math.GT/0110328.
- 352. R. S. Maier. Bounds on the density of states of random Schrödinger operators. J. Statist. Phys., 48(3-4):425–447, 1987.
- 353. F. Martinelli and H. Holden. On absence of diffusion near the bottom of the spectrum for a random Schrödinger operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{\nu})$ . Commun. Math. Phys., 93:197–217, 1984.
- 354. F. Martinelli and E. Scoppola. Absence of absolutely continuous spectrum in the Anderson model for large disorder or low energy. In *Infinite-dimensional* analysis and stochastic processes (Bielefeld, 1983), pages 94–97. Pitman, Boston, Mass., 1985.
- 355. F. Martinelli and E. Scoppola. Remark on the absence of absolutely continuous spectrum for d-dimensional Schrödinger operators with random potential for large disorder or low energy. Comm. Math. Phys., 97(3):465–471, 1985.
- 356. V. Mathai.  $L^2$ -analytic torsion. J. Funct. Anal., 107(2):369–386, 1992.
- 357. V. Mathai and S. Yates. Approximating spectral invariants of Harper operators on graphs. J. Funct. Anal., 188(1):111–136, 2002. arXiv.org/math. FA/0006138.
- 358. H. Matsumoto. On the integrated density of states for the Schrödinger operators with certain random electromagnetic potentials. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 45(2):197–214, 1993.
- 359. M. Melgaard and G. Rozenblum. Eigenvalue asymptotics for weakly perturbed Dirac and Schrödinger operators with constant magnetic fields of full rank. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 28(3-4):697–736, 2003.
- B. Metzger. Assymptotische Eigenschaften im Wechselspiel von Diffusion und Wellenausbreitung in zufälligen Medien. PhD thesis, TU Chemnitz, 2005.
- 361. G. A. Mezincescu. Bounds on the integrated density of electronic states for disordered Hamiltonians. *Phys. Rev. B*, 32:6272–6277, 1985.
- 362. G. A. Mezincescu. Internal Lifshitz singularities of disordered finite-difference Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys., 103:167–176, 1986.
- 363. G. A. Mezincescu. Lifschitz singularities for periodic operators plus random potentials. J. Statist. Phys., 49(5-6):1181–1190, 1987.
- G. A. Mezincescu. Internal Lifshitz singularities for one dimensional Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys., 158:315–325, 1993.
- 365. N. Minami. Random Schrödinger operators with a constant electric field. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Physique théorique, 56:307–344, 1992.
- 366. N. Minami. Local fluctuation of the spectrum of a multidimensional Anderson tight binding model. Comm. Math. Phys., 177(3):709–725, 1996.
- 367. K. A. Mitchell. Gauge fields and extrapotentials in constrained quantum systems. Phys. Rev. A (3), 63(4):042112, 20, 2001.
- 368. S. A. Molčanov. The local structure of the spectrum of the one-dimensional Schrödinger operator. Comm. Math. Phys., 78(3):429–446, 1980/81.
- S. A. Molčanov. The structure of eigenfunctions of one-dimensional unordered structures. Math. USSR Izvestija, 12:69–101, 1978.

- 132 References
- P. Müller and C. Richard. Random colourings of aperiodic graphs: ergodic and spectral properties. http://www.arxiv.org/abs/0709.0821.
- 371. P. Müller and P. Stollmann. Spectral asymptotics of the Laplacian on supercritical bond-percolation graphs. http://www.arxiv.org/math-ph/0506053, to appear in J. Funct. Anal.
- 372. S. Nakamura. Spectral shift function for trapping energies in the semiclassical limit. Comm. Math. Phys., 208(1):173–193, 1999.
- 373. S. Nakamura. Lifshitz tail for 2D discrete Schrödinger operator with random magnetic field. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 1(5):823–835, 2000.
- 374. S. Nakamura. Lifshitz tail for Schrödinger operator with random magnetic field. Comm. Math. Phys., 214(3):565–572, 2000.
- 375. S. Nakamura. A remark on the Dirichlet-Neumann decoupling and the integrated density of states. J. Funct. Anal., 179:136–152, 2001.
- 376. S. Nakamura. A remark on the Lifshitz tail for Schrödinger operator with random magnetic field. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci., 112(1):183–187, 2002.
- 377. F. Nakano. Calculation of the Hall conductivity by Abel limit. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor., 69(4):441–455, 1998.
- 378. F. Nakano. The repulsion between localization centers in the Anderson model. J. Stat. Phys., 123(4):803–810, 2006. http://arxiv.org/abs/math-ph/0603029.
- 379. S. Nakao. On the spectral distribution of the Schrödinger operator with random potential. Japan. J. Math. (N.S.), 3(1):111–139, 1977.
- 380. S. P. Novikov and M. A. Shubin. Morse inequalities and von Neumann invariants of non-simply connected manifolds. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, 41(5):222, 1986. (In Russian).
- S. P. Novikov and M. A. Shubin. Morse inequalities and von Neumann II<sub>1</sub>factors. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 289(2):289–292, 1986.
- 382. S.-I. Oguni. The secondary Novikov-Shubin invariants of groups and quasiisometry. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 59(1):223–237, 2007. http://www.math.kyoto-u. ac.jp/preprint/preprint2005.html.
- D. Ornstein and B. Weiss. The Shannon-McMillan-Breiman theorem for a class of amenable groups. *Israel J. Math.*, 44(1):53–60, 1983.
- 384. L. A. Pastur. Selfaverageability of the number of states of the Schrödinger equation with a random potential. *Mat. Fiz. i Funkcional. Anal.*, (Vyp. 2):111– 116, 238, 1971.
- 385. L. A. Pastur. On the distribution of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger equation with a random potential. *Funct. Anal. Appl.*, 8:163–165, 1972.
- 386. L. A. Pastur. The distribution of the eigenvalues of Schrödinger's equation with a random potential. In *Mathematical physics and functional analysis, No.* V (Russian), pages 141–143, 158. Akad. Nauk Ukrain. SSR Fiz.-Tehn. Inst. Nizkih Temperatur, Kharkov, 1974.
- 387. L. A. Pastur. Behaviour of some Wiener integrals as  $t \to \infty$  and the density of states of the Schrödinger equation with a random potential. *Teor. Mat. Fiz.*, 32:88–95, 1977.
- L. A. Pastur. Spectral properties of disordered systems in the one-body approximation. Commun. Math. Phys., 75:179–196, 1980.
- L. A. Pastur and A. L. Figotin. Spectra of Random and Almost-Periodic Operators. Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- A. L. T. Paterson. Amenability, volume 29 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1988.

- 391. V. V. Peller. Hankel operators in the perturbation theory of unbounded selfadjoint operators. In Analysis and partial differential equations, volume 122 of Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., pages 529–544. Dekker, New York, 1990.
- 392. N. Peyerimhoff and I. Veselić. Integrated density of states for ergodic random Schrödinger operators on manifolds. *Geom. Dedicata*, 91(1):117–135, 2002.
- 393. O. Post. Periodic Manifolds, Spectral Gaps, and Eigenvalues in Gaps. Doctoral thesis, Technische Universität Braunschweig, D-38092 Braunschweig, July 2000. http://www.iram.rwth-aachen.de/~post/index.html.
- 394. O. Post. Periodic manifolds with spectral gaps. J. Differential Equations, 187(1):23–45, 2003.
- 395. J. V. Pulé and M. Scrowston. Infinite degeneracy for a Landau Hamiltonian with Poisson impurities. J. Math. Phys., 38(12):6304–6314, 1997.
- 396. J. V. Pulé and M. Scrowston. The spectrum of a magnetic Schrödinger operator with randomly located delta impurities. J. Math. Phys., 41(5):2805–2825, 2000.
- 397. A. B. Pushnitskii. A representation for the spectral shift function in the case of perturbations of fixed sign. *Algebra i Analiz*, 9(6):197–213, 1997. [English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 9(6):1181–1194, 1998].
- 398. A. B. Pushnitskii. Integral estimates for the spectral shift function. Algebra i Analiz, 10(6):198–233, 1998. [English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 10 (6):1047–1070, 1999].
- A. B. Pushnitskii. Estimates for the spectral shift function of the polyharmonic operator. J. Math. Phys., 40(11):5578–5592, 1999.
- 400. A. B. Pushnitskiĭ. Spectral shift function of the Schrödinger operator in the large coupling constant limit. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 25(3-4): 703–736, 2000.
- 401. A. B. Pushnitskiĭ and M. Ruzhansky. Spectral shift function of the Schrödinger operator in the large coupling constant limit. II. Positive perturbations. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 27(7-8):1373–1405, 2002.
- 402. G. Raikov. Spectral shift function for Schrödinger operators in constant magnetic fields. *Cubo*, 7(2):171–199, 2005.
- 403. G. Raikov. Spectral shift function for magnetic Schrödinger operators. In Mathematical physics of quantum mechanics, volume 690 of Lecture Notes in Phys., pages 451–465. Springer, Berlin, 2006.
- 404. G. D. Raikov. The integrated density of states for a random Schrödinger operator in strong magnetic fields. II. Asymptotics near higher Landau levels. In Partial differential equations and spectral theory (Clausthal, 2000), volume 126 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pages 281–292. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001.
- 405. G. D. Raikov and S. Warzel. Quasi-classical versus non-classical spectral asymptotics for magnetic Schrödinger operators with decreasing electric potentials. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 14(10):1051–1072, 2002.
- 406. D. B. Ray and I. M. Singer. *R*-torsion and the Laplacian on Riemannian manifolds. *Advances in Math.*, 7:145–210, 1971.
- 407. M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics II, Fourier Analysis, Self-Adjointness. Academic Press, San Diego, 1975.
- 408. M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics IV, Analysis of Operators. Academic Press, San Diego, 1978.
- 409. M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics III, Scattering Theory. Academic Press, San Diego, 1979.

- 134 References
- 410. M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics I, Functional Analysis. Academic Press, San Diego, 1980.
- F. Rellich. Störungstheorie der Spektralzerlegung V. Math. Ann., 118:462–484, 1942.
- 412. A. Režnikova. The central limit theorem for the spectrum of random Jacobi matrices. *Theory Probab. Appl.*, 25:504–513, 1981.
- 413. A. Režnikova. The central limit theorem for the spectrum of the random onedimensional Schrdinger operator. J. Stat. Phys., 25:291–308, 1981.
- 414. R. D. Rio, S. Jitomirskaya, Y. Last, and B. Simon. What ist localization? Phys. Rev. Lett., 75:117–119, 1995.
- 415. G. Royer. Étude des opérateurs de Schrödinger à potentiel aléatoire en dimension 1. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 110(1):27–48, 1982.
- G. V. Rozenbljum. Distribution of the discrete spectrum of singular differential operators. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 202:1012–1015, 1972.
- 417. D. Ruelle. *Statistical mechanics: Rigorous results.* W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York-Amsterdam, 1969.
- 418. O. Safronov. Spectral shift function in the large coupling constant limit. J. Funct. Anal., 182(1):151–169, 2001.
- 419. J. H. Schenker and M. Aizenman. The creation of spectral gaps by graph decoration. Lett. Math. Phys., 53(3):253–262, 2000.
- 420. T. Schick. Integrality of L<sup>2</sup>-Betti numbers. Math. Ann., 317(4):727-750, 2000.
- 421. T. Schick. L<sup>2</sup>-determinant class and approximation of L<sup>2</sup>-Betti numbers. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 353(8):3247–3265 (electronic), 2001.
- 422. T. Schick. L<sup>2</sup>-index theorem for elliptic differential boundary problems. Pacific J. Math., 197(2):423–439, 2001.
- 423. W. Schlag, C. Shubin, and T. Wolff. Frequency concentration and localization lengths for the Anderson model at small disorders. J. Anal. Math., 88:173–220, 2002. Dedicated to the memory of Tom Wolff.
- 424. H. Schulz-Baldes. Perturbation theory for Lyapunov exponents of an Anderson model on a strip. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 14(5):1089–1117, 2004.
- 425. H. Schulz-Baldes, J. Kellendonk, and T. Richter. Simultaneous quantization of edge and bulk Hall conductivity. J. Phys. A, 33(2):L27–L32, 2000.
- 426. Y. Shapir, A. Aharony, and A. B. Harris. Localization and quantum percolation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49(7):486–489, 1982.
- 427. Z. Shen. The periodic Schrödinger operators with potentials in the Morrey class. J. Funct. Anal., 193(2):314–345, 2002.
- 428. R. G. Shterenberg. Absolute continuity of the spectrum of the two-dimensional periodic Schrödinger operator with a positive electric potential. Algebra i Analiz, 13(4):196–228, 2001.
- C. Shubin, R. Vakilian, and T. Wolff. Some harmonic analysis questions suggested by Anderson-Bernoulli models. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 8(5):932–964, 1998.
- M. A. Shubin. The density of states for elliptic operators with almost periodic coefficients. *Godišnik Visš. Učebn. Zaved. Priložna Mat.*, 11(2):209–216 (1977), 1975. Conference on Differential Equations and Applications (Ruse, 1975).
- 431. M. A. Shubin. Spectral theory and the index of elliptic operators with almostperiodic coefficients. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 34(2(206)):95–135, 1979. [English translation: Russ. Math. Surveys, 34:109-157, 1979].
- 432. M. A. Shubin. Density of states of self adjoint operators with almost periodic coefficients. Amer. Math. Soc. Translations, 118:307–339, 1982.

- 433. M. A. Shubin. Semiclassical asymptotics on covering manifolds and Morse inequalities. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 6(2):370–409, 1996.
- 434. A. Shulman. Maximal ergodic theorems on groups. *Dep. Lit. NIINTI*, 2184, 1988.
- 435. B. Simon. Classical boundary conditions as a technical tool in modern mathematical physics. *Adv. in Math.*, 30(3):268–281, 1978.
- 436. B. Simon. Functional integration and quantum physics, volume 86 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1979.
- 437. B. Simon. Trace Ideals and their Applications. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. 35. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1979.
- 438. B. Simon. Almost periodic Schrödinger operators: a review. Adv. in Appl. Math., 3(4):463–490, 1982.
- 439. B. Simon. Schrödinger semigroups. Bull. Am. Math. Soc., 7:447-526, 1982.
- 440. B. Simon. Lifschitz tails for the Anderson model. J. Stat. Phys., 38:65-76, 1985.
- 441. B. Simon. Internal Lifschitz tails. J. Statist. Phys., 46(5-6):911-918, 1987.
- 442. B. Simon. Cyclic vectors in the Anderson model. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 6(5A): 1183–1185, 1994. Special issue dedicated to Elliott H. Lieb.
- 443. B. Simon. Spectral analysis of rank one perturbations and applications. In L. R. J. Feldman, R. Froese, editor, *Mathematical quantum theory. II. Schrödinger operators (Vancouver, 1993)*, volume 8 of *CRM Proc. Lecture Notes Vol. 8*, pages 109–149. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995.
- 444. B. Simon and T. Wolff. Singular continuous spectrum under rank one perturbations and localization for random Hamiltonians. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 39:75–90, 1986.
- 445. R. Sims and G. Stolz. Localization in one dimensional random media: a scattering theoretic approach. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 213(3):575–597, 2000.
- 446. M. M. Skriganov. Structure of the spectrum of the multidimensional Schrödinger operator with a periodic potential. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR*, 262:846–850, 1984.
- 447. M. M. Skriganov. The spectrum band structure of the three-dimensional Schrödinger operator with periodic potential. *Invent. Math.*, 80(1):107–121, 1985.
- 448. M. M. Skriganov. Geometric and arithmetric methods in the spectral theory of multidimensional periodic operators. Proc. of the Stecklov Institute of Mathematics, 2:vi+121 pp., 1987.
- 449. A. Sobolev. Efficient bounds for the spectral shift function. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, 58:55–83, 1993.
- 450. A. V. Sobolev. Absolute continuity of the periodic magnetic Schrödinger operator. *Invent. Math.*, 137(1):85–112, 1999.
- 451. A. Sommerfeld and H. Bethe. Elektronentheorie der Metalle. In Handbuch Physik 24, Tl. 2, 333-622. 1933.
- 452. T. Spencer. The Schrödinger equation with a random potential—a mathematical review. In K. Osterwaler and R. Stora, editors, *Phénomènes critiques,* systèmes aléatoires, théories de jauge, Part I, II (Les Houches, 1984), pages 895–944, Amsterdam, 1986. North-Holland.
- 453. T. Spencer. Localization for random and almost-periodic potentials. J. Stat. Phys., 51:1009–1017, 1988.
- 454. E. M. Stein. Singular Integrals and Differentiability Properties of Functions. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970.
## 136 References

- 455. P. Stollmann. A convergence theorem for Dirichlet forms with applications to boundary value problems with varying domains. *Math. Z.*, 219:275–287, 1995.
- 456. P. Stollmann. Lifshitz asymptotics via linear coupling of disorder. Math. Phys. Anal. Geom., 2(3):279–289, 1999.
- 457. P. Stollmann. Wegner estimates and localization for continuum Anderson models with some singular distributions. Arch. Math. (Basel), 75(4):307–311, 2000.
- 458. P. Stollmann. Caught by disorder: Bound States in Random Media, volume 20 of Progress in Mathematical Physics. Birkhäuser, 2001.
- 459. G. Stolz. Non-monotonic random Schrödinger operators: the Anderson model. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 248(1):173–183, 2000.
- 460. G. Stolz. Strategies in localization proofs for one-dimensional random Schrödinger operators. *Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci.*, 112(1):229–243, 2002. Spectral and inverse spectral theory (Goa, 2000).
- T. Sunada. Fundamental groups and Laplacians. In Geometry and analysis on manifolds (Katata/Kyoto, 1987), pages 248–277. Springer, Berlin, 1988.
- 462. T. Sunada. A periodic Schrödinger operator on an abelian cover. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math., 37(3):575–583, 1990.
- 463. T. Sunada. Group C\*-algebras and the spectrum of a periodic Schrödinger operator on a manifold. Canad. J. Math., 44(1):180–193, 1992.
- 464. A.-S. Sznitman. Lifschitz tail and Wiener sausage on hyperbolic space. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 42(8):1033–1065, 1989.
- 465. A.-S. Sznitman. Lifschitz tail and Wiener sausage. I, II. J. Funct. Anal., 94(2):223–246, 247–272, 1990.
- 466. A.-S. Sznitman. Lifschitz tail on hyperbolic space: Neumann conditions. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 43(1):1–30, 1990.
- 467. A.-S. Sznitman. Brownian motion, obstacles and random media. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- M. E. Taylor. Partial differential equations I, Basic theory. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996.
- 469. A. A. Tempelman. Ergodic theorems for general dynamical systems. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 176:790–793, 1967.
- 470. A. A. Tempelman. Ergodic theorems for general dynamical systems. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 26:95–132, 1972.
- 471. A. A. Tempelman. Ergodic theorems for group actions. Informational and thermodynamical aspects, volume 78 of Mathematics and its Applications. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1992.
- 472. G. Temple. The theory of Rayleigh's principle as applied to continuous systems. Proc. Roy. Soc. London A, 119:276–293, 1028.
- 473. W. Thirring. Lehrbuch der mathematischen Physik. Band 3. Springer-Verlag, Vienna, second edition, 1994. Quantenmechanik von Atomen und Molekülen.
- 474. L. Thomas. Time-dependent approach to scattering from impurities in a crystal. Commun. Math. Phys., 33:335–343, 1973.
- 475. N. Ueki. On spectra of random Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields. Osaka J. Math., 31(1):177–187, 1994.
- 476. R. van der Hofstad, W. König, and P. Mörters. The universality classes in the parabolic Anderson model. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 267(2):307–353, 2006.
- 477. A. Van Elst. Gap-labelling theorems for Schrödinger operators on the square and cubic lattice. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 6(2):319–342, 1994.
- 478. L. Van Hove. Quelques proprietes generales de l integrale de configuration d un systeme de particules avec interaction. *Physica*, 15:951–961, 1949.

- 479. I. Veselić. Indefinite Probleme bei der Anderson-Lokalisierung. Ph.D thesis, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, January 2001. http://www-brs.ub.ruhr-unibochum.de/netahtml/HSS/Diss/VeselicIvan/.
- 480. I. Veselić. Localization for random perturbations of periodic Schrödinger operators with regular Floquet eigenvalues. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 3(2):389–409, 2002. http://www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/98/98-569.ps.gz.
- 481. I. Veselić. Wegner estimate and the density of states of some indefinite alloy type Schrödinger operators. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 59(3):199–214, 2002. http:// www.ma.utexas.edu/mp\_arc/c/00/00-373.ps.gz.
- 482. I. Veselić. Existence of the density of states for some alloy type models with single site potentials that change sign. In *Proceedings of the Conference "Applied Mathematics and Scientific Computing"*, June 2001, Dubrovnik, pages 293–303, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2003. http://arXiv.org/math-ph/0204031.
- 483. I. Veselić. Integrated density of states and Wegner estimates for random Schrödinger operators. *Contemp. Math.*, 340:98–184, 2004. http://arXiv.org/ math-ph/0307062.
- 484. I. Veselić. Quantum site percolation on amenable graphs. In Proceedings of the Conference on Applied Mathematics and Scientific Computing, pages 317–328, Dordrecht, 2005. Springer. http://arXiv.org/math-ph/0308041.
- I. Veselić. Spectral analysis of percolation Hamiltonians. Math. Ann., 331(4):841–865, 2005. http://arXiv.org/math-ph/0405006.
- 486. I. Veselić. Existence and regularity properties of the integrated density of states of random Schrödinger Operators, 2006. Habilitation thesis, TU Chemnitz.
- 487. I. Veselić. Lifshitz asymptotics for hamiltonians monotone in the randomness. Oberwolfach Rep., 4(1):380–382, 2007. http://www.arxiv.org/abs/0708.0487.
- 488. W.-M. Wang. Développement asymptotique de la densité d'états pour l'opérateur de Schrödinger aléatoire avec champ magnétique. In *Séminaire sur les Équations aux Dérivées Partielles, 1992–1993*, pages 20, Exp. No. XVIII. École Polytech., Palaiseau, 1993.
- 489. W.-M. Wang. Microlocalization, percolation, and Anderson localization for the magnetic Schrödinger operator with a random potential. J. Funct. Anal., 146(1):1–26, 1997.
- 490. W.-M. Wang. Supersymmetry and density of states of the magnetic Schrödinger operator with a random potential revisited. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 25(3-4):601–679, 2000.
- 491. W.-M. Wang. Localization and universality of Poisson statistics for the multidimensional Anderson model at weak disorder. *Invent. Math.*, 146(2):365–398, 2001.
- 492. S. Warzel. On Lifshitz tails in magnetic fields. Doctoral thesis, Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Logos, Berlin, 2001.
- 493. F. Wegner. Bounds on the DOS in disordered systems. Z. Phys. B, 44:9–15, 1981.
- J. Weidmann. Linear operators in Hilbert spaces. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980.
- 495. J. Weidmann. *Lineare Operatoren in Hilberträumen. Teil 1.* Mathematische Leitfäden. B. G. Teubner, Stuttgart, 2000.
- 496. J. Weidmann. Linear operators in Hilbert spaces. Part II: Applications. (Lineare Operatoren in Hilberträumen. Teil II: Anwendungen.). Mathematische Leitfäden. Stuttgart, Teubner. 404 pp., 2003.

- 138 References
- 497. D. Werner. Funktionalanalysis. Springer, Berlin, 1995.
- 498. T. H. Wolff. Recent work on sharp estimates in second order elliptic unique continuation problems. In *Fourier analysis and partial differential equations* (*Miraflores de la Sierra, 1992*), Stud. Adv. Math., pages 99–128. CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 1995.
- 499. D. Yafaev. Mathematical Scattering Theory. Translations of Mathematical Monographs, 105. American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1992. [Russian original: Izdatel'stvo Sankt-Peterburgskogo Universiteta, St. Petersburg, 1994].
- 500. H. Zenk. Anderson localization for a multidimensional model including long range potentials and displacements. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 14(3):273–302, 2002.
- 501. W. P. Ziemer. Weakly differentiable functions. Springer, New York, 1989.

absolutely continuous - IDS, 48 — coupling constants, 5— spectrum, 7, 9, 11 Aizenman-Molchanov technique, see fractional moment method alloy type - model, 1, 5, 8, 45 - potential, 4, 6 almost-periodic, 6, 9, 14, 21 amenable group, 23, 26, 37 Anderson model, 10, 45, 47, 57, 63, 93 b.c., see boundary conditions Bernoulli - disorder, 53, 74 - distribution, 47 - random variables, 2, 47, 74 Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture, 17 Betti number, 48 Beurling-Deny conditions, 31 binary alloy, 2 Bishop's theorem, see volume comparison theorem bound state, 7 boundary - tube, 24 - conditions, 3, 42 — independence, 43 boundary conditions, 65 Dirichlet —, 3, 6, 13, 19, 40, 71, 107, 109

Neumann —, 3, 6, 40, 42, 81 periodic —, 3 bounded random operator, 22 Brownian motion, 31, 107 exit time of -, 36, 104, 107 canonical half-space, 95 Combes-Thomas estimates, 51, 52 common density, 88, 93 convex lattice polygon, 95 convolution vector, see convolution vector of a single site potential coupling constants, 4 Bernoulli distributed ---, 47 conditional densities of ---, 93 correlated —, 93 Hölder continuous —, 72 locally continuous —, 66 unbounded —, 5, 81, 96 covering manifold abelian —, 19 decay – of Green function, 52 - of eigenfunctions, 7–8 — of heat kernel, 31 deck-transformation group, 15 delocalised states, 9 density of states, 45, 46, 79 — measure, 13 diamagnetic inequality, 104, 105 Dirichlet form, 31 Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing, 14, 39, 71, 82, 96

discontinuous IDS, 48 distribution Bernoulli —, 47 finite dimensional —s, 5 — function, 13–15, 23, 37 — of coupling constant, 5 — of eigenvalues, 50 — of potential values, 47 domain monotonicity, 33, 35, 105 DOS, *see* density of states doubling property, *see* Tempelman property

effective Hamiltonian on a manifold, 15 equivariance, 18 ergodic, 1 — action, 4 — operator, 6 — potential, 5, 6 — theorem, 14, 37, 40 pointwise —, 24 exhaustion, 24, 25 admissible —, 24–25 extended state, *see* scattering state extension Friedrichs —, 19 — property, 42 extra-potential, 15

Følner sequence, 23
Feynman-Kac formula, 31
finite propagation speed, 36
finite rank, 100, 101
finite total variation, see total variation
finite volume integrated density of
states, see normalised eigenvalue
counting function
fluctuation boundaries of the spectrum, 10
form-bounded, 4
fractional moment method, 50
fundamental domain, 19

 $\Gamma\text{-trace},~22,~48$  generalised step function, 87 Gronwall's Lemma, 70

Hölder continuity

of IDS, 46, 61
of coupling constants, 72

heat equation, 34

fundamental solution of —, 32
kernel, 30, 32
off-diagonal decay of —, 31

Heisenberg group, 20
Hellmann-Feynman formula, 59, 66, 69
Hilbert-Schmidt class, 8, 105
holomorphic family of operators, 58
hyperbolic space, 25

IDS, *see* integrated density of states infinitesimally bounded, 4, 80 initial scale estimate, 51 integrated density of states, 14, 26 interlacing theorem, 71

Kato-Rellich Theorem, 4 Krein trace formula, 100 Ky-Fan inequalities, 101

Landau Hamiltonian, 48, 61, 62, 97, 106 Laplace transform, 14, 38 Laplace-Beltrami operator, 16, 18, 48 Laurent matrix, 87, 88 Legendre transform, 110 level statistics, 50 Lifshitz tails, 10, 11, 42, 97 limiting absorption principle, 109 Lipschitz continuity, 46, 69, 79 localisation, 92 Anderson —, 7, 50 dynamical —, 8 exponential —, 8 — interval, 8 spectral —, 7 log-Hölder continuity, 48, 72, 73 long range — correlations, 8 - single site potentials, 75 magnetic field, see magnetic potential magnetic potential, 43, 61, 62, 75, 96, 104, 106 maximum principle, 34

measurability, 26

measurable family of operators, 27

measure preserving transformations, 5 metric graphs, 26, 63, 69, 73, 99 mobility edge, 9, 45 multiscale analysis, 8, 47, 50, 51, 72, 74 - 76non-randomness of spectra, 21 normalised eigenvalue counting function, 13, 38, 42, 49, 62 one-electron Hamiltonian, 1 operator domain, 3 partial integration formula, 73 Pastur-Shubin convergence criterion, 38 Pastur-Shubin trace formula, 14, 26 percolation, 49 periodic operator on manifold, 26 — potential, 2, 11, 48, 61, 65 points of increase, 23 polyhedral domain, 19 principle of not feeling the boundary, 31 pure point spectrum, 7, 50 quadratic form, 19, 28-30, 86, 104, 105 – domain, 28 quantum graphs, see metric graphs - percolation model, 49 - waveguides, 15, 20 quasi-norm, 101 RAGE theorem, 7 random metric, 17 relatively bounded, 4, 92, 104 resonance, 54 Ricci curvature, 17

scattering state, 7 Schatten-von Neumann class, 100, 102 Schrödinger equation, 6 Schrödinger operator — on manifold, 15 random —, 1, 18 semigroup generated by —, 103 self-averaging, 14 semigroup, 30, 31, 34, 38 contraction —, 31 heat —, 36 — kernel, 31, 97 Markov -, 31 positivity preserving -, 31 Schrödinger —, 103 ultracontractive -, 31 Shulman property, 23 single site distribution, 5, 51 - potential, 4, 51 — of changing sign, 74 — of long range, 75convolution vector of -, 87 singular values, 100, 102, 103 spectral — averaging, 57, 83 - gaps, 16, 20 - measure, 23 - projection, 8, 57 - shift function, 63, 71, 97, 99 averaged -, 109 - localisation, 7 stationary stochastic process, 5 Stone's formula, 84 subadditive process, 14, 40 super-trace class, 100 superadditive process, 14, 40 symbol, see symbol of a Toeplitz matrix Tempelman property, 23 tempered sequence, 24 Toeplitz matrix, 95 finite section method for a ---, 95, 96 symbol of a --, 91 sectorial —, 91 Toeplitz operator, see Toeplitz matrix topological index, 91 total variation, 71 finite -, 88, 89, 99 trace, 82 - class, 58, 81, 99 — regularising, 80, 83, 97

uniform convergence, 26 unique continuation property, 47, 50, 61, 62, 74

van Hove property, 24–26, 36 vector potential, *see* magnetic potential volume

— comparison theorem, 33
 — density, 18
 von Neumann algebra, 22

Wegner constant, 46 Wegner estimate, 45, 51, 52 Weyl asymptotics, 40, 51, 53, 60, 104 winding number, 91

Young's inequality, 110

## Lecture Notes in Mathematics

For information about earlier volumes please contact your bookseller or Springer LNM Online archive: springerlink.com

Vol. 1735: D. Yafaev, Scattering Theory: Some Old and New Problems  $\left( 2000\right)$ 

Vol. 1736: B. O. Turesson, Nonlinear Potential Theory and Weighted Sobolev Spaces (2000)

Vol. 1737: S. Wakabayashi, Classical Microlocal Analysis in the Space of Hyperfunctions (2000)

Vol. 1738: M. Émery, A. Nemirovski, D. Voiculescu, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics (2000)

Vol. 1739: R. Burkard, P. Deuflhard, A. Jameson, J.-L. Lions, G. Strang, Computational Mathematics Driven by Industrial Problems. Martina Franca, 1999. Editors: V. Capasso, H. Engl, J. Periaux (2000)

Vol. 1740: B. Kawohl, O. Pironneau, L. Tartar, J.-P. Zolesio, Optimal Shape Design. Tróia, Portugal 1999. Editors: A. Cellina, A. Ornelas (2000)

Vol. 1741: E. Lombardi, Oscillatory Integrals and Phenomena Beyond all Algebraic Orders (2000)

Vol. 1742: A. Unterberger, Quantization and Nonholomorphic Modular Forms (2000)

Vol. 1743: L. Habermann, Riemannian Metrics of Constant Mass and Moduli Spaces of Conformal Structures (2000)

Vol. 1744: M. Kunze, Non-Smooth Dynamical Systems (2000)

Vol. 1745: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 1999-2000 (2000)

Vol. 1746: A. Degtyarev, I. Itenberg, V. Kharlamov, Real Enriques Surfaces (2000)

Vol. 1747: L. W. Christensen, Gorenstein Dimensions (2000)

Vol. 1748: M. Ruzicka, Electrorheological Fluids: Modeling and Mathematical Theory  $({\tt 2001})$ 

Vol. 1749: M. Fuchs, G. Seregin, Variational Methods for Problems from Plasticity Theory and for Generalized Newtonian Fluids (2001)

Vol. 1750: B. Conrad, Grothendieck Duality and Base Change (2001)

Vol. 1751: N. J. Cutland, Loeb Measures in Practice: Recent Advances (2001)

Vol. 1752: Y. V. Nesterenko, P. Philippon, Introduction to Algebraic Independence Theory (2001)

Vol. 1753: A. I. Bobenko, U. Eitner, Painlevé Equations in the Differential Geometry of Surfaces (2001)

Vol. 1754: W. Bertram, The Geometry of Jordan and Lie Structures (2001)

Vol. 1755: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXV (2001)

Vol. 1756: P. E. Zhidkov, Korteweg de Vries and Nonlinear Schrödinger Equations: Qualitative Theory (2001)

Vol. 1757: R. R. Phelps, Lectures on Choquet's Theorem (2001)

Vol. 1758: N. Monod, Continuous Bounded Cohomology of Locally Compact Groups (2001) Vol. 1759: Y. Abe, K. Kopfermann, Toroidal Groups (2001)

Vol. 1760: D. Filipović, Consistency Problems for Heath-Jarrow-Morton Interest Rate Models (2001)

Vol. 1761: C. Adelmann, The Decomposition of Primes in Torsion Point Fields (2001)

Vol. 1762: S. Cerrai, Second Order PDE's in Finite and Infinite Dimension (2001)

Vol. 1763: J.-L. Loday, A. Frabetti, F. Chapoton, F. Goichot, Dialgebras and Related Operads (2001)

Vol. 1764: A. Cannas da Silva, Lectures on Symplectic Geometry (2001)

Vol. 1765: T. Kerler, V. V. Lyubashenko, Non-Semisimple Topological Quantum Field Theories for 3-Manifolds with Corners  $\left(2001\right)$ 

Vol. 1766: H. Hennion, L. Hervé, Limit Theorems for Markov Chains and Stochastic Properties of Dynamical Systems by Quasi-Compactness (2001)

Vol. 1767: J. Xiao, Holomorphic Q Classes (2001)

Vol. 1768: M. J. Pflaum, Analytic and Geometric Study of Stratified Spaces (2001)

Vol. 1769: M. Alberich-Carramiñana, Geometry of the Plane Cremona Maps (2002)

Vol. 1770: H. Gluesing-Luerssen, Linear Delay-Differential Systems with Commensurate Delays: An Algebraic Approach (2002)

Vol. 1771: M. Émery, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités 1967-1980. A Selection in Martingale Theory (2002)

 Vol. 1772: F. Burstall, D. Ferus, K. Leschke, F. Pedit, U. Pinkall, Conformal Geometry of Surfaces in S<sup>4</sup> (2002)
 Vol. 1773: Z. Arad, M. Muzychuk, Standard Integral Table Algebras Generated by a Non-real Element of Small Degree (2002)

Vol. 1774: V. Runde, Lectures on Amenability (2002)

Vol. 1775: W. H. Meeks, A. Ros, H. Rosenberg, The Global Theory of Minimal Surfaces in Flat Spaces. Martina Franca 1999. Editor: G. P. Pirola (2002)

Vol. 1776: K. Behrend, C. Gomez, V. Tarasov, G. Tian, Quantum Comohology. Cetraro 1997. Editors: P. de Bartolomeis, B. Dubrovin, C. Reina (2002)

Vol. 1777: E. García-Río, D. N. Kupeli, R. Vázquez-Lorenzo, Osserman Manifolds in Semi-Riemannian Geometry (2002)

Vol. 1778: H. Kiechle, Theory of K-Loops (2002)

Vol. 1779: I. Chueshov, Monotone Random Systems (2002)

Vol. 1780: J. H. Bruinier, Borcherds Products on O(2,1) and Chern Classes of Heegner Divisors (2002)

Vol. 1781: E. Bolthausen, E. Perkins, A. van der Vaart, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d' Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXIX-1999. Editor: P. Bernard (2002)

Vol. 1782: C.-H. Chu, A. T.-M. Lau, Harmonic Functions on Groups and Fourier Algebras (2002) Vol. 1783: L. Grüne, Asymptotic Behavior of Dynamical and Control Systems under Perturbation and Discretization (2002)

Vol. 1784: L. H. Eliasson, S. B. Kuksin, S. Marmi, J.-C. Yoccoz, Dynamical Systems and Small Divisors. Cetraro, Italy 1998. Editors: S. Marmi, J.-C. Yoccoz (2002)

Vol. 1785: J. Arias de Reyna, Pointwise Convergence of Fourier Series (2002)

Vol. 1786: S. D. Cutkosky, Monomialization of Morphisms from 3-Folds to Surfaces (2002)

Vol. 1787; S. Caenepeel, G. Militaru, S. Zhu, Frobenius and Separable Functors for Generalized Module Categories and Nonlinear Equations (2002)

Vol. 1788: A. Vasil'ev, Moduli of Families of Curves for Conformal and Quasiconformal Mappings (2002)

Vol. 1789: Y. Sommerhäuser, Yetter-Drinfel'd Hopf alge-

bras over groups of prime order (2002)

Vol. 1790: X. Zhan, Matrix Inequalities (2002)

Vol. 1791: M. Knebusch, D. Zhang, Manis Valuations and Prüfer Extensions I: A new Chapter in Commutative Algebra (2002)

Vol. 1792: D. D. Ang, R. Gorenflo, V. K. Le, D. D. Trong, Moment Theory and Some Inverse Problems in Potential Theory and Heat Conduction (2002)

Vol. 1793: J. Cortés Monforte, Geometric, Control and Numerical Aspects of Nonholonomic Systems (2002)

Vol. 1794: N. Pytheas Fogg, Substitution in Dynamics, Arithmetics and Combinatorics, Editors: V. Berthé, S. Ferenczi, C. Mauduit, A. Siegel (2002)

Vol. 1795: H. Li, Filtered-Graded Transfer in Using Noncommutative Gröbner Bases (2002)

Vol. 1796: J.M. Melenk, hp-Finite Element Methods for Singular Perturbations (2002)

Vol. 1797: B. Schmidt, Characters and Cyclotomic Fields

in Finite Geometry (2002) Vol. 1798: W.M. Oliva, Geometric Mechanics (2002)

Vol. 1799: H. Pajot, Analytic Capacity, Rectifiability,

Menger Curvature and the Cauchy Integral (2002)

Vol. 1800: O. Gabber, L. Ramero, Almost Ring Theory (2003)

Vol. 1801: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVI (2003)

Vol. 1802: V. Capasso, E. Merzbach, B. G. Ivanoff, M. Dozzi, R. Dalang, T. Mountford, Topics in Spatial Stochastic Processes. Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editor: E. Merzbach (2003)

Vol. 1803: G. Dolzmann, Variational Methods for Crystalline Microstructure - Analysis and Computation (2003) Vol. 1804: I. Cherednik, Ya. Markov, R. Howe, G. Lusztig, Iwahori-Hecke Algebras and their Representation Theory. Martina Franca, Italy 1999. Editors: V. Baldoni, D. Barbasch (2003)

Vol. 1805: F. Cao, Geometric Curve Evolution and Image Processing (2003)

Vol. 1806: H. Broer, I. Hoveijn. G. Lunther, G. Vegter, Bifurcations in Hamiltonian Systems. Computing Singularities by Gröbner Bases (2003)

Vol. 1807: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2000-2002 (2003)

Vol. 1808: W. Schindler, Measures with Symmetry Properties (2003)

Vol. 1809: O. Steinbach, Stability Estimates for Hybrid Coupled Domain Decomposition Methods (2003)

Vol. 1810: J. Wengenroth, Derived Functors in Functional Analysis (2003)

Vol. 1811: J. Stevens, Deformations of Singularities (2003)

Vol. 1812: L. Ambrosio, K. Deckelnick, G. Dziuk, M. Mimura, V. A. Solonnikov, H. M. Soner, Mathematical Aspects of Evolving Interfaces. Madeira, Funchal, Portugal 2000. Editors: P. Colli, J. F. Rodrigues (2003)

Vol. 1813: L. Ambrosio, L. A. Caffarelli, Y. Brenier, G. Buttazzo, C. Villani, Optimal Transportation and its Applications. Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editors: L. A. Caffarelli, S. Salsa (2003)

Vol. 1814: P. Bank, F. Baudoin, H. Föllmer, L.C.G. Rogers, M. Soner, N. Touzi, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2002 (2003)

Vol. 1815: A. M. Vershik (Ed.), Asymptotic Com-binatorics with Applications to Mathematical Physics. St. Petersburg, Russia 2001 (2003)

Vol. 1816: S. Albeverio, W. Schachermayer, M. Talagrand, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXX-2000. Editor: P. Bernard (2003)

Vol. 1817: E. Koelink, W. Van Assche (Eds.), Orthogonal Polynomials and Special Functions. Leuven 2002 (2003) Vol. 1818: M. Bildhauer, Convex Variational Problems with Linear, nearly Linear and/or Anisotropic Growth Conditions (2003)

Vol. 1819: D. Masser, Yu. V. Nesterenko, H. P. Schlick-ewei, W. M. Schmidt, M. Waldschmidt, Diophantine Approximation. Cetraro, Italy 2000. Editors: F. Amoroso, U. Zannier (2003)

Vol. 1820: F. Hiai, H. Kosaki, Means of Hilbert Space Operators (2003)

Vol. 1821: S. Teufel, Adiabatic Perturbation Theory in Quantum Dynamics (2003)

Vol 1822: S -N Chow R Conti R Johnson I Mallet-Paret, R. Nussbaum, Dynamical Systems. Cetraro, Italy 2000. Editors: J. W. Macki, P. Zecca (2003)

Vol. 1823: A. M. Anile, W. Allegretto, C. Ringhofer, Mathematical Problems in Semiconductor Physics. Cetraro, Italy 1998. Editor: A. M. Anile (2003)

Vol. 1824: J. A. Navarro González, J. B. Sancho de Salas, - Differentiable Spaces (2003)

Vol. 1825: J. H. Bramble, A. Cohen, W. Dahmen, Multiscale Problems and Methods in Numerical Simulations, Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editor: C. Canuto (2003)

Vol. 1826: K. Dohmen, Improved Bonferroni Inequalities via Abstract Tubes. Inequalities and Identities of Inclusion-Exclusion Type. VIII, 113 p, 2003.

Vol. 1827: K. M. Pilgrim, Combinations of Complex Dynamical Systems. IX, 118 p, 2003.

Vol. 1828: D. J. Green, Gröbner Bases and the Computation of Group Cohomology. XII, 138 p, 2003.

Vol. 1829: E. Altman, B. Gaujal, A. Hordijk, Discrete-Event Control of Stochastic Networks: Multimodularity and Regularity. XIV, 313 p, 2003. Vol. 1830: M. I. Gil', Operator Functions and Localization

of Spectra. XIV, 256 p, 2003.

Vol. 1831: A. Connes, J. Cuntz, E. Guentner, N. Higson, J. E. Kaminker, Noncommutative Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy 2002. Editors: S. Doplicher, L. Longo (2004) Vol. 1832: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVII (2003)

Vol. 1833: D.-Q. Jiang, M. Qian, M.-P. Qian, Mathematical Theory of Nonequilibrium Steady States. On the Frontier of Probability and Dynamical Systems. IX, 280 p, 2004.

Vol. 1834: Yo. Yomdin, G. Comte, Tame Geometry with Application in Smooth Analysis. VIII, 186 p, 2004.

Vol. 1835: O.T. Izhboldin, B. Kahn, N.A. Karpenko, A. Vishik, Geometric Methods in the Algebraic Theory of Quadratic Forms. Summer School, Lens, 2000. Editor: J.-P. Tignol (2004)

Vol. 1836: C. Năstăsescu, F. Van Oystaeyen, Methods of Graded Rings. XIII, 304 p, 2004.

Vol. 1837: S. Tavaré, O. Zeitouni, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXI-2001. Editor: J. Picard (2004)

Vol. 1838: A.J. Ganesh, N.W. O'Connell, D.J. Wischik,

Big Queues. XII, 254 p, 2004.

Vol. 1839: R. Gohm, Noncommutative Stationary Processes. VIII, 170 p, 2004.

Vol. 1840: B. Tsirelson, W. Werner, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXII-2002. Editor: J. Picard (2004)

Vol. 1841: W. Reichel, Uniqueness Theorems for Variational Problems by the Method of Transformation Groups (2004)

Vol. 1842: T. Johnsen, A. L. Knutsen, K<sub>3</sub> Projective Models in Scrolls (2004)

Vol. 1843: B. Jefferies, Spectral Properties of Noncommuting Operators (2004)

Vol. 1844: K.F. Siburg, The Principle of Least Action in Geometry and Dynamics (2004)

Vol. 1845: Min Ho Lee, Mixed Automorphic Forms, Torus Bundles, and Jacobi Forms (2004)

Vol. 1846: H. Ammari, H. Kang, Reconstruction of Small Inhomogeneities from Boundary Measurements (2004)

Vol. 1847: T.R. Bielecki, T. Björk, M. Jeanblanc, M. Rutkowski, J.A. Scheinkman, W. Xiong, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2003 (2004)

Vol. 1848: M. Abate, J. E. Fornaess, X. Huang, J. P. Rosay, A. Tumanov, Real Methods in Complex and CR Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy 2002. Editors: D. Zaitsev, G. Zampieri (2004)

Vol. 1849: Martin L. Brown, Heegner Modules and Elliptic Curves (2004)

Vol. 1850: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2002-2003 (2004)

Vol. 1851: O. Catoni, Statistical Learning Theory and Stochastic Optimization (2004)

Vol. 1852: A.S. Kechris, B.D. Miller, Topics in Orbit Equivalence (2004)

Vol. 1853: Ch. Favre, M. Jonsson, The Valuative Tree (2004)

Vol. 1854: O. Saeki, Topology of Singular Fibers of Differential Maps (2004)

Vol. 1855: G. Da Prato, P.C. Kunstmann, I. Lasiecka, A. Lunardi, R. Schnaubelt, L. Weis, Functional Analytic Methods for Evolution Equations. Editors: M. Iannelli, R. Nagel, S. Piazzera (2004)

Vol. 1856: K. Back, T.R. Bielecki, C. Hipp, S. Peng, W. Schachermayer, Stochastic Methods in Finance, Bressanone/Brixen, Italy, 2003. Editors: M. Fritelli, W. Runggaldier (2004)

Vol. 1857: M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVIII (2005)

Vol. 1858: A.S. Cherny, H.-J. Engelbert, Singular Stochastic Differential Equations (2005)

Vol. 1859: E. Letellier, Fourier Transforms of Invariant Functions on Finite Reductive Lie Algebras (2005)

Vol. 1860: A. Borisyuk, G.B. Ermentrout, A. Friedman,

D. Terman, Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences I. Mathematical Neurosciences (2005) Vol. 1861: G. Benettin, J. Henrard, S. Kuksin, Hamiltonian Dynamics – Theory and Applications, Cetraro, Italy, 1999. Editor: A. Giorgilli (2005)

Vol. 1862: B. Helffer, F. Nier, Hypoelliptic Estimates and Spectral Theory for Fokker-Planck Operators and Witten Laplacians (2005)

Vol. 1863: H. Führ, Abstract Harmonic Analysis of Continuous Wavelet Transforms (2005)

Vol. 1864: K. Efstathiou, Metamorphoses of Hamiltonian Systems with Symmetries (2005)

Vol. 1865: D. Applebaum, B.V. R. Bhat, J. Kustermans, J. M. Lindsay, Quantum Independent Increment Processes I. From Classical Probability to Quantum Stochastic Calculus. Editors: M. Schürmann, U. Franz (2005)

Vol. 1866: O.E. Barndorff-Nielsen, U. Franz, R. Gohm, B. Kümmerer, S. Thorbjønsen, Quantum Independent Increment Processes II. Structure of Quantum Lévy Processes, Classical Probability, and Physics. Editors: M. Schürmann, U. Franz, (2005)

Vol. 1867: J. Sneyd (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences II. Mathematical Modeling of Calcium Dynamics and Signal Transduction. (2005)

Vol. 1868: J. Jorgenson, S. Lang,  $Pos_n(R)$  and Eisenstein Series. (2005)

Vol. 1869: A. Dembo, T. Funaki, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIII-2003. Editor: J. Picard (2005)

Vol. 1870: V.I. Gurariy, W. Lusky, Geometry of Müntz Spaces and Related Questions. (2005)

Vol. 1871: P. Constantin, G. Gallavotti, A.V. Kazhikhov, Y. Meyer, S. Ukai, Mathematical Foundation of Turbulent Viscous Flows, Martina Franca, Italy, 2003. Editors: M. Cannone, T. Miyakawa (2006)

Vol. 1872: A. Friedman (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences III. Cell Cycle, Proliferation, and Cancer (2006)

Vol. 1873: R. Mansuy, M. Yor, Random Times and Enlargements of Filtrations in a Brownian Setting (2006)

Vol. 1874: M. Yor, M. Émery (Eds.), In Memoriam Paul-André Meyer - Séminaire de Probabilités XXXIX (2006)
Vol. 1875: J. Pitman, Combinatorial Stochastic Processes.
Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXII-2002.
Editor: J. Picard (2006)

Vol. 1876: H. Herrlich, Axiom of Choice (2006)

Vol. 1877: J. Steuding, Value Distributions of *L*-Functions (2007)

Vol. 1878: R. Cerf, The Wulff Crystal in Ising and Percolation Models, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004. Editor: Jean Picard (2006)

Vol. 1879: G. Slade, The Lace Expansion and its Applications, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004. Editor: Jean Picard (2006)

Vol. 1880: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems I, The Hamiltonian Approach (2006)

Vol. 1881: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems II, The Markovian Approach (2006)

Vol. 1882: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems III, Recent Developments (2006)

Vol. 1883: W. Van Assche, F. Marcellàn (Eds.), Orthogonal Polynomials and Special Functions, Computation and Application (2006)

Vol. 1884: N. Hayashi, E.I. Kaikina, P.I. Naumkin, I.A. Shishmarev, Asymptotics for Dissipative Nonlinear Equations (2006)

Vol. 1885: A. Telcs, The Art of Random Walks (2006)

Vol. 1886: S. Takamura, Splitting Deformations of Degenerations of Complex Curves (2006)

Vol. 1887: K. Habermann, L. Habermann, Introduction to Symplectic Dirac Operators (2006)

Vol. 1888: J. van der Hoeven, Transseries and Real Differential Algebra (2006)

Vol. 1889: G. Osipenko, Dynamical Systems, Graphs, and Algorithms (2006)

Vol. 1890: M. Bunge, J. Funk, Singular Coverings of Toposes (2006)

Vol. 1891: J.B. Friedlander, D.R. Heath-Brown, H. Iwaniec, J. Kaczorowski, Analytic Number Theory, Cetraro, Italy, 2002. Editors: A. Perelli, C. Viola (2006)

Vol. 1892: A. Baddeley, I. Bárány, R. Schneider, W. Weil, Stochastic Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy, 2004. Editor: W. Weil (2007)

Vol. 1893: H. Hanßmann, Local and Semi-Local Bifurcations in Hamiltonian Dynamical Systems, Results and Examples (2007)

Vol. 1894: C.W. Groetsch, Stable Approximate Evaluation of Unbounded Operators (2007)

Vol. 1895: L. Molnár, Selected Preserver Problems on Algebraic Structures of Linear Operators and on Function Spaces (2007)

Vol. 1896: P. Massart, Concentration Inequalities and Model Selection, Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIII-2003. Editor: J. Picard (2007)

Vol. 1897: R. Doney, Fluctuation Theory for Lévy Processes, Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXV-2005. Editor: J. Picard (2007)

Vol. 1898: H.R. Beyer, Beyond Partial Differential Equations, On linear and Quasi-Linear Abstract Hyperbolic Evolution Equations (2007)

Vol. 1899: Séminaire de Probabilités XL. Editors: C. Donati-Martin, M. Émery, A. Rouault, C. Stricker (2007)

Vol. 1900: E. Bolthausen, A. Bovier (Eds.), Spin Glasses (2007)

Vol. 1901: O. Wittenberg, Intersections de deux quadriques et pinceaux de courbes de genre 1, Intersections of Two Quadrics and Pencils of Curves of Genus 1 (2007)

Vol. 1902: A. Isaev, Lectures on the Automorphism Groups of Kobayashi-Hyperbolic Manifolds (2007)

Vol. 1903: G. Kresin, V. Maz'ya, Sharp Real-Part Theorems (2007)

Vol. 1904: P. Giesl, Construction of Global Lyapunov Functions Using Radial Basis Functions (2007)

Vol. 1905: C. Prévôt, M. Röckner, A Concise Course on Stochastic Partial Differential Equations (2007)

Vol. 1906: T. Schuster, The Method of Approximate Inverse: Theory and Applications (2007)

Vol. 1907: M. Rasmussen, Attractivity and Bifurcation for Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems (2007)

Vol. 1908: T.J. Lyons, M. Caruana, T. Lévy, Differential Equations Driven by Rough Paths, Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004 (2007)

Vol. 1909: H. Akiyoshi, M. Sakuma, M. Wada, Y. Yamashita, Punctured Torus Groups and 2-Bridge Knot Groups (I) (2007)

Vol. 1910: V.D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2004-2005 (2007)

Vol. 1911: A. Bressan, D. Serre, M. Williams, K. Zumbrun, Hyperbolic Systems of Balance Laws. Lectures given at the C.I.M.E. Summer School held in Cetraro, Italy, July 14–21, 2003. Editor: P. Marcati (2007) Vol. 1912: V. Berinde, Iterative Approximation of Fixed Points (2007) Vol. 1913: J.E. Marsden, G. Misiołek, J.-P. Ortega, M. Perlmutter, T.S. Ratiu, Hamiltonian Reduction by Stages (2007)

Vol. 1914: G. Kutyniok, Affine Density in Wavelet Analysis (2007)

Vol. 1915: T. Bıyıkoğlu, J. Leydold, P.F. Stadler, Laplacian Eigenvectors of Graphs. Perron-Frobenius and Faber-Krahn Type Theorems (2007)

Vol. 1916: C. Villani, F. Rezakhanlou, Entropy Methods for the Boltzmann Equation. Editors: F. Golse, S. Olla (2008)

Vol. 1917: I. Veselić, Existence and Regularity Properties of the Integrated Density of States of Random Schrödinger (2008)

Vol. 1918: B. Roberts, R. Schmidt, Local Newforms for GSp(4) (2007)

Vol. 1919: R.A. Carmona, I. Ekeland, A. Kohatsu-Higa, J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions, H. Pham, E. Taflin, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2004. Editors: R.A. Carmona, E. Çinlar, I. Ekeland, E. Jouini, J.A. Scheinkman, N. Touzi (2007)

 Vol. 1920: S.N. Evans, Probability and Real Trees. Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXV-2005 (2008)
 Vol. 1921: J.P. Tian, Evolution Algebras and their Applications (2008)

Vol. 1922: A. Friedman (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical BioSciences IV. Evolution and Ecology (2008) Vol. 1923: J.P.N. Bishwal, Parameter Estimation in

Stochastic Differential Equations (2008) Vol. 1924: M. Wilson, Littlewood-Paley Theory and

Exponential-Square Integrability (2008) Vol. 1925: M. du Sautoy, L. Woodward, Zeta Functions of

Groups and Rings (2008) Vol. 1926: L. Barreira, V. Claudia, Stability of Nonauto-

nomous Differential Equations (2008) Vol. 1927: L. Ambrosio, L. Caffarelli, M.G. Crandall,

L.C. Evans, N. Fusco, Calculus of Variations and Non-Linear Partial Differential Equations. Lectures given at the C.I.M.E. Summer School held in Cetraro, Italy, June 27– July 2, 2005. Editors: B. Dacorogna, P. Marcellini (2008) Vol. 1928: J. Jonsson, Simplicial Complexes of Graphs (2008)

## Recent Reprints and New Editions

Vol. 1618: G. Pisier, Similarity Problems and Completely Bounded Maps. 1995 – 2nd exp. edition (2001)

Vol. 1629: J.D. Moore, Lectures on Seiberg-Witten Invariants. 1997 – 2nd edition (2001)

Vol. 1638: P. Vanhaecke, Integrable Systems in the realm of Algebraic Geometry. 1996 – 2nd edition (2001)

Vol. 1702: J. Ma, J. Yong, Forward-Backward Stochastic Differential Equations and their Applications. 1999 – Corr. 3rd printing (2007)

Vol. 830: J.A. Green, Polynomial Representations of  $GL_n$ , with an Appendix on Schensted Correspondence and Littelmann Paths by K. Erdmann, J.A. Green and M. Schocker 1980 – 2nd corr. and augmented edition (2007)